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Black Diaspora (London: University Press of America, 1990) 125-48 describes the emergence of

varying degrees of "racial caste" from the slave cultures of Mexico, Brazil and the United States.
On the racialization of Saxon, Celtic, Norman, Irish, Welsh, Scottish and English communities,
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shifting categorizations, see Stocking Jr. Race, Culture, and Evolution at 266: "All that was
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groups, each defined in some manner by immutable and ahistorical characteristics, and that
human interaction is determined by the nature of these immutable differences. Rather, the idea

of difference was transposed on to the concept of culture."

8. James W.St.G. Walker "Race." Rights and the Law in the Supreme Court of Canada

(Waterloo: The Osgoode Society and Wilfrid Laurier University Press, 1997) chronicles some of
the key documents at 197: "The Atlantic Charter of 14 August 1941, though it did not yet use
the term 'human rights," delineated certain rights and freedoms which should belong to everyone

regardless of the inclinations of their own particular government. By 1945 the United Nations

Charter could declare its 'faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of the
human person,' and dedicate the new world organization to 'promoting and encouraging respect
for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language
or religion." Then on 10 December 1948 the UN issued the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights, which set out both the rationale and the direction for human rights programs in the
postwar world...." A report issued by UNESCO in 1950 claimed that the mental capacities of all
races were similar, that there was no evidence of biological deterioration from race-mixing, and
that there was no correlation between national or religious groups and race. The conclusion, that
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whether it was solely a "social myth." See Barkan The Retreat of Scientific Racism at 341-2.
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Race in North America at 20.




9. On the "repetitious and simplistic" portrayal of racial designations through colour, see
J.A. Mangan ed. The Imperial Curriculum: Racial Images and Education in the British Colonial
Experience (London: Routledge, 1993) at 17; John M. MacKenzie Propaganda and Empire
(Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1984) at 190-3. On the unshakeable belief of most
people that they "know it when they see it," despite their inability to articulate the underlying
basis for their racial designations, see Evelyn Brooks Higginbotham "African-American

Women's History and the Metalanguage of Race" Signs 17:2 (Winter 1992) 251 at 253; Malik

The Meaning of Race at 2.

10. Erica Chung-Yue Tao "Re-defining Race Relations - Beyond the Threat of 'Loving
Blackness" Canadian Journal of Women and the Law 6:2 (1993) 455 notes at 457: "Language
and conventions in writing are integral to internalized colonization. The capitalization of Black
and Blackness becomes a disruption in reading, because it breaches the standard way of
communicating in textual format. In this way, capitalization of Black represents a perverse
usage of the colonizer's language, and is, therefore, a visual and linguistic subversion of white
supremacy. At the same time, capitalizing Black also affirms pride and power in group identity.
For example, we say we are Canadians, not canadians. Finally, the word 'white' will not be
capitalized on the grounds that white and whiteness are the reference points by which all other
colours or racially defined groups are measured, named, described, and understood. To
capitalize white would be, in effect, to say the obvious and affirm the norm." See also Kimberle

Williams Crenshaw, who notes in "Race, Reform, and Retrenchment: Transformation and

Legitimation in Antidiscrimination Law" Harvard Law Review v.101 (1988) 1331 at 1332 that
the upper-case "B" reflects the view that "Blacks, like Asians, Latinos, and other 'minorities,’

constitute a specific cultural group and, as such, require denotation as a proper noun."



11. Lopez White by Law notes at 158, citing Barbara Flagg ""Was Blind, But Now I See':
White Race Consciousness and the Requirement of Discriminatory Intent" Michigan Law
Review v.91 (1993) 953 at 969 and Trina Grillo and Stephanie Wildman "Obscuring the
Importance of Race: The Implications of Making Comparisons Between Racism and Sexism (or

Other -Isms)" Duke Law Journal (1991) 397 at 405: "Transparency 'may be a defining

characteristic of whiteness: to be white is not to think about it.... White supremacy makes
whiteness the normative model. Being the norm allows whites to ignore race, except when they
perceive race (usually some else's) as intruding on their lives.' ... Indeed, for many Whites their
racial identity becomes uppermost in their mind only when they find themselves in the company
of large numbers of non-Whites, and then it does so in the form of a supposed vulnerability to
non-White violence, rendering Whiteness in the eyes of many Whites not a privileged status but

a victimized one." See also Ruth Frankenberg White Women, Race Matters: The Social

Construction of Whiteness (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1993); Cheryl Harris

"Whiteness as Property" Harvard Law Review v.106 (1993) 1707; Toni Morrison Playing in the
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David Roediger Towards the Abolition of Whiteness (London: Verso, 1994); Vron Ware Beyond

the Pale: White Women, Racism and History (London: Verso, 1992).

12. Given the repetitive saturation of such commentary in historical literature, I do not
think it is productive to cite the specific publications in which such statements appear, or to name
the authors involved. Some of these statements come from Canadian historians, others from

American and British historians. All seem to share the same perspectives.

13. Brooks Higginbotham "African-American Women's History" at 267.



14. Malik The Meaning of Race notes at 1 that "The term 'racism' entered the popular

language for the first time in the interwar years." Barkan The Retreat of Scientific Racism notes

at 2-3 that the use of "racism" as a derogatory neologism was first recorded in English in the
1930s. The word "racialism," a precursor to "racism," denoting prejudice based on race

difference, was "introduced into the language at the turn of the century."

15. In 1944, the Halifax Colored Citizens Improvement League "argued that the state
should promote better race relations by including materials in the curriculum which represented
an accurate history of Africans, including their contributions to society:" Agnes Calliste "Blacks'

Struggle for Education Equity in Nova Scotia" in Vincent D'Oyley ed. Innovations in Black

Education in Canada (Toronto: Umbrella, 1994) at 25. Carrie M. Best That Lonesome Road:

The Autobiography of Carrie M. Best (New Glasgow: Clarion, 1977) describes the absence of

Black historical research in Canada, and expresses the importance of redressing the omission. In
1976, the National Congress of Black Women decried the lack of attention to Black history in
Canada, and demanded that "Black history should be included in the curriculum at all levels in

the schools." See Lawrence Hill Women of Vision: The Story of the Canadian Negro Women's

Association 1951-1976 (Toronto: Umbrella Press, 1996) at 64-5. The Women's Book

Committee of the Chinese Canadian National Council notes that although Canada's Chinese
community possesses a long and rich past in this country, "little of our history has been
recorded" with Canadian history texts "ignoring aboriginal peoples" and "people of other racial

and cultural backgrounds." See The Women's Book Committee Jin Guo: Voices of Chinese

Canadian Women (Toronto: Women's Press, 1992) at 11. Aboriginal communities add that
when they have been included in traditional historical materials, the accounts are generally more

hurtful than helpful.



16. Howard Adams, a Saskatchewan Metis, is scathing in his indictment of the history
written by whites about Aboriginal peoples: "White social scientists have written extensively on
native people, but from the perspective of ethnocentrism and white supremacy. Such ideological
writings have little validity in regard to the daily lives of Indians and Metis in their colonized
communities. [...] The native people in a colony are not allowed a valid interpretation of their
history, because the conquered do not write their own history. They must endure a history that
shames them, destroys their confidence, and causes them to reject their heritage. Those in power
command the present and shape the future by controlling the past, particularly for the natives. A
fact of imperialism is that it systematically denies native people a dignified history." See

Howard Adams Prison of Grass: Canada from a Native Point of View (Saskatoon: Fifth House,

1989, orig. pub. 1975) at 6, 43. George Erasmus and Joe Sanders "Canadian History: An
Aboriginal Perspective" in Diane Engelstad and John Bird eds. Nation to Nation: Aboriginal

Sovereignty and the Future of Canada (Concord, Ont.: House of Anansi Press, 1992) 3 note at 6:

"Non-native people have...distorted history. It is very difficult to find a history textbook in any
province of this country that accurately tells the story of how our two peoples came together.
Instead, there are books in which we are still being called pagans and savages, without an
accurate reflection of the solemn agreements that were made and which indicate that indigenous
people were to continue to govern themselves." Walker "The Indian in Canadian Historical
Writing" surveyed a cross-section of books on Canadian history published from 1829 to 1970,
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and found them depicting "Indians" as "savage," "cruel," "treacherous," "fiendish,"
"bloodthirsty," "superstitious" and "grotesque." See also Georges E. Sioui For an Amerindian

Autohistory: An Essay on the Foundations of a Social Ethic (Montreal: McGill-Queen's

University Press, 1992) and Bruce G. Trigger Natives and Newcomers: Canada's 'Heroic Age'




Reconsidered (Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 1985).
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Press, 1971).
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19. See, for example, B. Singh Bolaria and Peter S. Li Racial Oppression in Canada
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at 26-27 [hereafter Canada Factum]; "Exhibit C-47, Canada Case" at 303; Jenness Indians of

Canada at 6.

5. Canada Factum at 19-20. Jenness was not the first to draw a comparison between the
English and the Italians on one hand, and the Indians and Eskimo on the other. In 1927, W.H.B.
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The Supreme Court of Canada: Proceedings of the October 1985 Conference (Cowansville,

Que.: Editions Y. Blais, 1986) at 398-400; Ian Bushnell The Captive Court: A Study of the
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Duff: A Life in the Law (Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 1984) at 2 and 4.

7. "Exhibit C-47, Canada Case" at 303, citing Jenness Indians of Canada at 6.

8. Jenness Indians of Canada at 405.



9. "An Act for the better protection of the Lands and Property of the Indians in Lower
Canada" S.Prov.C. 1850, c.42, s.5. The statute appointed a Commissioner of Indian Lands who

was authorized to concede, lease or charge lands held by the Crown in trust for Indians.

10. "An Act to repeal in part and to amend an Act, intituled, An Act for the better
protection of the Lands and property of the Indians in Lower Canada" S.Prov.C. 1851, ¢.59, s.2.
This definition is also utilized in "An Act respecting Indians and Indian Lands" C.S.L.C. 1861,

c.14,s.11.

11. "An Act providing for the organisation of the Department of the Secretary of State of

Canada, and for the management of Indian and Ordnance Lands" S.C. 1868, c.42, s.15.

12. "An Act for the gradual enfranchisement of Indians, the better management of Indian
affairs, and to extend the provisions of the Act 31st Victoria, Chapter 42" S.C. 1869, c.6, s.4.
Section 6 also spells out the gender-based marital provision more explicitly: "Provided always
that any Indian woman marrying any other than an Indian, shall cease to be an Indian within the
meaning of this Act, nor shall the children issue of such marriage be considered as Indians within
the meaning of this Act; Provided also, that any Indian woman marrying an Indian of any other
tribe, band or body shall cease to be a member of the tribe, band or body to which she formerly
belonged, and become a member of the tribe, band or body of which her husband is a member,
and the children, issue of this marriage, shall belong to their father's tribe only." See also "An
Act to amend certain Laws respecting Indians, and to extend certain Laws relating to matters

connected with Indians to the Provinces of Manitoba and British Columbia" S.C. 1874, c.21, s.8.



"An Act for the gradual enfranchisement of Indians, the better management of Indian
affairs, and to extend the provisions of the Act 31st Victoria, Chapter" 42 S.C. 1869, c.6, s.13
also establishes a process for "enfranchisement" whereby an "Indian" could obtain the right to
own land in fee simple. See also "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, s.3(5), 86-88, 93; "An
Act further to amend 'The Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1884, c.27, s.16; "The Indian Act" R.S.C.
1886, c.43, s.2(j). The "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.107-23 stipulates that an "enfranchised
Indian," his wife, and his minor unmarried children would "no longer be deemed Indians." See

also "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.114(2); "The Indian Act" S.C. 1951, c.29, s.12, 109.

13. "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, s.3. See also "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886,
c.43, s.2(h); "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.2(f); "An Act respecting Indians" R.S.C. 1927,
c.98, s.2(d). The first major change to this definition came in "An Act respecting Indians" S.C.
1951, ¢.29, s.2(g) which defines "Indian" as "a person who persuant [sic] to this Act is registered
as an Indian or is entitled to be registered as an Indian." Section 5 establishes an "Indian
Register," to record "the name of every person who is entitled to be registered as an Indian."

Section 11 provides: "Subject to section twelve, a person is entitled to be registered if that person

(a) on the twenty-sixth of May, eighteen hundred and seventy-four, was, for the purposes
of An Act providing for the organization of the Department of the Secretary of State of Canada,
and for the management of Indian and Ordnance Lands, chapter forty-two of the statutes of 1868,
as amended by section six of chapter six of the statutes of 1869, and section eight of chapter
twenty-one of the statutes of 1874, considered to be entitled to hold, use or enjoy the lands and
other immovable property belonging to or appropriated to the use of the various tribes, bands or

bodies of Indians in Canada,



(b) is a member of a band

(1) for whose use and benefit, in common, lands have been set apart or since the

twenty-sixth day of May, 1874 have been agreed by treaty to be set apart, or

(i1) that has been declared by the Governor in Council to be a band for the

purposes of this Act,

(c) is a male person who is a direct descendant in the male line of a male person

described in paragraph (a) or (b),

(d) is the legitimate child of

(i) a male person described in paragraph (a) or (b), or

(i1) a person described in paragraph (c).

(e) is the illegitimate child of a female person described in paragraph (a), (b) or (d),
unless the Registrar is satisfied that the father of the child was not an Indian and the Registrar has

declared that the child is not entitled to be registered, or

(f) is the wife or widow of a person who is entitled to be registered by virtue of paragraph

(a), (b), (), (d) or (e)."

14. Section 3(c) states: "Provided that any Indian woman marrying any other than an



Indian or a non-treaty Indian shall cease to be an Indian in any respect within the meaning of this
Act, except that she shall be entitled to share equally with the members of the band to which she
formerly belonged, in the annual or semi-annual distribution of their annuities, interest moneys
and rents; but this income may be commuted to her at any time at ten years' purchase with the
consent of the band." Section 3(d) states: "Provided that any Indian woman marrying an Indian
of any other band, or a non-treaty Indian shall cease to be a member of the band to which she
formerly belonged, and become a member of the band or irregular band of which her husband is
a member." An earlier version of this is found in "An Act for the gradual enfranchisement of
Indians, the better management of Indian Affairs, and to extend the provisions of the Act 31st
Victoria, Chapter 42" S.C. 1869, s.6. See also "The Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1880, c.28, s.12-13;
"The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.11-12; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.14-15. "An Act
to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1919-20, ¢.50, s.2 takes away from the band the power to consent
to buying out a woman's rights with a ten year payment, and places it exclusively with the
Superintendent-General. See also "An Act respecting Indians" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.14-15; "An

Act respecting Indians" S.C. 1951, ¢.29, s.12(1)(b), 14.

15. Section 3(a) states: "Provided that any illegitimate child, unless having shared with
the consent of the band in the distribution moneys of such band for a period exceeding two years,
may, at any time, be excluded from the membership thereof by the band, if such proceeding be
sanctioned by the Superintendent-General." "The Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1880, ¢.28, s.10 revises
this so that the exclusion is completely under the control of the Superintendent-General. See also
"The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.9; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.12; "An Act
respecting Indians" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.12; "An Act respecting Indians" S.C. 1951, ¢.29, s.11(d)

and (e). Section 3(b) states: "Provided that any Indian having for five years continuously resided



in a foreign country shall with the sanction of the Superintendent-General, cease to be a member
thereof and shall not be permitted to become again a member thereof, or of any other band,
unless the consent of the band with the approval of the Superintendent-General or his agent, be
first had and obtained; but this provision shall not apply to any professional man, mechanic,
missionary, teacher or interpreter, while discharging his or her duty as such." See also "The
Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1880, c¢.28, s.11; "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.10; "Indian Act"

R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.13; "An Act respecting Indians" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.13.

16. Section 3(e) states: "Provided also that no half-breed in Manitoba who has shared in
the distribution of half-breed lands shall be accounted an Indian; and that no half-breed head of a
family (except the widow of an Indian, or a half-breed who has already been admitted into a
treaty), shall, unless under very special circumstances, to be determined by the Superintendent-
General or his agent, be accounted an Indian, or entitled to be admitted into any Indian treaty."
Additional provisions are added in "The Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1880, ¢.28, s.14: "any half-breed
who may have been admitted into a treaty shall be allowed to withdraw therefrom on refunding
all annuity money received by him or her under the said treaty, or suffering a corresponding
reduction in the quantity of any land, or scrip, which such half-breed, as such, may be entitled to
receive from the Government." See also s.14(2): "The Half-breeds who are by the father's side
either wholly or partly of Indian blood now settled in the Seigniory of Caughnawaga, and who
have inhabited the said Seigniory for the last twenty years, are hereby confirmed in their
possession and right of residence and property, but not beyond the tribal rights and usages which
others of the band enjoy." See also "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.13; "Indian Act"
R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.16; "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1914, ¢.35, s.3-4; "An Act

respecting Indians" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s5.16; "An Act respecting Indians" S.C. 1951, ¢.29, s.12(1).



17. "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, s.3(12) states: "The term 'person' means an
individual other than an Indian, unless the context clearly requires another construction." "The
Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.2(c) states: "The expression 'person’' means any individual other
than an Indian." See also "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.2(c); "An Act respecting Indians"
R.S.C. 1927, c.98, s.2(1). This offensive provision was not removed until 1951: see "An Act

respecting Indians" S.C. 1951, ¢.29. In The Queen v. Murdock (1900), 4 C.C.C. 82, at 86 the

Ontario Court of Appeal indicated that "person" must encompass "a white man, woman, or child,

a non-treaty Indian, and perhaps an enfranchised Indian."

8 "An Act to amend 'The Indian Act" S.C. 1887, ¢.33, s.1 states: "The Superintendent
General may, from time to time, upon the report of an officer, or other person specially
appointed by him to make an inquiry, determine who is or who is not a member of any band of
Indians entitled to share in the property and annuities of the band; and the decision of the
Superintendent General in any such matter shall be final and conclusive, subject to an appeal to
the Governor in Council." Given the proviso that "person" did not include "Indian," it appears
that only non-Indians are authorized to investigate or decide such matters. See also "An Act
respecting Indians" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.18. Bradford W. Morse ed. Aboriginal Peoples and the
Law (Ottawa: Carleton University Press, 1985) notes at 1 that "The registration system was
implemented by sending an Indian agent, appointed by the government, to the Indian nations to
enumerate persons in order to develop treaty payment lists or band lists. If people were away on
hunting parties, out on their traplines, or off fishing, of if bands were in remote areas, then they

simply were not registered under the Indian Act."

19. George Manuel and Michael Posluns The Fourth World: An Indian Reality (Don



Mills, Ont.: Collier-Macmillan Canada, 1974) note at 21 that "The Indian Act...was passed into
law by Parliament without any reference to the realities of Indian life as Indian spokesmen might
have explained them." Critiquing the narrowing of definition, they state at 22: "It was no longer
a question of a person being 'reputed to be an Indian,' a phrase that could be taken to mean
accepted by the band as a member, rather than a strict tracing of male blood line, an English way
of tracing lineage not accepted by very many Indian societies." Manuel and Posluns add at 241:
"Indian customs of inheritance and for defining identity have varied from nation to nation
according to political and economic structure and religious beliefs. Many trace through the
mother's line, some through the father's. My own people [Shushwap Nation] work through a

mixture of both, as do many of our neighbours."

20. "An Act to consolidate and amend the law respecting the qualification and
registration of Electors, the regulation of Elections of Members of the Provincial Legislative
Assembly, and the Trial of Controverted Elections" S.B.C. 1903-04, ¢.17, s.3. See also "An Act
respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly" S.B.C. 1920, c.27, s.2(1). For a
full account of the electoral restrictions for First Nations' peoples, see discussion of Sero v. Gault

in chapter 4.

21. "An Act to amend and consolidate the 'Public Schools Act" S.B.C. 1922, c.64, s.2.

22. "An Act for the Protection of Women and Girls in certain Cases" S.B.C. 1923, ¢.76,

s.2.

23. "An Act authorizing an Inquiry into the Status and Rights of Indians in the Province"



S.B.C. 1950, c.32, s.2, also noting "unless the context otherwise requires...."

24. Robert Berkhofer The White Man's Indian: Images of the American Indian from

Columbus to the Present (New York: Knopf, 1978) suggests that as Europeans developed the

idea of "Indian," they collapsed into a single group all of the diverse cultures, societies, language
groups and identities of indigenous peoples of the Americas - people who did not think of

themselves as one group or one continental people when they were first encountered.

25. "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly" S.S. 1908,
c.2, s.2(12) states: "Indian" means and includes all persons of Indian blood who belong or are
reputed to belong to any band or irregular band of Indians; and the words "band" and "irregular
band" as used in this clause shall have the meaning given to them respectively by The Indian

Act, being chapter 81 of The Revised Statues of Canada 1906. See also "An Act respecting

Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly" R.S.S. 1930, c.4, s.2(12). The Alberta
statute, exactly the same, is "An Act respecting Elections of members of the Legislative
Assembly" S.A. 1909, c.3, s.2(12). "An Act for the protection of Game" S.A. 1946, c.4, s.2(y) is
somewhat more fulsome, but also follows the federal format, defining "Indian" as: (i) any male
person of Indian blood reputed to belong to a particular band or an irregular band; (ii) any child

of such person; (ii1) any person who is or was lawfully married to such person.

26. "An Act Respecting the Metis Population of the Province" S.A. 1938 (2nd Sess.), c.6,
s.2(a), with the proviso "unless the context otherwise requires." Some individuals of mixed
white and Aboriginal ancestry appear to have identified primarily with either their First Nations'

or their European inheritance. Others established a unique racial identity described as "Metis,"



especially in the fur trade areas of Rupert's Land and the Great Lakes region. On the creation of

the separate Metis identity in Canada, see Jennifer S.H. Brown Strangers in Blood: Fur Trade

Company Families in Indian Country (Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 1980);

Sylvia Van Kirk "Many Tender Ties": Women in Fur-trade Society, 1670-1870 (Winnipeg:

Watson & Dwyer, 1980); Jacqueline Peterson and Jennifer S.H. Brown The New Peoples: Being

and Becoming Metis in North America (Winnipeg: University of Manitoba Press, 1985); John E.
Foster "The Origins of the Mixed Bloods in the Canadian West" in Lewis H. Thomas ed. Essays

on Western History, in Honour of Lewis Gwynne Thomas (Edmonton: University of Alberta

Press, 1976) 71-80; John E. Foster "The Metis: The People and the Term" Prairie Forum v.3
(1978) 79-90; Olive P. Dickason "From 'One Nation' in the Northeast to 'New Nation' in the
Northwest: A Look at the Emergence of the Metis" in Peterson & Brown eds. New Peoples 19-
36; Jacqueline Peterson "Prelude to Red River: A Social Portrait of the Great Lakes Metis"
Ethnohistory v.25 (1978) 41-67; Jacqueline Peterson "The People in Between: Indian-White
Marriage and the Genesis of a Metis Society and Culture in the Great Lakes Region, 1680-1830"
Ph.D. Thesis (University of Chicago: 1981); Jacqueline Peterson "Many Roads to Red River:
Metis Genesis in the Great Lakes Region, 1680-1815" in Peterson and Brown eds. The New
Peoples 31-71; R. David Edmunds "'Unacquainted with the Laws of the Civilized World"
American Attitudes Toward the Metis Communities in the Old Northwest" in Peterson & Brown

eds. The New Peoples 185-93; Robert E. Bieder "Scientific Attitudes Toward Indian Mixed-

Bloods in Early Nineteenth Century America" Journal of Ethnic Studies v.8 (1980) 17-30; John

E. Foster "The Plains Metis" in Bruce Morrison and R.C. Wilson eds. Native Peoples: The

Canadian Experience (Toronto: McClelland & Stewart, 1986) 375-403; Sylvia Van Kirk ""What

if Mama is an Indian?' The Cultural Ambivalence of the Alexander Ross Family" in Peterson &



Brown eds. The New Peoples 207-17; John E. Foster "Some Questions and Perspectives on the

Problem of Metis Roots" in Peterson & Brown eds. The New Peoples 73-91; Irene M. Spry "The

Metis and Mixed-Bloods of Rupert's Land Before 1870" in Peterson & Brown eds. The New
Peoples 95-118; Jennifer S.H. Brown "Women as Centre and Symbol in the Emergence of Metis
Communities" Canadian Journal of Native Studies v.3 (1983) 39-46; Carol M. Judd "Moose
Factory was not Red River: A Comparison of Mixed-Blood Experiences" in Duncan Cameron
ed. Exploration in Canadian Economic History: Essays in Honour of Irene M. Spry (Ottawa:
University of Ottawa Press, 1985) 251-68; K.S. Coates and W.R. Morrison "More Than a Matter
of Blood: The Federal Government, the Churches and the Mixed Blood Populations of the
Yukon and the Mackenzie River Valley, 1890-1950" in F. L. Barron and James B. Waldram eds.

1885 and After: Native Society in Transition (Regina: Canadian Plains Research Center, 1986)

253-77; Dennis F.K. Madill "Riel, Red River, and Beyond: New Developments in Metis

History" in Colin G. Calloway ed. New Directions in American Indian History (Norman,

Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press, 1988) 49-78.

27. "An Act to Amend and Consolidate The Metis Population Betterment Act" S.A.

1940, c.6, s.2.

28. "An Act respecting the Game, Fur-bearing Animals and Fisheries of Ontario" S.O.

1927, ¢.86, s.3. See also "The Game and Fisheries Act, 1946" S.0. 1946, c.33, s.1(s).

29. Rex v. Tronson (1931), 57 C.C.C. 383 (B.C. County Ct.).

30. Rex v. Tronson at 518-21.




31. See Jan Noel Canada Dry: Temperance Crusades Before Confederation (Toronto:

University of Toronto Press, 1995) at 183, 187-90; Robert A. Campbell Demon Rum or Easy

Money: Government Control of Liquor in British Columbia From Prohibition to Privatization

(Ottawa: Carleton University Press, 1991) at 9; Andre Vachon "L'eau-de-vie dans la societe

indienne" Canadian Historical Association Annual Report 23-32; Peter C. Mancall Deadly

Medicine: Indians and Alcohol in Early America (Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 1995);
Edwin M. Lemert Alcohol and the Northwest Coast Indians (Berkeley: University of California
Press, 1954); J.F. Mosher "Liquor Legislation and Native Americans: History and Perspective"
(Berkeley: University of California, Boalt Hall School of Law, 1975); Anastasia Shkilnyk A

Poison Stronger than Love: The Destruction of an Ojibwa Community (New Haven: Yale

University Press, 1985); Arthur Ray Indians in the Fur Trade (Toronto: University of Toronto

Press, 1974); Sidney L. Harring Crow Dog's Case: American Indian Sovereignty, Tribal Law,

and United States Law in the Nineteenth Century (New York: Cambridge University Press,

1994) at 163, 278.

32. For a more detailed account of the legislation regarding alcohol and First Nations'
peoples, which was punitive in its effect and failed miserably in its capacity to offer support to
First Nations' communities, see Constance Backhouse "'Your Conscience Will Be Your Own
Punishment:' The Racially-Motivated Murder of Gus Ninham, Ontario, 1902" in Blaine Baker
and Jim Phillips eds. Essays in the History of Canadian Law (Toronto: The Osgoode Society,
1999). Provincial governments enacted a series of statutes to outlaw the sale of alcohol to
Aboriginal peoples. The first legislative prohibition appeared in Quebec in 1777: "An Ordinance
to prevent the selling of strong Liquors to the Indians in the Province of Quebec" 17 Geo. III, ¢.7

(reprinted in R.S.L.C. 1845 at 572); see also "Ordinances of the Late Province of Quebec"



R.S.U.C. 1792-1840; "An Act respecting Indians and Indian Lands" C.S.L.C. 1861, c.14, s.1-3.
Other jurisdictions began by prohibiting liquor sales to specific Aboriginal groups [see the 1801
statute "An Act to prevent the sale of spirituous liquors and strong waters in the tract occupied by
the Moravian Indians on the river Thames, in the Western district" R.S.U.C. 1792-1840, ¢.8] and
then legislating more broadly [see the 1840 statute "An Act to amend and make permanent an
Act passed in the 5th year of His late Majesty's reign, intituled, 'An Act to prevent the sale of
Spirituous Liquors to Indians™ R.S.U.C. 1792-1840, c.13.] Additional statutes passed in the
geographic area that came to be known as Ontario include: "An Act for the protection of the
Indians in Upper Canada from imposition, and the property occupied or enjoyed by them from
trespass and injury" S. Prov. C. 1850, c.74, s.6-7; "An Act respecting Civilization and
Enfranchisement of certain Indians" C.S.C. 1859, ¢.9, s.3-4; "An Act to amend the ninth chapter
of the Consolidated Statutes of Canada, intituled: 'An Act respecting Civilization and
Enfranchisement of Certain Indians™ S. Prov. C. 1860, c.38, s.2. Nova Scotia first legislated in
1829: "An Act to prevent the Sale of Spirituous Liquors to Indians, and to provide for their
Instruction" S.N.S. 1829, ¢.29, s.1-3. See also "Of Licenses for the Sale of Intoxicating Liquors"
R.S.N.S. 1864, c.19, s.30; "Of Licenses for the Sale of Intoxicating Liquors" R.S.N.S. 1884,
c.75, s.46. British Columbia prohibitions are contained in: "An Act Prohibiting the Gift or Sale
of Intoxicating Liquours to Indians" Colony of Vancouver Island, Passed by Council 3 Aug.
1854; "Proclamation respecting sale or gift of Intoxicating Liquors to Indians" Colony of British
Columbia, 6 Sept. 1858; "Indian Liquor Act, 1860" Colony of Vancouver Island, 1860, No. 16,
s.2-3; "The Indian Liquor Ordinance, 1865" Colony of British Columbia, 1865, No. 16; "The
Indian Liquor Ordinance, 1867" Colony of British Columbia, 1867, No. 28 [reprinted in Laws of

British Columbia 1871, No. 85]; "Indian Liquor Ordinance, 1867" C.S.B.C. 1877, ¢.87; "An Act



respecting Liquor Licences" S.B.C. 1900, c.18, s.2(g) and (h), 37; "An Act to amend the 'Liquor
Licence Act, 1900 S.B.C. 1902, c.40, s.2; "An Act Respecting Liquor Licences and the Traffic
in Intoxicating Liquors" S.B.C. 1910, c.30, s.65(c), 75(i); "An Act respecting Municipalities"
R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.170. s.349(f); "An Act respecting Liquor Licences and the Traffic in
Intoxicating Liquors" R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.142; "An Act to amend the 'Liquor Licence Act™ S.B.C.
1912, ¢.20, s.5; "An Act to amend the 'Liquor Licence Act™ S.B.C. 1913, c.40, s.8; "An Act to
provide for Government Control and Sale of Alcoholic Liquors" S.B.C. 1921 (First Session),
c.30, s.36; "An Act to provide for Government Control and Sale of Alcoholic Liquors" R.S.B.C.
1924, c.146, s.41; "An Act to amend the 'Government Liquor Act™ S.B.C. 1926-27, ¢.38, s.11;
"An Act to provide for Government Control and Sale of Alcoholic Liquors" R.S.B.C. 1936,
c.160, s.43; "An Act to amend the 'Government Liquor Act" S.B.C. 1947, ¢.53, 5.16; "An Act to
provide for Government Control and Sale of Alcoholic Liquors" R.S.B.C. 1948, c.192.
Newfoundland's prohibition is found in "An Act Regulating Sale of Intoxicating Liquors on the
Coast of Labrador" S.Nfld. 1882, c.8, s.6. After the turn of the century, other jurisdictions
followed suit. Prairie province enactments include: "An Act to Provide for Government Control
and Sale of Liquor" S.M. 1928, c.31, s.38(1)(e); "An Act to amend The Liquor License Act" S.S.
1909, ¢.38, s.12; "An Act to amend The Government Liquor Control Act of Alberta" S.A. 1927,
c.35, s.5. The Northwest Territories prohibited liquor sales to Indians and Eskimos: "An
Ordinance to Provide for the Control, Regulation and Sale of Liquor in the Northwest
Territories" Ord. N.W.T. 1948, c¢.23, s.15(1)(e), 26-28. Prince Edward Island prohibited
"Indians" from voting on prohibition: "An Act to Provide for a Plebiscite on Questions Relating
to the Control and Suppression of Traffic in Alcoholic Liquors" S.P.E.I. 1929, c.15, s.6. When

the federal government obtained constitutional jurisdiction over "Indians" after confederation, it



enacted a host of prohibitions as well: "An Act providing for the organisation of the Department
of the Secretary of State of Canada, and for the management of Indian and Ordnance Lands" S.C.
1868, c.42, s.9, 12-13; "An Act for the gradual enfranchisement of Indians, the better
management of Indian affairs, and to extend the provisions of the Act 31st Victoria, Chapter 42"
S.C. 1869, c.6, s.3; "An Act to amend certain Laws respecting Indians, and to extend certain
Laws relating to matters connected with Indians to the Provinces of Manitoba and British
Columbia" S.C. 1874, c.21, s.1; "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, s.27, 68, 79-85; "The
Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1880, c.28, s.90; "An Act to further amend 'The Indian Act, 1880 S.C.
1882, ¢.30, s.5; "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.94-105; "An Act to amend 'The Indian
Act™ S.C. 1887, ¢.33, 5.10; "An Act to further amend 'The Indian Act,' Chapter forty-three of the
Revised Statutes" S.C. 1888, ¢.22, s.4; "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act,' Chapter forty-
three of the Revised Statutes" S.C. 1890, c.29, s.8; "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act"
S.C. 1894, c.32, s.6-7; "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.135-46; "An Act to amend the
Indian Act" S.C. 1919-20, ¢.50, s.4; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98; "An Act to amend the
Indian Act" S.C. 1930, c.25, s.13-14; "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1936, ¢.20, s.6-12;

"The Indian Act" S.C. 1951, ¢.29, s.93-102.

33. Regina v. Howson (1894), 1 Terr. L.R. 492.

34. Regina v. Howson at 493-6.

35. "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act™ S.C. 1894, ¢.32, s.6. See also "Indian
Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.135. The federal provisions were not altered until "The Indian Act"

S.C. 1951, ¢.29, 5.93 reconstructed the offence to prohibit the sale or supply of liquor to "any



person on a reserve" or "an Indian outside a reserve." Strangely enough, some of the earlier
provincial statutes prohibiting the sale of alcohol to Indians had failed to define the term "Indian"
at all. Most striking is "The Indian Liquor Ordinance, 1867" Colony of British Columbia, 1867,
No. 28 [reprinted in Laws of British Columbia 1871, No. 85], which contains an intricate

"Interpretation clause" as follows:

s.14. In the construction of this Ordinance, the word "Governor" shall be held to mean the
Governor of this Colony, or other Officer administering the Government of this Colony for the
time being, and whenever in this Ordinance in describing or referring to any person or party,
matter or thing, any word importing the masculine gender or singular number is used, the same
shall be understood to include and be applicable to several persons and parties as well as one
person or party, and females as well as males, and bodies corporate as well as individuals, and
several matters and things as well as one matter or thing, unless it be otherwise provided or there

be something in the subject or context repugnant to such construction.

Clearly the legislators turned their minds to questions of definition, and yet there is no

attempt to define "Indian" whatsoever.

36. The Queen v. Mellon (1900), 7 C.C.C. 179.
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commit a breach of the peace." Matoose was held in custody for five days, and released after the
posting of a $200 bond under a recognizance to "keep the peace" for three months. See A.
Bowen Perry, Regina, to the Superintendent Commissioner, Depot Division, Annual Report

1895 (Canada Sessional Papers 1896, no.15) at 64.

47. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 115-16. The Department of Indian Affairs was

concerned that the Indian Agent may have exceeded his jurisdiction in this case, when he



undertook to conduct the trial as an ex officio justice of the peace. They were incorrect in this,
since "An Act to amend 'The Indian Act, 1880™ S.C. 1881, c.17, s.12 authorizes an Indian Agent
to serve as an "ex officio justice of the peace for the purposes of this Act." See also "An Act to
further amend 'The Indian Act, 1880™ S.C. 1882, ¢.30, s.3; "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43,
s.117; S.C. 1890, ¢.29, s.9; S.C. 1894, ¢.32, s.8; S.C. 1895, ¢.35, s.7; R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.161;
S.C. 1951, ¢.29, 5.106. See Commissioner of Indian Affairs to Superintendent General of Indian
Affairs, 21 September 1896 and Sergeant Des Barres, Report of the Proceedings of Court held at

Indian Agent's Office, Crooked Lake, Assiniboia, 17 July 1896, PAC file 60-511-1 at 1.

48. Five Cree men were charged: Chief Thunderchild, Wa-pa-ha, Paddy, O-ka-nu and
Enu. Charges were filed and prosecuted by Indian Agent P.J. Williams and the farm instructor
of the Battleford Agency. Superintendent John Cotton and Inspector J.V. Begin of the North
West Mounted Police acted as justices of the peace. All five accused were convicted on 18
January 1897 after pleading guilty. Paddy and O-ka-nu were given suspended sentences because
of their youth, but the other three were sentenced to the statutory minimum term of two months
in jail. The terms were later commuted at the request of the convicting justices and the police
commissioner. The Cree dancers were released from jail on 10 February 1897. For accounts of

this case, see PAC file 60,511-1 at 1-2; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 117-18.

49, Chief Thunderchild "The Sun Dance," as transcribed and translated in Ahenakew
Voices at 46-47 and 50. Chief Thunderchild (1849-1927) whose Cree name was Peyasiw-
awasis, became one of the most knowledgeable and respected Aboriginal story-tellers on the
prairies, revered for his life as a warrior and hunter. Dr. Edward Ahenakew recorded many of

Chief Thunderchild's stories in written form in 1923.



50. The arresting officer was John Cotton, Superintendent commanding "C" Division in
Battleford. Only Ky-ass-i-kan was sentenced, and his initial term of two months was later
commuted due to his advancing age and infirmity. See PAC file 60,511-1 at 2 and RG18,

v.1,382, file 76; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 118.

51. Constable T. Hosken to Officer Commanding, 14 December 1897, Report: Indians,
Arrest and Trial of "Yellow Bird" for Encouraging to start a Give Away Dance (PAC RG18,

v.1,382, file 76) at 2.

52. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 15 and 116, 118-19; Annual Report of

Inspector J.O. Wilson, Commanding Regina District, North-West Mounted Police, District

Office Regina, December 1901 (Sessional Papers 1902, no.12) at 91. Five of the others were

released on suspended sentence, while the sixth served six months' imprisonment "at hard
labour" in the Regina prison guard room. The Cree offered some resistance when the two
arresting officers attempted to stop the ceremony, and the authorities had to call to Regina for
reinforcements. This was not Piapot's first arrest for conducting spiritual dances. In the late
1890s, he was incarcerated for performing the piercing ceremony for approximately twenty
young men at a Thirst Dance, but the official charge was apparently "drunkenness": see Pettipas

at 15 and 116; Abel Watetch Payepot and His People (Saskatoon: Modern Press, 1959) at 39.

Watetch reports that the Department of Indian Affairs removed Piapot from his position as chief
for these transgressions, and indicates that this, combined with the prosecutions, "broke the old
man's spirit." In protest, members of Piapot's community refused to elect another chief until

after his death. See also W.P. Stewart My Name is Piapot (Maple Creek: Butterfly Books,

1981).



53. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 122. Pettipas also recounts at 107-25 that in

addition to criminal prosecution, informal methods were used to deter ceremonial dancing, such
as persuasion and threats by Indian agents and local police, refusal to issue "passes" for travel
off-reserve, withholding of Indian Agency food rations, the confiscation of sacred offerings and
the dismantling of ceremonial lodges. My extensive archival searching has led me to conclude
that most of the written legal records for the prosecutions no longer survive. Some have been
destroyed by archivists who deemed the files "historically insignificant." Others were never
fully documented by the prosecuting and judicial authorities in the first place. For further
discussion of the paucity of reported Aboriginal cases, see Sidney L. Harring ""The Liberal
Treatment of Indians': Native People in Nineteenth Century Ontario Law" Saskatchewan Law
Review v.56 (1992) 297-371. It will be important to determine whether there are any oral
history memories of such cases within Aboriginal communities. Paul Williams "Oral Tradition
on Trial" in Gin Das Winan: Documenting Aboriginal History in Ontario (Toronto: Champlain
Society, 1996) 29 notes at 30-31: "Even when aboriginal people learned to write, they still often
chose to keep important transactions in their minds. There are important reasons for this; reasons
which in this post-Gutenberg world we underestimate. The mind is still the most sophisticated
recording and preserving device that humans have found. Its storage capabilities have not been
fully tested. It is portable, does not need much temperature and humidity control, and is capable
of complex storage, retrieval and correlation tasks. Knowledge stored in the mind can be
transmitted or transferred to other minds, and that knowledge invests those other minds with
abilities to use and understand the information. Most important, a matter that is kept in the mind

is also kept in mind. Matters kept on paper are more easily stored and forgotten."

54. Correspondence from Indian Agent G.H. Wheatley to the Indian Commissioner,



referenced in Letter from David Laird to the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, 28

February 1903, PAC file 60-511-1.

55. Rapid City Historical Book Society Rapid City at 8, 34, 363. Copies of Turriff's

letter-head are located in the PAC files noted below.

56. David Laird was born in New Glasgow, Prince Edward Island in 1833, the fourth
child of Alexander Laird and Janet Orr (Laird). He graduated from theological college in Truro,
Nova Scotia, and became the publisher of a Charlottetown paper, eventually known as the
Patriot. Married to Mary Louisa Owen of Charlottetown in 1864, he was elected as Liberal
provincial M.L.A. in 1871 and as Liberal M.P. for Queen's County, P.E.L. in 1873. During the
1870s, he served as Minister of the Interior, Licutenant-Governor of the Northwest Territories
and Indian Commissioner, and then returned to Charlottetown in 1882, where he resumed
editorship of the Patriot. He was appointed Indian Commissioner for Manitoba and the
Northwest Territories in 1899, several years after the death of his wife, and he moved to
Winnipeg to take up this post, where he lived with two of his six children. Although he returned
to Ottawa in 1909, Laird continued to work for the Department of Indian Affairs well into his
seventies. He died of pneumonia in 1914 at the age of 80. For biographical details, see John W.

Chalmers Laird of the West (Calgary: Detselig, 1981), who notes at 200 that Laird was

passionately interested in the Greek and Hebrew languages and spent much of his spare time

reading and studying them.

57. Telegraph from David Laird to the Secretary of the Department of Indian Affairs, 10

January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1; Report of the Indian Commissioner, Manitoba and the



Northwest Territories, Sessional Papers (1902) v.XXXVII, no.11, paper 27 at 188-9. Laird's

concern over the need to "civilize" the First Nations apparently did not provoke him to extend
much concern over incidents of abuse perpetrated against Aboriginal children at residential
school. Suzanne Fournier and Ernie Crey Stolen From Our Embrace: The Abduction of First
Nations Children and the Restoration of Aboriginal Communities (Vancouver: Douglas &
Mclntyre, 1997) note at 57 that as early as 1889, "the people of St. Peter's Reserve in Manitoba
complained officially to Indian Commissioner David Laird about the principal of Rupert's Land
Industrial School near Selkirk, Manitoba. Young girls of eight or nine still bore bruises on their
bodies several weeks after being strapped, they said. During an investigation, the Anglican
principal admitted he fed the children rancid butter and crept into the dormitories at night to kiss

little girls, but he was reprimanded, not removed."

58. Sessional Papers (1899) v.XXXIV, no.11, paper 14 at 607; Sessional Papers (1900)

v.XXXV, no.11, report 27 at 268; Sessional Papers (1901) v.XXXVI, no.11, paper 27 at 127,

Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest at 111-2; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 134.

59. Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest at 104, quoting John A. Markle (writing in
1895), who also added: "The Sioux are particularly fond of dancing and spend entirely too much
of their time and earnings at 'pow-wowing'...." In his 1897 report, Markle adds: "Although [the
Oak River Dakota] earn considerable money, they are very indiscreet in the spending of it. They
cling tenaciously to their ancient custom of dancing and feasting, and in this way waste a great

deal of their earnings." Sessional Papers (1898) v.XXXII, no.11, paper 14 at 124. Markle was

transferred to Alberta to serve as Indian Agent in the Blackfoot Agency in 1900. Sessional

Papers (1901) v.XXXVI, no.11, paper 27 at 240.



60. Regular "Red Backs and White Burdens" at 152; Regular "On Public Display" at 1-2.
Wheatley's renewed energy may have been bolstered by a pay raise. His annual salary at his new
posting totalled $1200, a full $200 raise from his previous departmental stipend: Sessional
Papers (1899) v.XXXIV, no.11, paper 14 at 607; Sessional Papers (1901) v.XXXVI, no.11,

paper 27 at 237; Sessional Papers (1904) v.XXXVIII, no.11, paper 27 at 169.

61. Sessional Papers (1901) v.XXXVI, no.11, paper 27 at 126. See also Sessional Papers
(1902) v.XXXVII, no.11, paper 27 at 122, where Wheatley adds: "The Indians are taking more
interest in the education of their children, but there are still quite a number who are indifferent
and will not send their children to school, preferring that they should be brought up in the same
way as themselves." Wheatley's predecessors drew similar connections between the travel
required to attend Aboriginal gatherings and the poor attendance at day school. Indian Agent
John A. Markle noted in 1899 that "the attendance at the [day school on the Oak River Reserve]
has not been as large nor as regular as it might have been. During the summer months, there are

attractions without the reserves, but within the reach of these mirth-loving people, that allure the

Indians from their homes and the children from the schools." Sessional Papers (1899) v.XXXIV,

no.l1, paper 14 at 128.

62. On 9 September 1902, Wheatley wrote: "Owing to the number of summer fairs held
in the province during the summer months, the inducements held out to the Indians, by some of
the towns, to come and hold 'pow-wows' or heathen dances for exhibition purposes to amuse the
public, tend to draw the Indians in large numbers to the towns, where on account of the large
number of people present, liquor is easily obtainable by them. It is a difficult matter to locate

those who give them the liquor and to get sufficient evidence to convict, when located, as the



Indians can seldom identify them. Could these dances be prohibited altogether, it would lessen

the danger to a great extent." Sessional Papers (1902) v.XXXVII, no.11, report 27 at 123. Next

year, he filed similar comments: "The numerous fairs held in the towns during the summer and
fall months are a temptation to the Indians, as they invariably attend all in the vicinity of their
reserves, and those who are addicted to the liquor habit generally manage to get some." Sessional
Papers (1903) v.XXXVIII, no.11, paper 27 at 145. For reference to fairs being "handy to

bootleggers," see (Gresko) Kennedy "Qu'Appelle Industrial School" at 196.

63. The qualifications of most farming instructors have been roundly criticized by many
observers. Robert Jefferson "Fifty Years on the Saskatchewan" Canadian Northwest Historical

Society: Publications, v.1, 1926-31 (Battleford, Saskatchewan) notes at 38 that farm instructors

were "imported experts from the East...all lumbermen from the Ottawa district [who] knew
nothing of the West nor of climatic conditions here...but they at least knew all there was to know
about driving men...." Few farm instructors could speak Aboriginal languages; see Sluman and
Goodwill John Tootoosis at 26. On the issue of partisan appointments and the lack of
qualifications of farming instructors, see James Douglas Leighton "The Development of Federal
Indian Policy in Canada, 1840-1890" Ph.D. thesis (University of Western Ontario: 1975) at 363-
72. Carter "Constructing the 'Indian Woman'" notes at 152-3 that concerns were raised in the
late 19th century that a number of farm instructors were using their position to coerce sexual
relationships from Aboriginal women. See also Carter "Agriculture and Agitation" at 4-5; Sarah

Carter Lost Harvests: Prairie Indian Reserve Farmers and Government Policy (Montreal:

McGill-Queen's University Press, 1990) at 84-94.

64. Farming Instructor R.W. Scott left the position in 1896, and the Sessional Papers for



that year note: "The band is now under the direct supervision of Mr. Richard Joynt, who is a
practical farmer of long experience in this province." By 1897, John Taylor had been appointed
to the position, which he held until he resigned on 31 December 1899 to accept a commission in
the 2nd Contingent of Canadian Volunteers to South Africa. He was replaced by Mr. Thomas
Ryan, described in the Sessional Papers as "now the resident moral and industrial guide to the
Oak River band." Ryan held the position until Yeomans was appointed in 1901. Sessional
Papers (1896) at 144, 461; (1897) at 490; (1900) at 135; (1901) at 127. At least one of these
individuals was fired by the Department. Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest notes at 99-
104 that Farmer Scott left the reserve and was replaced by "a man whose corruption was so
obvious that even the Indian department found him unsatisfactory, and terminated him on very
much the same grounds as those presented by the Dakota concerning Scott." Elias does not
specify which farming instructor met this ignominious end, but notes that the misconduct
involved officious interference in the activities of Aboriginal farmers, exceeding authority,

excessive rudeness and incompetence.

65. Sessional Papers (1901) at 127; (1902) at 161. In a later posting as the Indian Agent

at the Peigan Agency in Alberta, Yeomans decried Aboriginal attendance at white fairs, insisting
that it caused work interruption, intoxication and "immorality." Letter of E.H. Yeomans to D.C.

Scott, 27 October 1910, PAC RG10, v.3825, file 60-511-2.

66. Details of the prosecution of Wanduta are drawn from PAC file 60-511-1 and Pettipas

Severing the Ties that Bind at 119. On the Heyoka, sometimes translated as "Sacred Clown," see

Howard Canadian Sioux at 100-6, 172-3; Raymond J. DeMallie and Douglas R. Parks Sioux

Indian Religion: Tradition and Innovation (Norman, Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press,



1987) at 37. Wilson Wallis, a white anthropologist who conducted field research among the
Canadian Dakota several decades later, recognized Wanduta's expertise when he sought him out
to solicit information about his religion and culture. Wallis noted that Wanduta was credited
with diagnosing and healing an individual from the Dakota community near Portage la Prairie
around 1917. The recovered individual reported that the cause of his illness had been hidden
from all but Wanduta, advising: "Other medicine have difficulty in finding out things, but a
clown medicineman can find out anything." Wallis continues: "It was the custom of a Clown
named Wandu'ta to announce after the War dance held by the Dakota who assemble at Brandon,
Manitoba, each year during the week of the exposition, the number of spirits that he had seen
during the dance. This was a forecast of the number of Dakota to die during the coming year. In
1914 he declined to do this; he said he did not wish to make them feel badly. Some Dakota
explained his refusal as owing to the fact that each man and woman would think he or she might
be one of those who were destined to die, and a pall would rest over all of them." Wallis
recounts several conversations with Wanduta, whom he describes as "an old Clown then living
on the Griswold reservation," concerning Wanduta's abilities to diagnose accurately whether
specific Dakota who were ill would recover and his abilities to utilize spiritual forces to forecast
the coming of game. Wanduta gave Wallis an eye-witness account of the activities in 1866 of a
number of Heyoka who sought to eliminate the evil spirit preventing a successful buffalo hunt.
Although Wanduta's age is not specified in any of the records, based on these secondary
documents it would seem that the youngest that Wanduta could have been in the year of his
prosecution is probably in his mid-forties. Wanduta advised Wallis that during the twenty years
he had been in Canada, he had killed one hundred and one moose. See also Pettipas Severing the

Ties that Bind at 119; Katherine Ann Pettipas "Severing the Ties that Bind: The Canadian Indian



Act and the Repression of Indigenous Religious Systems in the Prairie Region, 1896-1951"
Ph.D. Thesis (University of Manitoba: 1989) at 250; Wallis Canadian Dakota at 111; Wilson D.

Wallis "Canadian Dakota Sun Dance" Anthropological Papers of the American Museum of

History v.XVI, Part IV (New York: 1919) at 325.

67. Each of the three main divisions is characterized by differences in dialect and, to
some extent, cultural orientation. The Dakota are Woodlands or Park Lands people with ties to
other Woodlands tribes sharing some of their cosmology and world view. The Nakota occupied
a vast territory east of the Missouri River and shared traits with other river people, such as
agriculture and occasionally earth lodges. The Lakota, which today comprises the largest
population of the three groups, have in common with the other high plains people a unique
religious and philosophical system. The Santee, originally the most easterly of the Dakota, also
included a fourth council fire, the Wapekute (Shooters Among the Leaves.) First located west of
the Lake Superior, where they were semi-sedentary agriculturalists, the Santee were pushed west
by the mid-18th century when they began to live on the margin of the plains culture. Wallis
"Canadian Dakota Sun Dance" notes at 323 that the Dakota living near Portage la Prairie and
Griswold, Manitoba, were "in the main refugees from the Wahpeton of Minnesota who were
participants in the massacre of 1862. Thus, their fundamental cultural traits should be those of
the Eastern Dakota...." Today, the Dakota people live in various communities in South Dakota,
North Dakota, Minnesota, Montana and Canada. The surviving sources on the history and
culture of the Dakota Nation include Mark St. Pierre and Tilda Long Soldier Walking in the
Sacred Manner: Healers, Dreamers, and Pipe Carriers - Medicine Women of the Plains Indians
(New York: Simon & Schuster, 1995); Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest; Wallis

Canadian Dakota at 111; Wallis "Canadian Dakota Sun Dance;" Wilson D. Wallis "Beliefs and



Tales of the Canadian Dakota" Journal of American Folk-Lore v.36 (1923) at 36; Carter

"Agriculture and Agitation" at 3; LaViolette Sioux in Canada; Ron W. Meyer History of the

Santee Sioux: United States Indian Policy on Trial (Omaha: University of Nebraska Press, 1967).
Mahpiyahdinape (Enoch) spent part of the winter of 1896 at Birdtail writing a history of his
Dakota community, but according to Elias at 232, the manuscript seems to have been lost. Elias
notes at p.xiii that the Dakota "are the most numerous of their nation in Canada," and that
"collectively all three divisions" - the Dakota, Nakota and Lakota - are called Dakota. Tribal
elders say that preserving the name "Dakota" as the name of the nation recognizes the common

roots of all three divisions.

68. Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest at 3, 15-17, indicates that archaeological data

provide evidence of this geographic expanse; see also Sessional Reports (Ottawa: Queen's
Printer, 1900) at 132. On the Anglo-American expansion into Indian territory, see Anthony J.
Hall "The Northwest Territories of North America: A Place or a Procedure for the
Extinguishment and Privatization of Indian country?" unpublished manuscript 1998. Gary

Clayton Anderson and Alan R. Woolworth Through Dakota Eyes: Narrative Accounts of the

Minnesota Indian War of 1862 (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1988) estimate at 5
that by 1862, "racial" intermixing was sufficiently widespread that "roughly 15 percent of the
Dakota reservation population" was comprised of Anglo-Dakota and Franco-Dakota people.
There was also racial intermixing between Blacks and the Dakota. Joseph Godrey (Dakota name
Otakle), one of the first Dakota to be tried by the military commission after the 1862 war, was
the son of a French-Canadian voyageur and a Black woman; see Anderson and Woolworth at 85-

6. See also LaViolette Sioux in Canada; Wallis Canadian Dakota at 9; Kenneth Carley The

Sioux Uprising of 1862 (St. Paul, Minn.: Minnesota Historical Society, 1976).




69. I have placed the word "reserve" in quotation marks in recognition of concerns that
the concept does not capture the Aboriginal understanding of the nature of their claim to
traditional lands, and that it is misleading in its suggestion that lands traditionally held by the
First Nations could be "reserved" for their use by the federal government. On the negotiations
between the Dakota and the Canadian government, and the resulting arrangements made about

the Oak River land, see Carter "Agriculture and Agitation" at 3-4; LaViolette Sioux in Canada at

46-68, 107-20; Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest at 18, 40. Elias also chronicles at 17-26
the double-dealing of Canadian and American authorities in their relations with the Dakota
between 1862 and 1865; see also Howard Canadian Sioux at 24-35. Roy W. Meyer "The
Canadian Sioux: Refugees from Minnesota" Minnesota History 41:1 (1968) 13 notes at 17 that
the negotiations could not commence until after the Hudson's Bay Company territorial holdings
were transferred to the Province of Manitoba, and Treaties 1 and 2 had been signed with the
native Cree and Chippewa. Carter notes that the Dakota were only allotted eighty acres per
family of five, even though other "reserves" in western Canada were based on one hundred and
sixty acres or six hundred and forty acres per family. The Minister of the Interior accounted for
the difference in his annual report for 1875, noting that "the Dakota cannot reasonably claim to
be placed on the same footing or treated with the same liberality as the Indian bands who had

always been British subjects resident in British territory." Sessional Papers (1876) no.9, at p.xii:

Annual Report of the Minister of the Department of the Interior. Howard Canadian Sioux notes

at 23 that the first chief of the Oak River community was Wambdiska. The Annual Report of the

Department of Indian Affairs, 1897, Sessional Papers v.XXXII, no. II, paper 14, lists the

"reserve" as having "an area of about nine thousand seven hundred acres."

70. Carter "Agriculture and Agitation" at 4, citing Inspector Wadsworth's Report of the



Birtle Agencies (1890), PAC RG10, v.3844, file 73,406-2.

71. The individual appointed was W.R. Scott: Carter "Agriculture and Agitation" at 4-5;

Carter Lost Harvests at 226-9.

72. On the pass system, which was first implemented after the 1885 Rebellion, see Laurie
Barron "The Indian Pass System in the Canadian West, 1882-1935" Prairie Forum 13:1 (1988)
25-42; John Jennings "The Northwest Mounted Police and Canadian Indian Policy, 1873-1896"
Ph.D. Thesis (University of Toronto: 1979) at 289; John Jennings "The North West Mounted
Police and Indian Policy After the 1885 Rebellion" in F. Laurie Barron and James B. Waldram

1885 and After: Native Society in Transition (Regina: Canadian Plains Research Center, 1986)

225 at 227; Sarah Carter "Controlling Indian Movement: The Pass System" NeWest Review

(May 1985) at 8-9; Carter Lost Harvests at 150-6. Although there were efforts to pass legislation
which would authorize the enforcement of the pass system, none was ever enacted and its
genesis is traced to administrative rules developed unilaterally by the Department of Indian
Affairs. Lacking force of law, Indian agents attempted to enforce the pass system by
withholding rations from those who violated it. The police occasionally assisted in enforcement
by arresting those found off the reserve without passes and prosecuting them for trespass under
the "Indian Act" or vagrancy under the "Criminal Code." The pass system violated treaty rights,
since Indians were not compelled to live on reserves nor deprived of freedom to travel under the

m

terms of the treaties. See also Carter "Constructing the 'Indian Woman"' for a discussion of the
white hostility towards Aboriginal women, accelerating after the 1885 Rebellion, which

stigmatized Aboriginal women as sexually promiscuous and fostered a pass system designed to

keep "Aboriginal women of abandoned character" away from the towns and villages of the



prairie west. On the permit system, see Carter Lost Harvests at 156-8.

73. Carter "Agriculture and Agitation" at 5-8; Carter Lost Harvests at 226-9. Carter notes
that three residents of Oak River, Harry Hotain, Mahpiyaska and Kinyanyahan, travelled to
Ottawa to meet with Indian Commissioner Hayter Reed. The three Dakota were advised that
they had violated Departmental regulations by leaving the reserve without a permit and sent
home without relief. The Department also took steps to prosecute white grain buyers who were
dealing with the Dakota; white grain buyers, William Chambers of Ogilvie Milling Co. and
Alexander and William Forrest of Leitch Bros. at Oak Lake were convicted of buying grain from
Indians without permits in 1893. Additional petitions of protest, signed by forty-two Dakota,
were forwarded in 1894. Facing the indomitable bureaucracy at Indian Affairs, the Oak River
Dakota were unable to work themselves free of the restrictive policies. The majority reconciled
themselves to small-scale farming, forcibly prevented from accessing the grain-centred cash

economy of the white settlers around them.

74. Sessional Paper (1902) v.XXXVII, no. 11, paper 27 at 121-4; Sessional Paper (1901)

v.XXXVI, no. 11, paper 27 at 126. The local press seemed drawn to accounts that suggested the
successful acculturation. "The Sioux Indians of Oak River Reserve" Brandon Western Sun 21
August 1902 recounts: "The following is a report of the crop average for the Oak River Indian
Reserve for 1901 and 1902, from which it will be seen that the Red Man is making great
advances. Many of the Indians have frame stables, and a full line of agricultural implements....
It may be added that a great deal of trouble is taken to teach the Indians. The Reverend Mr. Cox
is their spiritual adviser, while Mr. E.H. Yeomans is the Farming Instructor." In an article titled

"During his visit here last week...," Griswold Ledger 26 March 1903 reports that Indian Inspector



Marlett "expressed astonishment and pleasure at the superior order and cleanliness of the Oak
River Reserve homes," adding that the Inspector declared "this reserve to be the most satisfactory
of the ten under his charge." "Indians and Live Stock" Marquette Reporter 20 August 1903
notes that the "Indians" were "quite successful" in raising first class live stock in western

Canada.

75. Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest notes at 98 and 102 that it was Indian Agent
John A. Markle who made the appointment of Tunkan Cekiyana (whose name is also spelled as
Tukancikeyana), an individual held in disdain by many in his community for his propensity to
side with the Department of Indian Affairs. In meetings with governmental officials, some
Dakota refused to call Tunkan Cekiyana by his Dakota name, and referred to him
contemptuously as "Chief Pat." This appears to be the name by which he was known in the white
community. Griswold United Church Women Bridging the Years, 1867-1967, Griswold
Centennial Booklet (n.p.: Souris Plaindealer Limited, n.d.) notes at 32 that Chief Pat was the son
of the [unnamed] man who had been chief when the Dakota came to Canada following the 1862
uprising, adding: "Chief Pat had worked at the Pratt's Landing in Portage cutting wood. The
Indians often took the names of the people for whom they worked and he took the name of Pratt
which at first was mistakenly called 'Pat.'" Chief Pat was called to Regina where he was made
chief by the Canadian Government and presented with a medal." Elias recounts at 62-3 and 69
that Canadian officials were meddling in the selection of Dakota chiefs in Manitoba as early as
1877: "[Lieutenant Governor Alexander| Morris also suggested that the government recognize
only one of the four chiefs [in the Oak River and Birdtail communities], and he named
Wambdiska as 'the most industrious among them, and a man of good disposition." The Dakota,

however, wished to have their own form of leadership.... In recommending Wambdiska to be the



overall chief, Morris identified the one of the four men who had the least claim to chieftainship,
as his band had been all but exterminated...in 1863." Chief Taninyahdinazin held the position
after Wambdiska until his death in the winter of 1890, and after his death, the community failed
to recognize a chief for many years. Elias suggests at 83-85 that despite the strenuous resistance
of the Dakota, the Department managed to displace the traditional Aboriginal leadership almost
entirely. The factors which contributed to this were the disintegration of the old patterns of
communal labour organization, the subdivision of the "reserve" and the diminishing authority of

the elders.

76. George Manuel and Michael Posluns The Fourth World: an Indian Reality (Don

Mills: Collier-Macmillan Canada, 1974) note at 43: "Our ideal of leadership is closely related to
developing to a fine art the life-way of giving. Spiritual and material power have never been
wholly separated in the Indian world as they seem to have been elsewhere. In many Indian
societies, especially those with a less formal structure, a leader may better be described as a
person who gives well and who gives often. Even within the most highly structured Indian
societies, in which one could earn a title or office only through routes which combined family
lines with outstanding ability, there were few nations that based status solely on family lines.
There was something basically democratic in the recognition of status through giving. Anyone
of sufficient ability and generosity could achieve a status that would almost rival that of an office
holder." See also Wallis Canadian Dakota at 15; Catherine Price "Lakotas and Euroamericans:
Contrasted Concepts of 'Chieftainship' and Decision-Making Authority" Ethnohistory 41:3
(Summer 1994) 447-64; Menno Boldt and Anthony Long "Tribal Traditions and European-
Western Political Ideologies: The Dilemma of Canada's Native Indians" in Menno Boldt and

Anthony Long eds. The Quest for Justice (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1985) 335-9;




Harring Crow Dog's Case at 179 and 273.

77. Vic Satzewich and Linda Mahood "Indian Affairs and Band Governance: Deposing
Indian Chiefs in Western Canada, 1896-1911" Canadian Ethnic Studies 26:1 (1994) 40 note at 45
that during the treaty process in western Canada, "Indian bands were required to identify a chief
to carry out negotiations. Following those negotiations, the Department continued to recognize

those individuals as chiefs."

78. "An Act for the gradual enfranchisement of Indians, the better management of Indian
affairs, and to extend the provisions of the Act 31st Victoria, Chapter 42" S.C. 1869, c.6, s.10

provides:

The Governor may order that the Chiefs of any tribe, band or body of Indians shall be
elected by the male members of each Indian Settlement of the full age of twenty-one years at
such time and place, and in such manner, as the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs may
direct, and they shall in such case be elected for a period of three years, unless deposed by the
Governor for dishonesty, intemperance, or immorality, and they shall be in the proportion of one
Chief and two Second Chiefs for every two hundred people; but any such band composed of
thirty people may have one Chief; Provided always that all life Chiefs now living shall continue
as such until death or resignation, or until their removal by the Governor for dishonesty,

intemperance or immorality.

Satzewich and Mahood "Deposing Indian Chiefs" note at 44 that the Department began to

impose elections upon Aboriginal communities in Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick, Nova



Scotia and P.E.I. between 1895 and 1899, but did not fully extend the electoral system to the

west.

79. See "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, 5.61, s.62. "The Indian Act, 1880" S.C.
1880, ¢.28, s.72 provides that life chiefs could no longer exercise power unless "elected under
such order." "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act, 1880 S.C. 1884, c.27, 5.9 authorizes
the Governor-in-Council to set aside election results where the Indian Agent holds that there has
been "fraud" or "gross irregularity." See also "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, ¢.43, .75, 127.
"An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act™ S.C. 1894, c.32, s.5 provides that deposed chiefs are

ineligible for re-election for three years.

80. "An Act further to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1895, ¢.35, s.3; see also "An Act

further to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1898, ¢.34, 5.9 and "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.93-6.

81. Chiefs such as Piapot and Walter Ochapowance, convicted of dancing, were removed

from office by departmental officials, while Chief Thunderchild was threatened with the loss of

his status as chief if he continued to support ceremonial dancing; see Pettipas Severing the Ties
that Bind at 116-7 and 158-9. Headmen John Asham Jr. and Ka Ka Kesick were deposed at the
Qu'Appelle Agency as promoters of dances, and councillors at the Touchwood Agency, Portage
La Prairie, File Hills and Assiniboine Agency were deposed for similar reasons; see Satzewich

and Mahood "Deposing Indian Chiefs" at 51.

82. Concerned that the electoral system had begun to "politicize" eastern and central

Aboriginal communities to campaign against governmental policies, the Department decided not



to extend it to the west. Satzewich and Mahood "Deposing Indian Chiefs" note at 45 that the
practice was simply to appoint a chief or councillor for an indefinite term (subject to deposition
according to law): "This method involved the Indian Agent making a recommendation to his
superiors regarding what was seen as a suitable individual for the position." The initial
recommendation would be approved by the Inspector of Indian Agencies, the Indian
Commissioner and officials in Ottawa. "Depending on the circumstances, band members may or
may not have been consulted." They note at 54 that the policy was to confine the appointments

to "recognized leaders of the working, progressive class."

83. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 117.

84. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 133; J.D. McLean to Indian Commissioner, 5

January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1. The educational facilities available to the Oak River Dakota
children also included one day school on the Keeseekoowenin territory (the Okanase day school)
and a boarding school in the town of Birtle, which taught rudimentary domestic science,
gardening and the care of stock animals. Other Dakota children attended the Regina, Elkhorn,
Brandon and Qu'Appelle industrial schools and the Pine Creek and Cowessess boarding schools.
Indian Agent Wheatley reported in 1903 that the Dakota "object to the distance the schools are
from their reserves and the length of time the children have to stay," concluding petulantly that

"the Indians as a whole are not interested in the education of their children." Sessional Papers

(1904), v.XXXVIII, no.11, paper 27 at 144.

85. Fournier and Crey Stolen From Our Embrace; Roland Chrisjohn and Sherri Young

with Michael Maraun The Circle Game: Shadows and Substance in the Indian Residential



School Experience in Canada (Penticton: Theytus, 1997); Agnes Grant No End of Grief: Indian

Residential Schools in Canada (Winnipeg: Pemmican Publications, 1996); Jean Barman, Yvonne

Hebert and Don McCaskill Indian Education in Canada: Volume 1, The Legacy (Vancouver:
University of British Columbia Press, 1986) at 1-22, J.R. Miller Shingwauk's Vision: A History

of Native Residential Schools (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1992); Jo-Ann Archibald

"Resistance to an Unremitting Process: Racism, Curriculum and Education in Western Canada”

in J.A. Mangan ed. The Imperial Curriculum: Racial Images and Education in the British

Colonial Experience (London: Routledge, 1993) 93-107 and Jennifer Pettit "From Longhouse to

Schoolhouse: The Mohawk Institute 1834-1940" M.A. Thesis (University of Western Ontario:
1993) provide an overview of the history of Aboriginal education and the problems presented by
residential schools. Prior to 1850, some Aboriginal students chose to attend white schools,
deliberately seeking the possible advantages such education could provide. The earliest
legislation concerning schooling is found in "An Act to prevent the Sale of Spirituous Liquors to

Indians, and to provide for their Instruction" S.N.S. 1829, ¢.29. Section 4 makes it lawful:

for any two of his Majesty's Justices of the Peace to provide for the instruction in reading
and writing of any Indian or Indians, who may require it, and for that purpose, to direct an order
to any Master or Teacher of any Public School in the Province, who may be in the receipt of any
Salary or Allowance under any Act or Acts of this Province, for supporting and establishing
Schools, thereby directing such Master or Teacher to receive into his School any Indian Male or
Female, and without fee or reward to instruct and teach such Indian or Indians, to read and write,
and any Master or Teacher, who shall refuse or neglect to obey any such order, shall be deprived

of any Provincial allowance or salary to which he may be entitled for that year.



'

See also "An Act to provide for the Instruction and Permanent Settlement of the Indians'
S.N.S. 1842, c.16, s.7. These early Nova Scotia statutes suggest that public schools were
denying education to Aboriginal pupils at this time; Marie Battiste "Micmac Literacy and
Cognitive Assimilation" in Barman et al. Indian Education at 33. Nor did this change. Jean
Barman "Separate and Unequal: Indian and White Girls at All Hallows School, 1884-1920" in
Barman et al. Indian Education at 113 notes that at the turn of the century "that "only in a few
instances" across Canada could "Indian children attend the white children's schools." See also
Chief Joe Mathias and Gary R. Yabsley "Conspiracy of Legislation: The Suppression of Indian
Rights in Canada" BC Studies v.89 (1991) 39. After 1879, the federal government began to
develop a policy favouring separate Aboriginal schools, including large industrial, residential
schools located away from Aboriginal territories, boarding schools nearer Aboriginal
communities for younger students, and day schools in long-settled areas. Schools were to be
operated wherever possible by missionaries, a cost-saving measure that attempted to utilize
Christian zeal and denominational rivalry to offset public expenditure. The express goal was
assimilation, to prepare Aboriginal students for "their expected future existence on the lower
fringes of the dominant society." Barman "All Hallows School" notes at 110 that the
assimilationist goal would be impeded by government parsimony and white racism, causing the
federal government to shift course by 1910 "to fit the Indian for civilized life in his own
environment" rather than "to transform an Indian into a white man." By 1884, the bulk of the
statutory enactments became coercive in nature, forcing schooling on reluctant Aboriginal
peoples. The first legislation to apply pressure upon Aboriginal communities for the education
of children, "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act, 1880™ S.C. 1884, ¢.27, s.10 established

that it was the responsibility of chiefs to frame rules and regulations concerning "the attendance



at school of children between the ages of six and fifteen years." "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886,
c.43, s.76 solidified the religious nature of Aboriginal schools by providing that the chief or
chiefs of the band should ensure that the teacher of the school established on the reserve
belonged to the same religious denomination as the majority of the band, so long as the
Protestant or Catholic minority had a separate school, subject to the approval of the Governor in
Council. In 1886, an Ordinance was promulgated in the North West Territories ordering that the
"rights, powers and authority" of Indian parents whose children were in industrial schools ceased
while the school was in session. Any child who left the school before the time authorized could
be "compelled to return." Upon requisition from the principal of the school the Police were
ordered to "apprehend such offender and return him to the Institution from which he escaped, to
be dealt with according to law;" see Jennings "The North West Mounted Police and Indian
Policy" at 227, citing PAC RG18, file 65, v.1037. "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act"
S.C. 1894, c.32, s.11 extends the coercive legal provisions across the nation, authorizing the
Governor in Council to establish industrial or boarding schools for "Indians" and to make
regulations "either general or affecting the Indians of any province or any named band" to
"secure the compulsory attendance of children at school." This act instituted a series of

additional coercive measures:

s.137(2). Such regulations...may provide for the arrest and conveyance to school, and
detention there, of truant children and of children who are prevented by their parents or
guardians from attending: and such regulations may provide for the punishment, upon summary
conviction, by fine or imprisonment, or both, of parents and guardians, or persons having the

charge of children, who fail, refuse or neglect to cause such children to attend school.



s.138(2). The Governor in Council may make regulations, which shall have the force of
law, for the committal by justices or Indian agents of children of Indian blood under the age of
sixteen years, to such industrial school or boarding school, there to be kept, cared for and
educated for a period not extending beyond the time at which such children shall reach the age of

eighteen years.

s.138(3). Such regulations may provide, in such manner as to the Governor in Council
seems best, for the application of the annuities and interest moneys of children committed to
such industrial school or boarding school, to the maintenance of such schools respectively, or to

the maintenance of the children themselves.

See also "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.9-11, 97-98(f); "An Act to amend the Indian
Act" S.C. 1914, c.35, s.1. The latter act provides in s.2 that the "Governor in Council may take
the land of an Indian held under location ticket or otherwise, for school purposes, upon payment
to such Indian of the compensation agreed upon, or in case of disagreement such compensation

as may be determined in such manner as the Superintendent General shall direct."

The legislation was overhauled in "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1919-

20, ¢.50, s.1:

$.9(1) The Governor in Council may establish, -

(a) day schools in any Indian reserve for the children of such reserve;



(b) industrial or boarding schools for the Indian children of any reserve or reserves or any

district or territory designated by the Superintendent General.

(2) Any school or institution the managing authorities of which have entered into a
written agreement with the Superintendent General to admit Indian children and provide them
with board, lodging and instruction may be declared by the Governor in Council to be an

industrial school or a boarding school for the purposes of this Act.

(3) The Superintendent General may provide for the transport of Indian children to and
from the boarding or industrial schools to which they are assigned, including transportation to

and from the schools for the annual vacations.

(4) The Superintendent General shall have power to make regulations prescribing a
standard for the buildings, equipment, teaching and discipline of and in all schools, and for the

inspection of such schools.

(5) The chief and council of any band that has children in a school shall have the right to
inspect such school at such reasonable times as may be agreed upon by the Indian agent and the

principal of the school.

(6) The Superintendent General may apply the whole or any part of the annuities and
interest moneys of Indian children attending an industrial or boarding school to the maintenance

of such school or to the maintenance of the children themselves.



s.10(1) Every Indian child between the ages of seven and fifteen years who is physically
able shall attend such day, industrial or boarding school as may be designated by the
Superintendent General for the full periods during which such school is open each year.
Provided, however, that such school shall be the nearest available school of the kind required,
and that no Protestant child shall be assigned to a Roman Catholic school or a school conducted
under Roman Catholic auspices, and no Roman Catholic child shall be assigned to a Protestant

school or a school conducted under Protestant auspices.

(2) The Superintendent General may appoint any officer or person to be a truant officer to
enforce the attendance of Indian children at school, and for such purpose a truant officer shall be
vested with the powers of a peace officer, and shall have authority to enter any place where he
has reason to believe there are Indian children between the ages of seven and fifteen years, and
when requested by the Indian agent, a school teacher or the chief of a band shall examine into
any cause of truancy, shall warn the truants, their parents or guardians or the person with whom
any Indian child resides, of the consequences of truancy, and notify the parent, guardian or such

person in writing to cause the child to attend school.

(3) Any parent, guardian or person with whom an Indian child is residing who fails to
cause such child, being between the ages aforesaid, to attend school as required by this section
after having received three days' notice so to do by a truant officer shall, on the complaint of the
truant officer, be liable on summary conviction before a justice of the peace or Indian agent to a
fine of not more than two dollars and costs, or imprisonment for a period not exceeding ten days
or both, and such child may be arrested without a warrant and conveyed to school by the truant

officer: Provided that no parent or other person shall be liable to such penalties if such child, (a)



is unable to attend school by reason of sickness or other unavoidable cause; (b) has passed the
entrance examination for high schools; or, (c) has been excused in writing by the Indian agent or

teacher for temporary absence to assist in husbandry or urgent and necessary household duties.

See also "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.9-11, 100. "An Act to amend the Indian Act"
S.C. 1930, c.25, s.3 extends the school age upward to eighteen where "it would be detrimental to
any particular Indian child to have it discharged from school on attaining the full age of sixteen
years." See also "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1932-33, c.42, s.1. "The Indian Act"
S.C. 1951, c.29 authorizes financial agreements between federal and provincial governments so
that Aboriginal children can attend public and private schools with non-Aboriginal pupils.
Sections 113-22 make additional changes, authorizing compulsory schooling for children as
young as six, deeming children who were habitually late for school to be absent, and increasing

fines for parents and guardians of truant children to five dollars. The act also provides:

s.118(6). A truant officer may taken into custody a child whom he believes on reasonable
grounds to be absent from school contrary to this Act and may convey the child to school, using

as much force as the circumstances require.

s.119. Any Indian child who

(a) is expelled or suspended from school, or

(b) refuses or fails to attend school regularly, shall be deemed to be a juvenile delinquent

within the meaning of The Juvenile Delinquents Act, 1929.




Miller Shingwauk's Vision at 357-8 and Pettit "From Longhouse to Schoolhouse" at 84
note that the Six Nations Council brought legal action in 1913 over the mistreatment of children
at the Mohawk Institute near Brantford, Ontario. A civil jury awarded $100 for keeping Hazel
Miller on a water diet for three days, and $300 for whipping her sister, Ruth Miller, "on bare
back with raw hide," but dismissed additional complaints about hair-cutting, confinement in a
sick room and bad food. Fournier and Crey Stolen From Our Embrace note at 50 that
"residential schooling reached its peak in 1931 with over eighty schools across Canada. From
the mid-1800s to the 1970s, up to a third of all aboriginal children were confined to the schools,
many for the majority of their childhoods." They chronicle the systemic efforts of whites to
obliterate Aboriginal culture through such schooling, and the extensiveness of emotional,
physical and sexual abuse visited upon the children. See also Report of the Royal Commission
on Aboriginal Peoples Looking Forward, Looking Back v.1 (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and

Services Canada, 1996) at 333-409; Celia Haig-Brown Resistance and Renewal: Surviving the

Indian Residential School (Vancouver: Tillacum, 1988); Isabelle Knockwood with Gillian

Thomas Out of the Depths, The Experience of Mi'kmag Children at the Indian Residential

School at Shubenacadie, Nova Scotia (Lockeport, N.S.: Roseway, 1992); Basil H. Johnston

Indian School Days (Toronto: Key Porter, 1988); Linda Jaine ed. Residential Schools: The

Stolen Years (Saskatoon: University of Saskatchewan, 1993); Geoffrey York The Dispossessed:

Life and Death in Native Canada (Toronto: Lester & Open Dennys, 1989); Assembly of First

Nations Breaking the Silence, An Interpretive Study of Residential School Impact and Healing as

Ilustrated by the Stories of First Nations Individuals (Ottawa: First Nations Health Commission,

1994),

86. John Tootoosis, born in 1899, explained that his father was "very troubled by the idea



of sending his sons to residential school," but "wanted them to learn to read, write and count and
be able to speak the language of the white man.... He did not have these skills himself, had often
needed them and knew that Indian people would have a better chance in the future if they had
them;" Sluman and Goodwill John Tootoosis at 95-97. See also John S. Milloy "The Early
Indian Acts: Developmental Strategy and Constitutional Change" in lan A.L. Getty and Antoine
S. Lussier eds. As Long as the Sun Shines and Water Flows: A Reader in Canadian Native
Studies (Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 1983) at 60; Penny Petrone First.

People, First Voices (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1983).

87. (Gresko) Kennedy "Qu'Appelle Industrial School" notes at 200 that Principal T.
Ferrier joined with several prairie religious leaders to write letters recommending that the
Department abolish such dances. The correspondence was forwarded by Commissioner Laird to

Ottawa in December 1903. Fournier and Crey Stolen From Our Embrace note at 59 that some of

the religious leaders at the residential schools "reserved their most harsh punishments" for
Aboriginal children who insisted upon expressing their cultural and spiritual identity by "making

Indian dances."

88. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 133; J.D. McLean to Indian Commissioner, 5

January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1. Wanduta's son was not the only industrial school student to
participate in the campaign to preserve Aboriginal dance. Gresko "White 'Rites' and Indian
'Rites" describes at 177-8 how Daniel Kennedy, an Assiniboine who had graduated from
Qu'Appelle Industrial School and the Saint Boniface College, not only joined his elders in the
dances but played an active role in the drafting of petitions to Ottawa. Levi Thompson, a lawyer

from Wolseley, Saskatchewan who was retained by the Assiniboine to carry forward their



petition to Ottawa in 1906, remarked: "the leaders of this movement seem to be among the best-
educated and most intelligent of them." See letter to the Hon. F. Oliver, 19 March 1903, PAC
file 60-511-2. Charles Nowell used the writing skills he acquired in an Alert Bay residential
school to record information about lineage, clan positions and dancing lore, all vital to the

preservation of the Kwagiulth potlatch; Miller Shingwauk's Vision at 358.

89. Letter from David Laird, Indian Commissioner, Winnipeg to J.D. McLean, Secretary

of the Department of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, 9 January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1.

90. Anderson and Woolworth Dakota Eyes describe at 4 the earlier role of the War of
1862 in ripping apart the social and cultural fabric of Dakota society and fostering deep divisions
between segments of the community. They note at 6 that "perhaps as many as one-fourth of the
Dakota people" were attempting "to adjust to a Euro-American lifestyle" by 1862, moving from
their villages onto farms, adopting whites' clothing and converting to Christianity. They quote at
21-27 comments from Jerome Big Eagle (Wamditanka), born in 1827 at Black Dog's village on
the south bank of the Minnesota River, who stated in 1894: "...a little while before the outbreak
there was trouble among the Indians themselves. Some of the Indians took a sensible course and
began to live like white men. The government built them houses, furnished them tools, seeds,
etc., and taught them to farm. [...] Others staied [sic] in their tepees. There was a white man's
party and an Indian party. We had politics among us and there was much feeling. [...] The
'farmers' were favored by the government in every way. They had houses built for them, some of
them even had brick houses, and they were not allowed to suffer. The other Indians did not like
this. [...] They called them 'cut-hairs,' because they had given up the Indian fashion of wearing

the hair, and 'breeches men,' because they wore pantaloons, and 'Dutchmen,' because so many of



the settlers on the north side of the river and elsewhere in the country were Germans." Mary-
Ellen Kelm also notes that Aboriginal people who supported the ban on traditional dance reflect
significant disunity within First Nations' communities, blurring distinctions between resistant and
compliant, between colonizer and colonized. See her book review of Pettipas Severing the Ties

that Bind in Canadian Historical Review 78:1 (March 1997) at 171-3.

91. Letter from Chief Tunkan Cekiyana, Griswold to Department of Indian Affairs,
Ottawa, 10 January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1. John Noel, who acted as interpreter so that Chief
Tunkan Cekiyana's letter could be written in English, was a Dakota who had refused to take sides
in the factionalization which beset the Oak River community over the agricultural regulations of

the Department of Indian Affairs in the mid 1890s: see Carter "Agriculture and Agitation" at 7.

92. Sluman and Goodwill John Tootoosis, writing at 201 of the growing involvement of

Cree women in Aboriginal political life in the past several decades, note: "It was something of a
surprise at first, especially perhaps among the plains tribes to have women emerging as dynamic
and effective leaders as traditionally they had been more or less 'silent partners' in the old way of
life. (and we can hear a lot of Cree men laughing at that statement.)" See also Elias Dakota of
the Canadian Northwest at 106. Carter "Constructing the 'Indian Woman'"' notes that despite the
hostility directed against Aboriginal women from the white community, Aboriginal oral and
documentary sources record that the work of the women was vital in providing material and

spiritual resources to Aboriginal communities during the upheaval in the late 19th century.

93. Letter from Chief Tunkan Cekiyana, Griswold to Department of Indian Affairs,

Ottawa, 10 January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1.



94. Letter from Frank Pedley, Ottawa, to Chief Tunkan Cekiyana, Griswold, 27 January
1903; Letter from David Laird, Indian Commissioner to J.D. McLean, Secretary of Indian
Affairs, 9 January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1. Pedley, a graduate of Osgoode Hall Law School in
1890, practised law in Toronto until 1897 when he was appointed Superintendent of Immigration
at the behest of Clifford Sifton. In 1902, he was transferred to the Indian Affairs posting, which
he held until 1911. See Henry James Morgan ed. The Canadian Men and Women of the Time

2nd ed. (Toronto: William Briggs, 1912) at 892; Hector Charlesworth ed. A Cyclopaedia of

Canadian Biography (Toronto: Hunter-Rose Co., 1919) at 213.

95. PAC file 60-511-1. I have been unable to locate any biographical information on
Magistrate Lyons. Police magistrates were appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council:
R.S.M. 1902, c.104, s.2. Rarely legally trained, such appointees usually came from the ranks of
retired officers of the North West Mounted Police or businessmen who had served as justices of
the peace. The town of Griswold, in the western judicial district, was located 158 miles west of
Winnipeg and 26 miles west of Brandon. By 1905, its population was 325. The hotel where the
trial was held was destroyed by fire on 10 December 1903. See n.a. Bridging the Years:
Griswold Centennial 1882-1982 (n.p., n.d., copy held in National Library of Canada) at 248;

Griswold United Church Women Bridging the Years at 8, 26.

96. A search of the Griswold Ledger, the Marquette Reporter and the Brandon Western
Sun located not one reference to the dance of the Dakota, the trial, the conviction or the
subsequent efforts to procure the release of Wanduta. To the extent that there was any press
coverage of similar prosecutions, the reports were fleeting. A short item in the Winnipeg Daily_

Tribune on 27 January 1904 recounted the arrest of a ninety-year old Cree man, Tapassing, for




participating in a sun dance at Nut Lake, Saskatchewan, describing the event as an "orgy," a
"form of Indian pastime known chiefly for its violence." A letter from Edward Field of Fishing
Lake followed a few weeks later, taking issue with the conviction of this man, due largely to his
age, infirmity and role as a peace-maker within his community: see "Injustice to Poor Old
Indian" Winnipeg Telegram 18 February 1904. For Department of Indian Affairs' files on the

decision to discharge Tapassing early from prison, see PAC file 60-511-2.

97. For some discussion of the ethnicity of the population that immigrated to Manitoba
during this period, see Friesen Canadian Prairies at 204 and 244-70. See also D.J. Hall "Clifford
Sifton: Immigration and Settlement Policy 1896-1905" in Francis and Palmer eds. Prairie West
281-308; Howard Palmer "Strangers and Stereotypes: The Rise of Nativism 1880-1920" in

Francis and Palmer eds. Prairie West 309-33.

98. Letter from Malcolm Turriff, Rapid City to S. Stewart, Esq., Department of Indian

Affairs, Ottawa, 30 January 1903, PAC file 60-511-1.

99. Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest, quoting Markle at 104, citing Sessional
Papers (1895) no.12, part I, at 59-60; and letter from J.A. Markle to Secretary, Department of
Indian Affairs, 3 August 1909, RG10, v.3825, file 60,511-2. Elias describes at 81 the
consternation of the Indian Commissioner when he read in a local newspaper in 1888 that a
committee of "respectable citizens" had announced plans for a Dominion Day celebration
featuring a "war dance" by the Dakota. The Department of Indian Affairs itself was not above
pandering to similar white appetites, as indicated by the Canadian Exhibit at the Chicago World's

Fair in 1893. The officials mounted a fairly predictable demonstration that included pupils from



Industrial Schools who demonstrated their class work, trades skills and brass bands, but they also
sent "a few 'primitive' Indians...to satisfy public curiosity and scientific interest." See
correspondence of J.T. Morgan, U.S. Commissioner of Indian Affairs to the Hon. Hayter Reed,
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, North-West Territories, Canada, 12 September 1892, as quoted

in (Gresko) Kennedy "Qu'Appelle Industrial School" at 119.

100. Thomas Mayne Daly, the Minister of the Interior who introduced the 1895
amendment to the House of Commons, emphasized the need to "enlarge the law so as to meet
several cases that have arisen where it appears that the Indians themselves were not responsible
for getting up these dances, but outsiders encouraged them to do it." Debates House of

Commons, 5 July 1895 at 3935.

101. Report of the Indian Commissioner, Regina, A. Forget, to the Honourable
Superintendent General, 22 September 1896 (Sessional Papers 1897, no.14) 287-302; comments
of the Deputy Minister of Indian Affairs in the Annual Reports of 1926 and 1928, as quoted in
Sluman and Goodwill John Tootoosis at 141. In 1908, Frank Pedley at the Department of Indian
Affairs started to block government grants to agricultural societies that sponsored Aboriginal
dances at their exhibitions. In the summer of 1911, the Department of Indian Affairs sent letters
warning all local fair boards "to discontinue the practice of encouraging pagan Indians to
congregate at the fair, and that in the future no concession of any kind was to be granted to

them." Regular "Red Backs and White Burdens" at 43, citing Sessional Papers (1909) v.XLIII,

no.27 at 195-6; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 147, citing Frank Pedley to J. Gordon, 28
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Exhibitions, 16 January 1911, PAC file 60-511-2; Coates and McGuinness Brandon's



Agricultural Exhibitions at 29 and 33. Pettipas notes at 148 that officials of the 1913 Winnipeg

Stampede, along with several Aboriginal participants, consulted lawyers on the legality of such
government interference, citing Glen Campbell to Secretary, 11 December 1913, PAC RGI10,

v.3,826, file 60,511-3 at 1.

102. Letter from David Laird, Indian Commissioner, Winnipeg to Secretary, Department
of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, 28 February 1903, PAC file 60-511-1. Laird's position against
clemency was similar to that taken by religious leaders who opposed Aboriginal dancing. Father
Joseph Hugonnard, the white Oblate missionary who ran a Roman Catholic school near Fort
Qu'Appelle, wrote to Laird in 1903 about the importance of severe penalties for all those
prosecuted for dancing: "Indians unless punished in some visible way when justly arrested,
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105. H. Cartwright, ed. The Canadian Law List (Toronto: Imrie and Graham, 1900) at 92.
For details of some of the cases dealt with by Coldwell and Coleman, see Public Archives of
Manitoba, Queen's Bench Civil Files 1883-1938, GR360, box B-7-2-9. For a copy of the firm
letterhead, see PAC file 60-511-1. The first Manitoba lawyer to claim Aboriginal heritage (Ken
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Parker ed. Who's Who and Why: A Biographical Dictionary of Men and Women of Canada and

Newfoundland, v.5, (Vancouver: International Press, 1914) at 220; Brandon Daily Sun 24
January 1924. For reference to Coldwell's position as a member of the governing council of the
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107. In her account of Aboriginal resistance to the potlatch law, Tina Loo "Dan
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Alert Bay, considered that "the Indians have had many lawyers advise them and much of the
opposition to the enforcement of the potlatch law has been owing to the attitude of the lawyers."
Halliday to Scott, 1 March 1922, PAC RG10, v.3630, file 6244-2. For examples of cases in
which lawyers represented those accused of illegal dancing, see the trial of George Hunt, the son
of a Tlingit woman and Hudson's Bay Company man in 1900; the trial of Etchease of
Muscowpetung Reserve in 1903; the prosecutions arising out of the Sun Dance on Little Pine
Reserve in 1915; the trial of Cessaholis of Kingcome Inlet in 1915; the charges laid against
Hotain from Oak Lake in 1917; prosecutions regarding the Rain Dance at Sakimay Reserve on
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the Assiniboine from Manitoba (1903), the First Nations of Muscowpetung, Piapot and Pasqua
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108. "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1926-27, ¢.32, 5.6 provides: "Every person
who, without the consent of the Superintendent General expressed in writing, receives, obtains,
solicits or requests from any Indian any payment or contribution or promise of any payment or
contribution for the purpose of raising a fund or providing money for the prosecution of any
claim which the tribe or band of Indians to which such Indian belongs, or of which he is a
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the said tribe or band, shall be guilty of an offence and liable upon summary conviction for each
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imprisonment for any term not exceeding two months." See also "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98,



s.141. George Manuel describes the genesis of the prohibition in Manuel and Posluns The
Fourth World at 86-7 and 94-5: "Fund-raising was made a crime for Indians in Canada in 1927,
right after Andy Paull, Peter Kelly, and their lawyer, A.E. O'Meara, succeeded in bringing the
claim of the Allied Tribes of British Columbia before a Joint Committee of the Senate and House
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1922, a Vancouver lawyer D.W.F. McDonald, wrote to the British Columbia Law Society,
requesting the admission of Andrew Paull as a student-at-law, noting: "Mr. Paul [sic] has had a
thorough education at the Mission and High Schools...and is looked upon as one of authority by
the Indians. He is desirous of taking up the study of law; he is about twenty-eight years of age,
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speaks and writes French." The Law Society denied his application, indicating that "no
concessions will be made as to the subject of Latin." The secretary of the Law Society also

recited the Law Society's Rule 39, passed in response to the efforts of several Japanese and
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twenty-one years, be entitled to be placed on the Voter's list under the Provincial Elections Act."
First Nations' individuals were barred from voting in British Columbia until 1949; for more
details, see discussion of Sero v. Gault in chapter 4. For details of the exclusion of First Nations'
lawyers in British Columbia, see Joan Brockman "Exclusionary Tactics: The History of Women
and Visible Minorities in the Legal Profession in British Columbia" in Hamar Foster and John
McLaren eds. Essays in the History of Canadian Law: British Columbia and the Yukon, v.6
(Toronto: The Osgoode Society, 1995) 508 at 519-25 and 549; E. Palmer Patterson "Andrew

Paull and Canadian Indian Resurgence" Ph.D. Thesis (University of Washington: 1962).

109. On the Dakota financial situation, see Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest at
114-5, who also notes that during this decade the Dakota commanded high wages as skilled and
trained workers in a number of fields, often earning "more than the going rate for the labour in
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110. The "Criminal Code" sets out the general rules regarding appeals, to be followed

"unless it is otherwise provided in any special Act": see S.R. Clarke The Magistrates' Manual 3rd

ed. (Toronto: Carswell, 1893) at 227. The "Criminal Code, 1892" S.C. 1892, ¢.29, s.880(b)
provides that "the appellant shall give to the respondent, or to the justice who tried the case for
him, a notice in writing, in the form NNN in schedule one to this Act, of such appeal, within ten
days after such conviction or order." Although such provisions can be superseded by specific
legislation, there is nothing in the "Indian Act" concerning appeals for prosecutions of

Aboriginal dance. In contrast, other provisions alter the rules of appeal for certain other



offences. "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, s.84 provides a period of thirty days to launch
an appeal for crimes of intoxication concerning Indians. Section 85 also provides that "no
prosecution, conviction or commitment under this Act shall be invalid on account of want of
form, so long as the same is according to the true meaning of this Act." "The Indian Act, 1880"
S.C. 1880, c.28, 5.97 adds Indian prostitution to the offences that permit an appeal period of
thirty days. "An Act to further amend 'The Indian Act, 1880™ S.C. 1882, ¢.30, s.4 provides that
in any suit between two Indians concerning tort or contract, "no appeal shall lie from an order
made by any District Magistrate, Police Magistrate, Stipendiary Magistrate or two Justices of the
Peace, when the sum adjudged does not exceed ten dollars." "An Act further to amend '"The
Indian Act, 1880™ S.C. 1884, ¢.27, s.15 abolishes the right to bring a writ of certiorari
concerning intoxication and prostitution offences, and provides that no warrant of commitment
could be held "void by reason of any defect therein, provided it is therein alleged that the person
has been convicted, and there is a good and valid conviction to sustain the same." Section 24 of
that statute abolishes appeals of certain orders: "in any suit between Indians or in a case of
assault in which the offender was an Indian or the offenders were Indians, no appeal shall lie
from an order made by any District Magistrate, Police Magistrate, Stipendiary Magistrate or two
Justices of the Peace, when the sum adjudged, or the fine inflicted, does not exceed ten dollars."
See also "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.79, 108; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.103;

R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, 5.106.

111. A writ of habeas corpus requires that the detained individual be brought before a
court of law and released if there is no legal authority for the confinement. James Crankshaw A_

Practical Guide to Police Magistrates and Justices of the Peace (Montreal: Theoret, 1905) notes

at 432-50 and 464 that "when there is any fault or illegality in the commitment under which a



defendant is imprisoned, he may obtain his discharge by means of a writ of habeas corpus ad
subjiciendum, which may be obtained from a Superior Court of Criminal Jurisdiction or from a
Judge of such Court. Its object being to effect deliverance from illegal confinement, it
commands the party detaining the prisoner to produce his body, together with a true statement of
the cause of his detention...." The writ of certiorari allows a superior court (in Manitoba, the

Court of King's Bench) to restrain an inferior tribunal that has acted in excess of its jurisdiction.

112. Statutory Declarations of Akisa, Pazaiyapa, Wasticaka, Kiyewakan and Hoksidaska,
"In the Matter of Wanduta, an Indian" 9 February 1903. David Ross, the interpreter, is identified

as a "Manitoba Farmer" of the "Indian Village near Portage La Prairie. PAC file 60-511-1.

113. Hall Clifford Sifton 2 vols.; Clark Brandon's Politics at 13, 16, 31-4.

114. Letter from George Coldwell KC, Brandon, to Clifford Sifton, Minister of the

Interior, Ottawa, 20 February 1903, PAC file 60-511-1.

115. Rapid City Historical Book Society Rapid City at 14-33, 83, 116, 345-6.

116. Statutory Declarations of Edward Soldan, John Bowen Mowatt Dunoon, Edmund
Cecil Gosset Jackson and Alexander McKellar, "In the Matter of Wanduta, an Indian" 27

February 1903, PAC file 60-511-1.

117. Gresko "White 'Rites' and Indian 'Rites" notes at 180 that "public opinion was often

on their [the Aboriginal] side and can be measured in the popularity of Indian festivals at town



fairs, or the convivial wish that the chiefs and their braves be allowed their 'social dances' or

'canoe races.""

118. For a discussion of state of undress, see (Gresko) Kennedy "Qu'Appelle Industrial
School" at 219, where she recounts Indian Agent Markle's depiction of "war dances" in which
"Indians...appear in public in nude attire [Markle had underlined 'half-naked' in the clipping]

with little on them except paint and feathers...."

119. The National Council of Women of Canada passed a motion at its eighth annual
meeting in 1901: "Resolved that the matter of the gross immoralities which are practised among
the Indians of Treaty VII during their annual dances having been brought to the attention of the
Executive Committee of the National Council of Women of Canada by one of the Missionaries
on these Reserves, they are glad to learn by the last annual report to the Government that the
matter has been considered by the Department of Indian Affairs. The National Council of
Women of Canada, while acknowledging what the Government has done to suppress the evils
referred to, would urge the Government to take whatever steps be deemed advisable to further
strengthen the hands of the Government Agents and others, so as to bring about an abandonment
of all these dances, which interfere with the progress of these Indians towards morality and
civilisation." During the debate on this resolution, attention was drawn to the "outrages practised
upon quite young children during the course of these dances." Some urged that the Indian
Agents be given the power to withhold special rations where "such gross immoralities are
practised." At least one participant confessed to having "seen the Indians on one of the Reserves
ten years ago dancing a sun-dance in war paint and fathers," but she noted she had not seen "any

of the gross immoralities which they had been since told about." She was advised that "the



objectionable features of the sun-dances" were "never allowed to be seen by white people; it is
only after the missionaries have won the confidence of the girls that they learn of them."
National Council of Women of Canada Yearbook (Ottawa: 1901) at 159-62. (Gresko) Kennedy
"Qu'Appelle Industrial School" at 209-10 notes that correspondence between Frank Pedley and
the Minister of the Interior Frank Oliver, 30 March 1906, refers to the "frequent complaints made
by Catholic and Protestant Missionaries, the National Council of Women as well as from other

organizations."

120. Barker Brandon notes at 165 that in 1915 the Brandon Imperial Order of Daughters
of the Empire (I.O.D.E.) had bestowed the Union Jack upon ninety-year old Antoine Hoka,

something he had vowed to "possess for the rest of my life and wrap around my body at death."

121. A letter to the editor titled "Indian Circle Dances," written by J.H.S. of Plymouth
England, published in the Indian Head Vidette on 20 May 1903, eulogizes religious liberty, but
makes clear that this concept was not applicable to Aboriginal peoples: "Religious liberty needs
to be jealously guarded, but liberty to practice idolatrous rites in a professed Christian country is
dangerous to the community at large. It is the opinion of many that the infamous truckling to
and protection and patronage of Hindoo idolatry led to the Indian mutiny with its nameless
horrors. Idolators naturally seek every opportunity to destroy all Christian government and
impurity may soon lead to open insurrection. The evil needs to be promptly dealt with." See
also Allison M. Dussias "Ghost Dance and Holy Ghost: The Echoes of Nineteenth-Century
Christianization Policy in Twentieth-Century Native American Free Exercise Cases" Stanford
Law Review v.49 (1997) 773 at 775 where she notes that even in the American setting, where

the concept of freedom of religion had constitutional standing, "freedom of religion meant



freedom to practice the Christian religion. The government was deemed to have the authority to
suppress traditional religious practices and establish Christianity among the Indians, the
Constitution notwithstanding." For a noteworthy exception to the generalization that whites did
not imbue Aboriginal peoples with the right to religious freedom, see Regular "On Public
Display" regarding the activities of Rev. John McDougall, the Methodist missionary to the
Stoney at Morley, Alberta, who campaigned against the prohibition of Aboriginal dance on the

™

basis of First Nations' "religious liberty."

122. Brandon Western Sun "The Indian is Naturally Lazy" 5 June 1903. Citing as an
illustration of this none other than a Dakota from the Oak River territory, the report describes
him as one who "raised a nice little crop" the previous fall, "the proceeds of which bulged his
pockets out." The article describes the Dakota "lean[ing] up against the side of one of the main
street stores yesterday afternoon," having apparently decided not to farm at all this summer.
Questioned about the wisdom of his decision not to begin seeding, the Dakota purportedly
replied: "Me make lots money last year." The stereotypical depiction of First Nations'
individuals is characteristic of white newspaper accounts about Aboriginal people during this

cra.

123. In her book review of Pettipas's Severing the Ties that Bind in the Canadian Journal

of Law and Society 10:2 (Fall 1995) 277 at 279, Tina Loo notes: "In an example of one of
capitalism's many ironies, practices that were outlawed because they prevented Indians from
learning the proper habits of industry - from internalizing a capitalist work ethic - persisted in
commodified form because of their newly-created economic value." See also Regular "Red

Backs and White Burdens," who notes the tensions displayed in Alberta newspaper articles



during the second decade of the 20th century regarding the appropriateness of "Indian displays"

at fairs.

124. The Statutory Declarations of Edward Soldan, John Bowen Mowatt Dunoon,
Edmund Cecil Gosset Jackson and Alexander McKellar, "In the Matter of Wanduta, an Indian"
27 February 1903, PAC file 60-511-1, all state: "[On July 17th] a holiday was being observed in
Rapid City and races and other amusements were being held there and as part of the
entertainment, I and other citizens of Rapid City arranged with the Indians of the Oak River
reserve to attend at Rapid City and give a dance for the amusement of the people visiting the

town at that time."

125. Despite a thorough review, I could locate no reported cases on the prosecution of
illegal dances against Aboriginal or non-Aboriginal persons in any of the published series of
Canadian law reports. Prosecutions against Aboriginal individuals are mentioned in the archival
records of the Department of Indian Affairs, but I have found no discussions of any charges laid
against non-Aboriginal persons. To be absolutely certain that no prosecutions were ever
launched against white individuals, it would be necessary to complete a full review of all the
Canadian court records held in various provincial archives. My initial efforts to locate such
records in the archives of the prairie provinces have produced so little documentation that it
would seem that the prospect of completing such a task with any sense of fullness and accuracy

may be of dubious practicality.

126. Regular "Red Backs and White Burdens" at 152-4.



127. Brandon Western Sun "Indian Chief Talks to the Governor-General" 16 October

1902.

128. After completion of a tour of western Canada in the fall of 1902, Governor-General
Lord Minto did present certain Aboriginal grievances to Prime Minister Sir Wilfrid Laurier. The
repression of the Sun Dance was one of the concerns Minto mentioned, and he took issue with
the "want of human sympathy" between white officials at Indian Affairs and Aboriginal peoples,
and with the "somewhat narrow religious sentiments" expressed by the former. See PAC Laurier
Papers, v.248, at 69214-20, Minto to Laurier, 16 January 1903. Sifton had long been irked by
Minto's "gratuitous interference in the administration of Indian Affairs" and this submission
appears to have caused a further deterioration in the relationship between the two men; see Hall

Clifford Sifton v.2 at 90. However, it appears to have wrought no change in governmental

policy.
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to Agent James Wilson of the Blackfoot Agency, 11 July 1898. PAC file 60-511-1.

130. Legal Opinion "The King v. Wanduta" directed to the Deputy Superintendent

General, Department of Indian Affairs, undated (early March 1903), PAC file 60-511-1.

131. As a general rule in indictable offences, justices of the peace (and police
magistrates) had only the power to hear the preliminary inquiry, to ascertain if there was
sufficient evidence to put the accused on trial, and then to commit the accused for trial before a

higher court (such as the Manitoba Court of King's Bench or the Court of General or Quarter



Sessions of the Peace, when presided over by a Superior Court judge or a County or District

Court judge): Crankshaw Police Magistrates at 115-17.

132. Legal Opinion "The King v. Wanduta" directed to the Deputy Superintendent

General, Department of Indian Affairs, undated (early March 1903), PAC file 60-511-1.

133. Letter from Frank Pedley, Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, to E.L.
Newcombe KC, Deputy Minister of Justice, 10 March 1903 and letter from Frank Pedley to Mr.

Collier, Ottawa, 12 March 1903; PAC file 60-511-1.

134. Letter from D.M.J. (full name not indicated), Secretary, Department of Justice to
Frank Pedley, Deputy Superintendent of Indian Affairs, 15 May 1903; Draft letter, from J.D.
McLean, Secretary of Indian Affairs to Messrs. Coldwell & Coleman, 15 May 1903. PAC file

60-511-1.

135. On 1 April 1903, David Laird cabled the Secretary of Indian Affairs to advise that
the Indian agent on the Peigan reserve had sentenced an Indian to two months under section 114.
"Has he exceeded his jurisdiction in awarding summery [sic] punishment instead of committing
accused for trial?" queried Laird. "Police have raised question," he noted. J.D. McLean replied
the same day: "If prima facie case under Section 114 Indian Act Agent should have committed

for trial. No jurisdiction to try summarily." PAC file 60-511-1.

136. Clark Brandon's Politics at 43, 58, 63; Hall Clifford Sifton v.2 at 110-26; "Re-

organization: Large Reductions in Indian Department Staff, Between Thirty and Forty Thousand



Dollars Saved in Salaries Alone--Economy is the Watchword" Regina Leader 6 May 1897.

137. Archbishop Langevin wrote to Sifton on 26 December 1903 recommending that the
government "amend the law" if necessary to eradicate the Aboriginal dances that furnished the
First Nations with "the means of opposing all efforts made by the Government and the
Missionaries to civilize the Indians...to earn a living by farming or by raising cattle." Langevin
complained about whites who favoured Aboriginal dances, describing them as "greedy
skimmers" who sought out dancers "for the sake of lucre" and as "gentlemen...in the romantic
view of 'amateurs'." Clifford Sifton's reply to Archbishop of Saint Boniface, 31 December 1903,

is also located in PAC file 60,511-1.

138. Letter from Coldwell & Coleman to Minister of the Interior and Department of

Indian Affairs, Ottawa, 20 May 1903; PAC file 60-511-1.

139. Rapid City Historical Book Society Rapid City at 8, 24-5.

140. The Marquette Reporter "Indians and Live Stock" 20 August 1903, is
characteristically demeaning: "On the Indian reserves throughout Manitoba and far out on the
prairies of the Territories the blue-blooded natives of Western Canada are groaning in
satisfaction, with a good portion of $140,000 snug under their wampum belts. The Indians are
being paid their annuities now and Indian Commissioner Laird, of Winnipeg, is beginning to
receive reports that show the distribution of treaty fees for 1903 is well nigh completed. The
month of July and the earlier portion of August is the Christmas season to the reserve Indian, and

although the government has been discouraging the custom in every possible manner, here and



there a tribe breaks out into a good old fashioned dance and jollification, after the Dominion
agents have passed through their villages and made reparations for the land titles which they

have since ceded to the government."

141. Barker Brandon notes at 96, with the condescension that is generally typical of such
accounts: [The] annual Summer Fair...featured for the first time an Indian pow-wow [during]
which it was recorded that the "noble red men attired in all their gorgeousness, marched by the
grandstand to the sound of tom-toms [although] one stately brave looked as if he had been
corrupted by civilization: he wore a coonskin coat." Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest
notes at 118 that under David Laird's instructions, the Department of Indian Affairs hired

detectives to attend the Brandon Fair in 1907 to "see that the law is obeyed...."

142. Shave Tail, a Cree, was convicted of "enticing the Indians to dance" in 1903, but let

off with a "severe reprimand." PAC file 60,511-1; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 121.

Gresko "White 'Rites' and Indian 'Rites" notes at 176 that Standing Buffalo, whom she describes
as "Sioux," was also arrested and tried in 1903, citing Asst. Indian Commissioner, N.-W.T. J.A.
McKenna to the Secretary of the Department of Indian Affairs, 15 June 1903, RG10, file 60,511-
1 and Codex of the Qu'Appelle Industrial School 31 August 1903. Two Peigan men,
Commodore and Joe Smith, were convicted of participating in a Give-Away Dance in Alberta in
1903. The convicting white judge was Chief Justice Sifton, who released the prisoners on a
suspended sentence, with the warning that he would be "very severe" with any who came before
him charged with dancing in the future. See P.C.H. Primrose, Superintendent Commanding "D"
Division, MacLeod, Annual Report to Commissioner, North West Mounted Police, Regina, 1

December 1903, Sessional Papers no.28 at 76; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 121.




In 1904, a ninety-year old Cree elder from Fishing Lakes, named Taytapasahsung,
was convicted for attending a spiritual ceremony at Nut Lake, Saskatchewan. The accused was
sentenced to two months of hard labour. PAC file 60,511-2 at 1-2; "Injustice to Poor Old
Indian" Toronto Telegram 18 February 1904; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 121-2. In

1914, the elderly Cree Fineday was arrested. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 152. That

same year, Johnny Bagwany and Ned Harris, Nimpish of Alert Bay, were convicted of
conducting a potlatch. The legal argument during the trial before white Justice F.B. Gregory in
Vancouver County Court centred on the definition of "festival" and "ceremony," and whether the
potlatch fell within the meaning of these terms. Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand at 97-8. In
1915, Cree Chief Joseph Kenemotayo from Whitefish Lake, Charles Tott and Seeahpwassum
Kenemotayo were convicted of conducting an "off-reserve" ceremony near present-day
Wynyard, Saskatchewan. All three pleaded guilty. Tott was sentenced to thirty days in the jail
in Prince Albert, with the other two being fined $5, $2.50 and costs. J.R. Hooper to
Commissioner, Crime Report, 3 June 1915, PAC RG10, v.3,826, file 60,511-4, part 1 at 1. Six
more Cree men were convicted when members of the Sweet Grass community participated in a

Sun Dance at Little Pine near Battleford, Saskatchewan in 1915. Pettipas Severing the Ties that

Bind at 153, citing J.A. Rowland to J.D. McLean, 20 July 1915, PAC RG10, v.3,826, file
60,511-4, part 1 at 1-2. Two Blackfoot men were convicted in Alberta for giving away property
during dances in 1915. Big Chief Face was convicted in the Supreme Court of Alberta for giving
away two mares at a Blackfoot ceremony and a young man from the Blackfoot Agency was
given a suspended sentence for giving away twenty-five cents during another dance. See

Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 155, citing J. Gooderham to Assistant Deputy and

Secretary, 12 February 1915 and "The King versus Big Chief Face" submitted by M.S.



McCarthy to the Department, December 1915, PAC RG10, v.3,826, file 60-511-3 and 60-511-4,
part 1. Cessaholis of Kingcome Inlet was convicted of celebrating a Potlatch in 1915. The
accused pleaded guilty, but argued against the propriety of the law, noting: "I did not give a
potlatch, I gave a feast for poor Indians, just like white people in Vancouver give feasts for the
poor people." He received a suspended sentence from white Vancouver County Court Judge
W.W.H. MclInnis. Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand at 99. In 1920, eight Aboriginal men from
Alert Bay were sentenced to serve two months in Oakalla Prison for celebrating Potlatches. Cole
and Chaikin An Iron Hand at 116. In 1921, George Tanner of Swan Lake, Manitoba was
imprisoned for two months for giving away a buggy and other goods. Pettipas Severing the Ties
that Bind at 155, citing Sergeant R. Nicholson, Crime Report - Re: George Tanner...Swan Lake
Reservation, Man., Illegal Dancing, Indian Act, 25 July 1926, PAC RG10, v.3,827, file 60,511-
4B. Mayzenahweeshick and Blackbird, participants in a Sun Dance held at Buffalo Point,
Manitoba, were convicted in 1921. The organizer was imprisoned for two months, while the
others were apparently given suspended sentences. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 153
and 177 citing Corporal G. Gill to Officer Commanding, 18 August 1921, and Corporal G. Gill,
Report Re: Mayzenahweeshick, Indian - Engaging in Illegal Indian Dance, 30 July 1921, PAC
RG10, v.3,826, file 60,511-4A at 1-2. Forty-three Nootka individuals were convicted of dancing

off their reserve that same year. Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand at 124.

In a spectacular burst of police and prosecutorial power in 1922, forty-nine
Kwakiutl individuals from Alert Bay, British Columbia were convicted following Dan Cranmer's
potlatch. Twenty-two were sentenced to two months imprisonment; four were given six months.
The rest received suspended sentences after they signed affirmations to stop potlatching and

agreed to surrender to the white Indian agent their ceremonial regalia, consisting primarily of



"elaborately carved cedar masks." The 450 items confiscated were held in museums in Ottawa
and Toronto until they were returned to native museums in Alert Bay and Cape Mudge in 1987,
following litigation to retrieve them. Loo "Dan Cranmer's Potlatch" at 221, citing PAC RG10,

v.3630, files 6244-4.

Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand, chapter 9 and Loo "Dan Cranmer's Potlatch" at
233, attempt to quantify the prosecutions for potlatching. They indicate that between 1884 and
1895 there was only one conviction for potlatching. Between 1895 and 1918, seventeen more
were indicted. From 1918 to 1922, another 135 were charged, and from 1922 to 1935, an
additional ten were indicted. The accused individuals were frequently represented by white
lawyers who claimed that the scope of the legislation was unduly wide and oppressive, but
arguments on the injustice of the law were generally unsuccessful: Petition from the Indians of
BC by their Solicitors, E.A. Dickie and E.K. DeBeck, to Scott, 27 February 1922, PAC RG10,

v.3630, file 6244-4.

Chief Red Dog, Cotasse, Adelard Starblanket, Allen Starblanket and Buffalo Bull
were arrested for participating in a Sun Dance on the Okanese territory in Saskatchewan in 1932.
The documentation indicates the arrest of these individuals, but does not show whether there

were convictions or sentences. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 176, citing Report: Chief

Red Dog (Indian), Sec. (115) Indian Act, File Hills Reserve, Saskatchewan, 9 July 1932, PAC
RG10, v.3,827, file 60,511-4B at 1. In 1933, individuals from the Sakimay First Nation in
Saskatchewan were arrested for conducting a Rain Dance. Pettipas indicates that the individuals
charged retained a lawyer and were "subsequently released with a stern lecture." Pettipas

Severing the Ties that Bind at 176, citing J. Ostrander to Secretary, 15 July 1933, PAC RGI10,




v.3,827, file 60,511-4B at 1. There were arrests and fines surrounding a Sun Dance at Goose

Lake also in 1933. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 180 notes that David Mandelbaum's

interpreter advised him he was one of those arrested and fined at this time. Alexander Wolfe
Earth Elder Stories (Saskatoon: Fifth House, 1988) at 60-64; Mandelbaum "General Remarks
about Sun Dance" Fieldnotes, 23 June 1934 at 27, Randall Brown "Notes, Articles and Clippings
Re: Plains Indians and Sun Dance, 1819-1977" held in Glenbow-Alberta Institute Archives. In
1935, a Kwakiutl was convicted of dancing off the reserve. Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand at
143. Chief Mark Shaboqua, Councillor Pitchenesse and George Gilbert of Wabigoon, Ontario
were prosecuted in 1938 for attempting to conduct a spiritual ceremony. Chief Mark Shaboqua
and Councillor Pitchenesse each received two month suspended sentences on the condition that

they not participate in another ceremony. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 157, citing E.

Moore, Report, Alleged Pagan Dances - Dinorwic Indian Reserve, Dinorwic, Ontario, 4 July

1938, PAC RG10, v.8,481, file 1/24-3, part 1 at 1.

In innumerable cases, although formal charges were not laid, the police and
Indian Department officials intervened to withhold rations and refuse passes for individuals
involved, dismantle dance lodges, confiscate sacred objects and terminate ceremonial dancing.
In 1902, for example, white Inspector Alexander McGibbon levelled the dance house in the

brush that was being prepared for a ceremonial dance at Oak Lake; Meyer "Canadian Sioux" at

25 citing Sessional Papers no.27 at 207; Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 153-7, 173-7,

186, 215-6.

143. The enactment was also equally specific about the reach of the criminal law with

respect to those who organized stampedes and exhibitions. Any one who "induced" or



"employed" an "Indian" to take part in such a performance was deemed just as guilty as those
who danced. See "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1914, c.35, s.8: "Any Indian in the
province of Manitoba, Saskatchewan, Alberta, British Columbia, or the Territories who
participates in any Indian dance outside the bounds of his own reserve, or who participates in any
show, exhibition, performance, stampede or pageant in aboriginal costume without the consent
of the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs or his authorized Agent, and any person who
induces or employs any Indian to take part in such dance, show, exhibition, performance,
stampede or pageant, or induces any Indian to leave his reserve or employs any Indian for such a
purpose, whether the dance, show, exhibition, stampede or pageant has taken place or not, shall
on summary conviction be liable to a penalty not exceeding twenty-five dollars, or to

imprisonment for one month, or to both penalty and imprisonment."

It is apparent from the legislative debates that the white M.P.'s and senators had
no inkling of the wide-ranging sweep of the criminal prohibition already in place. In both
Parliamentary houses, objections were raised to the prospect of using criminal law to prohibit the
traditional customs, festivals and ceremonies of Aboriginal people, where these were held within
the sanctity of Aboriginal communities. Prime Minister Robert Laird Borden erroneously
insisted that "there will be no difficulty at all about the Indians participating in these ceremonials
upon their own reserves." William James Roche, the white Superintendent General of Indian
Affairs, was asked whether the new section would prohibit the interchanges of visits among
reserves for the purpose of attending festival and ceremonial dances, and replied: "No, it does
not." Yet the new bill did nothing to repeal the earlier sections that had criminalized just such
activities. The ignorance of the legislators about something so fundamentally important to the

survival of Aboriginal culture is breath-taking. Debates House of Commons, 8 May 1914 at



3684; 11 May 1914 at 3553. Similar responses were also given in the Senate: Debates Senate of

Canada, 27 May 1914 at 557-8. Nor was it only legislators who evidenced such ignorance.
William Trant, white Justice of the Peace in Regina, wrote a column titled "The Last of the
Indian Sun Dance; or Making Chief Pla-Pot's [sic] Braves," published in the Special Christmas
edition of the Regina Standard December 1909, in which he noted that the Sun Dance was being
"supplanted" by "the English picnic" and giving way to the "pleasures of civilization" despite the
fact that "the Indians have not been forced to discontinue the practice; they have been enticed
thereto." Even more remarkable in its inaccuracy, Trant's statement was published only a few
years after he had presided over the trial of Etchease, a Saulteaux, for participating in a Circle
Dance at the Moscowpetung Territory Reserve in Saskatchewan, on 14 March 1903. For details

of the Etchease prosecution, see infra.

A few politicians continued to voice concern about the discriminatory impact of
the law. A white New Brunswick M.P., Frank Broadstreet Carvell, threw out the obvious
question. "An eastern man naturally wonders," he asked, "why an Indian should not be allowed
to join a show and make a few dollars as well as a white man can." Frank Oliver, who was at
this point an opposition Liberal M.P. for Edmonton, offered a rather odd reply. "When an Indian
consents to join in a public show for money," he speculated, "he degrades and demoralizes
himself to an extent that would not be present in the case of a white man doing a similar thing."
William Erskine Knowles, a white Liberal M.P. from Moose Jaw, offered his opinion that
"Indian dances" were "far ahead of the turkey trot and the tango that we have in Ottawa," but this
held little sway with the other politicians, who blithely voted their approval of the amendment.

Debates House of Commons, 8 May 1914 at 3483-4.



144. Arthur Meighen, the white Minister of the Interior, announced that the reason
justices of the peace or Indian agents standing in their stead would process all such cases in
future was simply "to avoid the expense of proceeding by indictment." He said nothing about
how such a change in procedure would relegate all these prosecutions to hearings before
individuals who had little training in law, and substantially insulate their actions from legal
challenges. During the same discussion, Meighen also indicated that he felt that "the Indians of
this country have been liberally and generously dealt with" and that this was the "spirit"
underlying the Act. Debates House of Commons, 23 April 1918 at 1049-56. "An Act to amend
the Indian Act" S.C. 1918, c.26, s.7 states: "Section one hundred and forty-nine of the said Act is
amended by striking out the word 'indictable' in the tenth line thereof, and by inserting after the

word 'liable' in the eleventh line the words 'on summary conviction."'

145. Allan Webster Neill, the independent white M.P. from Comos-Alberni, raised the
question of exactly what the term "in aboriginal costume" had meant in the first place. The
Minister of the Interior, Thomas Gerow Murphy replied in an ofthand manner: "I believe the

hon. member would find the accepted definition in any standard dictionary." Debates House of

Commons, 1 March 1933 at 2610. Debates Senate of Canada, 11 May 1933 at 497. "An Act to

amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1932-33, c.42, .10 provides: "Subsection three of section one
hundred and forty of the said Act is amended by striking out the words 'in aboriginal costume' in

the fifth line thereof."

146. The amendment was initiated by the white Indian Agent at Alert Bay, who
complained that the Potlatch was continuing to be celebrated there. J.S. Woodsworth insisted

that there ought to be more consultation between the government and Aboriginal peoples prior to



any legislative revision. Alan Webster Neill, the M.P. from Comox-Alberni who had been a
former Indian Agent himself, complained that the amendment would permit convictions despite

the absence of any overt act:

It is provided here, in addition to the already stringent features, that any man who takes
part in a festival any part of which consists in the giving away of articles shall go to gaol for six
months, and now he is to go to gaol if he has been saving, storing or accumulating any goods or
articles for the purpose of giving them away. Who shall read into a man's mind to decide what
his purpose is when he accumulates earthly goods? He may be accumulating them to leave them
to his grandchildren; or as Joseph and the Israelites of old, who in the good years stored up
provisions against the depression, this Indian may foresee a depression and decide to store up
certain things against a rainy day. [...] Would the department care to apply such provisions to

white people? [...] Why, with such a provision a vindictive man might send any Indian to gaol....

[Debates House of Commons, 20 March 1936 at 1288-9, 1297.]

Superintendent Crerar, who admitted that he knew little about the origin of the
amendment and was merely following the dictates of officials from Indian Affairs, was

ultimately convinced to withdraw the amendment; Debates House of Commons, 26 May 1936 at

2120-1. See also Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand at 149; Pettipas Severing the Ties That Bind at

195.

147. The Muscowpetung First Nation of Saskatchewan offered a sustained legal

challenge to s.114 of the "Indian Act," when they performed a series of Circle Dances in March



of 1903. Prior to the dances, Etchease, a Saulteaux from Muscowpetung, consulted with white
counsel, A.D. Dickson from Qu'Appelle Station and Fred Jones. At the dance, Etchease
announced that he had taken the precaution of collecting sufficient funds to retain counsel to
defend anyone who might be prosecuted as a result. Based upon the legal advice, Etchease gave
away only bannock and tea at the ceremony, and did not actually invite anyone to partake of the
supper. Arrested and prosecuted by Regina Crown Prosecutor Thomas C. Johnstone, Etchease
was tried before two white officials, Inspector Strickland and Justice of the Peace Guernsey.
Defence counsel argued that the distribution of food and drink alone could not run afoul of the
give-away provisions in the legislation, since this was nothing more than "acts of ordinary
hospitality." The justices of the peace agreed, and discharged the accused man. After a
concerted campaign from senior officials at Indian Affairs (including Assistant Indian
Commissioner, Hayter Reed) and religious leaders (including Father Joseph Hugonnard,
principal of Qu'Appelle Industrial School) who feared this was a test case designed to "defeat the
law," the verdict was appealed. Committed for retrial by William Trant, the white J.P. for the
Judicial District of West Assiniboia, Etchease was convicted by a jury presided over by a white
judge, Hugh Richardson of the Supreme Court of the North West Territories, and sentenced to
three months. In addressing the jury, Judge Richardson commented: "I do not see why tea and
bannock or soup should be an exception to the goods or articles the giving away of which makes
a dance illegal under section 114. The value of articles does not matter at all." Fred Jones gave
notice of an application to reserve a special case for the opinion of the full court, but the
application was refused, with the following rationale: "while the provision might be construed as
harsh in some cases yet in this case [the judge] considered that the acts complained of exceeded

the acts of ordinary hospitality and that on the evidence he could see nothing to be reserved; that



there was such evidence of a concerted movement among the Indians in the holding of this
special dance and such an abundance of provisions provided that there was no question in his
mind that the matters complained of came within the provisions of the Indian Act." None of the
court records for these proceedings survive; [correspondence with Elizabeth Kalmakoff, Staff
Archivist, Historical Records, Saskatchewan Archives Board, 18 August 1994.] Copies of
depositions from Acting Indian Agent William Graham, Farming Instructor James Hawes,
Alfred Cappo (Saulteaux), Alexander Gordon (Saulteaux), Fred Fiddler (Saulteaux), and the
elder Fiddler (father of Fred Fiddler) that were filed before William Trant at the preliminary
hearing are retained at PAC RG10, v.3825, file 60-511 at 1 and 3. The Toronto Globe 27 May
1903, described Etchease as "a sort of agitator among the Indians" and the Circle Dance as a

"crafty effort to evade the law." See also Pettipas Severing the Ties That Bind at 119-20 and

133.

148. In 1917, a group of the Dakota performed a Give-Away Dance and other ceremonies
prior to and at the Brandon Agricultural Fair, much to the consternation of the white Indian
Agent, James Macdonald. The Dakota wisely exchanged such goods as horses and buggies with
relatives and visitors from the United States, making it difficult for the authorities to trace the

transactions. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 187; James Macdonald to Assistant Deputy

and Secretary of Indian Affairs, 5 July 1917, PAC RG10, v.3,826, file 60-511-4B, part 1. One
Dakota from Oak Lake, named Hotain, was arrested on this occasion, but he retained a lawyer to

defend him at trial and received only a suspended sentence. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind

at 156 describes Hotain's case as follows:

Hotain, a Dakota, who had celebrated a giveaway near Oak Lake, Manitoba, in 1917 [was



arrested.] In exchange for the Indian agent's permission to hold a memorial feast for the dead,
Hotain had been asked to sign a statement agreeing to refrain from holding future feasts of this
nature. However, he later held a giveaway and distributed shawls, guns, and cash to the
participants. The collected money was to be used as a contribution towards the Patriotic Fund
and to cover costs of sending a delegation of Dakota to the Department's office in Ottawa.
Hotain was arrested and forced to hire a lawyer for his defence. He was given a suspended
sentence on the condition that he not hold any more dances. [James MacDonald to Assistant

Deputy and Secretary, 14 February 1918, PAC RG10, v.3,826, file 60-511-4A.]

See also petition of Harry Hotain and Marpiyaska to Secretary, 1917, PAC RG10,

v.3,826, file 60,511-4, part 1 at 1.

Aboriginal communities often performed shortened versions of the dance in the

privacy of their homes in order to avoid detection. Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 138,

178-9, 184. Tennant Aboriginal Peoples notes at 78 that some Aboriginal communities managed
to blend their traditional ceremonies with Protestantism, performing versions of potlatches in
church halls with music from the church brass band. According to George Manuel of the
Shushwap First Nation, "the variations that grew out of the possible loopholes were as numerous

as the people who kept the traditions going." Manuel and Posluns The Fourth World at 78-9,

adding: "The lawyers were useful, not only in court, but in finding ways for us to potlatch that
were beyond the arm of the law. One way was to disassemble the potlatch, by holding the
different parts - the feast, the dances, the giving - at different times and places. Another was
simply to move the feast to a distant place known only to the invited guests, perhaps a distant

island. I can remember people passing out oranges with dollar bills stuck to them. As long as



the police could not find all the elements of the potlatch present in one place or time, there was
no offence." Instead of giving away property during the ceremony, the participants would
sometimes indicate the transfer of ownership through the passing of marked sticks. Pettipas
Severing the Ties that Bind notes at 186 that this occurred among the Plains Cree, who would
make the actual exchange of property after the ceremony. Some made it a practice to wait six
months from the end of the dance to give away any property, waiting just past the limitation
period so that the authorities could no longer lay charges. Cole and Chaikin An Iron Hand at

142. LaViolette Struggle for Survival notes at 86 that British Columbia lawyers advised

individuals from Alert Bay that this strategy, which they called "disjointing the potlatch," would
successfully evade prosecution. Others thoughtfully performed the dances on pasture straddling
the border between two reserves, thus skirting the prohibition on "off-reserve" ceremonies. In
the 1920s, the Poundmaker and Little Pine Cree constructed their Sun Dance lodge on the border
of the two abutting communities, taking "great and exaggerated precautions" not to put their feet
over the dividing line. In 1934, the Crooked Lakes Agency dance was held on the border
between Ochapowace and Kahkewistakaw. See Sluman and Goodwill John Tootoosis at 142,

Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 179, 181, and Mandelbaum "General Remarks about Sun

Dance" at 28.

149. A host of petitions drafted by irate Aboriginal leaders descended upon government
officials in Ottawa, protesting the legal attack on religious and spiritual practices. Chief
Thunderchild, O-ka-nu, Charles Fineday, Joe Ma-ma-gway-see, Chief Red Dog, Blackbird,
Chief Ermineskin, Chief Matoose, Chief Day Walker and others from across Manitoba,
Saskatchewan and Alberta all demanded the right to freedom of religion. A group of Elders who

witnessed the signing of the Qu'Appelle Treaty sent representatives to Ottawa in 1911, to speak



out on behalf of Aboriginal ceremony and dance. Although the delegation was not successful in
securing the repeal of the legislation, Frank Oliver, the Superintendent of Indian Affairs,
conceded that dances could be held provided there was no giving away of property or mutilation.
Pettipas Severing the Ties that Bind at 128-39, 158-9, 169-80, 187-195; Gresko "White 'Rites'
and Indian 'Rites' at 177-8; Notes of Representations Made by Delegation of Indians from the
West, Alex Gaddie, Interpreter, Department of Indian Affairs, 24 January 1911, PAC RG10,
v.4,053, file 379,203-1; Alex Gaddie to David Laird, 1 May 1911, PAC RG10, v.3,826, file

60,511-3 at 1.

In 1919, with the growth of the Pan-Indian movement in Canada, the demands to
end the prohibition of traditional dances became more organized. The movement, inspired by
F.O. Loft, a Mohawk from the Six Nations Grand River, was assisted by connections many
Aboriginal peoples made with each other through their service in the First World War. For an
account of the creation of the League of Indians of Canada and its impact on western Canada, see
Cuthand "Native Peoples" at 31-41. The League of Indians of Canada held a meeting at
Thunderchild in 1921, where one of the most important issues discussed was the promotion of
Aboriginal religious freedom. The League of Indians in Western Canada was formed in 1929,
and in 1931 it sponsored a conference at Saddle Lake, Alberta, where a resolution demanding the
elimination of the permit system and the removal of all farm instructors from Alberta and
Saskatchewan was heartily endorsed. In 1934 and 1935, various bands held conventions in
Alberta, where they insisted on the right to "worship in our own way," and demanded an end to
the prohibitions on Aboriginal religious ceremonies such as the Sun Dance and the Hungry
Dance. In 1945, an association representing several thousand Saskatchewan Aboriginal people

presented a brief to the federal government claiming their religious freedom and the right to



perform traditional spiritual practices without prosecution. Cuthand "Native Peoples" at 31-41;
Brief of the Protective Association for Indians and their Treaties to the Honourable The Minister
of Indian Affairs for Canada, September 1945, PAC RG10, v.6,811, file 470-3-6, part 1. Pettipas
Severing the Ties that Bind notes at 205 that this Association traced its origins to the Allied
Bands and represented "five to six thousand Indians residing on eighteen reserves in four

Saskatchewan agencies." The brief stated as follows:

"The Freedom of Conscience and Religious Worship": This freedom should assure the
Indian of freedom to his religious beliefs, and the right to practice his religion according to
ancient traditions, without prosecution for the performance of rituals, so long as they do not
offend against the general criminal or civil law of the land. It assures freedom to the Indian from
the arbitrary imposition of foreign religious beliefs upon him, through parochial schools, or

through the undue influence elsewhere, of any particular church or religious creed.

This position was also endorsed by the Indian Association of Alberta and the Union of

Saskatchewan Indians.

150. Described as one of the "first performers to bring literature to the frontier towns,"
Pauline Johnson passed through Rapid City in 1896 and 1899 and nearby Alexander, Manitoba
in early November, 1902 drawing large and appreciative audiences each time. Rapid City
Historical Book Society Rapid City notes at 22 and 24 that "no space was left in the local hall
when a famous Indian recited some of her work. E. Pauline Johnson inspired her audience with
'Lullaby of the Iroquois' and 'The Train Dogs."" The Griswold Ledger 6 November 1902 reports

that Pauline Johnson gave a reading in Alexander, Manitoba, to raise money for the school



library fund. According to the press, "the representative of the dusky race was in good form, and
her various selections were apparently heartily appreciated" by the "large audience in the hall."
Born in 1861 at Grand River, Ontario, Pauline Johnson (Tekahionwake) was the daughter of
George Henry Martin Johnson, a Mohawk chief, and Emily Susanna Howells, an English-born
white woman. Billed as "the Mohawk Princess," Johnson was "one of the most popular stage

performers in Canada at the turn of the century." See E. Pauline Johnson The Moccasin Maker

(Tucson: University of Arizona Press, 1987; orig. pub. Ryerson Press, 1913) and the introduction

by A. LaVonne Brown Ruoff, at 1-37; Sheila M.F. Johnston Buckskin and Broadcloth: A

Celebration of E. Pauline Johnson - Tekahionwake, 1861-1913 (Toronto: Natural Heritage

Books, 1997).

151. Johnson Moccasin Maker at 139-43. The essay was first published in the London

Daily Express on 3 August 1906. Johnson equates the firekeeper of the Iroquois council to the
bishop - "his garb of fringed buckskin and ermine was no more grotesque than the vestments
worn by the white preachers in high places" - and describes the ceremony of the "White Dog

Sacrifice," a major rite of the Midwinter Ceremony of the Six Nations.

152. Johnson Moccasin Maker at 8, 139-43, 245-6. Johnston Buckskin and Broadcloth

reports at 98, 154-6 that Pauline Johnson moved in highly influential circles, being a regular
correspondent with Sir Clifford Sifton and sharing the theatrical stage with Indian Affairs official
Duncan Campbell Scott. For another cross-cultural critique concerning dance, see Dr. Edward
Ahenakew, a Sandy Lake Cree who was also an Anglican priest, speaking through the fictional

persona of Old Keyam, in Voices at 94-5:




I am not criticizing the motives of those who made this law, nor those whose influence

brought that about, but I do not think it altogether wise.

One of the reasons given for the law is the self-torture that was inflicted in the dance, and
which was mis-named "the making of a brave." This was practised to some extent long ago,
more in the Blackfoot confederacy than amongst the Cree, but its aim was to bring down the
compassion of Ma-ni-to and to mortify the flesh to subdue it to his will. This desire is common
to all the religions of all races. I have heard of such mortification of the flesh among Christians -
of a man, for instance, who vowed to roll a pebble with his nose from France to Palestine, as an
outward sign of penitence, seeking spiritual grace; of other holy men who dressed themselves in

sackcloth and endured filth and vermin to prove the reality of their spiritual purity. [...]

To my mind, the strongest objection to the Sun Dance is the time wasted by the Indians
who often go to other reserves to take part in these rites, when they might be far better employed
doing their work at home. And yet every year other Indians go on long pilgrimages to Roman
Catholic shrines; they too leave their work, and no one can convince them that they do not
receive benefits that more than balance whatever may be their material loss in being absent from
their work and homes. Certainly, the worthy fathers of that Church would object strongly if their
adherents were told that they might have to serve time in jail for going on a pilgrimage to Lac

Ste. Anne or some other shrine. [...]

Freedom to worship as one's conscience dictates is a British principle. I do not believe



that the law against the Sun Dance is so wise or so necessary as to warrant the contradiction of

that principle.

153. "An Act respecting Indians" S.C. 1951, ¢.29. There was no discussion during the
Parliamentary debates of the rationale for the removal of the provision, which constituted but one
small piece in a major overhaul of the statute. The only reference to Aboriginal dancing came
from Aristide Blais, a white senator from Alberta. Blais held the other Senators enthraled as he
described how some fifty years earlier he had been invited into a tent to witness a secret "sun
dance" where the participants danced "furiously...dripping with perspiration" until the "paint
which covered them made a sort of multicoloured coat." He waxed eloquent about the "children
of the forest who smelt of moccasin leather and of tobacco scented with red withe" and the spell-
binding pageantry of the Aboriginal displays he remembered seeing every July at the Edmonton
Exhibitions. Blais indicated rather vaguely that he understood that "due to certain abuses," the

traditional dances "had been forbidden." Pettipas Severing the Ties That Bind suggests at 204-

10 that the removal of the section prohibiting Aboriginal dance was not brought about in
response to Aboriginal complaints. Nor was the amendment motivated by "tolerance for
indigenous religious practices." The focus of legislative discussion was directed instead at the
abuses inherent in the religious control of Aboriginal education. Pettipas indicates that the
legislators were upset when they learned that Aboriginal peoples were required to select a
Christian denomination in order to obtain schooling for their children. It was the forced adoption
of specific Christian sects that provoked discussion in Parliament, not the inherent right of
Aboriginal peoples to carry on their own ceremonial practices. See Special Joint Committee of
the Senate and the House of Commons Appointed to Continue and Complete the Examination

and Consideration of the Indian Act, Minutes of Evidence and Proceedings (Ottawa: Edmond



Cloutier, King's Printer, 1946); No.14 at 635; No.27 at 1474; No.28 at 1508-9; No.29 at 1540-1.

154. Wallis would ultimately publish a fifty-seven page anthropological paper describing
the "Canadian Dakota Sun Dance" in 1919. See Wallis Canadian Dakota at 126; Wallis
"Canadian Dakota Sun Dance" at 323-80; Wallis "Beliefs and Tales of the Canadian Dakota" at

36; Pettipas "Severing the Ties that Bind" Ph.D. Thesis at 250.

155. Wallis Canadian Dakota at 126; Wallis "Canadian Dakota Sun Dance" at 331-2.

Wallis recounts the following conversation with the recovered individual at 331:

The following is an account of a performance of the sun dance by one who made it a few
years ago. To start at the beginning: I was sick. All the medicinemen and physicians from town
treated me, giving me different medicines, whatever they thought was remedial. When I found
that one was making no progress, I tried another. Nothing helped me in the least; nothing
seemed to be in the least efficacious. I invited Wanduta, a clown medicineman living at
Griswold, who was at that time in Portage la Prairie. He treated me. The old man said he
thought he saw something, but he could not clearly understand its significance; he would treat
me four times and try to discover the cause of my sickness. When treating me for the last time,
he said he learned that I had been directed to perform the sun dance and had not done so and this
was the cause of my illness. I must do it at once. I was to procure an oak tree, a black cloth with
blue stripes along the same to represent the moon. Also, I was to have a white cloth with blue
stripes for the sun. He said that when I had performed the dance I would recover. After making

the sun dance, I was as well as before and have been well ever since.



156. Wallis Canadian Dakota at 332-35. Elias Dakota of the Canadian Northwest notes
at 121-24 that in 1907 the Oak River Dakota advised the newly-appointed white sub-agent from
Indian Affairs, J. Hollies, that they were prepared to collect admission fees at traditional dances
and feasts and to turn these monies over to the Christian churches. Hollies objected vociferously
to this plan, reminding the Dakota of the "Indian Act" prohibition on dancing. Hollies professed
great astonishment when the Dakota asked him "who had made the law." His reply, "the
government," was according to Hollies, "the best I could do for a short answer!" After his
elevation to the status of Indian Agent in 1908, Hollies's efforts to suppress the dances, although
vociferous, filed to result in any arrests or convictions. Another white anthropologist, James
Howard, conducted research at each of the eight Canadian "Sioux reserves" in 1972. He was
told that the Sun Dance had not been practiced in Canadian Dakota communities after 1910.
Howard Canadian Sioux at 142. One of Howard's most helpful "informants" concerning the
Grass Dance was Jim Kiyewakan (identified as in his '80s) from Sioux Valley. Sioux Valley is
listed as the modern name for the Oak River Dakota Territory. The informant's last name is the
same as one of the five Dakota who retained George Coldwell in 1903. Other individuals from
Sioux Valley who are identified by Howard as informants include: Wallace Noel (identified as in
his '40s), Jim MacKay ('80s), Paul MacKay (age 72), Emma Pratt (age 88) and Eli Taylor ('60s).
Howard notes at 168-9 that "the Sioux are acknowledged to be the liveliest Grass Dancers in
Canada, and every reserve community, if it can possibly find the resources to do so, sponsors an
inter-tribal powwow each summer, inviting dancers and singers from far and near to come and
dance and feast with them. [...] [1]t is apparent that the Grass Dance, in its contemporary
powwow setting, is a vigorous and vital art form, a characteristic cultural expression of native

North America."



ENDNOTES TO CHAPTER FOUR

1. Details of the legal proceeding are drawn from Sero v. Gault (1921), 64 D.L.R. 327, 50

O.L.R. 27,20 O.W.N. 16 (Ont. S.C.); "Indians Have Not Additional Rights" Belleville Daily_
Intelligencer 5 March 1921, p.1; "Indians Have Not Additional Rights" Kingston British Whig 5
March 1921, p.1. The actual court documents for this case no longer survive. The Ontario
Attorney-General's file "was not among those selected for retention in 1965," and no further
records remain within the Premier's correspondence or the Department of Natural Resources:
Notes from discussion with archivist John Choles, Archives of Ontario, 10 June 1994. On the

operation of the seine net, see the description by Judge Riddell in Sero v. Gault at 328.

2. William Ashworth The Late, Great Lakes: An Environmental History (New York:

Knopf, 1986); A.B. McCullough The Commercial Fishery of the Canadian Great Lakes (Ottawa:

Canadian Parks Service, Environment Canada, 1989); Fifteenth Annual Report of the Game and

Fisheries Department of Ontario, Ontario Sessional Papers 13-18, v.54, Part IV (1922) at 60;
Neil S. Forkey "Maintaining a Great Lakes Fishery: The State, Science, and the Case of Ontario's

Bay of Quinte, 1870-1920" Ontario History 87:1 (March 1995) 45-64. Forkey notes that the

whitefish caught in the Great Lakes during this period represented a significant component of
trade between Canada and the United States, as burgeoning industrial centres required an
inexpensive, nutritious food supply to fit working-class budgets. In Belleville, the Bay of Quinte
whitefish were packed on ice in refrigerated cars and shipped via rail to Toronto, Buffalo and

New York City. Fishing traditionally held a prominent place in the subsistence diet of the



northern Iroquois, as food (contributing an important seasonal source of protein) and for trade.
The importance of fishing to the Mohawk is indicated in Constance Backhouse "Interview with
David Maracle, Centre for Iroquoian Studies, University of Western Ontario" London, 22 June
1994; Constance Backhouse "Interview with William Isaac 'lIke' Hill (born 22 September 1901)"
Tyendinaga Territory, 3 September 1994; William A. Starna "Aboriginal Title and Traditional
Iroquois Land Use: An Anthropological Perspective" in Christopher Vecsey and William A.

Starna Iroquois Land Claims (Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press, 1988) at 33.

3. "Deseronto News" Kingston British Whig Standard 22 March 1921, p.5.

4. "An Act to consolidate and amend the Acts respecting Fisheries and Fishing" S.C.
1914, c.8, s.45 provides that the federal cabinet could make regulations "to regulate and prevent
fishing," "to forbid fishing except under authority of leases or licenses," and "prescribing the
time when and the manner in which fish may be fished for and caught." Section 80 provides that
"all...nets...used in violation of this Act or any regulation made thereunder...shall be confiscated
to His Majesty and may be seized and confiscated, on view, by any fishery officer...." An order-
in-council passed on 29 October 1915, entitled "Special Fishery Regulations: Province of
Ontario," provides in s.4 that "no one shall fish by means other than by angling or trolling
excepting under lease, license, or permit from a duly authorized officer of the Provincial
Government." [S.C. 1916, at p.cxc-cxci.] The federal legislation was first enacted in 1868, as
"An Act for the regulation of Fishing and protection of Fisheries" S.C. 1868, c.60, s.2, 16(4) and
19. See also "An Act respecting Fisheries and Fishing" R.S.C. 1886, ¢.95, s.4, 16, 18(3); "An
Act further to amend the Fisheries Act" S.C. 1894, ¢.51, s.8; "An Act respecting Fisheries and

Fishing" R.S.C. 1906, c.45, 5.6, 8, 54, 92; "An Act to amend the Fisheries Act" S.C. 1910, c.20,



s.12. "An Act respecting the Game, Fur-bearing Animals and Fisheries of Ontario" R.S.O.
1914, ¢.262, s.24(1)(a) authorizes the provincial cabinet to make regulations "prohibiting fishing
except under the authority of a license issued on the terms and conditions prescribed by the
Regulations." Section 61(5) provides that game and fisheries overseers "shall forthwith seize all
game and fish and all boats, guns, decoys, nets...used or had in possession contrary to the
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kingdoms of Europe in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries to parallel the democratic
constitution of the Iroquois Confederacy, with its provisions for initiative, referendum and recall,

and its suffrage for women as well as for men." Morgan Ho-De-No-Sau-Nee at 51-2 and 141,

wrote more than a century ago that the Ho-De-No-Sau-Nee was "perhaps the only league of
nations ever instituted among men, which can point to three centuries of uninterrupted domestic

unity and peace." Simon "Haldimand Agreement" at 28; Richter Ordeal of the Longhouse at 1,

30; Druke "Iroquois and Iroquoian" at 309; Matthew Dennis Cultivating a Landscape of Peace:

Iroquois-European Encounters in Seventeenth-Century America (Ithaca: Cornell University

Press, 1993).

9. Druke "Iroquois and Iroquoian" at 302. James V. Wright "The Cultural Continuity of

the Northern Iroquoian-Speaking Peoples" in Foster et al. Extending the Rafters 283 suggests at



298 that Iroquoian-speaking peoples have lived in northeastern North America for more than six
thousand years, based on the evidence of basic continuity over time in technology, religion
(mortuary practices), settlement and subsistence patterns. George Beaver "Early Iroquoian
History in Ontario" Ontario History 75:3 (September 1993) 223-9, notes: "Southern Ontario was
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Elmore Reaman The Trail of the Iroquois Indians (London: Frederick Muller, 1967) at 30-59.
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possession for centuries: see Stanley "Six Nations and the American Revolution" at 217, 225-7;
Torok "Tyendinaga Mohawks" at 70-71; Boyce Historic Hastings at 19. While the life of war
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the Mississauga, tried to force the British to include them in the distribution of additional
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19. Scholars have speculated on the reason for the division of the group. Some suggest
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York state (Canajoharie and Fort Hunter) and during the revolutionary war in Niagara and
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more detailed discussion of Johnson, see her comments on Aboriginal dance in chapter 3.
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Harroun Foster "Lost Women of the Matriarchy: Iroquois Women in the Historical Literature"
American Indian Culture and Research Journal 19:3 (1995) 121-40 documents how
contemporary anthropologists and historians of the Iroquois contributed to the erasure of gender
equality. For comparison, see the analysis of the detrimental impact that European colonization
had upon issues of gender equality within the Huron and Montagnais nations in Karen Anderson

Chain Her By One Foot: The Subjugation of Women in Seventeenth-Century New France

(London: Routledge, 1991).

25. Information about Eliza (Brant) Sero has been constructed from the surviving records
of the Diocese of Ontario Archives, Anglican Church of Canada, Kingston, Ontario, Tyendinaga
Parish Registers, 4-T-9, 4-T-10. Her birth records are not available, as fire destroyed all the
Anglican baptism records for the period 1852-76. Genealogy records compiled by G. Ronald
Green of Belleville, Ontario, have enabled me to confirm information about Eliza's parents and
siblings. Eliza's father was Jacob Oak Brant (Jacobus "Cobus" Brant). Eliza's mother, Margaret
Brant, may have been Margaret Powles prior to her marriage, since Ron Green has records of a
marriage on 20 October 1840 between Margaret Powles and Cobus Brant. Eliza's siblings
include Catherine Brant, Betsy Oak (Lizzie), Alva, Hugh, Elizabeth, and possibly one additional
brother. Information about Eliza Sero's clan is derived from descendants of her sister, Catherine.
Catherine Brant had a daughter, Josephine Brant, whose daughter was Helena (nee Sero)
Pfefferle. Helena Pfefferle is a member of the Turtle Clan, and since Clans descend
matrilineally, Eliza (Brant) Sero would have come from the Turtle Clan as well. Ron Green was
unable to locate information about Eliza's Mohawk name, since none of the Mohawk names were
registered in written records during this period. The Anglican Diocese of Ontario retains the

marriage certificate, 5 October 1882, which lists two witnesses: Lydia Maracle and 1.G.



Culbertson. Israel Sero's name is listed as Israel Sero/Moses and Israel Scero on some later
documents. His occupation is listed as "labourer" on the baptism certificates for the children.
See also notes from Backhouse "Interview with David Maracle;" Backhouse "Interview with Ike
Hill;" Constance Backhouse "Interview with Audrey (nee Green) Chisholm, great granddaughter

of Eliza Sero" Belleville, 21 September 1994.

26. Baptism certificates survive for Clara Bella, Theresa, Earl Reuben, Annie Elfreda
(also spelled Alfreda) and James. The birth years of Maud and Nelson Lorne have been
constructed from their subsequent marriage certificates. Census records (1901) held by the
Tyendinaga Library (copy on file with the author) list an additional daughter, Rosa (Rose), three
years younger than Theresa. Backhouse "Interview with Audrey Chisholm;" Backhouse

"Interview with Tke Hill."

27. Tyendinaga Library census records list the date of Israel Sero's death. Karen Lewis,
Tyendinaga Librarian, advises that the census records kept there note that Reuben died in France
in 1917: telephone conversation, 25 August 1994. The Anglican Diocese of Ontario burial
register lists Israel Scero's date of burial as 23 November 1914. A plaque in the Anglican Christ
Church, Royal Chapel of the Mohawks, Tyendinaga Reserve, dedicated to the war dead of 1914-
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Moses "Six Nations Dehorners Association;" Reaman Trail of the Iroquois Indians at 82-3. See
also Frances Henry et al. The Colour of Democracy: Racism in Canadian Society (Toronto:
Harcourt Brace, 1994) which notes at 68: "For the first two years of World War I, racial
minorities and Aboriginal people were rejected for military service. Although the militia
headquarters did not actually establish a colour-bar, local commanders were encouraged to turn
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shortages began to impede Canada's war effort were racial-minority recruits admitted."

The Anglican Diocese of Ontario retains three marriage certificates for Eliza Sero's
daughters. Theresa Sero, age 20, resident of Tyendinaga, was married on 15 August 1905 to
Peter Green, the son of William Green and Elizabeth Brant. Peter is described as a twenty-eight-
year-old labourer, born at Tyendinaga but currently residing in Deseronto. Maud Scero, age 19,
a resident of the Mohawk Reserve, was married on 8 August 1911 to William Hill, the son of
Solomon Hill and Catherine Brant. William is listed as a twenty-six-year-old resident of
Tyendinaga and a labourer. Tyendinaga Library census records suggest that Rose was also
married by this time. Her married name was Rose Pinn. Nelson Lorne Sero, age 18, born in
Deseronto but living at Tyendinaga and listed as a labourer, was married on 7 September 1928 to
Clealah Brant. Clealah Brant was twenty years old, and had been born and raised at Tyendinaga,
the daughter of David S. and Eliza Brant. The witnesses to the latter marriage were James Sero
of Tyendinaga and Hilda Sero of Deseronto. Ike Hill describes the net as a "costly" one, since it
was made with expensive twine, corks, netting, rope, and jacks: Backhouse "Interview with Ike

Hill."

28. On the effect of World War I and the activities of Chief Thunderwater and Frederick



Ogilvie Loft, see Titley A Narrow Vision at 94-109; Olive Patricia Dickason Canada's First

Nations (Toronto: McClelland & Stewart, 1992) at 326-8.

29. Titley A Narrow Vision at 94-109; Dickason Canada's First Nations at 326-8. See

also the account of the political organizing efforts of Deskaheh (Levi General) from Six Nations
Grand River in Barbara Graymont ed. Fighting Tuscarora: The Autobiography of Chief Clinton

Rickard (Syracuse: Syracuse University Press, 1973) at 58-66.

30. Edward Guss Porter KC was born on 28 May 1859 at Consecon, Prince Edward
County, Ontario. He was educated at Albert University, and married in 1883 to Annie Morrow.
A Presbyterian by religion, Porter was first returned to the House of Commons in 1901, and
reelected in 1904, 1908, 1911, 1917 and 1921. See Col. Ernest J. Chambers ed. The Canadian

Parliamentary Guide 1924 (Ottawa: 1925) at 187. On 3 April 1918, as a consequence of a

petition signed by 176 First Nations' individuals from all the major reserves in southern Ontario
and Quebec (including Tyendinaga), E. Gus Porter introduced a private member's bill into the
House of Commons to incorporate a Council for the Indian Tribes of Canada. Arthur Meighen
and Prime Minister Borden placed concerted pressure upon Porter to withdraw the bill after first

reading. He did so. See Titley A Narrow Vision at 93-101.

31. Black's Law Dictionary 6th ed. (St. Paul, Minn.: West Publishing, 1990) at 1508

defines "trover" as follows: "In common law practice, the action of trover (or trover and
conversion) is a species of action on the case, and originally lay for the recovery of damages
against a person who had found another's goods and wrongfully converted them to his own use.

Subsequently the allegation of the loss of the goods by the plaintiff and the finding of them by



the defendant was merely fictitious, and the action became the remedy for any wrongful
interference with or detention of the goods of another. In form a fiction; in substance, a remedy
to recover the value of personal chattels wrongfully converted by another to his own use.
Common-law form of action to recover value of goods or chattels by reason of an alleged
unlawful interference with possessory right of another, by assertion or exercise of possession or

dominion over chattels, which is adverse and hostile to rightful possessor."

32. Samuel Robinson Clarke A Treatise on Criminal Law as Applicable to the Dominion

of Canada (Toronto: Carswell, 1872) recommended at 457 binding "Indian witnesses" according
to whatever ceremonies were traditionally used in native cultures "however strange and fantastic
the ceremony might be." For good measure, he also recommended swearing them in "on the
New Testament" if they believed "in a supreme being who created all things and in a future state
of reward and punishment according to their conduct in this life." For examples of statutes that
expressly permit Aboriginal witnesses to testify, see "An Act to amend certain Laws respecting
Indians, and to extend certain Laws relating to matters connected with Indians to the Provinces
of Manitoba and British Columbia" S.C. 1874, c.21, s.1, which prohibits the sale of liquor to
"Indians," requires before conviction "the evidence of one credible witness other than the
informer or prosecutor," and notes "in all cases arising under this section, Indians shall be
competent witnesses." See also: "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, 5.79; "The Indian Act,

1880" S.C. 1880, ¢.28, 5.90; "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, 5.97.

33. "An Act to amend certain Laws respecting Indians, and to extend certain Laws
relating to matters connected with Indians to the Provinces of Manitoba and British Columbia"

S.C. 1874, c.21, provides: s.3. Upon any inquest, or upon any enquiry into any matter involving a



criminal charge, or upon the trial of any crime or offence whatsoever, or by whomsoever
committed, it shall be lawful for any Court, Judge, Stipendiary Magistrate, Coroner or Justice of
the Peace to receive the evidence of any Indian or aboriginal native or native of mixed blood,
who is destitute of the knowledge of God, and of any fixed and clear belief in religion or in a
future state of rewards and punishments, without administering the usual form of oath to any
such Indian, aboriginal native or native of mixed blood as aforesaid, upon his solemn affirmation
or declaration to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, or in such form as may
be approved by such Court, Judge, Stipendiary Magistrate, Coroner or Justice of the Peace, as

most binding in his conscience.

s.4. Provided that in the case of any inquest, or upon any inquiry into any matter
involving a criminal charge, or upon the trial of any crime or offence whatsoever, the substance
of the evidence or information of any such Indian, aboriginal native or native of mixed blood as
aforesaid, shall be reduced to writing, and verified by the signature or mark of the person acting
as interpreter (if any), and of the judge, Stipendiary Magistrate, Corner or Justice of the Peace or

person before whom such information shall have been given.

s.5. The court, judge, Stipendiary Magistrate, or Justice of the Peace shall, before taking
any such evidence, information or examination, caution every such Indian, aboriginal native or
native of mixed blood as aforesaid, that he will be liable to incur punishment if he do not so as

aforesaid tell the truth.

s.6. The written declaration or examination made, taken and verified in manner aforesaid,

of any such Indian, aboriginal native or native of mixed blood as aforesaid, may be lawfully read



and received as evidence upon the trial of any criminal suit or proceedings when, under the like
circumstances, the written affidavit, examination, deposition or confession of any person, might

be lawfully read and received as evidence.

s.7. Every solemn affirmation or declaration in whatever form made or taken by any
person as aforesaid shall be of the same force and effect, as if such person had taken an oath in
the usual form, and shall, in like manner, incur the penalty of perjury in case of falsehood. See
also "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876, c.18, s.74-8; "The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, s.120-
4; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, ¢.81, s.151-5; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.143-6. Similar
provisions are contained in "An Ordinance to provide for the taking of Oaths and admission of
Evidence in certain cases" Colony of British Columbia, 1867, No. 74; "An Act respecting the
Law of Evidence" C.S.B.C. 1888, c.41, s.11-14; "An Act respecting Witnesses and Evidence"
S.B.C. 1894, c.13, 5.24-7; "An Act respecting Witnesses and Evidence" R.S.B.C. 1897, c.71,
$.26-9; "An Act respecting Evidence and Witnesses" R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.78, s.12-15; "An Act
respecting Witnesses and Evidence" R.S.B.C. 1924, c.82, s.12-15; "An Act respecting Witnesses
and Evidence" R.S.B.C. 1936, c.90, s.12-15; "An Act respecting Witnesses and Evidence"
R.S.B.C. 1948, c.113, s.12-15. See also Rex v. Richardson George, Eneas George and Alex
George (No. 3) (1936), 51 B.C.R. 81; 66 C.C.C. 365; [1936] 3 W.W.R. 177 (B.C.C.A.); Rex. v.
Louie Hong (1920), 53 D.L.R. 62; [1920] 3 W.W.R. 21 (Alta. S.C.); Rex v. James (1945), 51
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34. Bayly appeared for the Crown in The King v. Beboning (1908), 13 C.C.C. 405, 12
O.W.R. 484,17 O.L.R. 23 (Ont. C.A.), in which he convinced the court to hold that the theft

provisions of the Criminal Code could be enforced against "Indians" on a "reserve." For more



details on Edward Bayly, who appeared on behalf of the Crown in the prosecution of the Ku

Klux Klan in 1930, see discussion of R. v. Phillips in chapter 6.

35. Sero v. Gault at 328-30.

36. Born on 29 March 1863, Chisholm joined the 7th Fusiliers as a lieutenant while still a
law student, and served in the Northwest Rebellion in 1885. A Conservative party member,
Chisholm was given the party nomination in 1885, just after Prime Minister Sir John A.
Macdonald (briefly) extended the franchise to Indians. Chisholm's political campaigning among
his First Nations' constituents did not lead to electoral success, and he was defeated in the
election. It did, however, lead to a heightened appreciation of Aboriginal concerns. Chisholm
was described in his newspaper obituary as an individual who "took a special interest in [Indian]
welfare," and "one of the best informed persons in the Dominion on Indian rights and treaties."
Chisholm was called to the bar in 1888, made a KC in 1921, and practised law continuously in
London as a sole practitioner until his death at the age of 79 on 11 January 1943. He was
predeceased by his wife, Alice Southworth and survived by two sons, Gilbert and W.G.H.
Chisholm, and two daughters, Doris and Constance. For information on Chisholm, see his
obituary, "A.G. Chisholm Dies at Age 79" London Free Press 12 January 1943, p.1, 5; Francis

G. Carter The Middlesex Bench and Bar (Middlesex Law Association: London, 1969) at 13, 47-

8, 81; Middlesex County, London City, Woodland Cemetery, Book 4 (Section K), Vernon's City

of London Directory (1924-40); Dickason Canada's First Nations at 239, 482. Chisholm's cases

include the partially successful claim he made on behalf of the Mississauga of the Credit against
the federal government for payment of treaty funds in Henry v. The King (1905), 9 Ex. C.R. 417

(Exchequer Ct. of Can.). He was also partially successful in a claim to enforce an agreement for



reduced train fares for Six Nations' passengers in exchange for granting a right-of-way to the

Grand Trunk Railway Co. in Jones v. Grand Trunk R.W. Co. (1904), 3 O.W.R. 705 (Ont. Div.

Ct.) and Jones v. Grand Trunk R.W. Co. (1905), 5 O.W.R. 611, 9 O.L.R. 723 (Ont. C.A.).
Chisholm acted in the land dispute between two Chippewa of the Thames in Fisher v. Albert
(1921), 64 D.L.R. 153, 50 O.L.R. 68, 20 O.W.N. 49 (Ont. S.C.). See also Jack Campisi "Ethnic
Identity and Boundary Maintenance in Three Oneida Communities" Ph.D. Thesis (State
University of New York: 1974) at 303-7, which refers to Chisholm's representation of the
traditional Longhouse group of Onyota'a:ka (Oneida) on the Thames and their efforts to resume
control of the community in 1920. Chisholm provided legal services to the Chief Deskeheh
(Levi General and the Six Nations Grand River on the topic of sovereignty between 1919-21, as

discussed in Titley A Narrow Vision at 114-17. He compiled "historical evidence in support of

the claim," made representations before the committee of the House of Commons to oppose the
proposed legislation on compulsory enfranchisement, submitted a petition to the Governor
General, and lobbied for a reference to the Supreme Court of Canada on the question of Six
Nations' sovereignty. After his intervention in the Sero case, Chisholm continued his legal
representation of First Nations' claimants. Rex v. The New England Company (1922), 63 D.L.R.
537, 21 Ex. C.R. 245 (Exchequer Ct. of Can.) reflects Chisholm's sophisticated Aboriginal
historical research, as noted by Charles M. Johnston "To the Mohawk Station: The Making of a
New England Company Missionary - the Rev. Robert Lugger" in Foster et al. Extending the
Rafters 65-80. See in addition the claim by Chisholm's daughter Constance, made after his
death, to recover $5,034.70 owing for legal services rendered to the Six Nations Grand River
between 1915 and 1942, discussed in Chisholm v. The King, [1943] 3 D.L.R. 797, Ex.C.R. 370

(Exchequer Ct. of Can.).



37. I have been unable to locate any copies of Chisholm's petition, which one scholar
suggests may have been as long as 180 pages: Sidney L. Harring ""The Liberal Treatment of
Indians': Native People in Nineteenth Century Ontario Law" Saskatchewan Law Review v.56
(1992) 297. If the original petition was filed with the court records, it would have been
destroyed when the Archives of Ontario culled the case file in 1965. No copies have been
located in the Premier's Correspondence or the Department of Natural Resources files held by the
Archives of Ontario. A search of the Public Archives of Canada, "Correspondence, Accounts,
Reports etc. Regarding the Political Status of the Six Nations" RG10, v.2285, 57,169-1A and 1B
has likewise not elicited the missing petition. The Six Nations Grand River Band Office at
Ohsweken has not been able to locate the petition among their records. Consequently, I have
attempted to reconstruct the arguments that would have been included in the petition from the
following sources. A.G. Chisholm, Solicitor for Six Nations "The Case of the Six Nations"
London Free Press 20 March 1920, p.4; letter by A.G. Chisholm "Explanation of Unrest of Six
Nations" Brantford Expositor 29 March 1921, p.11; "Memorandum as to National Status of the
Indians in Canada, with particular reference to the case of The Six Nations" a 29-page document
signed by Chisholm in London, Ontario, 8 October 1920, PAC RG10, v.2285, 57,169-1A, Pt.2;
"Memorandum on the Relation of the Dominion Government of Canada with the Six Nations of
the Grand River," a 15-page document submitted at London by Chief Deskaheh to the Colonial
Office, August 1921, PAC RG10, v.2285, 57,169-1A, Pt.2; Correspondence from Deskaheh,
Speaker of the Ho-De-No-Sau-Nees Confederation of the Grand River to His Majesty King
George the Fifth, 22 October 1924, PAC RG10, v.2285, 56,169-1A, Pt.2.  Similar arguments
were made by the Six Nations' Confederacy at the time to oppose the supplanting of traditional

forms of government by an elected council under the Indian Act. See, for example, the news



coverage of the resolution passed by the Six Nations' Council at Ohsweken in June, 1921, as
reported in "Six Nations Indians Have Been Allies of Britain for 250 Years" Brantford Expositor
9 June 1921, p.7. Hill "The Historical Position of the Six Nations" notes at 103-109: "The
relation of sovereign and subject did not exist. The Six Nations owed the King no allegiance,
and in this regard he owed them no protection, but the protection that existed rested upon treaties
and not allegiance. The relations...were determined by treaties, which in the true legal sense of
the term could only be entered into by independent sovereignties. The Crown never attempted to
interfere with the national affairs of the Six Nations. They were treated as free and independent
nations, governed by their own tribal laws and usages, under their own chiefs, and competent to
act in a national and representative character, and exercise self-government; and while residing

within their own territories owing no allegiance to the municipal laws of the whites."

38. The lengthy text of the Six Nations' position, written by Chief J.S. Johnson, was
published as "Six Nations Indians Protest Against Compulsory Enfranchisement" Brantford
Expositor 16 March 1921, p.3. The article claims that the Six Nations' status rests, in part, upon
their position as "aborigines of this country." It refers specifically to rape and theft as two
categories of criminal law ceded to the Canadian government, but later notes that "three crimes"
had been conceded. Presumably the offence of murder was the third. Cork Worst of the Bargain
notes at 109-10 that Governor General Sir Guy Carleton issued an administrative directive in
1775 regarding the resolution of disputes between whites and whites, or between whites and
"Indians" on their "reserves." The directive apparently adverted to a concession from First
Nation local councils that they "should not try to punish the crimes of murder or theft as these
crimes would be under the jurisdiction of the Province." Harring "The Liberal Treatment of

Indians" notes at 352-3 that the Grand River Iroquois continued to operate a highly organized



legal system, with dozens of recorded cases dealing with constitutional law, land law, Indian
citizenship and inheritance. Harring adds at 370-1: "Native legal, social and political histories
exist in twentieth century Ontario, just as they existed in the nineteenth. The legal history of the

Grand River Iroquois spans both centuries...."

39. For reference to the multiple petitions, see Johnston "Quest of the Six Nations;"

Montgomery "Legal Status of the Six Nations" at 96-7; Titley A Narrow Vision chapter 7; "Six

Nations Seek Ruling from Courts as to Rights Under Treaty with British Crown" Brantford
Expositor 14 March 1921, p.2; "Explanation of Unrest of Six Nations" Brantford Expositor 29
March 1921, p.11; "Six Nations Will Appeal for Rights to Governor-General; Protest

Compulsory Measure" Brantford Expositor 7 May 1921, p.1.

40. Montgomery "Legal Status of the Six Nations" at 96-7; Letter to Major Gordon J.
Smith, Indian Superintendent at Brantford from Deputy Superintendent General of Indian
Affairs, 14 April 1921 and Letter from Superintendent General of Indian Affairs to His
Excellency the Governor General in Council, 15 November 1920, PAC RG10, v.2285, 57,169-
1A-part 2. This disdainful repudiation of wampum as a recognized medium of international
communication is a complete departure from earlier government positions. Writing in 1836, Sir
Francis Bond Head, the white Lieutenant Governor of Upper Canada, underscored the
significance of wampum: "An Indian's word, when it is formally pledged, is one of the strongest
moral securities on earth; like the Rainbow, it beams unbroken when all beneath is threatened
with annihilation. The most solemn form in which an Indian pledges his word is by the Delivery
of a Wampum Belt of Shells; and when the purport of this Symbol is once declared it is

remembered and handed down from Father to Son with an Accuracy and Retention of Meaning



which is quite extraordinary." See Correspondence respecting Indians between the Provincial

Secretary of State and Governors of British North America 1837 (Queen's Printer) at 128, as

quoted in Johnston "Quest of the Six Nations" at 9.

41. On the matter of Deserontyon's requests, see "Deserontyon (Odeserundiye), John
(Captain John)" Dictionary of Canadian Biography at 255. For the full text of the land grant, see

Canada, Department of Indian Affairs Indian Treaties and Surrenders at 7-8:

GEORGE THE THIRD by the Grace of God of Great Britain, France and Ireland, King,

Defender of the Faith and so forth.

Know ye that Whereas the Attachment and Fidelity of the Chief Warriors and People of
the Six Nations to us and Our Government, have been made manifest on divers occasions by
their spirited and zealous exertions and by the bravery of their conduct; And We being desirous
of shewing Our approbation of the same, and in recompense of the losses they may have
sustained of providing a convenient Tract of Land under Our protection for a safe and
comfortable retreat for them and their posterity Have, of Our special Grace, certain knowledge
and mere motion, Given and by these presents Do give and grant unto the Chiefs, Warriors,
Women and People of the said Six nations and their Heirs for ever all that District or Territory of
Land being parcel of a certain District lately purchased by Us of the Mississauge Nation lying
and being and limited and bounded as follows (that is to say) the Tract will then be bounded in
front by the Bay of Quinte between the mouths of the River Shannon and Bowen's Creek about
Twelve Miles Westerly by a Line running, North Sixteen Degrees West from the West side of

the Mouth of the River Shannon, and Easterly by a Line running North Sixteen Degrees West



from the Mouth of Bowen's Creek, and Northerly by a Line running East Sixteen Degrees North
and West Sixteen Degrees, South at the distance of about Thirteen Miles back from the Bay of
Quinte, measured on the Western Boundary aforesaid, to the North East Angle of the Township

of Thurlow.

To Have and to Hold the said District or Territory of Land of us Our Heirs and
Successors to them the Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the said Six Nations and to and
for the sole use and behoof of them and their Heirs for ever freely and clearly of and from all and
all manner of Rents, Fines or Services whatsoever to be rendered by them the said Chiefs,
Warriors, Women and people of the said Six Nations to us or our successors for the same and of
and from all conditions, stipulations and agreements whatever except as hereinafter by us

expressed and declared.

Giving and granting and by these presents confirming to the said Chiefs, Warriors,
Women and People of the said Six Nations, and their Heirs, the full and entire possession, Use,
benefit and advantage of the said District or Territory of Land to be held and enjoyed by them in
the most free and ample manner and according to the several Customs and usages by them the
said Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the said Six Nations. Provided always, and be it
understood to be the true intent and meaning of these Presents; that for the purpose of assuring
the said Lands as aforesaid to the said Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the Six Nations
and their Heirs and of securing to them the free and undisturbed possession and enjoyment of the

same.

It is Our Royal Will and Pleasure that no Transfer, Alienation, Conveyance, Sale, Gift,



Exchange, Lease, Property, or Possession shall at any time be had, made, or given of the said
District or Territory or any part or parcel thereof by any of the said Chiefs, Warriors, Women
and people of the said Six Nations to any other Nation or Body of People, Person or persons
whatsoever other than among themselves the said Chiefs, Warriors, Women, and People of the
said Six Nations but that any such Transfer, Alienation, Conveyance, Sale, Gift, Exchange,
Lease, or Possession shall be null and void and of no effect whatever. And that no Person or
Persons shall possess or occupy the said District or Territory, or any part or parcel thereof by or
under pretence of any such alienation or Conveyance as aforesaid, or by or under any pretence
whatever under pain of our severe displeasure. And that in case any Person or Persons other than
the said Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the said Six Nations shall under pretence of any
such Title as aforesaid, presume to possess or occupy the said District or Territory or any part or
parcel thereof that it shall and may be lawful for Us, our Heirs and Successors at any time
hereafter to enter upon the Lands so occupied and possessed by any other Person or Persons
other than the said Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the said Six Nations and them the
said Intruders thereof and therefrom wholly to dispossess and evict and to resume the same to
Ourselves, Our Heirs and Successors. Provided always nevertheless that if at any time the said
Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the said Six Nations should be inclined to dispose of and
Surrender their Use and Interest in the said District or Territory, the same shall be perchased only
for Us in our name at some Public Meeting or Assembly of the Chiefs, Warriors and People of
the said Six Nations to be held for that purpose by the Governor, Lieutenant Governor or Person

Administering Our Government in Our Province of Upper Canada.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF We have caused these Our Letters to be made Patent and

the Great Seal of Our said Province to be hereunto affixed; Witness His Excellency John Graves



Simcoe, Esquire, Lieutenant Governor and Colonel Commanding Our Forces in Our said
Province, Given at Our Government House at Navy Hall this First Day of April in the Year of
Our Lord One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety Three in the Thirty Third Year of Our

Reign.

WM. JARVIS, Secy. J.G.S.

(A true copy taken from the original 29th December 1809).

JOHN SMALL. C.Reg.

The original land grant was reduced in size by a series of land transfers to non-Mohawks,
in 1820, 1835, 1836, 1843, 1846, 1847, 1850, 1856, 1883, 1885, 1889, as itemized at p.lvii. See
also "Letters Patent (dated 1st April 1793) to the Chiefs, Warriors, Women and People of the Six
Nations of Indians for Land on the Bay of Quinte" by authority of John Graves Simcoe, Text
recorded on 30 October 1847, from a certified copy supplied by Major T.E. Campbell,

Superintendent General of Indian Affairs" PAC RG68, Liber AG, reel C-4158 at 323-24.

42. "Indians Have Not Additional Rights" Belleville Daily Intelligencer 5 March 1921,

p.1; "Indians Have Not Additional Rights" Kingston British Whig 5 March 1921, p.1. Similar
sentiments were voiced by a white Alberta M.P., Frank Oliver, himself a former Minister of the
Interior, in the House of Commons seven years earlier, when he argued that the Six Nations were
"in a different legal position from any Indian bands who are native to the country. These Indian

bands on the Grand river...were given lands under a special treaty, not as subjects of Great



Britain, but as allies of Great Britain...." Hansard Parliamentary Debates House of Commons, 11

May 1914 at 3537.

43. Historians have begun to compile details regarding the legal clash between European
and First Nations' communities. See, for example, Dickinson "Native Sovereignty and French
Justice in Early Canada" 17; Hamar Foster ""The Queen's Law is Better Than Yours':
International Homicide in Early British Columbia" in Phillips, Loo and Lewthwaite eds.
Criminal Justice 41; Hamar Foster "Sins against the Great Spirit: The Law, the Hudson's Bay
Company, and the Mackenzie's River Murders, 1835-1839" Criminal Justice History: An

International Annual v.10 (1989) 23; Cornelia Schuh "Justice on the Northern Frontier: Early

Murder Trials of Native Accused" Criminal Law Quarterly v.22 (1978-80) 74; Chief Thomas
Fidler and James R. Stevens Killing the Shaman (Moonbeam: Penumbra Press, 1985); Graham
Price "The King v. Alikomiak" in Dale Gibson and Wesley Pue eds. Glimpses of Canadian Legal

History (Winnipeg: Legal Research Institute, 1991) 213; W.C.E. Rasing "Too Many People":

Order and Nonconformity in Iglulingmiut Social Process (Nijmegen: Katholieke Universiteit,

Faculteit der Rechsgeleerdheid, 1994) at 141-2; Graham Price "Remote Justice: The Stipendiary
Magistrate's Court of the Northwest Territories, 1905-55" LL.M. Thesis (University of

Manitoba: 1986); Brendan O'Brien Speedy Justice: The Tragic Last Voyage of His Majesty's

Vessel Speedy (Toronto: The Osgoode Society, 1992) at 39-53; Russell Smandych and Rick
Linden "Co-existing Forms of Native and Private Justice: An Historical Study of the Canadian

West" in Kayleen M. Hazlehurst ed. Legal Pluralism and the Colonial Legacy: Indigenous

Experiences of Justice in Canada, Australia, and New Zealand (Aldershot, UK: Avebury Press,

1995).



44. The King v. Phelps, [1823] U.C.K.B. 47 at 52-4. The decision merely notes at 54:
"Judgment in favour of the Crown." In argument, Esther Phelps' white counsel referred to the
Mohawk as "the faithful and attached allies" of the King, and put forth the claim of sovereignty
in clear, if patronizing, terms: "The foundation of the title from General Haldimand is evidently a
treaty, and as such must be recognized by the court.... The Indians must be considered a distinct,
though feudatory people; they were transported here by compact; they are not subject to mere
positive laws, to statute labour, or militia duty; though perhaps to punishment for crimes against
the natural law, or law of nations. It may be considered as a ridiculous anomaly, but it
appears...that these sort of societies, resident within and circumscribed by another territory,
though in some measure independent of it, frequently exist, and that the degree of independence
may be infinitely varied; and however barbarous these Indians may be considered, the treaty
under which they migrated to and reside in this country is binding." The white solicitor-general,
Henry John Boulton, insisted that "the Indians are bound by the common law," and argued: "The
supposition that the Indians are not subject to the laws of the country is absurd; they are as much
so as the French loyalists who settled here after the French revolution, who came to this province
from a country perfectly independent, and of which the independence was never doubted." See
also William Renwick Riddell "Esther Phelps" The University Magazine v.12 (Montreal:

October 1913) at 466-7.

45. Doe D. Sheldon v. Ramsay et al. (1852), 9 U.C.Q.B. 105 at 123 and 133. On the
matter of Haldimand's original land grant, Chief Justice Robinson took issue with the form of the
instrument under which the grant was purportedly made, and with the nature of the organization
receiving the grant (at 122-3): "In the first place, the Six Nations of Indians took no legal estate

under the instrument given by General Sir Frederick Haldimand. He did not own the land in



question, and could convey no legal interest by any instrument under his seal et arms. Being
Governor of Canada, he could have made a grant of Crown lands by letters patent under the great
seal of the province, which would have been a matter of record; but he could no more grant this
large tract on the Grand River, by an instrument under his seal at arms, than he could have
alienated the whole of Upper Canada by such an instrument. But secondly, if such an instrument
had been made under the great seal, in the ordinary and proper manner, it could pass no legal
interest for want of a grantee or grantees, properly described and capable of holding. It grants
nothing to any person or persons by name, and in their natural capacity. General Haldimand
could not have incorporated the Six Nations of Indians, if he had attempted to do it expressly, by
an instrument under his seal et arms, and still less could he do it in such a manner incidentally
and indirectly by implication. A grant 'to the Mohawks Indians, and such others of the Six
Nations as might wish to settle on the Grand River, of a tract of land, to be enjoyed by them and
their posterity forever,' could not have the effect upon any principle of the law of England of
vesting a legal estate in anybody. It could amount to nothing more than what it was well
understood and intended to be, a declaration by the government that it would abstain from
granting those lands to others, and would reserve them to be occupied by the Indians of the Six
Nations. It gave no estate in fee, or for life, or for a term of years, which the Indians could
individually or collectively transmit." On the question of the applicability of British law, Judge
Robert Easton Burns, who wrote a concurring opinion in this case, concluded at 133-4: "It can
never be pretended that these Indians while situated within the limits of this province, as a
British province at least, were recognized as a separate and independent nation, governed by
laws of their own, distinct from the general law of the land, having a right to deal with the soil as

they pleased; but they were considered as a distinct race of people, consisting of tribes associated



altogether distinct from the general mass of inhabitants, it is true, but yet as British subjects, and
under the control of and subject to the general law of England. As regards these lands on the
Grand River, the Indians had no national existence, nor any recognized patriarchal or other form
of government or management, so far as we see in any way.... Although they are distinct tribes
as respects their race, yet that gave them no corporate powers or existence...." For a more
detailed analysis of Robinson's judicial position, see Sidney Harring "'"The Common Law is not
Part Savage and Part Civilized': Chief Justice John Beverley Robinson, Canadian Legal Culture,
and the Denial of Native Rights in Mid-nineteenth Century Upper Canada," unpublished
manuscript, 1995. Harring notes at 44 that "many of the members of the family compact,
including Robinson, were involved in land speculations of dubious legality, and much of this

m

land was clouded by 'Indian title."" Harring concludes at 61 that "at the core of Robinson's
jurisprudence was the denial of aboriginal sovereignty and land rights, aboriginal rights that

impeded the orderly European settlement of Upper Canada." For an example of similar judicial

reasoning in a case subsequent to Sero, see Rex v. Syliboy [1929] 1 D.L.R. 307, (1928), 50
C.C.C. 389 (N.S. Co. Ct.), in which the grand chief of the Mi'kmaq nation would be convicted of
a hunting violation despite his citation of a 1752 Treaty signed by the Nova Scotia Governor and
the Mi'kmagq, providing that the Aboriginal inhabitants would "not be hindered from but have
free liberty to hunt and fish as usual." In deciding that the "so-called treaty" was really "not a
treaty," the court would state at 395-6: "Treaties are unconstrained Acts of independent powers.
But the Indians were never regarded as an independent power. A civilized nation first
discovering a country of uncivilized people or savages held such country as its own until such
time as by treaty it was transferred to some other civilized nation. The savages' rights of

sovereignty even of ownership were never recognized. Nova Scotia had passed to Great Britain



not by gift or purchase from or even by conquest of the Indians but by treaty with France, which
had acquired it by priority of discovery and ancient possession; and the Indians passed with it.
[...] In my judgment the Treaty of 1752 is not a treaty at all and is not to be treated as such; it is
at best a mere agreement made by the Governor and council with a handful of Indians.... Having
called the agreement a treaty, and having perhaps lulled the Indians into believing it to be a treaty
with all the sacredness of a treaty attached to it, it may be the Crown should not now be heard to
say it is not a treaty. With that I have nothing to do. That is a matter for representations to the
proper authorities...." Rex v. Wesley [1932] 4 D.L.R. 774, 2 W.W.R. 337, (1932), 58 C.C.C.
269, 26 Alta. L.R. 433 (Alta. C.A.) would uphold Aboriginal hunting rights pursuant to the
British Proclamation of 1763 and an 1877 treaty with the Assiniboine, Blackfeet and Stony

nations, but citing A.-G. Can. v. A.-G. Ont., [1897] A.C. 199, would conclude that "in Canada

the Indian treaties appear to have been judicially interpreted as being mere promises and
agreements." See also Rex v. Commanda, [1939] 3 D.L.R. 635, O.W.N. 466, (1939), 72 C.C.C.
246 (Ont. S.C.). The Robinson Treaty of 1850, negotiated by William Robinson (brother of
Chief Justice John Beverley Robinson) with the Ojibway of the north shore of Lake Superior

would receive more judicial deference in Rex v. Padjena and Quesawa (1930), 4 Canadian

Native Law Cases 411 (Ont. Div. Ct.). Upholding the provisions of the Treaty which stipulated

the right of the Ojibway to hunt, the court would note: "The said Robinson Treaty is binding on
both the Dominion of Canada and on the Province of Ontario. The said Treaty was made with
the Province of Canada, which then included, Ontario and Quebec, and the Province of Ontario
cannot abrogate the said Treaty. Treaties made by the United States with the Indian tribes are
laws of the United States, and constitute a part of the supreme law of the land, and acts of a state

legislature in conflict therewith are therefore void. Treaties with the Indian tribes are to be



construed liberally in favour of the Indians."

46. Dickason Canada's First Nations at 176; Olive Patricia Dickason The Myth of the

Savage and the Beginnings of French Colonialism in the Americas (Edmonton: University of

Alberta Press, 1984). Newell Crime and Justice Among the Iroquois Nations provides detailed,

contradictory evidence about the complex social, political and legal regime developed by
Iroquois nations. For some sense of the countervailing perspectives developed by the First
Nations about the white European colonizers, see Rosenstiel Red and White: Indian Views of the

White Man.

47. Hilary Bates Neary "William Renwick Riddell: A Bio-Bibliographical Study" M.A.
Thesis (University of Western Ontario: 1977) at 1-9, 20, 34-8; "Riddell, Hon. Wm. Renwick";
Henry James Morgan ed. The Canadian Men and Women of the Time 2nd ed. (Toronto: William

Briggs, 1912) at 941; "Riddell, Hon. William Renwick" B.M. Greene ed. Who's Who and Why:

1921 (Toronto: International Press, 1921) at 94; W. Stewart Wallace ed. The Macmillan
Dictionary of Canadian Biography 3rd. ed. (Toronto: Macmillan, 1963) at 628; and obituaries:
"39 years in Supreme Court - Mr. Justice Riddell dies" Toronto Daily Star 19 February 1945;

"Justice W.R. Riddell dies soon after wife" Toronto Globe and Mail 19 February 1945.

48. Neary "Riddell" at 5-6, 8-9, 20. For a full listing of the bibliography, see Neary at
54-161. The reference to "slang" is found in Morgan "Riddell" at 941. The reference to the

hearing aid is from Lita-Rose Betcherman The Little Band: The Clashes Between the

Communists and the Canadian Establishment 1928-1932 (Ottawa: Deneau, 1983) at 39, citing

her interview with Harvey McCullogh QC, 18 November 1978.



49. On Riddell's involvement with The Dawn of Tomorrow, see Neary "Riddell" at 27;

see also William Renwick Riddell "The Slave in Canada" Journal of Negro History 5:3 (1920)

261. On Riddell's insensitivity to racism, see Carolyn Strange Toronto's Girl Problems: The
Perils and Pleasures of the City, 1880-1930 (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1995) at 250,

citing Robin W. Winks The Blacks in Canada: A History 2nd ed. (Montreal: McGill-Queen's

University Press, 1997) at 298. Karen Dubinsky has documented Riddell's role in the trial of a

Black man, Frank Roughmond, in Stratford in 1908 in her Improper Advances: Rape and

Heterosexual Conflict in Ontario, 1880-1929 (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1993) at

98-104. Frank Roughmond, an itinerant Black fortune-teller, was convicted of murdering a
white woman after sexually assaulting her, in a trial presided over by Judge Riddell. Dubinsky
notes that the evidence was mixed, that the accused man received a very lacklustre defence, and
that the sensational press treatment was appallingly biased. Riddell appears to have been
unconcerned about any of this. When he delivered the verdict and pronounced the death
sentence upon the accused, Riddell was sanctimonious in his admiration for the majesty of the
British system of law. Riddell advised Roughmond that "you differ from most of us in colour
but no man can say you did not have a fair trial." Riddell announced that he was "glad that my
Canadian people have refrained from violence and have let justice take its course. That is a great
object lesson to others, and to people of your race." Dubinsky concludes: "Supporters of...Frank
Roughmond (if indeed Roughmond had any) could be forgiven if they failed to see a substantial
difference between lynching by an angry mob and the proceedings of the Anglo-Saxon legal

system."

50. Canadian Social Hygiene Council Social Health 1:11 (Midsummer Number, 1925)

lists William Renwick Riddell as President and Dr. Gordon Bates, a well-known eugenicist, as



General Secretary. An article published in that volume is titled "To Advocate the Knowledge
and Practice of Social Hygiene as the One Way to Racial Improvement" with a sub-heading:
"The Race is to the Strong." I am indebted to John McLaren for providing me with this
information. On the Canadian Social Hygiene Council and the eugenics reform movement in

Canada, see Angus McLaren Our Own Master Race: Eugenics in Canada, 1885-1945 (Toronto:

McClelland and Stewart, 1990).

51. William Renwick Riddell "Administration of Criminal Law in the Far North of
Canada" Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 20:2 (August 1929) 294-302
at 294. The article promotes the importance of extending English criminal law to northern areas,
and begins with the following passage: "When in 1869, the Dominion of Canada acquired at the
cost of L300,000 Sterling, the enormous territory known as Rupert's Land from the Hudson's
Bay Company, she was not blind to the very great responsibilities she was assuming. While
there was a magnificent stretch of land in the southern part, fitted for the highest kind of
agriculture, and certain to attract the highest form of immigrant of the White Race, there was also
known to be toward the North, an expanse of territory, apparently fit for nothing but the trapper
and such forms of humanity and grades of civilization as were represented by the Esquimaux and
the wandering Indian tribes. These had little conception of government by law, and seldom
considered themselves to be bound by anything but their own desires. Amongst them, too, were
degenerate members of the higher race, generally playing on their savage appetites and making

profit of their vices."

52. The following articles touch on First Nations' matters: "Esther Phelps" University

Magazine v.12 (Montreal: October 1913) 466-71; "The Sad Tale of an Indian Wife" The



Canadian Law Times (Toronto, 1920) v.40 at 983; republished in Journal of Criminal Law and

Criminology v.13 (May 1922) 82-89; "Was Molly Brant Married?" Ontario Historical Society

Papers and Records v.19 (1922) 147-57, where Riddell wagers not; "Former Indian Treatment

for Venereal Disease" Urologic and Cutaneous Review v.32 (November 1928) 720-28;

"Administration of criminal law in the far north of Canada" Journal of Criminal Law

Criminology and Police Science 20:2 (August 1929) 294-302, which discusses cases of Inuit
charged with murder between 1915 and 1926; "Indian war council held at Detroit in 1700"

Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada 3rd ser. v.25 (1931) Section II, 165-68; "Indian

episodes in early Michigan" Michigan History Magazine v.18 (1934) 195-207; "Medicine of the

Indians of Acadia two and a quarter centuries ago" Medical Record: A National Review of

Medicine and Surgery v.140 (July 1934) 95-96, in which he writes of the efficacy of some First

Nations' medicines and medical treatments; "Some Indian medicine 240 years ago and now"

Medical Record: A National Review of Medicine and Surgery v.144 (October 1936) 329-30, in

which he disparages the medical knowledge of the First Nations; "The Status of the Indian"

Bench and Bar v.5 (October 1935) 4.

53. "Esther Phelps" The University Magazine at 466-7, 470-1.

54. "Sad Tale of an Indian Wife" Canadian Law Times at 991. The article is republished

in Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology (1922) at 82-89.

55. For an account of episode concerning Clara Brett Martin, see Constance Backhouse

Petticoats and Prejudice: Women and Law in Nineteenth-Century Canada (Toronto: Women's

Press and the Osgoode Society, 1991) at 308. Riddell later wrote in "Women as Practitioners of



Law" in Journal of Comparative Legislation 18 (1918) 201 at 206: "I do not think that the most

fervent advocate of women's rights could claim that the admission of women to the practice of
law has had any appreciable effect on the Bar, the practice of law, the Bench or the people. ...
[TThe admission of women is regarded with complete indifference by all but those immediately
concerned." See also "An Old-Time Misogynist" Toronto Canadian Magazine 58:5 (March

1922) at 379-80.

56. Jones v. Grand Trunk R.W. Co. (1904), 3 O.W.R. 705 (Ont. Div. Ct.); Jones v. Grand

Trunk R.W. Co. (1905), 5 O.W.R. 611 (Ont. C.A.). The action was brought by Charlotte Jones,
a white resident of Hagersville, who as the wife of Dr. Peter E. Jones, a Mississauga, was defined
as an "Indian" under Canadian legislation. Damages of $10 were awarded at trial because the
railway company had not provided sufficient notice of their intention to place individuals
purchasing "Indians' tickets" in second-class accommodation. Damages were upheld on appeal
because the smoking car to which Jones was assigned was held not to be "sufficient

accommodation" for second-class passengers.

57. The Mississauga claim in Henry v. The King (1905), 9 Ex.C.R. 417 (Exchequer Ct. of
Can.) was only partially successful, since the court also ruled that it had no authority to review
the manner in which the federal government and the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs
managed First Nations' lands and finances, the supervisory authority belonging solely to
Parliament. Riddell's decision against Chisholm is reported in Chisholm v. Herkimer (1909), 18

O.L.R. 600 (Ont. Weekly Ct.).

58. Sero v. Gault at 33. Riddell's judgment expressly notes his archival research into the



issues in dispute. On Riddell's "cavalier attitude towards the use of such facilities," and the
efforts of various librarians and archivists to retrieve documents he borrowed years earlier, see

Neary "Riddell" at 33.

59. Sero v. Gault at 330-1. Although Riddell gives no source for Judge Powell's
statement, it is presumably based upon a memorandum signed by Powell, later Chief Justice of
Upper Canada, recording a conversation with Joseph Brant, which notes: "My personal opinion
was ever in favour of the entire Independence of the Indians in their villages." The reference is
quoted in Montgomery "Legal Status of the Six Nations" at 93, citing PAC Q283, p.94, 3
January 1737; the current PAC reference is RG10, v.2285, 57,169-1A-part 2. Although Riddell
did not specify the precise nature of the retraction he attributes to Powell, he seems to justify his
argument by reference to a murder trial in 1822: "Shawanakiskie, of the Ottawa Tribe, was
convicted at Sandwich of the murder of an Indian woman in the streets of Amherstburg, and
sentenced to death. Mr. Justice Campbell respited the sentence, as it was contended that Indians
in matters between themselves were not subject to white man's law, but were by treaty entitled to
be governed by their own customs - Canadian Archives, Sundries, U.C., September, 1822. It
was said that Chief Justice Powell had in the previous year charged the grand jury at Sandwich
that the Indians amongst themselves were governed wholly by their own customs. Powell, when
applied to by the Lieutenant-Governor, denied this, and sent a copy of his charge, which was

quite to the contrary - id., October, 1822."

For more details on this case, see Dennis Carter-Edwards "Shawanakiskie" Dictionary of

Canadian Biography (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987) v.6, 705-6.




60. Sero v. Gault at 331. Riddell cited neither case, but refers to documents in the
Canadian Archives relating to the former, a murder trial of Shawanakiskie, in Sandwich in 1822,
which was upheld in 1826 by the Lieutenant-Governor, to whom the Crown Law Officers had
written to report that there was "no basis for the Indian's claim to be treated according to his
customary law." Curiously, Riddell did not cite another 1820 murder conviction of
Negaunausing, a ten-year-old First Nations' boy who shot a European boy of about the same age.
Riddell must have been aware of this District of Newcastle case, since he documented the
conviction and subsequent pardon in his article "A Criminal Circuit in Upper Canada: A Century

Ago" Canadian Law Times v.40 (Toronto: 1920) 711 at 716-17.

61. Rex v. Hill (1907), 15 O.L.R. 406, 11 O.W.R. 20 (Ont. C.A.) at 410. A white
informant, Charles Rose, accused George Hill, an unenfranchised treaty Indian residing upon the
"reserve," of "attending upon and prescribing for" two white women off the "reserve." At 414,
the court notes: "He is no more free to infringe an Act of the Legislature than to disregard a
municipal by-law, the general protection of both of which he enjoys when he does not limit the
operations of his life to his reserve, but though unenfranchised, seeks a wider sphere." The
precise issue of sovereignty is never broached in the case, which was argued instead on the
constitutional division of powers. The defendant's argument, that "Indians" are "wards of the
Dominion, and subject in all relations of life only to federal legislation," failed. For a later case

which followed Hill, see Cite de Montreal v. Bluefeather (1933), 39 R. de Jur. 100 (Que. District

Ct.), where John Bluefeather was convicted of selling his own medicines as a street vendor in the
City of Montreal without a permit. See also Re Kane, [1940] 1 D.L.R. 390 (N.S. Co. Ct.);

Attorney-General for Quebec v. Williams, [1944] 4 D.L.R. 488, (1944), 82 C.C.C. 166 (Que.

Sess. of the Peace).



62. Rex v. Martin (1917), 29 C.C.C. 189,41 O.L.R. 79, 13 O.W.N. 187 (Ont. C.A.).
Judge Riddell actually sat on this case, and concluded at 192: "We are bound by Rex v.
Hill...to hold that an unenfranchised Indian is subject to provincial legislation in precisely the

same way as a non-Indian, at least where, as here, he is out of his reservation."

63. See, for example, Sanderson v. Heap (1909), 11 W.L.R. 238, 19 Man. R. 122 (K.B.)

and the broadly worded application of Hill found in Dion v. La Compagnie de la Baie D'Hudson

(1917), 51 Que. C.S. 413.

64. The King v. Beboning (1908), 13 C.C.C. 405, 12 O.W.R. 484, 17 O.L.R. 23 (Ont.
C.A.), in which the Aboriginal accused was charged with stealing hay on the West Bay Indian
"Reserve" in the district of Manitoulin. The argument of the accused was that the matter was

more properly dealt with under the federal "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81.

65. Rex v. Jim (1915), 26 C.C.C. 236, 22 B.C.R. 106 (B.C.S.C.) notes at 237-3: "By the
British North America Act, 1867, that is to say, by subsection (294) of section 91, Indians and
lands reserved for the Indians are reserved for the exclusive jurisdiction of the Dominion
Parliament. The Dominion Parliament has enacted a lengthy Act known as the Indian Act.... [I]n
fact, by section 51 it is expressly enacted 'that all Indian lands...shall be managed, leased and
sold as the Governor-in-Council directs.' [...] I would say that the word 'management' would, at
all events, include the question of regulation and prohibition in connection with fishing and
hunting upon the reserves." For examples of cases which subsequently followed Jim, see Rex v.
Rodgers [1923] 3 D.L.R. 414, 2 W.W.R. 353, (1923), 40 C.C.C. 51, 33 Man. R. 139 (Man.

C.A)); Rex v. Martin (1917), 39 D.L.R. 635,29 C.C.C. 189 (Ont. C.A.). There are several cases



subsequent to Jim in which white defendants attempted to secure immunity while on a "reserve:"

all failed; see Rex v. McLeod (1930), 54 C.C.C. 107,[1930] 2 W.W.R. 37 (B.C.Co. Ct.); Rex v.

Morley [1932] 4 D.L.R. 483,2 W.W.R. 193, (1931), 58 C.C.C. 166, 46 B.C.R. 28 (B.C.C.A.);
Rex v. Gullberg, [1933] 3 W.W.R. 639, (1933), 62 C.C.C. 281 (Alta. Dist. Ct.). See also Rex v.
Groslouis (1943), 81 C.C.C. 167; [1944] R.L. 12 (Que. Sess. of the Peace), in which provincial
sales tax is held applicable to goods sold by an Indian merchant on the "reserve" to a white

customer.

66. Dion v. La Compagnie de la Baie D'Hudson (1917), 51 Que. C.S. 413 at 416: "Le fait
qu'il y a dans notre province des reserves pour les Indiens n'a pas pour effet de rendre

inconstitutionelle la loi de chasse; ils y sont soumis comme tous les autres:

Indians in Canada are British subjects and entitled to all the rights and privileges of such,
except so far as those rights are restricted by statute, and notwithstanding sub-sect.24 of sect.91
of the B.N.A. Act, 1867, they are sub-sect [sic] to all provincial laws which the province has

power to enact.

The footnote attached to the latter statement refers to Rex v. Hill, and to Sanderson v.

Hedy [sic], by which the court must have meant the Manitoba case of Sanderson v. Heap (1909),

11 W.L.R. 238, 19 Man. R. 122 (K.B.). The latter case deals with the rights of First Nations'
individuals to sell land allotted to them by the federal government, and states at 125: "Unlike the
Indians of the United States, who are aliens, the Indians of Canada are British subjects and
entitled to all the rights and privileges of subjects, except in so far as these rights are restricted by

statute."



67. Several land dispute cases which touch on Aboriginal title, while not explicitly
focusing upon sovereignty, illustrate these points. For example, the case of St. Catharines
Milling Company involves a dispute between the Ontario and federal governments over the right
of a lumbering company to cut timber on the lands south of Wabigoon Lake. The Ontario
government was seeking to enjoin the cutting of the timber. The lumber company claimed it
obtained its timber rights from the federal government, which acquired title to the land from the
Aboriginal inhabitants. The Ontario government argued that there was "no Indian title at law or
in equity." Once again, the Aboriginal peoples were not present at the hearing, or canvassed for
their positions on the legal issues before the court. This did not stop the court from issuing what
would come to be considered the definitive ruling on Aboriginal title. In Regina v. St.
Catharines Milling Co. (1885), 10 O.R. 196 (Ont. Chancery Ct.) at 204-230, the court is
patronizing in its dismissal of Aboriginal claims: "The legal and constitutional effect of the
conquest of Quebec and the cession of Canada was to vest the soil and ownership of the public
land in the Crown, and to subject the same to the Royal prerogative. The French and Indian
populations that remained in the country became, by the terms of capitulation, the subjects of the
King. [...] Indian peoples were found scattered wide-cast over the continent, having, as a
characteristic, no fixed abodes, but moving as the exigencies of living demanded. As heathens
and barbarians it was not thought that they had any proprietary title to the soil, nor any such
claim thereto as to interfere with the plantations, and the general prosecution of colonization.
They were treated "justly and graciously,"...but no legal ownership of the land was ever

attributed to them. [...] [Quoting and adopting a United States Supreme Court ruling, Johnson v.

Mclntosh]: 'All our institutions recognize the absolute title of the Crown, subject only to the

Indian right of occupancy, and recognize the absolute title of the Crown to extinguish that right.'



This right of occupancy attached to the Indians in their tribal character. They were incapacitated
from transferring it to any stranger, though it was susceptible of being extinguished. The
exclusive power to procure its extinguishment was vested in the Crown, a power which as a rule
was exercised only on just and equitable terms. [...] While in their nomadic state they may or
may not choose to treat with the Crown for the extinction of their primitive right of occupancy.
If they refuse the government is not hampered, but has perfect liberty to proceed with the
settlement and development of the country, and so, sooner or later to displace them. [...] Before
the appropriation of reserves the Indians have no claim except upon the bounty and benevolence
of the Crown." This ruling is upheld in St. Catherine's Milling and Lumber Company v. The
Queen (1888), 14 A.C. 46 (P.C.), where the Privy Council rules at 54 that: "the tenure of the
Indians was a personal and usufructuary right, dependent on the good will of the Sovereign....
[T]here has been all along vested in the Crown a substantial and paramount estate, underlying the
Indian title, which became a plenum dominium whenever that title was surrendered or
otherwise extinguished." For a detailed discussion of this case, see S. Barry Cottam "Indian Title
as 'Celestial Institution': David Mills and the St.Catherine's Milling Case" in Kerry Abel and Jean
Friesen Aboriginal Resource Use in Canada: Historical and Legal Aspects (Winnipeg: University
of Manitoba Press, 1991) 247-65; Anthony J. Hall "The St. Catherine's Milling and Lumber

Company versus the Queen: Indian Land Rights as a Factor in Federal-Provincial Relations in

Nineteenth-Century Canada" in Abel and Friesen Aboriginal Resource Use 267-86. In Corinthe
et al. v. Seminary of St. Sulpice, [1912] A.C. 872 (P.C.), the Algonquins and Iroquois claimed
absolute ownership of the Seigniory of the Lake of Two Mountains at Montreal (Oka -
Kanesatake) on the basis that they were the descendants of the first Aboriginal occupants who

held an unextinguished Aboriginal title, and secondly, that they had acquired a title by



prescriptions, i.e. by thirty years' possession. The Privy Council denied the Aboriginal claim,
holding that the King of France granted full proprietary title to the Seminary of St. Sulpice in the
18th century in return for their agreement to found a mission on the property. See also Rex v.
Bonhomme (1917), 38 D.L.R. 647 (Exchequer Ct.), as upheld in Rex v. Bonhomme (1918), 59

S.C.R. 679.

68. William Blackstone Commentaries on the Laws of England, v.1, orig. pub. 1765-69
(republished Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1979) at 354, 357. On Riddell's expertise in

international law, see Neary "Riddell" at 8 and 16.

69. Riddell also cites Halsbury's Laws of England v.1 at 302-3: "Persons born within the
allegiance of the Crown include every one who is born within the dominions of the Crown
whatever may be the nationality of either or both of his parents...." This passage provides no
further assistance than the quotation from Blackstone, since it fails to settle the question of
whether Eliza Sero had been born "within the dominions of the Crown." "An Act to amend and
consolidate the Acts relating to British Nationality, Naturalization and Aliens" S.C. 1919, ¢.38
provides as follows: s.1(1) The following persons shall be deemed to be natural-born British

subjects, namely: -

(a) Any person born within His Majesty's dominions and allegiance; and,

(b) Any person born out of His Majesty's dominions, whose father was a British subject
at the time of that person's birth and either was born within His Majesty's allegiance or was a

person to whom a certificate of naturalization had been granted, or had become a British subject



by reason of any annexation of territory, or was at the time of that person's birth in the service of

the Crown; and,

(c) Any person born on board a British ship, whether that child was born before or after
the passing of this Act, shall be deemed to have been born within His Majesty's allegiance if
born in a place where by treaty, capitulation, grant, usage, sufferance, or other lawful means, His

Majesty exercises jurisdiction over British subjects.

The Canadian statute is premised upon two imperial statutes: "An Act to consolidate and
amend the Enactments relating to British Nationality and the Status of Aliens" (1914) 4 & 5 Geo.
V. c.17,s.1 (Eng.) and "An Act to amend the British Nationality and Status of Aliens Act, 1914"

(1918) 8 & 9 Geo. V, c.38, 5.2 (Eng.).

70. The right to exercise the suffrage is distinct from the concept of "enfranchisement," a
process that allowed First Nations' people to apply to the federal government for title to land in
"fee simple" and the erasure of their "Indian" status in law: see "An Act for the gradual
enfranchisement of Indians, the better management of Indian affairs, and to extend the provisions
of the Act 31st Victoria, Chapter 42" S.C. 1869, c.6, s.13; "The Indian Act, 1876" S.C. 1876,
c.18, 5.3(5), 86-88, 93; "An Act further to amend 'The Indian Act, 1880" S.C. 1884, ¢.27, s.16;
"The Indian Act" R.S.C. 1886, c.43, 5.2(j), 82-93; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.81, s.2(h), 107-23;
"An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1918, ¢.26, s.6; "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C.
1920, ¢.50, s.3; "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1922, ¢.26, s.1; "An Act to amend the
Indian Act" S.C. 1924, c.47, s.7; "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98, s.110-14; "An Act to amend the

Indian Act" S.C. 1933, ¢.42, s.7; "The Indian Act" S.C. 1951, ¢.29, s.12(1)(a)(iii), 108-12. The



Six Nations Confederacy opposed "enfranchisement" for multiple reasons, not least of which was
their claim to be "allies" not "subjects" of the British monarch. For an analysis of the coercive
and colonialist underpinnings of enfranchisement, see Johnston "First Nations and Canadian
Citizenship." The legal treatment of the right of "Indians" to exercise their federal suffrage
commences with "An Act respecting the Electoral Franchise" S.C. 1885, ¢.40, s.2-4, which
extends the right of suffrage to a "person" (defined as "a male person, including an Indian") who
is twenty-one years or older, "a British subject by birth or naturalization" and the owner of real
property worth $300 in a city or $200 in a town, or a tenant paying at least $20 annual rent, or a
resident deriving income of at least $300 annually, or the son of such owner of real property.
Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, v.1 "Looking Forward, Looking Back"
(Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services, 1996) notes at 299 that the right to vote was never
extended to Aboriginal people west of Ontario, despite these provisions. "An Act to repeal the
Electoral Franchise Act, and to further amend the Dominion Elections Act" S.C. 1898, ¢.14, s.5
repeals this definition of "person" and stipulates: "For the purposes of any Dominion election
held within the limits of a province, except as hereinafter otherwise provided, (a) The
qualifications necessary to entitle any person to vote thereat shall be those established by the
laws of that province as necessary to entitle such person to vote in the same part of the province
at a provincial election." See also "An Act respecting the election of members of the House of
Commons and the Electoral Franchise" R.S.C. 1906, c.6, s.6. Limited exceptions are made for
"Indians" who served in World War I, in "An Act respecting the Election of Members of the
House of Commons and the Electoral Franchise" S.C. 1920, ¢.46, s.29(1): "Save as in this Act
otherwise provided, every person, male or female, shall be qualified to vote at the election of a

member, who, not being an Indian ordinarily resident on an Indian reservation, -



(a) is a British subject by birth or naturalization; and

(b) is of the full age of twenty-one years; and

(c) has ordinarily resided in Canada for at least twelve months and in the electoral
district wherein such person seeks to vote for at least two months immediately preceding the

issue of the writ of election.

(d) provided, however, that any Indian who has served in the Naval, Military or
Air forces of Canada in the late war shall be qualified to vote, unless such Indian is otherwise

disqualified under paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this section.

$.30(1). The respective persons hereunder mentioned shall for the time specified

as to each person be disqualified and incompetent to vote at an election: --

(g) Persons who, by the laws of any province in Canada, are disqualified from
voting for a member of the Legislative Assembly of such province in respect of race, shall not be
qualified to vote in such province under the provisions of this Act: Provided however that the
provisions of this paragraph shall not disqualify or render incompetent to vote any person who
has served in the naval, military or air forces of Canada in the late war and who produces a
discharge from such naval, military or air force to the registrar upon the making of the voters'

lists and to the deputy returning officer at the time polling.

See also "An Act respecting the Election of Members of the House of Commons and the



Electoral Franchise" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.53, 5.29, 30(d). "An Act respecting the Franchise of Electors
at Elections of Members of the House of Commons" S.C. 1934, c.51, s.4 alters this wording
somewhat to read: "Provided that the following persons are disqualified from voting at an
election and incapable of being registered as electors and shall not be so registered, that is to

say--

(vi) every Esquimau person, whether born in Canada or elsewhere;

(vi1) every Indian person ordinarily resident on an Indian reservation who did not

serve in the military, naval or air forces of Canada in the war of 1914-1918;

(xi) subject to subsection two of this section, every person who is disqualified by
reason of race from voting at an election of a member of the Legislative Assembly of the
province in which he or she resides and who did not serve in the military, naval or air forces of

Canada in the war of 1914-1918;

(2) Notwithstanding anything in this section contained an Indian shall not be
incapable of being registered as an elector or be disqualified from voting at an election, except

pursuant to the seventh paragraph of subsection one of this section."

"An Act respecting the Franchise of Electors and the Election of Members of the House
of Commons" S.C. 1938, c.46, s.14(2)(f) stipulates that "Indian" is defined as "any person of
whole or part Indian blood who is entitled to receive any annuity or other benefit under any

treaty with the Crown." "An Act to amend The Dominion Elections Act, 1938" S.C. 1948, c.46,



s.6 extends the franchise to "Indians" who served in World War II and the wives of "Indians"
who served in either World War I or II. "An Act to amend The Dominion Elections Act, 1938"
S.C. 1950, c.35, s.1 enfranchises "Indians" who "executed a waiver, in a form prescribed by the
Minister of Citizenship and Immigration, of exemptions under the 'Indian Act' from taxation on
and in respect of personal property." See also "An Act to amend The Dominion Elections Act,
1938 and to change its title to The Canada Elections Act" S.C. 1951, c.3, s.6; "An Act respecting
the Franchise of Electors and the Election of Members of the House of Commons" R.S.C. 1952,
c.23, s.14. The disqualification is lifted in the "Canada Elections Act" S.C. 1960, ¢.39, s.14. See

also Richard H. Bartlett "Citizens Minus: Indians and the Right to Vote" Saskatchewan Law

Review v.44 (1980/81) 163-94.

71. In Ontario, "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly"
S.0. 1908, c.3, s.11 provides that "any male person, of the full age of twenty-one years and a
British subject by birth or naturalization resident in Ontario...shall be qualified to be a
candidate." Section 22 provides: "An unenfranchised Indian of whole or part Indian blood
residing or having his domicile among Indians or on an Indian Reserve, shall not be entitled to
have his name entered on the voters' list or to vote." See also "An Act respecting Elections of
Members of the Legislative Assembly" R.S.O. 1914, ¢.8, s.11 and 22. "Indian" soldiers are
enfranchised by "An Act to provide for the preparation of Lists of Voters at Elections to the
Assembly" S.0. 1917, ¢.5, 5.6 and "An Act to amend The Ontario Election Act" S.O. 1917, c.6.
See also "An Act respecting Elections to the Assembly" S.O. 1918, ¢.3, s.3; "An Act respecting
Elections and the Preparation of Provincial Voters' Lists" S.0. 1920, c.2, s.6 and 10; "An Act
respecting Voters' Lists" S.0. 1922, c.4. "An Act to revise and amend the Election Laws" S.O.

1926, c.4, s.19 stipulates that an "Indian, enfranchised or unenfranchised, or of whole, or part



Indian blood" who served in the naval or military forces in World War I can vote. See also "The
Election Act" R.S.0. 1927, ¢.8, s.2 and 18; "The Election Act" R.S.0. 1937, ¢.8, s.18. "The
Statute Law Amendment Act, 1939 (No. 2)" S.O. 1939, 2nd Session, c.11, s.3 adds service in
World War II. See also "An Act to amend The Election Act" S.0. 1942, c¢.13, s.3; "The Election
Act" R.S.0. 1950, ¢.112, s.18 and 22; S.0O. 1951, ¢.21, s.18, 22. "An Act to amend The Election

Act, 1951" S.0. 1954, c.25, s.4-5 eliminates the Aboriginal disqualification.

72. In its first session in 1872, the British Columbia legislature amended the
"Qualification and Registration of Voters Act" S.B.C. 1872, ¢.39, s.13 to exclude "Indians" from
the provincial vote. See also "An Act relating to an Act to make better provision for the
Qualification and Registration of Voters" S.B.C. 1875, c.2, s.1-2; "An Act to amend the
'Provincial Elections Act" S.B.C. 1901, ¢.22, s.2; "An Act to prohibit Aliens from Voting at
Municipal Elections" S.B.C. 1902, ¢.53, s.1-2; "Provincial Elections Act" S.B.C. 1903-4, c.17,
s.6. "Provincial Elections Act" S.B.C. 1920, ¢.27, s.5(1)(a) continues the exclusion, defining
"Indian" in s.2(1) as "any person of pure Indian blood, and any person of Indian extraction
having his home upon or within the confines of an Indian reserve." See also R.S.B.C. 1924,
c.76,s.2(1) and 5; R.S.B.C. 1936, c.84, s.2(1) and 5. "Provincial Elections Act" S.B.C. 1939,
c.16, s.2(1) alters the definition of "Indian" to "any person of pure North American Indian blood,
and any person of North American Indian extraction having his home upon or within the
confines of an Indian reserve," and retains the prohibition on voting in s.5. See also "Provincial
Elections Act Amendment Act" S.B.C. 1947, c.28, s.14 which gives the franchise to "Indians"
who served in "the Naval, Military or Air Force in any war," who have "been enfranchised under
the provisions of the 'Indian Act," and who are "not resident upon or within the confines of an

Indian reserve." See also R.S.B.C. 1948, ¢.106, s.2(1) and 4. The voting prohibition is deleted



in "An Act to amend the 'Provincial Elections Act™ S.B.C. 1949, c.19, s.2 and 3. There are also
legislative exclusions from exercising the municipal franchise: see "Municipality Amendment
Act" S.B.C. 1876, c.1, s.9; "Vancouver City Incorporation Act" S.B.C. 1886, ¢.32, s.8; "New
Westminster Incorporation Amendment Act" S.B.C. 1895, c.65, s.3; "Municipal Elections Act"
S.B.C. 1896, .38, s.7; "Vancouver Incorporation Act" S.B.C. 1900, c.54, s.7; "Municipal
Elections Act" S.B.C. 1908, c.14, s.13(1); "Municipal Elections Act" R.S.B.C. 1911, c.71, s.4;
R.S.B.C. 1924, c.75, s.4; R.S.B.C. 1936, c.83, s.4; R.S.B.C. 1948, c.105, s.4. First Nations'
people are also denied the right to vote in elections for school trustees: "Public Schools
Amendment Act" S.B.C. 1884, ¢.27, s.10; "Public Schools Act" S.B.C. 1885, ¢.25, s.19; "Public
Schools Act" R.S.B.C. 1897, ¢.170, s.19; "Public Schools Act" S.B.C. 1905, c.44, s.25; "Public
Schools Act" R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.206, s.31; S.B.C. 1922, c.64, s.42 and 93, defining "Indian" as
"any person who is either a full-blooded Indian, or any person with Indian blood in him who is
living the Indian life on an Indian reserve;" R.S.B.C. 1924, ¢.226, s.42 and 93; R.S.B.C. 1936,
c.253,5.93; R.S.B.C. 1948, ¢.297, s.2 and 92. First Nations' people are also barred from voting
in elections of trustees for an improvement district under the Water Act: "Water Act" S.B.C.
1914, ¢.81, s.187(1); S.B.C. 1920, c.102, s.27; R.S.B.C. 1924, ¢.271, s.199. Similar restrictions
apply to signing petitions regarding liquor licences: "An Act to amend the 'Municipal Clauses
Act" S.B.C. 1908, c.36, s.26-27; "An Act Respecting Liquor Licences and the Traffic in
Intoxicating Liquors" S.B.C. 1910, ¢.30, s.25-26; R.S.B.C. 1911, c.142, 5.24-25; R.S.B.C. 1911,

¢.170. s.349 and 354.

Since the right to hold public or professional office is limited to those on the provincial
voting list, these groups are consequently barred from jury service: "Jurors' Act" S.B.C. 1883,

c.15,s.5. They are also denied the right to run for election to the provincial legislature:



"Qualification and Registration of Voters Act" S.B.C. 1876, c.5, s.3; "Constitution Act" C.S.B.C.
1888, ¢.22, 5.30; or for municipal government: "Municipal Clauses Act" S.B.C. 1896, ¢.37, s.14-
18; "Municipal Clauses Act" S.B.C. 1906, ¢.32, s.14-18; "Municipal Act" S.B.C. 1914, c.52,
s.16-19; "Municipal Election Act" S.B.C. 1896, c.38, s.36; or for school trustee: "Public Schools
Act" S.B.C. 1885, c. 25, s.19 and 30; "Public Schools Act" S.B.C. 1891, ¢.40, s.19 and 40;
"Public Schools Act" R.S.B.C. 1897, ¢.170, s.19, 24 and 28; "Public Schools Act" S.B.C. 1905,
c.44, s.25 and 32; "Public Schools Act" R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.206, s.31 and 38; "Public Schools Act"

S.B.C. 1922, c.64, 5.37.

The case of In Re the Provincial Elections Act and in Re Tomey Homma, A Japanese

(1900), 7 B.C.R. 368 (Co. Ct.) holds these electoral exclusions to be ultra vires. This is upheld
in (1901), 8 B.C.L.R. 76 (B.C.S.C.), but reversed on appeal to the Privy Council: Cunningham v.

Tomey Homma, [1903] A.C. 151.

First Nations' men and women received the right to vote in 1949: "Provincial Elections
Act Amendment Act" S.B.C. 1949, c.19, s.3. The federal government removed its provincial
piggy-backing race provisions in 1948, providing that provincial disqualification is no longer a
reason for disqualification from the federal franchise: "Dominion Election Act" S.C. 1948, c.46,

s.6.

In Manitoba, "An Act Respecting the Election of Members of the Legislative Assembly"
R.S.M. 1892, c.49, s.14 bars "Indians or persons of Indian blood receiving an annuity or treaty
money from the Crown or who have at any time within three years prior to the said date received

such annuity or treaty money." See also "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the



Legislative Assembly" S.M. 1901, c.11, s.17; "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the
Legislative Assembly" R.S.M. 1902, c.52, s.19; "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the
Legislative Assembly" R.S.M. 1913, ¢.59, s.19. "An Act respecting the Election of Members to
the Legislative Assembly" S.M. 1931, ¢.10, s.16(5) enfranchises "Indians" who had fought in
World War I. See also "An Act respecting the Election of Members to the Legislative
Assembly" R.S.M. 1940, ¢.57, s.15 and 16(5). The Aboriginal disqualification is removed in

"An Act to amend The Manitoba Election Act" S.M. 1952, c.18, s.5-6.

In Saskatchewan, see "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative
Assembly" S.S. 1908, c¢.2,s.11; R.S.S. 1909, ¢.3, s.11; R.S.S. 1920, c.3, 5.12; R.S.S. 1930, c .4,
s.12; R.S.S. 1940, c.4,s.12. "An Act to amend The Liquor License Act" S.S. 1909, ¢.38
prohibits Indians from voting on local by-law options. "Indians" who served in the war are
allowed to vote in 1946: "An Act to amend the Saskatchewan Election Act" S.S. 1946, ¢.3, s.1.
See also S.S. 1948, c.4; S.S. 1951, c.3, 5.29; R.S.S. 1953, c.4, 5.29. The Aboriginal prohibition is

removed in "An Act to amend The Saskatchewan Election Act" S.S. 1960, ¢.45, s.1.

In Prince Edward Island, "The Election Act, 1913" S.P.E.I. 1913, ¢.2, s.31 stipulates that
a voter must be a "male person being a British subject of the age of twenty-one years or upwards
who owns real property within the Electoral District in which he claims to have a vote, of the
value of Three hundred and Twenty-five dollars, and who has owned and been in possession of
the same for a period of at least six months previous to the teste of the writ of such election."”
"An Act to Amend the Election Act, 1913" S.P.E.L. 1919, c.1, 5.8 amends this by granting the
vote to: "Every male person who, being a British subject whether or not a minor or an Indian, has

been, while within or without Canada, appointed, enlisted, enrolled or called out for and placed



on active service as one of the Canadian Expeditionary Force, the Royal Canadian Navy, the
Canadian Militia on Active Service, or the Royal Naval Canadian Volunteer Reserve, or has
been, while within Canada, appointed, enlisted or enrolled, as one of the British Royal Flying
Corps, Royal Naval Air Service, Army Medical Service or Auxiliary Motor Boat Patrol Service,
whether as officer, soldier, sailor, dentist, aviator, mechanician or otherwise, and who has been
on active service without Canada in any of the forces or services, Military or Naval, of His
Majesty or if his allies, at any time during the period of the Great War which commenced in
1914, and who remains one of any of such forces or services or has been honorably discharged
therefrom, or, in the case of an officer, who has been permitted to resign, or without fault on his
part, has had his services dispensed with shall be entitled to vote." "The Election Act, 1922"
S.P.E.L. 1922, c.5, 5.32 provides the first explicit prohibition of Aboriginal voting, stating:
"Every person, male or female, except an Indian ordinarily resident in an Indian reservation,
shall be entitled to vote at an election to be held for the election of an Assemblyman to represent
in the Legislative Assembly of this Province any Electoral District." "An Act to Provide for a
Plebiscite on Questions Relating to the Control and Suppression of Traffic in Alcoholic Liquors"
S.P.E.I. 1929, c.15, 5.6 prohibits votes by an "Indian normally resident upon an Indian
Reservation" except those who served in World War I. "An Act to Amend 'The Election Act,
1922 S.P.E.I. 1946, c.10, s.2 extends voting rights to "Indians" who served in World War II.
See also "The Election Act" R.S.P.E.I. 1951, ¢.48, s.8-9. "The Election Act" S.P.E.I. 1963, c.11

repeals the Aboriginal prohibition.

New Brunswick prohibits "Indians" from voting in "An Act to consolidate and amend the
Law relating to Elections to the General Assembly" S.N.B. 1889, c.3, s.24. See also "Of the

Legislature" C.S.N.B. 1903, c.3; "An Act respecting Elections to the Legislative Assembly"



S.N.B. 1916, c.15, s.6; "Respecting Elections to the Legislative Assembly" R.S.N.B. 1927, c.4,
s.6; "An Act respecting Elections to the Legislative Assembly" S.N.B. 1938, c.15,5.6. "An Act
respecting Elections to the Legislative Assembly" S.N.B. 1944, c.8, s.34(2) states: "The
following persons are disqualified from voting and incapable of being registered as electors and
shall not vote nor be registered, that is to say [...] (d) every Indian person ordinarily resident on
an Indian reservation: Provided that this clause shall not apply to an Indian who has served or is
serving in His Majesty's armed forces." See also R.S.N.B. 1952, ¢.70, s.34. "An Act to Amend

The Elections Act" S.N.B. 1963, c.7 repealed the Aboriginal prohibition.

In Alberta, "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly" S.A.
1909, c.3, s.2(12) defines "Indian" as "all persons of Indian blood who belong or are reputed to
belong to any band or irregular band of Indians" and prohibits them from voting in s.10(4). See
also "An Act Respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly" C.S.A. 1915, c.3,
s.10; "An Act respecting Elections of Members of the Legislative Assembly" R.S.A. 1922, c.4,
s.10; "An Act respecting the Election of Members of the Legislative Assembly" S.A. 1924, c.34,
s.15; "An Act respecting the Election of Members of the Legislative Assembly" R.S.A. 1942,
c.5,s.16. "An Act respecting the Election of Members of the Legislative Assembly" S.A. 1956,
c.15, s.16 disqualifies "a person, wholly or partly of Indian blood and ordinarily resident on an
Indian reservation, who is entitled to receive any annuity or other benefit under any treaty with
the Crown in the right of Canada, unless he was a member of Her Majesty's Forces during World
War I or World War 11, or was a member of the Canadian Forces who served on active service
subsequent to the ninth day of September, 1950." The Aboriginal disqualification is removed in
"An Act to amend The Election Act" S.A. 1965, ¢.23, s.2. "An Act to amend The Government

Liquor Control Act of Alberta" S.A. 1927, .35, s.59 prohibits "Indians" from voting in local



plebiscites on prohibition; see also R.S.A. 1942, ¢.24, 5.60; S.A. 1953, c.67, s.118; R.S.A. 1955,

c.179, s.118.

"An Ordinance respecting Elections" Ord. N.-W.T. 1905, p. 259,  s.39 provides: "The
persons qualified to vote at an election for the Legislative Assembly shall be the male British
subjects by birth or naturalisation (other than unenfranchised Indians) who have attained the full
age of twenty-one years...." See also "An Ordinance to amend Chapter 2 of The Consolidated
Ordinances 1898, intituled 'An Ordinance respecting the Legislative Assembly of the

Territories™ Ord. N.-W.T. 1905, p.618.

"An Act to amend the Quebec Election Act" S.Q. 1915, ¢.17, s.5 prohibits: "Indians and
individuals of Indian blood domiciled on land reserved for Indians or for any band of Indians, or
held in trust for them, whether or not such reserve is within the boundaries of a municipality."
See also "An Act Respecting the Election of Members of the Legislative Assembly" R.S.Q.
1925, c.4, s.14; "An Act respecting the election of members of the Legislative Assembly" S.Q.
1936 (2nd Sess.) .8, s.13; "An Act Respecting the Election of Members of the Legislative
Assembly" R.S.Q. 1941, c.5, s.13; "An Act respecting elections for the Legislative Assembly"
S.Q. 1942, c.13, s.35; "Quebec Election Act" S.Q. 1945, c.15, 5.48; "Election Act" S.Q. 1963,
c.13,5.48; R.S.Q. 1964, c.7, s.48. The Aboriginal disqualification is removed in "An Act to

amend the Election Act" S.Q. 1969, c.13, s.1.

There were no express prohibitions on Aboriginal voting in the province of Nova Scotia

or in Newfoundland: see Report of the Royal Commission at 300.



73. Sero v. Gault at 332-3. On Iroquoian Huron and Six Nations' agricultural expertise,
see Olive Patricia Dickason "For Every Plant There is a Use" in Abel and Friesen Aboriginal

Resource Use 11-34, and Dickason Canada's First Nations at 38-9 and 69: "[T]he New World

domesticated plants that made such a contribution to world agriculture were all...developed by
Amerindian farmers. The two best-known of these are corn (maize) and potatoes, although such
items as tomatoes, peanuts, pineapples, and cacao...are not far behind. More than 100 species of
plants routinely farmed today were originally grown by Amerindians." Reaman Trail of the
Iroquois Indians notes at 19-20 the "great contribution towards food discoveries" from Iroquois
horticulture, including the production of "15 to 17 distinct varieties of maize," "60 varieties of
beans and about 8 native squashes." On First Nations' traditional agricultural expertise in the
west of Canada, see Sarah Carter Lost Harvests: Prairie Indian Reserve Farmers and Government

Policy (Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 1990) at 37-41, 49.

74. Sero v. Gault at 333. W.M. Beauchamp "The Journal of American Folk-Lore" (1900)

republished in Spittal Iroquois Women at 42, refers to the ceremonial importance of a seine

fishing net to the Huron in 1636, recounting an incident involving the placing of a seine between
two girls, aged six and seven, who were virgins, to make it lucky in taking fish. The oldest
known fishing net in the world was discovered by archaeologists on the Peruvian coast, dating
back 8800 years. See Dietrich Sahrhage and Johannes Lundbeck A History of Fishing (New
York: Springer-Verlag, 1992) at 17-26. On Lord Dorchester's provision of seine nets, see
"Argument" His Worship Magistrate T.Y. Wills, Rex vs. Hill, document in possession of

William Isaac "Ike" Hill, copy on file with the author.

75. Sero v. Gault at 330-3, citing "an official letter" from Robinson to Robert Wilmot




Horton, Under Secretary of State for War and Colonies, 14 March 1824, located in the Canadian
Archives, Q.337, pt.II, p.367-8. Like many judges who refused to support legal claims of
racialized peoples during this period, Riddell added a caveat to his conclusion: "Of course, |
deal only with the law as I find it, and express no opinion as to the generosity, wisdom, or
advisability of the legislation." See Robert A. Williams, Jr. "The Algebra of Federal Indian Law:
The Hard Trail of Decolonizing and Americanizing the White Man's Indian Jurisprudence"

Wisconsin Law Review (1986) 219-299, for a critique of the alienating norms imposed upon

First Nations' communities by Euro-centric visions of justice.

76. PAC RG10, v.2285, file 57-169-1A, Pt.2. I am indebted to Sheila Staats for bringing

this correspondence to my attention.

77. Paul Tennant Aboriginal Peoples and Politics (Vancouver: University of British
Columbia Press, 1990) notes at 93, 111-13 that Duncan Campbell Scott proposed in 1924 to
prohibit the right of Aboriginal people to pay their lawyers to pursue claims without government
approval. "An Act to amend the Indian Act" S.C. 1926-27, ¢.32, 5.6 provides: "Every person
who, without the consent of the Superintendent General expressed in writing, receives, obtains,
solicits or requests from any Indian any payment or contribution or promise of any payment or
contribution for the purpose of raising a fund or providing money for the prosecution of any
claim which the tribe or band of Indians to which such Indian belongs, or of which he is a
member, has or is represented to have for the recovery of any claim or money for the benefit of
the said tribe or band, shall be guilty of an offence and liable upon summary conviction for each
such offence to a penalty not exceeding two hundred dollars and not less than fifty dollars or to

imprisonment for any term not exceeding two months." See also "Indian Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.98,



s.141. The prohibition on fund-raising is not removed until the enactment of "The Indian Act"

S.C. 1951, ¢.29.

78. Irving Powless, Jr. "The Sovereignty and Land Rights of the Houdenosaunee" in
Vecsey and Starna Iroquois Land Claims at 155-161. For information about Six Nations'
sovereignty claims south of the border in 1919, see Onondaga Historical Association Official
Record of Indian Conference (Syracuse, New York: 1919). See also Patricia E. Doyle-Bedwell
"The Evolution of the Legal Test of Extinguishment: From Sparrow to Gitskan" Canadian

Journal of Women and the Law v.6 (1993) 193-204, in which a Mi'kmaq woman expresses her

concern over the racist ethnocentricity of the dominant legal culture in its analysis of First

Nations' land claims.

79. Monture-Angus states in Thunder in my Soul at 211: "Traditional Mohawk people

assert that we have never lost or surrendered our sovereignty. Sovereignty has a meaning that is
not synonymous with western definition. To be sovereign is one's birthright. It is simply to live
in a way which respects our tradition and culture. Sovereignty must be lived, and that is all."
Quoting Oren Lyons, a member of the Hodenosaunee Confederacy, Monture-Angus continues at
229: "Sovereignty -- it's a political word. It's not a legal word. Sovereignty is the act.
Sovereignty is the do. You act. You don't ask. There are no limitations on sovereignty. You

"

are not semi-sovereign. You are not a little sovereign. You either are or you aren't." [cited in
Richard Hill "Oral History of the Haudenosaunee: Views of the Two Row Wampum" in Jose
Bartreiro ed. Indian Roots of American Democracy (New York: Akweikon Press, 1992) at 175.]

See also Sidney L. Harring Crow Dog's Case: American Indian Sovereignty, Tribal Law, and

United States Law in the Nineteenth Century (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1994) at




292, where he notes: "The vitality of the nineteenth-century Indian law lies in the reality that the
tribes never let their sovereignty be determined by any case or trusted that question to any judge.
The way that the federal courts analyzed the doctrine of federal Indian law was of great concern
to the tribes, but they never let those outcomes define tribal sovereignty. The tribes have resisted
in every conceivable way. They lost often and lost badly. But these cases do not have to be
cited as precedents in U.S. law to have legal meaning to the Indian people. These cases are

remembered: the people who remember them know that they stand for tribal sovereignty."

80. Anglican Diocese of Ontario burial records show the date of burial for Eliza Sero, age

68, of Tyendinaga, as 19 January 1937.

81. Another Tyendinaga Mohawk fisherman, William Isaac "lke" Hill, was charged in the
fall of 1950 for possessing a seine net on the Tyendinaga Territory without a license, contrary to
the provincial "Game and Fisheries Act." Although convicted in the first instance, ke Hill was
able to secure an acquittal on the ground that there was no supporting federal legislation
prohibiting the possession of that type of net. Ike Hill's defense was argued, in part, on the claim
of Mohawk sovereignty, and his lawyer reminded the court of the Simcoe Deed of 1793, noting
that Lord Dorchester made provision to outfit the Six Nations' allies with seine nets in 1789,
several years after they settled into their new Upper Canadian homes. The following passages
from the "Argument" His Worship Magistrate T.Y. Wills, Rex vs. Hill, document in possession

of William Isaac "Ike" Hill, copy on file with the author, make the sovereignty arguments:

Quoting from Niagara Historical Society No. 40, 1884 - 90 by Brigadier General E.A.

Cruikshank, Letter from Lord Dorchester to Sir John Johnson, Quebec, 28th June 1789. "It is



not in our power to supply the Indians at the Grand River and at Buffalo Creek with provisions
as we are in great want ourselves but I approve of a seine being given to each of those
settlements if you think it reasonable." [...] It is quite clear that the Mohawk Indians were given a
territory that the south side has never been determined. They were allowed to fish with seines as
a net was given to each of the Six Nations. To the present day the Dominion Government has
never made it clear to the Indians how they are to fish. The Ontario Government has been
infringing little by little on the rights of the Indians that were given for services rendered with the
understanding that they and their descendants would have a sanctuary. I submit, further, that it is
unfair to have this matter decided in the courts as it leaves such a responsibility on the shoulders
of the Magistrate because if the right of an Indian, a member of the Band, on his own reserve
cannot have a net of any kind without it being seized they have no rights of any kind and it is a
mockery to have a reserve. [...] To take away the few privileges that the Indians have, after it was
so clearly given to them, for all time is breaking the word of the King to them and if the people
who gave the land to the Indians as a sanctuary were here today and could give their decision |

feel sure there would be no doubt as to the result."

Although the outcome in Hill's case was a positive one, the court decided the case on the
constitutional division of powers. The judge ignored the sovereignty arguments, cited the Sero
case, and even went so far as to eulogize William Renwick Riddell as "a very eminent Judge."

See R. v. Hill (1951), 14 C.R. 266 (Ont. Co. Ct.).

The Six Nations of Grand River remained adamant about their sovereignty, and
continued to raise the issue in various domestic and international forums. In the summer of

1921, a delegate of the Six Nations took the status question directly to the King of England, and



the case was raised before the League of Nations in Geneva in 1923 and 1924, in London,
England in 1930, and in San Francisco before the United Nations in 1945. In the summer of
1928, a Six Nations' declaration of independence, which renounced allegiance to Canada and to
the British Crown, received international press coverage: Correspondence to His Majesty King
George the Fifth from Deskaheh, Speaker of the Ho-De-No-Sau-Nees Confederation of the
Grand River, 22 October 1924, and "The Redman's Appeal for Justice" to the Hon. Sir James
Eric Drummond, Secretary-General of the League of Nations, Geneva, from Deskaheh, Sole
Deputy and Speaker of the Six Nations Council, PAC RG10, v.2285, 57,169-1A and 1B; Titley
A Narrow Vision chapter 7; Simon "Haldimand Agreement" at 47-8; Benincasa "Cultural
Divisions and the Politics of Control;" Edmund Wilson Apologies to the Iroquois (Syracuse,
New York: Syracuse University Press, 1992) at 252-8; Graymont ed. Fighting Tuscarora at 58-
68; "The Indians Appeal to King George" and "Indian Not Ready for the Franchise" Kingston

British Whig Standard 23 March 1921, p.1.

In 1959, a Grand River Mohawk woman took the claim back into the Ontario Courts. In

Logan v. Styres (1959), 20 D.L.R. (2d) 416, [1959] O.W.N. 361, 5 Canadian Native Law Cases
261 (Ont. High Ct.), Verna Logan asserted that the Six Nations had come to Canada "to settle on
these lands in the spirit and in the understanding that we were doing so as a sovereign people,"
and that the Six Nations "never were and are not today subjects of the Crown." Verna Logan, a
Mohawk of the Wolf Clan, the daughter of Jack Kick and Sarah Doxtador and the wife of Chief
Joseph Logan, Jr., was an educator in the methods of producing traditional Mohawk pottery: see
Reaman Trail of the Iroquois Indians at 115. Verna Logan was attempting to prevent a surrender
of part of the Six Nations' territory that had been authorized by a federal government order-in-

council and approved by the elected band councillors. She argued that the Parliament of Canada



had no "legislative authority" over the Six Nations, and that the traditional hereditary chiefs, who
opposed the land surrender, were the legitimate governing structure for the Six Nations. For
some discussion of the federal government's attempts to impose elected government upon the Six
Nations, and the opposing efforts to maintain a hereditary system, in which the chiefs were

nominated by the Clan mothers, see Titley A Narrow Vision chapter 7. For a discussion of the

1959 dispute, see Annemarie Shimony "Conflict and Continuity: An Analysis of an Iroquois
Uprising" in Foster et al. Extending the Rafters 153-64, Cork Worst of the Bargain; Wilson

Apologies to the Iroquois at 260-69 and clippings file on the 1959 case, located in the Woodland

Cultural Centre Library, Brantford, Ontario. Cork notes at 52-3 that the wampum confirming the
Covenant Chain was produced at the trial, where Herbert Martin testified that it was the original
wampum, brought from Onondaga and hidden in a Quebec forest for nearly a century, until it
was placed in the possession of the Keeper of the Wampum at Grand River. Its authenticity and
meaning were challenged by defense counsel, under the legal rules of hearsay. The Ontario High
Court, in keeping with Canadian judicial tradition, overruled Verna Logan's claim, holding the
Haldimand deed to be "not in any sense a treaty," and concluding that when they settled on the
Grand River Territory, the Six Nations "accept[ed] the protection of the Crown" and had
transferred their status from "faithful allies" to "loyal subjects." A similar argument was made in

an earlier case, Point v. Dibblee Construction Co. I.td., [1934] 2 D.L.R. 785, O.R. 142, O.W.N.

88 (Ont. High Ct.). There the elected council of the St. Regis Akwesasne reserve voted to permit
the construction of a roadway across Cornwall Island. The plaintiff, representing the "life
chiefs," sought to block the construction. The court rejected the plaintiff's claim, noting at 146
and 150 that the life chiefs could not exercise any powers under the "Indian Act," and could not

claim to represent "all the Indians of the St. Regis Indian Reserve."
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4. The first anti-Chinese immigration laws were passed in British Columbia, but
disallowed by the federal government. See "An Act to prevent the Immigration of Chinese"
S.B.C. 1884, c.3, which prohibits the entry of Chinese individuals into the province, with a
penalty of $50 or six months' imprisonment. "An Act to prevent the Immigration of Chinese"
S.B.C. 1885, c.13 contains similar provisions. For details regarding the subsequent

disallowance, see G.V. La Forest Disallowance and Reservation of Provincial [egislation

(Ottawa: Department of Justice, 1955) at 89-90. Additional anti-Chinese legislation, "An Act to
Regulate the Chinese Population of British Columbia" S.B.C. 1884, c.4, imposes an annual ten
dollar tax on all Chinese residents, prohibits the exhumation of Chinese bodies, prohibits the
issuance of licenses to the Chinese for various occupations, bans the use of opium for non-
medical purposes, and specifies the minimum size and ventilation of rooms inhabited by Chinese
people. This was held ultra vires. See also "Crown Land Act" S.B.C. 1884, ¢.2, and S.B.C.
1908, ¢.30, s.127 preventing the Chinese from acquiring Crown lands. Earlier taxation statutes
were directed explicitly against the Chinese: S.B.C. 1878, c.35 (disallowed). See also Tai Sing
v. Maguire (1878), 1 B.C.R. 101; R. v. Wing Chong (1885), 1 B.C.R. 150; R. v. Gold
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Act to regulate Immigration into British Columbia" S.B.C. 1905, ¢.28; "An Act to Regulate



Immigration into British Columbia" S.B.C. 1907, c.21A; "An Act to Regulate Immigration into
British Columbia" S.B.C. 1908, c.23. See also In Re Nakane and Okazake (1908), 8 W.L.R. 19;

13 B.C.R. 370 (B.C.S.C.) and Rex v. Narain (1908), 7 W.L.R. 781; 8 W.L.R. 790 (B.C.S.C.); In_

re Narain Singh et al. (1908), 13 B.C.R. 477 (B.C.S.C.). Each of these acts was eventually
disallowed by a federal government increasingly anxious not to jeopardize its diplomatic
relations with the commercially powerful, military nation of Japan, whose citizens were equally
disadvantaged by the new laws. The time lag between enactment and disallowance, however,
meant that in actual practice the anti-Asian legislation was in force in British Columbia more
often than not during the years from 1900 to 1908. The federal government enacted its own
legislation imposing a head tax of $50 on Chinese immigrants in 1885: "Chinese Immigration
Act" S.C. 1885, c.71, s.4. This was raised to $100 in 1900: "An Act respecting and restricting
Chinese Immigration" S.C. 1900, c.32. In 1903, it was increased to $500: "An Act respecting
and restricting Chinese immigration" S.C. 1903, v.I, ¢.8. Similar legislation applied in
Newfoundland, which was at this time a separate and independent colony: "An Act respecting
the Immigration of Chinese Persons" S.Nfld. 1906, c.2; "An Act to amend 6 Edward VII, Cap. 2,
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Canadian National Council Jin Guo: Voices of Chinese Canadian Women (Toronto: Women's
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Nanaimo Free Press 5 April 1904. A British Columbia journal sums it up: "It is when we
contemplate these unnatural unions that we find the kernel of the Asiatic problem - the mixing of
the races. Race mixture is the essential danger of the Asiatic occupation of this country for race
mixture means race deterioration." On the American marriages, see "Twelve White Women Brides
of Orientals" Regina Leader 11 November 1911, p.4, which recounts one of the wedding nuptials as
follows: "When they entered the office of the justice of the peace [the couple] sat down side by side
and neither looked at the other for five minutes, while the justice was filling out papers. He studied

the design of the linoleum, while she looked far away out the window. ... When the two stood up



and clasped hands, [the male bridegroom] was silent and looked straight ahead into vacancy. He
did not answer the questions asked. [The bride] merely laughed her assent." The report emphasizes
that the women concerned were widows, one significantly older than the man she was marrying,
and that none would agree to having their pictures taken. One bride, it notes, "seemed to be the
financial agent of her husband and carried the family purse in a large wallet." The "Don't Wed"
headline appeared on Regina Morning Leader 8 January 1912, p.2, quoting a recently-divorced
white American woman: "I know...enough to give advice to other American girls, and it is never to
marry people of Oriental origin or with Oriental strains in the blood. They can never understand

each other and the woman will be the one who suffers."

53. "Shocking Fate of White Girls" Regina Morning Leader 5 September 1912, p.9. Mosher
Discrimination and Denial describes at 79-80 the criminal conviction of missionary Robert Brown,
after he conducted a marriage ceremony between a Chinese man and a white woman, on charges
that he had no qualifications to perform the service because the "First Christian Chinese Church,
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waitress for several months, was taken from the same room to the police station. The white Acting



Chief of Police, Silliker, determined that the couple had travelled to Lethbridge to be married, but
upon their arrival, Mah Wing changed his mind and took his fiancee to a lodging house instead.
Janet Given was reportedly reluctant to speak to the police, and told them that "she did not consider
it anyone's business if she wanted to be the sweetheart of a Chinaman. Since I have been in Wing's
employ, he has treated me better than I have been used to. He has promised to marry me and that is
the reason that we made the trip to Lethbridge." The news report hastened to point out that Miss
Given was "of rather prepossessing appearance" and "during her rambling conversation made the
statement that she came to this country for the purpose of marrying as soon as possible." There is
no legal report of further proceedings, but presumably the police arrested Mah Wing on the theory
that he could be charged with some sort of procuring offence, after he booked a hotel room with a
woman who was not yet his wife. The inter-racial nature of the relationship clearly motivated the
arrest, revealing how authorities could manufacture indirect legal impediments to inter-racial
marriage when direct legal bars were not available. In 1930, the Halifax police arrested a Chinese
man and his white bride after the bride's mother alleged her daughter's name was forged on the
marriage certificate. Lee Chong and his "girl bride," Dorothy Isabel Dauphinee, were arrested a few
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November 1930. I am indebted to Michael Boudreau for bringing the Halifax news item to my

attention.
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Saturday Night magazine published an editorial praising American legal prohibitions on racial
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August 1925).

56. "An Act to Prevent the Employment of Female Labour in Certain Capacities" S.S. 1912,
c.17. First reading was held 26 February 1912, second reading on 1 March 1912, and debate and
third reading on 4 March 1912. Royal assent was received on 15 March 1912, with the act
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Regina Daily Standard 2 March 1912; "Bills Are Made Law by Lt. Governor" Regina Leader 16

March 1912.

57. Leyton-Brown "Discriminatory Legislation." The Moose Jaw Evening Times 1 May
1912, p.1 announced that the Chinese held a mass meeting to discuss the act, and intended to keep
on their white female employees until legal advice could be obtained. Frank Yee, the Grand Master
of the Chinese Masonic Order in western Canada enlisted the support of Dr. Sun Yat-sen, the
successful leader of the 1911 Chinese Revolution, who wrote to Yee from China. Portions of Dr.

Sun Yat-sen's letter were published in the Regina Leader on 13 May 1912, promising that the

Chinese consul from Ottawa would visit Regina soon to investigate the situation. The letter
threatened that if the act were enforced, Chinese cities would boycott Canadian goods and Pacific
shipping would be decimated by the withdrawal of Chinese labour: "Dr. Sun Urges Fight Against
White Help Law" Regina Leader 13 May 1912, p.1; Regina Morning Leader 8 January 1912, p.9;

Regina Daily Province 13 May 1912, p.1. Sun Yat-sen was quite familiar with the Chinese



situation in Canada, since he had made several successful fund-raising visits to western Canada in
previous years and Chinese-Canadians played a large role in financing revolutionary activities in
China: Anthony B. Chan "The Myth of the Chinese Sojourner in Canada" in K. Victor Ujimoto and
Gordon Hirabyashi, eds. Visible Minorities and Multiculturalism: Asians in Canada (Toronto:
Butterworths, 1980) at 33-42. No such visit materialized; "Dr. Wong Not Going to Moose Jaw, as
Reported" Saskatoon Star-Phoenix 14 May 1912, p.10; "Chinese Will Fight the Act" Regina Daily
Province 16 May 1912, p.7. The threat also appears to have been ineffective: "The Oriental
Problem" Saskatoon Daily Star 15 May 1912, p.2. Ten years earlier the Canadian Royal
Commission on Chinese and Japanese Immigration concluded that "the evidence adduced and the
experience of the United States in this regard indicate that further restriction or exclusion will not
affect the trade of Canada with China:" Report of the Royal Commission on Chinese and Japanese
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ready to fight the legislation, which they saw as a "curtailment of their liberties" under "international
law;" "Moose Jaw Japs to Fight Labor Laws" Regina Morning Leader 10 May 1912, p.1; "Japs at
Moose Jaw to Test Labor Law" Saskatoon Star-Phoenix 10 May 1912, p.7; "Moose Jaw Japs Fight
Labor Law" Regina Daily Province 10 May 1912, p.1. Mr. N. Nakane, Japanese proprietor of the
Carlton Cafe in Moose Jaw, wrote to Attorney General Turgeon on 5 March 1912, to complain
about the Saskatchewan enactment as an "insult to the honour of Japan." Turgeon replied on 28
March 1912: "It is certainly regrettable that any law of the Province should be found objectionable
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put through, in so far at least as some of the people affected by it were concerned, not so much to
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elsewhere." Turgeon Papers, S.A.B., General Correspondence 1911-12 "N" box 9, 325-28. Nakane
sought an amendment to remove the Japanese from the legislation on the ground that there were
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#249, contains correspondence between the Saskatchewan Lieutenant-Governor, the federal
Secretary of State, and Mr. Fu Ping Tien, Acting Chinese Consul-General, noting that the Japanese
were exempt because they were few in number and rarely engaged in the occupations covered by
the act. Justice Walter Surma Tarnopolsky and William F. Pentney Discrimination and the Law
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59. "An Act to prevent the employment of Female Labor in certain capacities" S.M.
1913, ¢.19. The Manitoba statute stipulates that it is only to come into force "upon proclamation
of the Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council." All indications are that it was never actually
proclaimed. R.S.M. 1913, Schedules B and C, list the statute as unproclaimed, and there is no
reference to it in the listing of proclaimed statutes in the yearly volumes of legislation between
1913 and 1940. Lai Chinatowns claims at 94 that the failure to proclaim resulted from the
opposition mounted by the Chinese communities, who united to fight these statutes throughout

the late 1910s. The 1913 act is not contained in the Revised Statutes of Manitoba 1913, the



Consolidated Statutes of Manitoba 1924, or the Revised Statutes of Manitoba 1940. It is
expressly repealed in "An Act to repeal certain Enactments which have become Obsolete" S.M.
1940, c¢.35. See also "Canadian Laws Governing the Employment of Women" an undated
memorandum prepared by the federal Department of Labour, appended to correspondence dated
28 September 1928, Public Archives of Canada [hereafter PAC] RG2S, v.1524, file 867,
"Employment of Women by Chinese in Canada, correspondence and memoranda" which states
that "at the last session of the Legislature of [Manitoba], [in 1923] a clause was added to the
Winnipeg City Charter enabling that city to pass by-laws prohibiting the employment, except by
special license of any female person in any hotel, restaurant, refreshment or entertainment room
or laundry, owned, managed or conducted by a Chinese person." Gunter Baureiss and Leo
Driedger "Winnipeg Chinatown: Demographic, Ecological and Organizational Change, 1900-
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61. "An Act to amend The Factory, Shop and Office Building Act" S.O. 1914, ¢.40,
s.2(1), states: "No Chinese person shall employ in any capacity or have under his direction or
control any female white person in any factory, restaurant or laundry." Section 2(2) provides
that "subsection 1 shall not come into force until a day to be named by proclamation of the
Lieutenant-Governor in Council." Apparently the intention was to wait until the question of
constitutionality was resolved in the pending Quong Wing case. [See discussion of Quong Wing

below.] The Toronto Globe notes on 8 April 1914, p.1: "Hon. James Duff's bill to amend

factory, shop and office building act passed through Committee and it was agreed to proclaim the
clause regarding employment of women by orientals should Privy Council decision in
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as constitutional, actual proclamation in Ontario did not occur until 2 November 1920, with the
provision to come into effect 1 December 1920. A copy of the unpublished order-in-council is
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formerly titled the Journals of Executive Council Ontario Consolidated Index No. 6, 1 Nov. 1919
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force section 31. Factory & Shops Act (re employment of white women by Chinese)." A lobby
from organized labour seems to have been central to the proclamation. The Ontario Cabinet
Order-in-Council notes that the proclamation is "upon the recommendation of the Honourable
the Minister of Labour." "Law Prohibits Working of White Girls with Chinese" Labour 8
September 1928, notes: "Labour has long sought this regulation and it expects the Ontario
government to enforce the law." When the act was reprinted in the Revised Statutes of Ontario
1927, as "The Factory, Shop and Office Building Act" R.S.0. 1927, ¢.275, s.30, the
proclamation subsection was no longer included. This seems to have caused some surprise, since
few authorities appear to have been aware of the proclamation: see PAC RG25, v.1524, file 867,
"Employment of Women by Chinese in Canada, correspondence and memoranda" where
provincial and federal officials, newspapers and agents of the Chinese consulate state that no
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strenuous representations from the Chinese Consulate General in Ottawa, the Ontario legislature



passed an amendment, S.0. 1929, ¢.72, s.5, reinserting the proclamation requirement and making
it retroactive to 31 December 1927, the day in which the Revised Statutes of 1927 came into
force. "End This Stupid Statute" Toronto Globe 2 October 1928; "White Girls Cannot Work for
Orientals" Toronto Star 22 August 1928. The provisions continue in this form under S.O. 1932,
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Correspondence from the Ontario Deputy Attorney General suggests that the provincial
government made no efforts at enforcement, but that the Mayor and Board of Control of Toronto
may have done so indirectly, by refusing to issue licences to Chinese businessmen who
employed white women: "Employment of Women by Chinese in Canada" PAC file. Newspaper
reports indicate that some city councils refused to issue licences to Chinese cafes employing
white women: "Refuse Woman License to Run Chinese Cafe" Sudbury Star 6 October 1926,

p.16.

61. In 1919, a concerned official of the Retail Merchants' Association complained that
hard times had led "our own Canadian people" to shop at Asian stores, lured by low prices,
attractive displays and convenient hours. That year the provincial president of the Retail

Merchants' Association proposed that merchants "from the Atlantic to the Pacific...present a



united front to make this a white man's country." White merchants toyed with the idea of
segregated business districts and the wholesale denial of business licences to the Chinese, but
organized labour in British Columbia sought a "white women's labour bill" instead. The
Vancouver Trades and Labour Council lobbied to "disallow the employment of white women
alongside Asian men," and the Hotel and Restaurant Employees' Union tried repeatedly to
persuade city hall to disallow the employment of white women in Chinese restaurants: Patricia E.
Roy "Protecting Their Pocketbooks and Preserving Their Race: White Merchants and Oriental
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riots and physical violence directed against several laundries in 1892 in Calgary, and against a
Chinese restaurant in 1907 in Lethbridge. In 1911, some of the white proprietors of laundries in
Lethbridge complained that Chinese laundries were operating too close to the town centre, and
the City Council enacted by-law no.83 to restrict them to less commercially attractive areas.
Earlier attempts in 1904 to prohibit more Chinese laundries in Calgary resulted in discriminatory
by-laws, but due to the resistance of the Chinese community, these were never enforced. In 1913,
it was proposed that all the Chinese in Calgary should be photographed and fingerprinted for

identification purposes, and that there should be widespread boycotts and refusals to sell them
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amend The Restaurant Act" S.A. 1930, c.10, and "An Act to Provide for the Registration and

Licensing of Trades, Businesses and Occupations" S.A. 1936, c.67.

In Quebec, "An Act to amend the Quebec License Law relating to public
laundries" S.Q. 1915, ¢.22 increases licence and inspection fees for public laundries. While
laundries operated by charitable organizations, corporate enterprises and those run by "a
laundress...alone or with members of her family" are exempt, others (including those of Chinese
men) are subject to fees as high as fifty dollars: Joseph F. Krauter and Morris Davis Minority
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63. White alderman W.J. O'Toole spoke enthusiastically to a Progressive Club luncheon
in 1929 about a proposed bill to prohibit the employment of white women in Chinese restaurants,
insisting that the "guardians of the race" had to be kept out of the "clutches of the Chinese;"
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enactment. Lai Chinatown notes at 101 that there were no Chinatowns in the Atlantic provinces
during these years, and that the Chinese communities in the east were very small. However,
there was severe racial discrimination against the Chinese in the Atlantic provinces in the first
half of the 20th century. Michael S. Boudreau "Crime and Society in a City of Order: Halifax
1918-1935" Ph.D. Thesis (Queen's University: 1996) notes at 450 that the Halifax Herald 6 July
1918 published an article captioned "Chinese Restaurant Cubby Holes of Unsavoury Reputation”
quoting Dr. W.H. Hattie, the Provincial Health Officer, who was mounting a campaign to wipe
out immorality. Boudreau recounts at 427-30 that six Chinese restaurants sustained serious
damage following a rampage by a group of returned soldiers and civilians in 1919. There were
unprovoked attacks by customers on Chinese proprietors in 1919-20. A gang of hoodlums went
on a spree of vandalism to wreck Chinese laundries in 1921. In 1928, several whites attacked
two Chinese men simply for speaking Chinese on the street. Boudreau describes at 462-7 an
interview with two white Halifax policewomen, published in The Evening Echo 14 December
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Icelandic or any Scandinavian language...." Since those who could meet the language test could
vote after one year of residence (s.16), this meant a potential delay of six years. See also R.S.M.
1902, ¢.52, s.19(e). This test is deleted by "An Act to amend "The Manitoba Election Act" S.M.
1904, c.13, s.2. For comparable details regarding restrictions on the First Nations' franchise, see

discussion of the Sero v. Gault case in chapter 4.

101. "An Act respecting the Electoral Franchise" S.C. 1885, ¢.40, s.2. The "Franchise Act
1898" S.C. 1898, c.14, s.5(a) states: "The qualifications necessary to entitle any person to vote
thereat shall be those established by the laws of that province as necessary to entitle such person to
vote in the same part of the province at a provincial election." See also "Dominion Elections Act"
S.C. 1900, c¢.12; "Dominion Elections Act" R.S.C. 1906, c.6, s.6 and 10; "Dominion Elections Act"
S.C. 1920, ¢.46, 5.30(g); "Dominion Elections Act" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.53, s.30(g); "Dominion Elections
Act" S.C. 1938, c.46, s.14(2)(1). The federal government removed its provincial piggy-backing race
provisions in 1948, providing that provincial disqualification would no longer constitute a reason

for disqualification from the federal franchise: "Dominion Election Act" S.C. 1948, c.46, s.6.

102. Some provisions bar the Chinese (and Japanese) specifically, while others use more
indirect language requirements. See various enactments relating to coal mines, metalliferous mines,
quarries, metallurgical works and placer mines: S.B.C. 1877, c.15, s.46, Rule 33; S.B.C. 1888, c.84,
s.7; C.S.B.C. 1888, c. 84, 5.79, Rule 34; S.B.C. 1890, c.33, s.4; S.B.C. 1894, c.5, s.2; S.B.C. 1895,
c.38; S.B.C. 1897, ¢.27, s.12 and 14; R.S.B.C. 1897, c.138, s.82, Rule 34; R.S.B.C. 1897, c.134,

s.12; S.B.C. 1899, c.46, s.1-2 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1899, c.50 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1901, ¢.36, s.2;



S.B.C. 1902, c.48, s.2, Rule 34 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1903, c.17, s.2, Rule 34 (disallowed); S.B.C.
1903-4, ¢.39, s.2; S.B.C. 1905, c.36, s.2, Rule 34 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1911, c.33, s.87, Rule 42;
R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.160, s.91, Rule 42; R.S.B.C. 1911, c.164, s.15, Rules 13 and 15; R.S.B.C. 1924,
c.171, s.101, Rule 42; R.S.B.C. 1936, c.188, s. 2 and 6, Rule 42; S.B.C. 1948, c.55, s.15(5). See

also In re The Coal Mines Regulation Amendment Act, 1890 (1896), 5 B.C.R. 306 (S.C.); R. v.

Little (1897), 6 B.C.R. 78; R. v. Little (1898), 6 B.C.R. 321; Union Colliery Co. v. Bryden, [1899]

A.C. 583; A.-G. v. Wellington Colliery Co. (1903), 10 B.C.R. 397 (C.A.); In re the Coal Mines

Regulation Act and Amendment Act, 1903 (1904), 10 B.C.R. 408 (C.A.); Re the Coal Mines

Regulation Act (1904), 10 B.C.R. 408; R. v. Priest (1904), 8 C.C.C. 265; 10 B.C.R. 436 (S.C.). See
Alan Grove and Ross Lambertson "Pawns of the Powerful: The Politics of Litigation in the Union
Colliery Case" BC Studies v.103 (Autumn 1994) 3-32. I am indebted to Bruce Ryder for sharing
his detailed legislative research on the province of British Columbia with me. For more detailed
analysis of the British Columbia legislation and its reception in the courts, see Ryder "Racism and

the Constitution."

103. British Columbia passed some of the earliest "contract compliance" legislation in the
country, in this case designed not to reduce racial discrimination against minority populations but to
enhance it. Various statutes prohibit the employment of Asian workers by companies or persons
that receive "any property, rights or privileges" from the legislature. Others bar provincial
assistance to businesses hiring workers unable to read in a language of Europe. See S.B.C. 1878,
c.35; S.B.C. 1897, c.1 (assent reserved); S.B.C. 1898, c.28 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1900, c.14
(disallowed); S.B.C. 1902, c¢.38 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1903, c.14 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1905, c.30
(disallowed). Orders in council stipulate that in all contracts, leases and concessions entered into by

the government, provision must be made barring the employment of Chinese or Japanese workers:



see Resolution, 15 April 1902, reproduced in the schedule to "Oriental Orders in Council Validation
Act" S.B.C. 1921, First Session, ¢.49 (disallowed). These affect timber licences, mining leases,
railway contracts on public lands, public works contracts affecting roads, telegraphs, telephone
lines, harbours, canals and dams, and all instruments issued under the Land Act, Coal Mines Act,

Water Clauses Consolidation Act, and the Placer Mining Act. See also In re the Japanese Treaty

Act, 1913, [1920] 3 W.W.R. 937, (1920), 56 D.L.R. 69, 29 B.C.R. 136 (C.A.); In re Oriental Orders

in Council Validation Act (1922), 63 S.C.R. 293; 65 D.L.R. 577 (S.C.C.); appealed [1923] 4 D.L.R.

698; 3 W.W.R. 945 (P.C.); Attorney-General for British Columbia v. Brooks-Bidlake and Whittall

Ltd. (1922), 63 S.C.R. 466; 66 D.L.R. 475; [1922] 3 W.W.R. 9 (S.C.C.); appealed [1923] 1 W.W.R.

1150; 2 D.L.R. 189 (P.C.); A.-G. B.C. v. A.-G. Can. (Japanese Treaty Case), [1924] A.C. 203. For

more details see Ryder "Racism and the Constitution."

104. For a thorough analysis see Ryder "Racism and the Constitution" unpublished
manuscript, who notes at 125 that between 1885 and 1907, the British Columbia Legislature
inserted a clause prohibiting the hiring of Asian labour in fifty-seven acts incorporating private
companies, of which only a few were disallowed. See S.B.C. 1885, c.30, s.32; S.B.C. 1885, c.31,
s.38; S.B.C. 1886, c.16, s.4; S.B.C. 1886, c.22, s.8; S.B.C. 1886, c.25, s.27-30; S.B.C. 1886, c.26,
s.8, 11-14; S.B.C. 1886, c.27, s.16-19; S.B.C. 1886, c.29, s.19-22; S.B.C. 1886, c.30, s.10-13;
S.B.C. 1886, c.31, 5.16-19; S.B.C. 1886, c.33, s.35-8; S.B.C. 1886, c.34, 5.3-6; S.B.C. 1886, c.35,
$.36-9; S.B.C. 1890, ¢.50, s.27-30; S.B.C. 1891, c.48, s.58-61; S.B.C. 1891, c.69, s.20-3; S.B.C.
1894, c¢.3, s.2; S.B.C. 1894, c.19, 5.2, S.B.C. 1895, c.59, s.3-6; S.B.C. 1896, c.56, s.4; S.B.C. 1896,
c.51, s.6; S.B.C. 1896, c.6, s.3; S.B.C. 1897, c.1 (assent reserved); S.B.C. 1898, ¢.10, s.30; S.B.C.
1898, ¢.30, s.7; S.B.C. 1898, c.46, s.21; S.B.C. 1898, c.47, s.29; S.B.C. 1898, c.48, s.17; S.B.C.

1898, ¢.50, s.39; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.51, s.10; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.52, s.35; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.53, 5.20; S.B.C.



1898, c.54, s5.25; S.B.C. 1898, c.55, 5.49; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.56, s.27; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.57, s.11; S.B.C.
1898, ¢.58, 5.39; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.59, 5.43; S.B.C. 1898, ¢.60, s.34; S.B.C. 1898, c.61, s.44; S.B.C.
1898, c.62, s.23; S.B.C. 1898, c.63, s.12; S.B.C. 1898, c.64, s.24; S.B.C. 1898, c.44, s.7
(disallowed); S.B.C. 1898, c. 28 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1899, c.44, s.6 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1899,
c.78, s.35; S.B.C. 1899, c.79, s.15; S.B.C. 1899, ¢.80, s.38; S.B.C. 1899, ¢.81, s. 39; S.B.C. 1899,
c.83, s.18; S.B.C. 1899, c.84, s.7; S.B.C. 1899, c.85, s.5; S.B.C. 1899, c.86, s.5; S.B.C. 1899, c.87,
s.31; S.B.C. 1899, c.88, 5.22; S.B.C. 1899, c.89, s.37; S.B.C. 1900, c.14 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1901,
c.65,s.2; S.B.C. 1901, ¢.69, s.27; S.B.C. 1901, 5.70, s.2; S.B.C. 1901, ¢c.71, s.21; S.B.C. 1901, c.72,
s.21; S.B.C. 1901, c.73, s.23; S.B.C. 1901, ¢.77, s.24; S.B.C. 1901, ¢.78, s.22; S.B.C. 1901, c.79,
s.20; S.B.C. 1901, c.81, s.23; S.B.C. 1901, ¢.83, s.32; S.B.C. 1901, c.84, s.22; S.B.C. 1901, c.85,
s.25, S.B.C. 1901, ¢.86, s.26; S.B.C. 1901, c.87, s.24; S.B.C. 1902, c.57. The "Companies Act"

S.B.C. 1897, c.2, s.145 prohibits any Chinese company from doing business in British Columbia.

105. Some require higher licensing fees from Chinese applicants than from others. Some
expressly deny licences to the Chinese, while still others do so indirectly through a discriminatory
application of facially neutral policies. Others operate by restricting licences to persons on the
voters' list, from which Asians are excluded. See, for example, S.B.C. 1881, c.16, s.104, s.110(10);
S.B.C. 1884, c.4, s.14 and 16; S.B.C. 1885, c.21, s.11; S.B.C. 1894, c.29, s.5; S.B.C. 1899, c.39,
s.22-3, 36 (disallowed); S.B.C. 1902, ¢.40, s.2; S.B.C. 1909, c.28, s.7; S.B.C. 1910, c.30, s.26;
R.S.B.C. 1911, c.129, 5.108(2); R.S.B.C. 1911, ¢.142, 5.25; S.B.C. 1912, c.17, 5.31(b); S.B.C. 1915,
c.50 (assent reserved); S.B.C. 1919, ¢.27, s.2; S.B.C. 1922, c¢.25, s.3; S.B.C. 1923, c.17, s.22(1)(b);
R.S.B.C. 1924, c.84, s.3(2), s.4(2); S.B.C. 1928, c.49. See also Tai Sing v. Macguire (1878), 1

B.C.R. 101; Wing Fong's Case (1885), 1 B.C.R. 150; R. v. Gold Commissioner of Victoria District

(1886), 1 B.C.R. 260; R. v. Mee Wah (1886), 3 B.C.R. 403 (Co.Ct.); In re Glover and Sam Kee




(1914), 20 B.C.R. 219; R. v. Corporation of Victoria (1888), 1 B.C.R. 331; In re Kanamura (1904),

10 B.C.R. 354 (S.C.); In re the Municipal Clauses Act and in re Wah Yung & Co. (1904), 11 B.C.R.

154 (S.C.); Sing Kee v. Johnston (1902), 5 C.C.C. 454 (B.C.Co. Ct.); Loo Gee Wing v. A.F. Amor

(1909), 10 W.L.R. 383 (B.C. Co. Ct.); Rex v. Sang Chong (1909), 11 W.L.R. 231; 14 B.C.R. 275

(B.C.S.C.); Glover v. Sam Kee, [1914] 5 W.W.R. 1276; (1914), 20 B.C.R. 219; 27 W.L.R. 886

(B.C.S.C.); Rex v. Low Chung (1919), 27 B.C.R. 469 (B.C.S.C.). In the township of Richmond, a

Chinese farmer was convicted of violating the Lord's Day by working on a Sunday: Rex v. Sam

Bow, [1919] 3 W.W.R. 315; (1919), 31 C.C.C. 269; 27 B.C.R. 234 (B.C.S.C.); appealed Rex v.

Lam Joy; Rex v. Sam Bow, [1920] 2 W.W.R. 1006; (1920), 28 B.C.R. 253 (B.C.C.A.). See also

attempts to convict Chinese laundrymen under factory legislation: Rex v. Chow Chin, [1920] 2

W.W.R. 997 (B.C.S.C.); Rex v. Chong Kee et al. (1920), 37 C.C.C. 22; 29 B.C.R. 165 (B.C.C.A.);

Wong Sam et al. v. Hamilton (1929), 52 C.C.C. 357; 42 B.C.R. 133 (B.C.Co. Ct.). In this context, it

is perhaps not surprising that Chinese businessmen were some of the first to challenge provincial
marketing board schemes: see Rex v. Chung Chuck, [1928] 4 D.L.R. 659; 3 W.W.R. 129; (1928),

50 C.C.C. 235; 40 B.C.R. 352 (B.C.S.C.); (1929), 42 B.C.R. 116 (B.C.S.C.); Rex v. Wong Kit,

[1928] 3 W.W.R. 401; (1928), 4 B.C.R. 424 (B.C.S.C.); reversed on appeal sub nom. Chung Chuck
v. The King; Wong Kit v. The King, [1929] 1 D.L.R. 756; 1 W.W.R. 394; (1929), 51 C.C.C. 260;
40 B.C.R. 512; (1930), 54 C.C.C. 174; 43 B.C.R. 125 (B.C.C.A.); [1930] 2 D.L.R. 97; 1 W.W.R.

129; (1929), 53 C.C.C. 14 (P.C.); Rex v. Wong York, [1929] 3 W.W.R. 199; (1929), 52 C.C.C.

196; 42 B.C.R. 64 (B.C.S.C.); reversed [1930] 2 D.L.R. 552; 1 W.W.R. 388; (1930), 53 C.C.C. 68;
42 B.C.R. 246 (B.C.C.A.); Mainland Potato Committee of Direction v. Tom Yee (1931), 43 B.C.R.
453 (B.C.C.A.); Chung Chuck and Mah Lai v. Gilmore et al., [1937] 1 D.L.R. 119; [1936] 3

W.W.R. 575; (1936), 67 C.C.C. 264; 51 B.C.R. 189 (B.C.C.A.); Rex v.Chin Hong, [1936] 3 D.L.R.




307; 1 W.W.R. 711; (1936), 65 C.C.C. 334; 50 B.C.R. 423 (B.C.S.C.); Lowe Chong et al. v.

Gilmore et al., [1937] 1 W.W.R. 410; 3 W.W.R. 406; (1936), 51

B.C.R. 157 (B.C.S.C.); (1937), 51 B.C.R. 559 (B.C.C.A.); Rex v. Lee Sha Fong, [1939] 3

W.W.R. 459; (1939), 54 B.C.R. 380 (B.C.S.C.); reversed on appeal [1940] 3 D.L.R. 317; 2 W.W.R.
160; (1940), 73 C.C.C. 375; 55 B.C.R. 129 (B.C.C.A.). See also discussion of the attempts by the
federal Department of Fisheries to restrict the number of commercial fishing licenses issued to the

Japanese in Ward White Canada Forever at 122; and discussion of the decision of the Vancouver

board of licence commissioners to exclude Chinese workers from all liquor-licensed premises in
1916 as well as the requirement in 1935 for Chinese cooks in Western restaurants to undergo a

physical examination for infectious diseases: Anderson Vancouver's Chinatown at 116 and 164.

106. Enrolment as a student-at-law and articled law clerk, and registration as a certified
pharmacist's apprentice were both limited to those entitled to be placed on the voters' list under the
Provincial Elections Act: Rule 39 of the Law Society of British Columbia, passed pursuant to the
"Legal Professions Act" S.B.C. 1895, ¢.29, s.37; s.15 of the Pharmacy By-Laws, passed pursuant to
the "Pharmacy Act" S.B.C. 1891, c.33. The law society rule resulted from a petition in 1918 by
Vancouver law students seeking to prohibit "Asiatics" from becoming lawyers: see Lee "Laws of

Gold Mountain" at 312, citing A. Watts Lex Liberorum rex: History of the Law Society of British

Columbia 1869-1973 (Vancouver: Law Society of British Columbia, 1973) at 36; Ryder "Racism

and the Constitution;" H.F. Angus "The Legal Status in British Columbia of Residents of Oriental

Race and Their Descendants" in Norman MacKenzie ed. The Legal Status of Aliens in Pacific

Countries (London: Oxford University Press, 1937) 77 at 83; Joan Brockman "Exclusionary

Tactics: The History of Women and Visible Minorities in the Legal Profession in British Columbia"



in Hamar Foster and John McLaren eds. Essays in the History of Canadian Law: British Columbia

and the Yukon, v.6 (Toronto: The Osgoode Society, 1995) 508 at 519-25.

107. In some cases the rates afforded to the Chinese were less, and in other cases Chinese

workers were ruled completely ineligible. See Palmer Patterns of Prejudice at 145-8; Creese
"Exclusion or Solidarity?" at 44. But see also early legislative attempts to eliminate race

discrimination in unemployment relief: S.B.C. 1932, ¢.58; S.B.C. 1933, c¢.71; S.B.C. 1945, c.62, s.8.

108. "The Narcotics Traffic" Regina Morning Leader 30 December 1922, p.16; "Council

Turns Down Request of Yee Klung" 8 October 1924, p.3.

109. For details, see Backhouse "Gretta Wong Grant."

110. "MacKinnon, Andrew G." Who's Who in Canada 1936-37 (Toronto: International

Press, 1937) at 208. For reference to MacKinnon's public denunciation of the Klan, see Martin

Robin Shades of Right: Nativist and Fascist Politics in Canada, 1920-1940 (Toronto: University
of Toronto Press, 1992) at 67-72; William Calderwood "Pulpit, Press and Political Reactions to

the Ku Klux Klan in Saskatchewan" in Susan M. Trofimenkoff ed. The Twenties in Western

Canada (Ottawa: National Museums of Canada, 1972) 191. The Klan's efforts to take root in

Saskatchewan, its most successful base outside of the United States, peaked in several waves, in
1927 and 1929. Although Catholics were the main targets, the Klan also denounced
intermarriage between the Chinese, Blacks and whites, and supported the strict enforcement of
the white women's labour law. Robin notes at 33 that Klansmen elected to the Moose Jaw city

council insisted upon banning "the employment of white girls in Chinese restaurants." Although



Klan support was of great assistance to the conservative party during the 1926 federal election in
Saskatchewan, MacKinnon, a Klan adversary who ran for the conservatives, was not elected.
Both Robin (at 72) and Calderwood (at 211) suggest that the political manoeuvring of the Klan
directly affected MacKinnon's political fortunes. Shortly thereafter, MacKinnon received an
appointment to the District Court of Shaunavon, Saskatchewan. See also William Calderwood
"The Rise and Fall of the Ku Klux Klan in Saskatchewan" M.A. Thesis (University of
Saskatchewan: 1968); William Calderwood "Religious Reactions to the Ku Klux Klan in
Saskatchewan" Saskatchewan History 26:3 (1973) 103; William Calderwood "The Decline of the

Progressive Party in Saskatchewan, 1925-1930" Saskatchewan History 21:3 (Autumn 1968) 81;

David M. Chalmers Hooded Americanism: The History of the Ku Klux Klan (New York:

Franklin Watts, 1965); Wyn Craig Wade The Fiery Cross: The Ku Klux Klan in America

(London: Simon and Schuster, 1987); Nancy MacLean Behind the Mask of Chivalry: The
Making of the Second Ku Klux Klan (New York: Oxford University Press, 1994); Kathleen M.
Blee Women of the Klan: Racism and Gender in the 1920s (Berkeley: University of California
Press, 1991). For more discussion of the Ku Klux Klan, see discussion of R. v. Phillips in

chapter 6.

111. "Council Turns Down Request of Yee Klung" Regina Morning Leader 8 October

1924, p.3.

112. The application for judicial review appears to have requested declaratory relief and a
"mandamus" requiring the defendant to grant Yee Clun's licence. "Council Turns Down Request
of Yee Klung" Regina Morning Leader 8 October 1924, p.3; "Court to Decide Chinese Rights"

22 October 1924, p.9; Yee Clun v. City of Regina (1925), 20 Sask. L.R. 232 (Sask. K.B.).



113. Judge Mackenzie (whose name also appears as MacKenzie) was the son of Philip
and Elizabeth MacKenzie. He was educated at the London Collegiate Institute and the
University of Toronto, where he received his B.A. in 1893 and an LL.B. in 1895. He "read law"
with Mowat, Donney and Langton in Toronto. In London, he practised with Magee, McKillop
and Murphy from 1896-1901. In Regina, he practised with McCraney, Mackenzie and
Hutchinson. He received the designation KC in 1913, and would be elevated to the
Saskatchewan Court of Appeal in 1927. In 1922, he became a Governor of the University of

Saskatchewan and later served as Chair of the Board of Governors. See Who's Who in Canada,

1938-39 (Toronto: International Press, 1939) at 1476; Who's Who in Canada 1945-46 at 919;

W.H. McConnell Prairie Justice (Calgary: Burroughs, 1980) at 217. I am indebted to Elizabeth

Kalmakoff of the Saskatchewan Archives Board for information concerning Judge Mackenzie.

114. Yee Clun v. City of Regina, [1925] 4 D.L.R. 1015; 3 W.W.R. 714; (1925), 20 Sask.

L.R. 232 (Sask. K.B.) at 234-7.

115. The rule excluding Parliamentary history was first articulated in the English case of
Millar v. Taylor (1769), 4 Burr. 2303, 98 E.R. 201. The comment on the inadmissibility of the

drafter's evidence is from Lord Halsbury in Hildler v. Dexter, [1902] A.C. 474 at 477. The

Supreme Court of Canada followed the exclusionary rule reluctantly in Gosselin v. The King

(1903), 33 S.C.R. 255 at 264; see also William Feilden Craies A Treatise on Statute Law 3rd ed.

(Toronto: Carswell, 1923) at 120. Pierre-Andre Cote The Interpretation of Legislation in Canada

2nd ed. (Cowansville, Que.: Yvon Blais, 1991) notes at 357-67 that the rule may have been
based originally upon the official ban on publication of House of Commons debates. The ban

was established in an effort to guarantee freedom of expression for members of Parliament, and



obtained in England from 1628 to 1908. Despite the lifting of this ban, the exclusionary rule
continued to govern. Various rationales have been offered for its tenacious hold in the courts,
which has only recently weakened: 1) the theory that Parliament is a legal entity, distinct from its
individual members, and that the law is an expression of "abstract will" with only a tenuous link
to the intention of the minister who proposed it, and the members who voted for it; 2) the
additional time and expense required of counsel in preparing cases if they have to review all the
Hansard debates. Cote notes that countries such as the United States and France do not utilize
this exclusionary rule, and that Canadian courts have increasingly abandoned the doctrine as
well. It no longer governs cases where the constitutionality of a statute is at issue and outside the
constitutional context, the principle "is riddled with derogations and exceptions to such a point
that we may ask whether it is on its last legs, if not completely finished." Judge Mackenzie's
reference to earlier versions of the "White Women's Labour Law" did not offend the
exclusionary rule, since it has always been considered quite permissible for courts to examine the
evolution of a particular statute, tracing its original format and the various changes in text, in a

search for statutory meaning; see E.A. Driedger The Construction of Statutes (Toronto:

Butterworths, 1974) at 133.

116. Yee Clun v. City of Regina, [1925] 4 D.L.R. 1015; 3 W.W.R. 714; (1925), 20 Sask.

L.R. 232 (Sask. K.B.) at 234-7.

117. Rex v. Quong Wing, [1913]4 W.W.R. 1135, (1913), 12 D.L.R. 656, 24 W.L.R. 913,
21 C.C.C. 326, 6 Sask. R. 242 (Sask. S.C.); Quong Wing v. The King (1914), 49 S.C.R. 440,
[1914] 6 W.W.R. 270, (1914), 18 D.L.R. 121, 23 C.C.C. 113; leave to appeal to the Privy

Council refused 19 May 1914.



118. On the issue of suffrage, In Re the Provincial Elections Act and in Re Tomey

Homma, A Japanese (1900), 7 B.C.R. 368 (Co. Ct.) initially held the electoral exclusions in the

Provincial Elections Act R.S.B.C. 1897, ¢.67,s.8 to be ultra vires, a ruling that was upheld in In_
Re the Provincial Elections Act and In Re Tomey Homma, A Japanese (1901), 8 B.C.R. 76
(B.C.S.C.). The Privy Council reversed this on appeal, declaring the discriminatory franchise
provisions to be constitutional: Cunningham v. Tomey Homma, [1903] A.C. 151. See also

Ryder "Racism and the Constitution" unpublished manuscript at 141-66.

119. In Tai Sing v. Maguire (1878), 1 B.C.R. Pt.1 101 (B.C.S.C.), Judge John Hamilton
Gray struck down "An Act to provide for the better collection of Provincial Taxes from the
Chinese" S.B.C. 1878, c.35, which established quarterly license fees of $10 for every Chinese
person over the age of twelve. Gray held the act was outside the scope of provincial jurisdiction,
since it dealt with aliens, trade and commerce, and the federal government's treaty making
powers. InR. v. Wing Chong (1885), 1 B.C.R. Pt.II 150 (B.C.S.C.) Judge Henry Pellew Crease
considered the constitutionality of "An Act to Regulate the Chinese Population of British
Columbia" S.B.C. 1884, c.4, which imposed an annual tax on all Chinese residents. He held the
statute to be ultra vires based on a similar analysis of the division of powers between federal and
provincial levels of government. In R. v. Gold Commissioner of Victoria District (1886), 1
B.C.R. Pt.II 260 (Div. Ct.) Judge John Foster McCreight declared s.14 of the same statute
unconstitutional for charging Chinese miners triple the fees of others in application for miners'
certificates. In R. v. Mee Wah (1886), 3 B.C.R. 403 (Co. Ct.), Chief Justice Matthew Baillie
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previous law. They were put to the test of proving that they had a "lawful excuse" for their
actions. The new title of the altered offence, "disguised by night," does not appear separately
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It states: "Every one is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to ten years' imprisonment who,
against her will, takes away or detains any woman of any age and whether married or not, with
intent to marry or carnally know such woman or to cause her to be married or carnally known by
any other person." See "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.36, s.313, 314,
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Law" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.36 stipulates that "kidnapping" carried a maximum penalty of twenty-five
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297(2) adds: "the non-resistance of a person so unlawfully kidnapped or confined shall not be a
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injuring his property." "Assault" is defined in 5.290 as: "the act of intentionally applying force to



the person of another, directly or indirectly, or attempting or threatening, by any act or gesture, to
apply force to the person of another, if the person making the threat has, or causes the other to
believe, upon reasonable grounds, that he has present ability to effect his purpose...." The
penalty is set out in s.291 as a maximum of one year's imprisonment. "Disorderly conduct" is
defined within the vagrancy offence in s.238(f): "Every one is a loose, idle or disorderly person
or vagrant who, causes a disturbance in or near any street, road, highway or public place, by
screaming, swearing or singing, or by being drunk, or by impeding or incommoding peaceable
passengers." The maximum penalty is six months. A "common nuisance" is defined in s.221 as:
"an unlawful act or omission to discharge a legal duty, which act or omission endangers the
lives, safety, health, property or comfort of the public, or by which the public are obstructed in
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common purpose, assemble in such a manner or so conduct themselves when assembled as to
cause persons in the neighbourhood of such assembly to fear, on reasonable grounds, that the
persons so assembled will disturb the peace tumultuously, or will by such assembly needlessly
and without any reasonable occasion provoke other persons to disturb the peace tumultuously."
The penalty is one year. "Riot" is described in s.88 as "an unlawful assembly which has begun to
disturb the peace tumultuously." The penalty is two years. "Loitering by night" under s.36
authorizes a police officer to arrest "without warrant any person whom he finds lying or loitering
in any highway, yard or other place by night, and whom he has good cause to suspect of having

committed or being about to commit any offence for which an offender may be arrested without



warrant." Sections 646-52 list offences for which individuals can be arrested without warrant.
The vagrancy offence in s.238(¢e) also makes it an offence to loiter "on any street, road, highway
or public place" and obstruct "passengers by standing across the footpath, or by using insulting
language, or in any other way." Section 238(g) makes it a crime to commit "wanton
disturbances" by "discharging firearms, or by riotous or disorderly conduct in any street or
highway," in such a manner as to wantonly disturb "the peace and quiet of the inmates of any
dwelling-house near such street or highway." The maximum penalty for these vagrancy
subsections is six months. Toronto lawyer Harry Joseph Waldman pointed out some of these
sections, including the "disguised by night" offence, as possible charges during an interview with
the Toronto Star: "Argues Chief Was Remiss in Not Arresting Klansmen" 6 March 1930, p.1-2.
Little is known about Waldman himself. His father was Louis Waldman, a manufacturer. He
articled with S.M. Mehr in Toronto, was called to the bar in 1926, practising at several Toronto
addresses until the late 1950s. I am indebted to Ann-Marie Langlois and Susan Lewthwaite of

the Law Society of Upper Canada Archives for this information.

89. "Acted on Mother's Request Klan Statement Now Claims" undated clipping held by
the Oakville Historical Society. "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.36,
$.501(c) and (f) provides: "Every one is guilty of an offence...who, wrongfully and without
lawful authority, with a view to compel any other person to abstain from doing anything which
he has a lawful right to do, or to do anything from which he has a lawful right to abstain...(c)
persistently follows such other person about from place to place; or...(f) besets or watches the
house or other place where such other person resides or works, or carries on business or happens

to be." The penalty is a maximum three months' imprisonment.



90. "Tear Off the Mask from Kowardly Klans" Guelph Evening Mercury and Advertiser

5 October 1926.

91. "Tear Off the Mask from Kowardly Klans" Guelph Evening Mercury and Advertiser
5 October 1926. Templeton also sent a telegram to the Ontario Attorney General, enclosing
copies of his articles from the Mercury and demanding to know what legal action could be taken

against the Klan. Deputy Attorney General Edward J. Bayly wrote back a lengthy response:

Dear Sir: - [...]

Apart from Municipal By-laws, lighting a flaming cross (or any other symbol) is no more
criminal by itself than lighting a bonfire of leaves. It might become criminal if it violated
Sections 238(f) or (g) and 239 of the Criminal Code [vagrancy - "disorderly conduct" and
"wanton disturbances."] The assembling of persons to the number of three or more with intent to
carry out any common purpose, if they so conduct themselves as to cause persons in the
neighborhood to fear upon reasonable grounds that the assembly will disturb the peace
tumultuously or occasion persons so to disturb the peace tumultuously, is contrary to the
Criminal Code Sections 87 to 89 ["unlawful assembly" and "riot."] Section 464(c) forbids under
penalty of five years imprisonment, having one's face masked or blackened by night without
lawful excuse the proof of which lies in him, and 464(d) forbids having one's face masked or
blackened in the day time with intent to commit any indictable offence. The word "night" or
"night time" means between nine o'clock in the evening or six o'clock in the forenoon of the

following day. See the Criminal Code Section 2(23).



If the acts referred to in your telegram and in the news item are occurring, you should
consult the Crown Attorney who is this Department's local representative in your County and if
necessary the Chief of Police at Guelph or the District Inspector of Provincial Police stationed at

Kitchener.

I shall be glad to give you such other information as lies in my power.

Yours faithfully

E. Bayly, Deputy Attorney General

[AO RG4-32, Department of Attorney-General for Ontario, File 2254/1926, Documents

No.4 and 6.]

92. "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C. 1906, c.146, s.748(2) provides: "Upon
complaint by or on behalf of any person that on account of threats made by some other person or
any other account, he, the complainant is afraid that such other person will do him, his wife or
child some personal injury, or will burn or set fire to his property, the justice before whom such
complaint is made, may, if he is satisfied that the complainant has reasonable grounds for his
fears, require such other person to enter into his own recognizance, or to give security, to keep
the peace, and to be of good behaviour, for a term not exceeding twelve months." This provision
remained in force at the time of the Oakville raid: "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C.
1927, ¢.36, s.748. Other pro-active criminal charges include "loitering by night" under s.36 of

the Code.



93. "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C. 1906, c.146, s.317-18 and 333-4. The
offence remained in force at the time of the Oakville raid as R.S.C. 1927, ¢.36, s.317-18 and 333-

4.

94. "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C. 1906, c.146, s.324 and 331. The
defences remained in force at the time of the Oakville raid as R.S.C. 1927, ¢.36, s.324 and 331.
Other legislative defences include "publishing upon invitation" from the person defamed (s.319),
"publishing proceedings of courts of justice" (s.320), "publishing Parliamentary papers" (s.321),
"fair reports of proceedings of Parliament and courts (s.322), "fair reports of public meetings"
(s.323), "fair comments on public persons" or on "literary or art productions" (s.325),
"publication in good faith seeking redress" (s.326), "answer to inquiries" (s.327). Section 328
also provides: "No one commits an offence by publishing to another person defamatory matter
for the purpose of giving information to that person with respect to some subject as to which he
has, or is, on reasonable grounds, believed to have, such an interest in knowing the truth as to
make the conduct of the person giving the information reasonable under the circumstances, if
such defamatory matter is relevant to such subject, and is either true, or is made without ill-will

to the person defamed, and in the belief, on reasonable grounds, that it is true."

95. For the Saturday Night reference, see "Girls Be Careful Whom You Marry" 15

August 1925, as cited in James W.St.G. Walker "Race." Rights and the Law in the Supreme

Court of Canada at 82-3. There are many examples of prominent Canadian figures who

endorsed the Klan's hostility towards racial intermarriage. See, for example, the comments of
white Toronto lawyer, A.R. Hassard, who while castigating the Klan's tactics in the Oakville

raid, enthusiastically endorsed their goal: "From what I have read my sympathies are strongly



with the girl and her mother, but unfortunately the law is the other way. If this practice of
intermarrying whites and negroes be extensively carried on, some society ought to secure the
enactment of a uniform law throughout Canada on the subject. If the Klansmen are really in
earnest, they would be the proper people to do that. There is no law against whites and blacks
intermarrying, but I think there should be. I think that neither the marriage license issuer nor a
minister who has any respect for himself would, except under the gravest conditions, assist in the
marriage of a white and a black. The same should be said of the marriage of a white girl and a
Chinese. I remember many years ago a large negro out near Dufferin St. was married to a white
woman and the children, five or six of them, were of all colors, ranging from black, gray to
white. I think that those children would be subject to a good deal of torment in the public
schools. A negro child of black parents is generally not subjected to indignity in school." "Has
No Negro Blood, Klan Victim Declares" Toronto Star 5 March 1930, p.2. Ruth I. McKenzie

"Race Prejudice and the Negro" Dalhousie Review v.20 (1940) notes at 201 that "intermarriage

[of Blacks] with whites is not approved."

96. "An Act to amend 'The Libel Act"' S.M. 1934, c.23, s.1 provides: ""The Libel Act' being
chapter 113 of the Revised Statutes of Manitoba, 1913, is amended by adding thereto the following

section:

13A.(1) The publication of a libel against a race or creed likely to expose persons belonging
to the race or professing the creed to hatred, contempt or ridicule, and tending to raise unrest or
disorder among the people, shall entitle a person belonging to the race or professing the creed to sue
for an injunction to prevent the continuation and circulation of the libel; and the Court of King's

Bench is empowered to entertain the action.



(2) The action may be taken against the person responsible for the authorship, publication,

or circulation of the libel.

(3) The word "publication" used in this section shall be interpreted to mean any words
legibly marked upon any substance or object signifying the matter otherwise than by words,
exhibited in public or caused to be seen or shewn or circulated or delivered with a view to its being

seen by any person.

97. The Nationalist Party of Canada was established in the fall of 1933 by William
Whittaker, a white British immigrant who worked as a police officer in St. Catharines, Ontario
before moving to Winnipeg. The party was dedicated to "combatting Jewish influence" and
fighting the Communist party "tooth and nail." Its newspaper, The Canadian Nationalist, was
filled with hate literature inciting boycotts and violence against Jews and making allegations of
"ritual-murder." The impetus for the legislation came from provincial politician, Marcus Hyman,
a Jewish immigrant from Britain who was a lawyer and law lecturer at the Manitoba Law
School. The original bill, introduced in March 1934, was restricted to "repeated publications"
and provided injunctive remedies as well as the right to sue for damages: "The repeated
publication of a libel against any race or creed to hatred, contempt or ridicule shall...entitle any
person belonging to such race or professing such creed to sue for damages and for an injunction
to prevent the continuation and circulation of such libel or any libel of a similar character." The
bill also authorized lawsuits against "any person, firm, or corporation directly or indirectly
responsible for the authorship, publication and circulation of such libel." The Hyman bill was
co-authored by Ernest Brotman, and received the support of Manitoba Attorney General W.T.

Major, the governing party, the opposition parties and the local newspapers. Shortly after its



enactment, Jewish lawyer William Verner Tobias brought libel charges against Whittaker, citing
him as one of the publishers of The Canadian Nationalist. Judge Percival Montague of the Court

of King's Bench granted an injunction. Robin Shades of Right notes at 204 that the initial

injunction was not effective in eliminating the publication or distribution of the paper. No
further proceedings were initiated. For details, see Robin at 199-204, citing the Canadian Jewish

Chronicle 13 April 1934; Louis Rosenberg Canada's Jews: A Social and Economic Study of

Jews in Canada in the 1930s (Montreal: McGill-Queen's Press, 1993; orig. pub. 1939) at 303;

Winnipeg Free Press 21 March 1934, p.18; 5 April 1934, p.17; Winnipeg Evening Tribune 4
April 1934, p.1; 5 April 1934, p.17. Walker "Race." Rights and the Law" notes at 193-5 that

efforts to enact similar legislation in Quebec and Ontario came to naught.

98. "An Act to prevent the Publication of Discriminatory Matter Referring to Race or

Creed" S.0. 1944, c.51 provides:

s.1. No person shall -

(a) publish or display or cause to be published or displayed; or

(b) permit to be published or displayed on lands or premises or in a newspaper, through a
radio broadcasting station or by means of any other medium which he owns or controls, any
notice, sign, symbol, emblem or other representation indicating discrimination or an intention to
discriminate against any person or any class of persons for any purpose because of the race or

creed of such person or class of persons.



s.2. This Act shall not be deemed to interfere with the free expression of opinions upon
any subject by speech or in writing and shall not confer any protection to or benefit upon enemy

aliens.

s.3. Every one who violates the provisions of section 1 shall be liable to a penalty of not
more than $100 for a first offence nor more than $200 for a second or subsequent offence and

such penalties shall be paid to the Treasurer of Ontario.

s.4.(1) The penalties imposed by this Act may be recovered upon the application of any
person with the consent of the Attorney General, to a judge of the Supreme Court by originating

notice and upon every such application the rules of practice of the Supreme Court shall apply.

(2) The judge, upon finding that any person has violated the provisions of section 1
may, in addition to ordering payment of the penalties, make an order enjoining him from

continuing such violation.

(3) Any order made under this section may be enforced in the same manner as any
other order or judgment of the Supreme Court. See also "The Racial Discrimination Act" R.S.O.
1950, ¢.328. On the lobby campaign that generated the legislation, see Alexander and Glaze

Towards Freedom at 191-2; Walker "Race," Rights and the Law at 195-7; John C. Bagnall "The

Ontario Conservatives and the Development of Anti-Discrimination Policy, 1944-1962" Ph.D.
Thesis (Queen's University: 1984) at 18-65. The legislation was opposed by the Grand Orange
Lodge, which sent telegrams to all the provincial legislators claiming that the statute might

prevent publication of the Orange Sentinel and the Catholic Register, and furnished "an insult to



the intelligence of Ontario citizens." The Toronto Globe also opposed the statute, claiming that

it infringed civil liberties: see Toronto Globe 4 March 1944, p.5; 10 March 1944, p.6; 13 March

1944, p.6, as well as Toronto Daily Star 11 March 1944, p.4. Premier George A. Drew, who was
the author of the amendment that added the provision stating that the act would not interfere with
freedom of speech, defended the measure: "It is intended to stop the use of offensive signs,
notices and symbols which by announcing the denial of equal rights to any particular group in
our community, offend equally those of that group itself, and all who accept the principles of
democracy which the legislature is pledged to serve." Alexander MacLeod, who also spoke in
favour of the bill, indicated that it "declare[d] to the world that we stand in differentiation from
the German nation, which has become depraved as a results of permitting this sort of thing to

develop." See Hansard Manitoba Legislative Debates, 10 March 1944, p.758, 768.

99. Walter Surma Tarnopolsky and William F. Pentney Discrimination and the Law 1st
ed. (Don Mills, Ont.: Richard De Boo, 1985) c.2. This book will not attempt to chronicle the
various municipal by-laws that contributed to racist practices, nor those that attempted,
beginning in the 1940s, to reduce racist behaviour. The discussion which follows is limited to
provincial and federal enactments. "An Act to amend The Insurance Act" S.0. 1932, c.24, s.4
provides: "'"The Insurance Act' is amended by adding thereto the following section: 92a. Any
licensed insurer which discriminates unfairly between risks within Ontario because of the race or

religion of the insured shall be guilty of an offence." Walker "Race." Rights and the Law notes

at 193 that it was a Jewish M.L.A., E. Frederick Singer of St. Andrew's riding in Toronto, who
spear-headed this legislative initiative, based on research showing that insurance companies were

using discriminatory insurance premiums to force Jews out of business.



100. "An Act respecting Unemployment Relief" S.B.C. 1931, c.65, validates a federal-
provincial agreement allowing the province to receive money for relief work projects. Clause 8 of
the agreement provides that "in no case shall discrimination be made in the employment of any
persons by reason of their political affiliation." "An Act respecting Unemployment Relief" S.B.C.
1932, c¢.58, validates clause 15 of the federal-provincial agreement that "in no case shall
discrimination be made or permitted in the employment of any persons by reason of their political
affiliation, race or religious views." "An Act respecting Unemployment Relief" S.B.C. 1933, c.71
ratifies a prior agreement with the federal government to pay part of the cost of placing families on
land for farming. Clause 4 provides that "the selection of families shall be made without
discrimination by reason of political affiliation, race, or religious views." "An Act to provide Social
Assistance" S.B.C. 1945, c.62, s.8, provides that "in the administration of social assistance there

shall be no discrimination based on race, colour, creed or political affiliations."

101. "The Labour Relations Act" S.0O. 1950, c.34, s.34(b) provides: An agreement
between an employer or an employers' organization and a trade union shall be deemed not to be a
collective agreement for the purposes of this Act...if it discriminates against any person because

of his race or creed.

102. "An Act to amend The Conveyancing and Law of Property Act" S.0. 1950, c.11,
which received royal assent on 24 March 1950, provides in s.1: "The Conveyancing and Law of
Property Act is amended by adding thereto the following section: RESTRICTIVE
COVENANTS 20a. Every covenant made after this section comes into force which but for this
section would be annexed to and run with land which restricts the sale, ownership, occupation or

use of land because of the race, creed, colour, nationality, ancestry or place of origin of any



person shall be void and of no effect." For further details, see Walker "Race." Rights and the

Law at 182-245. "An Act to amend The Law of Property Act" S.M. 1950, c.33, received royal
assent 22 April 1950. Section 1 amends "The Law of Property Act" R.S.M. 1940, c.114, by
adding s.6A: "Every covenant made after this section comes into force that, but for this section,
would be annexed to and run with land and that restricts the sale, ownership, occupation, or use,

of land because of the race, colour, nationality, ancestry, place of origin, or creed of any person

shall be void."

103. The "Saskatchewan Bill of Rights Act, 1947" S.S. 1947, c.35, in force as of 1 May

1947:

s.14(1) No person shall publish, display or cause or permit to be published or displayed
on any lands or premises or in any newspaper, through any radio broadcasting station, or by
means of any other medium which he owns, controls, distributes or sells, any notice, sign,
symbol, emblem or other representation tending or likely to tend to deprive, abridge or otherwise
restrict, because of the race, creed, religion, colour or ethnic or national origin of any person or
class of persons, the enjoyment by any such person or class of persons of any right to which he

or it is entitled under the law.

(2) Nothing in subsection (1) shall be construed as restricting the right to freedom

of speech under the law, upon any subject.

See further discussion of this statute in chapter 7.



104. S.C. 1919, c.46 provides:

$.98(1). Any association, organization, society or corporation, whose professed purpose
or one of whose purposes is to bring about any governmental, industrial or economic change
within Canada by use of force, violence or physical injury to person or property, or by threats of
such injury, or which teaches, advocates, advises or defends the use of force, violence, terrorism,
or physical injury to person or property, or threats of such injury, in order to accomplish such
change, or for any other purpose, or which shall by any means prosecute or pursue such purpose
or professed purpose, or shall so teach, advocate, advise or defend, shall be an unlawful

association.

$.98(3). Any person who acts or professes to act as an officer of any such unlawful
association, and who shall sell, speak, write or publish anything as the representative or
professed representative of any such unlawful association, or become and continue to be a
member thereof, or wear, carry or cause to be displayed upon or about his person or elsewhere,
any badge, insignia, emblem, banner, motto, pennant, card, button or other device whatsoever,
indicating or intended to show or suggest that he is a member of or in anywise associated with
any such unlawful association, or who shall contribute anything as dues or otherwise, to it or to
any one for it, or who shall solicit subscriptions or contributions for it, shall be guilty of an
offence and liable to imprisonment for not more than twenty years. See also s.98(2) and (4)-
(11). In 1930, legislative amendment reduced the maximum penalty to two years and a new
defence provided immunity if the accused could prove that the criticism of the state was
constructive and that there was no advocacy of change by illegal means. Section 98 was

repealed in 1936. For reference to the section as "infamous" see Lita-Rose Betcherman The



Little Band: The Clashes Between the Communists and the Canadian Establishment 1928-32

(Ottawa: Deneau, 1983).

10S. Betcherman Little Band notes at 148-52, 154 that Winnipeg Mayor Colonel Ralph
Webb advocated proclaiming outright illegality for the Communist Party in 1931. The Manitoba
Orange Lodge issued a "comprehensive legislative blueprint for the Dominion government" that
same year, based on recommendations of the America Fish Commission. The blueprint
contained proposals to strengthen immigration laws to prevent admission and facilitate
deportation of Communists, deny naturalization to Communists, amend postal legislation to cut
off the mails to Communist literature, and declare the Communist Party of Canada to be illegal.
These proposals were endorsed by the Manitoba Employer's Association. A campaign to "deport

and ban" Communists evoked letters from "coast to coast" directed to the Prime Minister.

106. The individuals concerned about discrimination and inequities in Canadian society
were, perhaps, reluctant to adopt the sorts of measures that had been used to attack left-wing
organizations such as the Communist Party. A white C.C.F. member of Parliament, J.S.
Woodsworth, spoke out against the KKK in the House of Commons in 1926, but explicitly
refrained from endorsing such tactics: "I had placed in my hands a short while ago one of the
[KKK] circulars sent to a friend of mine summoning a meeting of this organization. [...] I shall
not go into the literature which I hold in my hand, nor am I going to urge the Department of
Justice to summarily deport these people. I would remind them that the machinery is there and
has been used in the case of much more worthy people. I am not strong, however, on repressive
measures; [ hope we shall soon have fewer of these measures than are now in force in this

country. I do think, though, that we should do everything in our power to lessen the influence of



such an organization as this, because if we allow such bodies as the Ku Klux Klan, the latest
American importation, to engender a spirit of intolerance in this country, we are bound to have a

serious time ahead of us." See Debates House of Commons v.1 (29 January 1926) at 573.

107. Tim Buck and his comrades were convicted in September 1931 in a jury trial before
Judge William Henry Wright of the Ontario Supreme Court; see Rex v. Buck et al.; Record of
Proceedings: The King v. Buck et al. (Toronto: Herbert H. Ball, King's Printer, 1931). The

convictions were upheld before the Ontario Court of Appeal: Rex v. Buck et al. (1932) 57 C.C.C.

290. Charlie Sims and five young women were charged under .98 in September 1929, for
publishing a leaflet advocating a change in government by "force, violence or terrorism." Judge
J.H. Denton of the York County Court acquitted the accused, concluding that the Communist
literature in question did not advocate violence or terrorism. Aaro Vaara, the Finnish-born
Sudbury publisher of the Communist publication Vapaus, was convicted in 1929 by the Ontario
Supreme Court of seditious libel under s.134 of the "Criminal Code." Seditious libel, which was
not defined in the "Criminal Code" at the time, was proven upon evidence that the accused
uttered "strong words against the government." Six Toronto Communists were convicted by
Police Magistrate J.E. Jones in 1929 of "disorderly conduct" under the vagrancy provisions for
"causing a disturbance in or near any street, road, highway or public place, by screaming,
swearing or singing, or by being drunk, or by impeding or incommoding peaceable passengers."
Concerns over the use of the vagrancy charge to attack Communist public advocacy surfaced in
November 1929, in Rex v. Buhay (1929), 64 O.L.R. 531, when Judge Garrow insisted that "the
mere fact of holding a meeting in a street does not necessarily imply impeding or incommoding
of passengers." Garrow ruled that "proof of actual impeding is essential to justify a conviction."

Ontario Court of Appeal Judge Middleton overruled this in December 1929, ruling in Rex v.



Knowles (1929), 65 O.L.R. 6 that an inference of impediment could be drawn by the court:
"ample is shown to justify an inference that many peaceable passengers upon the streets of the
city must have been inconvenienced by this disgraceful performance in which the accused took a
leading part." Six more Toronto Communists were charged and convicted in Toronto Police
Court that same year variously of "disorderly conduct," "obstructing the police" and "unlawful
assembly." Communist organizer Becky Buhay was convicted in 1929 of vagrancy before
Toronto Magistrate Jones, and eight others were convicted later that fall. Four women and two
men were also convicted in October of 1929 for "wilfully obstructing a peace officer;" the court
offered to commute their sentences if they would refrain from attending Communist meetings,
but the convicted individuals refused to concede to this condition and chose to go to jail.
Participants in a May Day parade in Fort William in 1930 were charged with unlawful assembly;
eight of eighteen were convicted. A Sudbury demonstration of the unemployed resulted in
charges of "unlawful assembly" in 1930. Hannes Sula was arrested in Sudbury City Council
chambers in 1931, while speaking as part of a delegation for the unemployed; he was charged
with vagrancy, but after he spent three days in jail the charges were dropped. For details, see

Betcherman Little Band at 5, 29-41, 44, 64-6, 70-85, 94, 120-5, 153, 156, 165, 171-215.

108. "An Act respecting the Criminal Law" R.S.C. 1927, ¢.36, s.91 provides: "It is the
duty of every sheriff...mayor...and justice...who has notice that there are within his jurisdiction
persons to the number of twelve or more unlawfully, riotously and tumultuously assembled
together to the disturbance of the public peace, to resort to the place where such unlawful, riotous
and tumultuous assembly is, and among the rioters, or as near to them as he can safely come,
with a loud voice to command or cause to be commanded silence, and after that openly and with

loud voice to make or cause to be made a proclamation in these words...: "Our Sovereign Lord



the King charges and commands all persons being assembled immediately to disperse and
peaceably to depart to their habitations or to their lawful business, upon the pain of being guilty
of an offence on conviction of which they may be sentenced to imprisonment for life." Section
92 makes it an offence to prevent such proclamation, or fail to disperse within "thirty minutes."
Section 93 provides indemnity to officers who kill or injure those who resist the dispersal. In the
summer of 1929, Toronto Police Chief Denis Draper and Mayor Samuel McBride threatened to

"read the riot act" if the Communists held a demonstration; Betcherman Little Band at 66.

109. At least some periodicals expressed concern about this apparent double standard.
"The Ku Klux Klan" The Canadian Forum v.9 (April 1930) at 233 described the Oakville KKK
raid, and added: "Within a week of this affair a meeting of Communists, held in daylight before
the city hall of Toronto, was broken up by the police, some of those who tried to speak on
political questions being freely knocked about while others were run into the police cells. If
Ontario were true to its vaunted British traditions, Communists would be allowed to speak and
meetings of masked Klansmen would be dispersed with night-sticks. If some of these 'prominent
business men' parading in their Knight-shirts were cracked over the head, trampled in the mud,
and then heaved into a lousy gaol, they would be content perhaps to mind their own business for

the future."

110. The Ontario Supreme Court records for this case were "destroyed due to extensive
culling" (correspondence from Joseph Solovitch, Archives of Ontario, 30 March 1995) as were
the files from the Attorney General and the Provincial Police: Milton: W.I. Dick re Ku Klux
Klan demonstration #1946 (destroyed); Phillips, W.A. General #2489 (destroyed); Sentences,

Dr. W.A. Phillips, Being Masked at Night (Ku Klux Klan) #638 (destroyed); correspondence



from Joseph Solovitch, Archives of Ontario, 14 March 1995. 1 have relied upon the reported

decision, Rex v. Phillips (1930), 55 C.C.C. 49 (Ont. C.A.); the Benchbooks of Sir William

Mulock, Book #14, 14 January 1929 - 3 June 1930, Court of Appeal of Ontario Archives, Box
412, Shelf 23, Bay 4, Aisle Book 14, p. 309, and the newspaper coverage of the case. The
designation of the Oakville trial as "the first" is somewhat problematic, given the three Barrie

Klansmen who were convicted in 1926.

111. "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville" Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15;
"Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not guilty; Did Not Wear Masks in Raid"
Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Three Klansmen on Trial Today" London Advertiser 10
March 1930, p.1; "One Klansman Fined and Two Are Freed" Toronto Star 10 March 1930;
"Klansmen on Trial Here" Oakville Star and Independent 14 March 1930, p.1. Mathews
Oakville mentions at 248 that the Wallaces were one of the first Black families to settle in

Oakuville.

112. "Klansmen of Hamilton Defend Their Conduct in 'Raid' at Oakville" Toronto Globe

3 March 1930, p.1,3. Ahern Oakville notes at 131 that Mcllveen's store was the last shop on

Main Street, no.126.

113. "W.I. Dick, Crown Attorney for 45 Years" Toronto Globe 24 April 1962, p.4.

114. "Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear

Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Plans to

Appeal" London Advertiser 11 March 1930, p.3; "Tear off the Mask from Kowardly Klans"



Guelph Evening Mercury and Advertiser 5 October 1926; "That Freedom" 8 October 1926. The

Guelph paper also suggests that a number of city councillors were active Klan members.

115. "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville" Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15.

116. Charles William Reid Bowlby was born in 1892 in Tapleytown, Ontario to Charles
Bowlby and Anna Cross. He served in World War I in the 26th Battalion from 1915-1917.
After receiving war injuries, he returned to Ontario and articled with the Hamilton firm of
Nesbit, Gauld, Langs. He was called to the Ontario bar in 1919. He practised with Washington,
Martin, Bowlby & Griffin at 7 Hughson South, and resided at 525 Dundurn South. His wife was
Mary Elsie Dixon and he was a member of the United Church. I am indebted to Susan

Lewthwaite of the Law Society of Upper Canada Archives for this information.

117."Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear
Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"

Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed" Toronto

Star 10 March 1930.

118. "Klansmen of Hamilton Defend Their Conduct in 'Raid' at Oakville" Toronto Globe

3 March 1930, p.1,3; Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not
Wear Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at
Oakville" Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed"

Toronto Star 10 March 1930.



119. Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear

Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"

Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed" Toronto

Star 10 March 1930.

120. Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear
Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"
Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed" Toronto

Star 10 March 1930.

121. The Toronto Star would raise some question about this verdict in an editorial "The
Oakville Case" 12 March 1930, p.1-2. Recognizing that the two men discharged by Mcllveen
had not had their faces coloured and had not worn masks, the Star queried whether this was
sufficient to warrant an acquittal. Weren't Taylor and Orme still "disguised," given their garb of
the "white gowns and hoods of this secret society?" The offence required proof that the
individual charged have "his face masked or blackened, or be...otherwise disguised, by night."
The use of the disjunctive "or" suggests that even with faces uncovered, there might have been
some argument that Taylor and Orme were "disguised." The Star urged the Crown to "carry

these two cases to a higher court." No appeal was ever mounted.

122. Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear
Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"
Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed" Toronto

Star 10 March 1930.



123. Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear

Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"

Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed" Toronto

Star 10 March 1930.

124. Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear
Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"
Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15; "One Klansman Fined and Two are Freed" Toronto

Star 10 March 1930.

125. Klansman Fined $50 and Costs, Two Others Found Not Guilty; Did Not Wear

Masks in Raid" Toronto Globe 11 March 1930, p.1,3; "Local Klansman is Fined at Oakville"

Hamilton Spectator 11 March 1930, p.15. "Hamilton Klan Member Fined" London Free Press
11 March 1930, p.9 notes that the costs were $33, and that in lieu of payment, the convicted man

would have had to serve thirty days.

126. "K.K.K. Prosecutions Ended With One Conviction Won" Toronto Star 11 March

1930, p.2.

127. "K.K.K. Prosecutions Ended With One Conviction Won" Toronto Star 11 March

1930, p.2.

128. "Oakville and the K.K.K." Dawn of Tomorrow 24 March 1930, p.2. The Dawn of

Tomorrow was edited and published by James Jenkins in London, Ontario from 1923 to 1931,



the time of his death. His widow Christine Jenkins continued the operation. For details, see

Braithwaite and Benn-Ireland Some Black Women at 65. "The Oakville Case" Toronto Star 12

March 1930, p.1-2 also raises queries about the acquittals of Taylor and Orme.

129. The KKK wrote to Cross and to Rev. Maurice Eisendrath (for further information,
see further discussion in this chapter) several letters it released to the press, demanding
"retraction" of statements "against the Klan" and threatening "immediate action" for slander.

The letter to Cross also states: "It is apparent that you sadly misunderstood the notice prompting
the Klan's action at Oakville, or that you were determined to discredit the fact that we acted in a
lawful manner, or that you were making much of an opportunity to gain for yourself free public
advertisement. [While it may be your legal privilege to marry] a Chinese, a Jewess, a white
woman or any other nationality, as [you] are quoted as saying, the Klan believes it would be a
sad state of affairs if mixed marriages and racial impurity were to gain favor." "Klan May March
Again in Answer to Appeals" Toronto Star 26 March 1930, p.1-3; "Ku Klux Klan Will Appeal

Court Decision" London Advertiser 15 March 1930, p.1.

130. "House Raided by K.K.K. is Burned" London Free Press 18 March 1930, p.1.

131. Cross's letter to the Attorney General reads: "I take it this is a veiled threat and
disguised intimidation aimed at me by the spokesman of this outlaw body. May I suggest to you
that an organization which vauntingly proclaims 'we will do what the law cannot do,' and in spite
of the conviction of one of its members recently, with brazen defiance still maintains that it will
continue to invade the rights and liberties of the citizen who falls foul of its tenets, is eminently a

fit subject for your attention and should be shorn of some of its arrogance." "K.K.K. Drops All



Interest in Oakville Couple's Affairs" Toronto Star 24 March 1930, p.1-2; "Complaint is Made of

Ku Klux Claims" Toronto Globe 24 March 1930, p.1; "Four Face Charges" Toronto Star 7

March 1930, p.1; "Believe Klan..." Toronto Star 8§ March 1930, p.1; "Indian Marries Oakville
Girl" London Free Press 24 March 1930, p.15. On the KKK's tactics of intimidation against
Black lawyers in the southern United States prior to World War II, see Smith Emancipation who
notes at 300-1: "The sacrifices made by black lawyers challenging the system...were enormous.
Some were run out of town, disbarred on dubious charges, or physically attacked. Black lawyers
supporting the NAACP became marked men." Smith also notes at 247, 301 and 353 that
Florida's first Black lawyer to hold a judicial post, James Dean, was removed from office in 1889
for issuing a marriage licence to a Black Cuban woman and a fair-skinned Black man who
looked white. Black lawyer Thomas Gillis Nutter faced mob violence at the courthouse door in
West Virginia at the turn of the century, after he defended a Black man charged with raping a
white woman. Black lawyers defending Black men charged with rape in Tennessee were, on

occasion, forced to flee the state after their clients were lynched.

132. "Klansmen's Names Demanded of Price by Negro Barrister" Toronto Globe 17
March 1930, p.13-14. Closer to home, it appears that racial mixture between Blacks and whites
was also endemic. Power and Butler Slavery and Freedom in Niagara note at 71 that by 1871,
most of the Blacks in the Niagara area were "of mixed race. The pure-blooded African was
fading away in Niagara - in fact and in memory." Power and Butler also note at 61 that there

were many mixed marriages of Blacks and whites in 19th-century Niagara.

133. "Klansmen's Names Demanded of Price by Negro Barrister" Toronto Globe 17

March 1930, p.13-14; "K.K.K. Drops All Interest in Oakville Couple's Affairs" Toronto Star 24



March 1930, p.1-2; "Earlscourt Labor Protests Activities of Ku Klux Klan" Toronto Globe 21
March 1930, p.14. On the exploitative and forced sexual relations between white men and Black

women, see Davis Women, Race and Class.

134. "Klan Took Oakville Girl from Negro Home" Toronto Star 1 March 1930, p.2.

135. "Has No Negro Blood, Klan Victim Declares" Toronto Star 5 March 1930, p.2;
"Declares Negro Blood Improves White Race" Toronto Star 1 April 1930, p.2. Pitt stated: "Of
course I do not know what the results of intermarriage would be from a biological
standpoint...but [ am inclined to think that it would be a forced condition. The theory seems to
me to be mere speculation. I would rather not discuss the matter further, as I do not think it
would do my own race any good to begin a controversy on the color question. Whenever in the
past there has been a discussion of the 'evils' of mixed marriages, the censure has always been
passed against the colored party and not the white." Pitt's comments are in response to a speech
given by Dr. Edwin Grant Conklin, a professor of biology from Princeton University, to the
Canadian Club on 31 March 1930. There Conklin stated that the only solution to the color
problem in the United States was "the losing of the distinctiveness of the negro by blending with
other racial elements in the process of time." Recognizing the inevitability of racial mixing,
Conklin stated: "It has never happened that two races, no matter how distinct, have inhabited the
same territory for a thousand years without losing their distinctiveness and blending their traits."
Conklin was not, however, a racial egalitarian. He was a charter member of the racist Galton
Society in New York and he advocated reducing the birth rate "among inferior races" and
increasing it "among superior peoples." "Savant Would Blend Negroes with Whites" Toronto

Daily Star 1 April 1930, p.9; Hamilton Cravens The Triumph of Evolution (Philadelphia:



University of Pennsylvania Press, 1978) at 115-17.

136. On the history of Black nationalism, see Tony Martin Race First: The Ideological

and Organizational Struggles of Marcus Garvey and the Negro Improvement Association

(Westport, Conn.: Greenwood, 1976) and Theodore G. Vincent Black Power and the Garvey
Movement (Berkeley: Ramparts, 1971) on Garvey's activities of the 1930s. On the influence of

Marcus Garvey in Canadian Black communities, see Alexander and Glaze Towards Freedom at

130-3. See also Gary Peller "Race Consciousness" Duke Law Journal (1990) 758-847, who

notes that the Black nationalist tradition was manifest in Booker T. Washington's self-help and
separatist ideas of Black advancement, and in W.E.B. Du Bois's critique of the NAACP's policy
of integration in the 1930s. For more detailed analysis of racial discrimination in employment,

housing and access to public facilities, see discussion of Viola Desmond's case in chapter 7.

137. "Declares Negro Blood Improves White Race" Toronto Star 1 April 1930, p.2.
These remarks were made in the context of responding to Professor Conklin's lecture, prompting
Cross to note: "Dr. Conklin in his observations on race blending is in line with science on this
question." Cross continued his advocacy of Black genetic input by adding: "His virility

combined with the mental sharpness of the white man would give a better race."

138. "Klansmen's Names Demanded of Price by Negro Barrister" Toronto Globe 17
March 1930, p.13-14; "K.K.K. Drops All Interest in Oakville Couple's Affairs" Toronto Star 24
March 1930, p.1-2; "Earlscourt Labor Protests Activities of Ku Klux Klan" Toronto Globe 21
March 1930, p.14. Another group that supported Cross's position was the International League

for Peace and Freedom, represented by Mrs. Alice Lowe: see "Has No Negro Blood, Klan



Victim Declares" Toronto Star 5 March 1930, p.1-3. For more details concerning racial

segregation in Canada, see the discussion of Viola Desmond's case in chapter 7.

139. "Rabbi Calls K.K.K. Lawless Body" Hamilton Spectator 24 March 1930, p.19;
"K.K.K. Drops All Interest in Oakville Couple's Affairs" Toronto Star 24 March 1930, p.1-2.
Rabbi Eisendrath also states: "The Roman Catholic church is not the religious menace in this
country. Surely that menace is to be found in the bigotry and fanaticism embodied in so august
an organization as the Ku Klux Klan. Between the domination of the Pope sitting in his Vatican
and the grand kleagle of the Klan I would choose the pope, each and every time." On the
friendships and political connections forged between Jewish and Black communities, see

Alexander and Glaze Towards Freedom at 191-2. Eisendrath was born in Chicago, Illinois in

1902 to N.J. Eisendrath and Clara Osterreicher. In 1937, Rabbi Eisendrath would find "black
crepe nailed to his door," a message of intimidation from the Canadian Nazi movement. For
details about Eisendrath, whose wife was also a peace activist, see Gerald Tulchinsky "The

Jewish Experience in Ontario to 1960" in Roger Hall et al. Patterns of the Past: Interpreting
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Eisendrath The Never Failing Stream (Toronto: Macmillan, 1939); "Eisendrath, Rabbi Maurice

Nathan, B.H.L., B.A." Who's Who in Canada, 1936-37 (Toronto: International Press, 1937) at
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141. "No Country for a Ku Klux" Toronto Globe 3 March 1930, p.4. "The Oakville
Case" Toronto Star 12 March 1930, p.1-2, notes: "The kind of men who allow their inclinations
and preferences to guide them, instead of their reason, may condone what was done at Oakville.
But even though they condone that which was done, they should be able to perceive that the
instrument used in the doing of it is one that cannot be tolerated in Ontario or in Canada or in any
British country. [...] The night-riding, the uniform, the invasion of a private dwelling, the
removal of an individual from one place to another - all this was lawlessness, in contempt of the
Crown and all our lawful institutions. [...] It is all well enough for such an organization to profess
good intentions, but no secret court of self-elected persons can be permitted to carry on in this
province in defiance of our lawful institutions." Some newspapers were less affable. William
Templeton's Guelph Mercury was one of the most oppositional: see earlier discussion in this
chapter. "A Menace to Law and Order" Regina Morning [.eader 29 November 1922, p.4, also
states: "The moment...any...organizing official of the Ku Klux Klan steps across the border, he
should be booted back over it. Canada has enough problems on her hands at the present time
without being stirred up by the lawlessness for which the 'invisible empire' stands. [...] It seeks to
establish 'the solidarity of the Protestant Gentile white race not only in the United States but
throughout the world.' This brands it as anti-Catholic and anti-Semitic and sets it against every
race but the Caucasian - a strange program to be promulgated at this late date in human history,
when co-operation among all races and religions is beginning to show itself far more profitable
to the world than division, dissension and conflict. [...] [T]he authorities in Canada should be
prompt to act against the menace the moment it rears its mischievous head in this country. We
have here, as the United States has, Catholics and Protestants, Gentiles and Jews, whites and

blacks and browns and reds and yellows, all living in increasing harmony one with the other.



Setting one against another would be fatal to that ideal of Canadian unity toward which all
sections of the country are now working...." A few periodicals were equally antagonistic. "The
Ku Klux Klan" The Canadian Annual Review (1923) at 82-3 cites the threats of violence
associated with Klan activities and claims that Canada "would not prove a suitable field for the
Klan's operations." "The Ku Klux Klan" The Canadian Forum v.9 (April 1930) at 233 states:
"The Klan spirit is rooted in intolerance and can bear only evil fruit. [...] There is no place for it

in Canada."

142. A.D. Monk "Knights of the Knightshirt" The Canadian Magazine v.66 (October
1926) 31 also adds: "[O]ne wonders that a plan so utterly un-Canadian and un-British should find

root in our soil."

143. For two noteworthy exceptions, see the discussion regarding William Templeton,
the white editor of the Guelph Mercury discussed above, and "A Menace to Law and Order"

Regina Morning [.eader 29 November 1922, p.4.

144. On the $4 commission rate, see Wade The Fiery Cross at 154. The charter of the
Canadian Klan provided that the three original organizers should be the "Imperial officers," with
the right to "share equally in the income" and "determine the salaries" paid. Richards "Claims of
the Ku Klux Klan;" "Ku Klux Klan Diminishes in U.S." Saturday Night 16 October 1926, p.1-2;
Monk "Knights of the Knightshirt" at 31. The reference to the Welland Tribune-Telegraph is
from the Canadian Magazine article; no date or page reference is given. Similar preoccupation
with the finances of the Klan appears in the debates of the House of Commons: see, for example,

Debates House of Commons, v.1 (24 March 1931) at 252-3.



145. Monk "Knights of the Knightshirt" at 31. Richards "How the Ku Klux Klan Came
to Canada" at 1-2 uses the phrase "queer happenings" to describe cross-burnings, the dynamiting
of Roman Catholic buildings, the shooting of bullets and campaigns to prevent the employment
of individuals based on their "racial" heritage. This characterization considerably downplays the
violent, hate-mongering of the Klan. Even the Regina Morning Leader "A Menace to Law and
Order" 29 November 1922, p.4, in an editorial that is adverse to the Klan on explicitly anti-racist
and egalitarian principles, makes light of Klan connections to violent deeds: "The suspicion that
the Ku Klux Klan is responsible for the fire that destroyed St. Boniface College last Saturday is
probably unfounded and silly enough...." See also "The Ku Klux Klan" The Canadian Forum v.9
(April 1930) at 233, which refers to the "offensive buffoonery of the Ku Klux Klan in Canada."
The Edmonton Journal 25 September 1933 quotes the particularly bizarre comments of an
Alberta judge, who describes some activities of the Klan as reminding him of "boys who go into
the woods to play Indians." These statements were made in the context of a trial that found Klan
organizer J.J. Maloney guilty of theft and conspiracy in connection with the removal of legal

documents from the office of an Edmonton lawyer.
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Debates House of Commons, v.2 (29 April 1930) at 1557. Henson "Ku Klux Klan" reports at 6
that Evans was one of the M.P.'s accused of being a Klan member in the 1920s. See also Robin

Shades of Right at 14, who notes that the Ontario Klansmen "remained, for the most part,

mundane fraternalists eager to disassociate themselves from the reputation of violence and

lawlessness, tar and feathers, that plagued their American relatives."



147. For some examples, see Wade The Fiery Cross at 63-84.

148. "Klansman Argues Sentence Appeal" London Advertiser 16 April 1930, p.17;
"Klansman and U.S. Gangsters Feel Teeth of Canadian Law" Toronto Globe 17 April 1930,
p.13-14; "Klansman Appealed Only to be Jailed" Toronto Star 17 March 1930; "Klansman Loses
Appeal Against Oakville Fine and Must Go to Jail" London Advertiser 17 April 1930, p.3; "'Had
No Lawful Excuse' Judge Says of K.K.Klan" Toronto Star 1 April 1930, p.1-2. No court
transcripts or files survive, but Chief Justice Sir William Mulock's Benchbook #14, Court of
Appeal of Ontario Archives at 309 contain the judge's notes of counsel's argument. Judge David
Inglis Grant was born in 1872 in Ingersoll, Ontario, the son of Rev. Robert Neil Grant of Orillia
and Mary McMullen Grant of Woodstock. He was called to the bar "with honours and the silver
medal" in 1895, obtained his KC in 1921, and practised law in Orillia until 1911 and Toronto
until his appointment to the High Court in 1925. The "scholarly" judge was elevated to the Court
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No Lawful Excuse' Judge Says of K.K.Klan" Toronto Star 1 April 1930, p.1-2; Chief Justice Sir



William Mulock's Benchbook #14, Court of Appeal of Ontario Archives at 309. Inexplicably,
the benchbook indicates that Bowlby argued that "the men were not masked." While this was a
finding made at trial with respect to Taylor and Orme, Bowlby had expressly conceded that Dr.
Phillips was masked in the earlier proceeding. It is difficult to understand what Bowlby intended
by this argument. If he meant to suggest Dr. Phillips was not masked, he had little basis for
doing so. If he meant to suggest that others in Dr. Phillips's party were not masked, this would
conceivably place his client at a disadvantageous contrast with the other marchers. Chief Justice
Mulock's benchbook notes that Bowlby also made an alternative argument, that if his client were
masked, that he had "lawful excuse." The judge's notes indicate that both counsel also made
arguments of statutory interpretation, with Bowlby arguing that s.455(c) should be read as part of
the larger offence of housebreaking, while Bayly argued on behalf of the Crown that "words of
limitation are not to be read into a statute if it can be avoided." Bayly also queried what "lawful
excuse" there could be "for burglary or housebreaking?" Judge William Edward Middleton was
born in Toronto, the son of William and Mary A. (Norerre) Middleton, called to the bar in 1885,
and appointed to the court in 1910. Elevated to the Court of Appeal in 1928, Judge Middleton
was reputed to be "brilliant," a "recognized authority in procedural matters," and someone who
"looked at law through a microscope" operating "within a narrow frame of reference." On

Middleton, see "Middleton, Hon. Mr. Justice William Edward" Who's Who in Canada, 1930-31

at 548; Betcherman Little Band at 82, citing her interview with W.B. Common QC, 9 June 1980.

151. Bartley "Public Nuisance" at 162, 167-70. Bartley adds, however, that Bayly "was
reluctant to challenge the Klan except on the most narrow legal grounds. To do otherwise would

contribute to the Klan's publicity efforts and erode the credibility of the legal system."



152. On the Sero v. Gault case, see chapter 4. Edward J. Bayly was born in London,
Ontario in 1865, the son of a merchant/manufacturer, William Bayly, and his wife, Susan Wilson
Bayly. A graduate of Trinity College School and Toronto University, Bayly was called to the
bar in 1890, and served as an examiner of the Law Society of Upper Canada from 1896 to 1899.
He won the Canada Cup sailing for Aemilius Jarvis's Royal Canadian Yacht Club crew in Toledo
in 1896, was the "star" of the University of Toronto football team, Osgoode Hall's "star" left
halfback, and the President of the Canadian Rugby Union and the Ontario Rugby Football
Union. Bayly carried on a private law practice with James Haverson KC, Edmond Bristol KC,
Seymour Corley KC and Mr. Justice Eric Armour until his appointment as a full-time solicitor
for the Attorney-General's department in Toronto in 1907. His friendship with Attorney General
Price stretched back to Price's stint as a law student in Bayly's law office. Described as a "noted
conversationalist," who could "discourse at great length on an amazing range of subjects with
authority," Bayly was acknowledged as "perhaps the best known member of the civil service."
He also served as the president of the Ontario Civil Service Association. His junior colleagues at
the Attorney General's office recall him "in full sail" seated behind his "treasured walnut desk,"
waxing eloquent about his past exploits in football, boating, and driving his big Pierce Arrow.
Bayly is described as a "heavy set figure, often clad in a frock coat" in his obituary. Betcherman
provides details of Bayly's physical description, adding that in his later years, the "noiseless,
effortless glide" of the ex-athlete was "becoming somewhat jerky." "He was in the habit of
writing memos to himself," she adds, "which he stuck into his hat-band, and as he shuffled to
Queen's Park, whenever he doffed his hat to an acquaintance, bits of paper would flutter in his
wake." Henry James Morgan ed. The Canadian Men and Women of the Time 2nd ed. (Toronto:

William Briggs, 1912) at 70; "Edward Bayly, K.C., Stricken Suddenly in Sixty-Ninth Year"



Toronto Globe 30 January 1934, p.4-5; "Edward Bayly, K.C. Suddenly Stricken" Toronto Star
30 January 1934, p.3; Betcherman Little Band at 51, 163, 221, citing author's interviews with
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153. "Klansman Argues Sentence Appeal" London Advertiser 16 April 1930, p.17;

"Klansman and U.S. Gangsters Feel Teeth of Canadian Law" Toronto Globe 17 April 1930,

p.13.

154. Bayly's obituary would describe him as "particularly proud of his Welsh ancestry."
"Edward Bayly, K.C., Stricken Suddenly in Sixty-Ninth Year" Toronto Globe 30 January 1934,
p.4-5. On the Klan's claim that it was no different from other fraternal lodges on the matter of

racial exclusivity, see Blee Women of the Klan at 18.

155. Rex v. Phillips (1930), 55 C.C.C. 49 (Ont. C.A.) at 50-1. Judge Fisher of the Ontario
Supreme Court delivered a similar judicial opinion in 1926, at the conviction of William
McCathern, a Black Chatham man, for the rape of Alice McColl, his white female employer.
During the trial, Fisher praised the "law abiding citizens of Chatham" for their restraint in
allowing the legal process to complete its course. "Thank God," he noted, "in this country there
is no law for, nor practice of permitting the disposal of any crime, no matter how serious by mob
violence, lynching, or burning at the stake." See Barrington Walker "Gender, Sexual
Transgressions, and Representations of Black Masculinity in Judicial Discourse: The John Paris

and William McCathern Trials in 1920s Canada" unpublished manuscript.

156. Rex v. Phillips at 51. For press commentary, see "Klansman and U.S. Gangsters



Feel Teeth of Canadian Law" Toronto Globe 17 April 1930, p.13-14; "Impose Jail Sentence on

Klan Masker" Saskatoon Star-Phoenix 17 April 1930, p.1.

157. "Mulock, The Rt. Hon. Sir William, P.C., K.C.M.G." Who's Who in Canada, 1936-

37 at 483-4. Mulock was the son of Mary Cawthra and Dr. Thomas Homan Mulock. Mulock's
wealth came from his mother's side, for Mary Cawthra was descended from Toronto's first
millionaire family. The early death of his doctor father, Thomas Homan Mulock, precipitated
some financial constraint in his student years, but in later life Mulock made a fortune speculating
in real estate and the stock market. Called to the bar in 1868, he received his KC in 1890. His
brilliant negotiation and organizational skills are credited with the consolidation of nine separate
colleges and professional schools into the University of Toronto, and the development of a
telecommunications cable linking Canada, Britain, Australia and New Zealand. His religious
affiliation was Anglican. Sources note that no amount of aging seemed to curtail Mulock's relish
for rye whisky and his trademark Havana cigars. On Mulock's physical appearance, finances and

reputation, see Betcherman Little Band at 207-8, citing Herbert Bruce Varied Operations

(Toronto, 1958) at 274-80; R.T.L. [Charles Vinning] Bigwigs, Canadian and Otherwise
(Toronto, 1935) at 120; Ross Harkness J.E. Atkinson of The Star (Toronto, 1963) at 84-5;
Toronto Star 6 September 1929. Betcherman also describes at 207-8 Mulock's antipathy to the
Communist Party and its leaders, whom he convicted of violating s.98 of the "Criminal Code" in
1932: "Of men in public life, none...was as outspokenly anti-Communist as Sir William Mulock,
Chief Justice of Ontario. Communism sought to eradicate everything he had achieved in a long
life that far exceeded the allotted biblical span." In what surely constitutes a noteworthy footnote
to his historical legacy, Mulock also hired Clara Brett Martin, Canada's first white female

lawyer, to work as an articling student for his law firm in the 1890s, despite the considerable



controversy evoked by her presence in the legal profession. His sponsorship of Clara Brett
Martin is usually attributed to his daughter's friendship with the budding young female lawyer,
and not to any principled endorsement of women's rights generally. On the link with Clara Brett
Martin, see Backhouse Petticoats and Prejudice at 309. On Clara Brett Martin's career generally,
see Backhouse supra at 293-326; Constance Backhouse "To Open the Way for Others of My
Sex: Clara Brett Martin's Career as Canada's First Woman Lawyer" Canadian Journal of Women
and the Law 1:1 (1985) at 1-41; Constance Backhouse "Clara Brett Martin: Canadian Heroine or

Not?" and "Response" Canadian Journal of Women and the Law 5:2 (1992) at 263-79 and 351-4.

158. Rex v. Phillips at 50: "These facts show illegal interference with her liberty. The
motive of the accused and his companions is immaterial. Their action was unlawful and it is the
duty of this Court to pronounce the appropriate punishment." The reporter for the Canadian
Criminal Cases added an introductory paragraph to help readers make sense of the decision:
"The case arises out of the methods adopted by members of a secret organization who without
physical force induced a white girl to leave the house of the aunt of a man with whom she was
friendly who was not of white origin." The reporter's note is the only reference to race,
designating the "whiteness" of Isabel Jones. The debate over Ira Johnson's purported First
Nations' and Black origins is delicately sidestepped by classifying him as "not of white origin."
The KKK is still not mentioned, and remains a mysterious "secret organization." The failure to
advert to the KKK may be partly attributed to discussion during the appeal, in which Judge
Hodgins asked whether the men from Hamilton "formed an organization of any kind." Since it is
unlikely that the judges could have missed the extensive press commentary on the case, and the
widespread acknowledgment of KKK involvement, this must have been an effort to get counsel

to implicate the KKK formally for the record. Defence counsel Bowlby replied that the men



"had been referred to as the Ku Klux Klan, but that there was no ground for that assertion in the
evidence." "'Had No Lawful Excuse' Judge Says of K.K. Klan" Toronto Star 1 April 1930, p.1-
2. Bowlby's reply was clearly erroneous, since Harold Orme had admitted his Klan membership
on the stand at trial. Dr. Phillips testified that the gown and hood he was wearing belonged to
the "order" to which he belonged. Since he and Orme wore the same garb, it was stretching
matters to suggest that there was no evidence from the trial concerning Klan involvement. On
the proclivity of Canadian courts to avoid racial designation in racialized litigation, see also

discussion of Viola Desmond's case in chapter 7.

159. "Appeal is Talked by Klan" London Advertiser 17 April 1930, p.1. Criminal
appeals to the Supreme Court of Canada are authorized under the "Criminal Code" R.S.C. 1927,
c.36, s.1023, which provides that "any person convicted of any indictable offence whose
conviction has been affirmed on an appeal...may appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada against

the affirmation of such conviction on any question of law on which there has been dissent in the

Court of Appeal." See also R. v. Steinberg, 56 C.C.C. 9; R. v. Reinblatt, [1933] S.C.R. 694.

160. "Appeal is Talked by Klan" London Advertiser 17 April 1930, p.1. Bowlby's
apparent growing sense of unease over his client's activities was also apparent when he appeared
before the Ontario Court of Appeal on behalf of Dr. Phillips. Reid Bowlby pressed his client's
case forcefully, but admitted in open court that "he held no brief for the Klan." See "Klansman

Appealed Only to be Jailed" Toronto Star 17 March 1930.

161. "Appeal is Talked by Klan" London Advertiser 17 April 1930, p.1-2; "No Further

Appeal in Phillips Case" London Advertiser 18 April 1930, p.1.



162. "Hamilton Klansman Begins Term in Jail" Toronto Globe 24 april 1930, p.2.

163. "Still on Strike" Milton Canadian Champion 8 May 1930, p.3; "Klansman Tries
Hunger Strike" Acton Free Press 8 May 1930, p.8; Transcript of Jail Register Entry, Milton Jail,

AO RG20, Series F-23, v.7, entry #162.

164. Robin Shades of Right notes at 15 that the "Klan's desultory attempts at intimidation

and skirmishes with the law, duly reported by a press seeking sensational linkages with their
American cousins, seriously hampered the Ontario organizational campaign." Winks Blacks in
Canada notes at 324-5 that "the glare of publicity, the prompt provincial action, and a continuing
rumor that the Klan was an American conspiracy to set Canadians against each other, put an end

to Klan activities in Ontario."

165. Sher White Hoods notes at 60 that internally, the Klan "was weakened by constant
bickering among its leaders and scandals which saw some of them brought to trial for fraud, theft
and other charges." He also notes that the failure of the Canadian Klan to develop a truly
national structure consigned the smaller, provincial associations to a fractured and less effective
movement. Sher also cites "external opposition" from labour, French Catholics and some

individual newspaper editors as a factor in the downturn of KKK power.

166. Sher White Hoods notes at 60 that the Klan in Canada faded in the late 1920s and

virtually disappeared for almost half a century. See also Winks Blacks in Canada 324-5.

167. "This and That" Acton Free Press 15 May 1930, p.6.



168. Vernon City of Hamilton Directories (Hamilton: Vernon Directories, 1930, 1931,
and 1932) show William A. Phillips as continuing to operate his chiropractic office from 127 1/2

King E., and residing with his wife, Laura, on Burlington West.

169. The date of disbarment is 21 January 1937. The grounds for disbarment are listed in
Law Society of Upper Canada "Convocation Proceedings" v.8, and the press release in the Law
Society of Upper Canada Archives Member File of Ethelbert Lionel Cross #675-3300,
specifying "misappropriation of funds." It is also indicated that Cross did not appear and went
unrepresented at his disciplinary hearing. Talbot "History of Blacks in the Law Society" states at
66: "[Cross's] career was short-lived when, in 1937, after encountering professional difficulties,
he left the practice of law. The reasons [for] this are unclear but there can be little doubt that the
Great Depression may have had a great influence." Disbarment appears to have plagued Black
lawyers disproportionately to their numbers, and further research would be necessary to assess
the ways in which race discrimination affected such outcomes. Talbot notes at 68 that, of the
five Black lawyers practising in Ontario in the 1940s and 1950s, "two were disbarred, one in
1948 and the other in 1953." On the disciplinary vigilance that the Law Society showed towards
Black lawyers, who were accused of "touting" and "conduct unbecoming," see Oral History
Transcript of Mr. Charles Roach, The Osgoode Society, Interviewed by Christine J.N. Kates,

November-December 1989.

170. Talbot "History of Blacks in the Law Society" recounts the police assault in
February 1942 at 67-8, indicating that it "illustrates some of the hazards faced by a Black
lawyer." Talbot also indicates that Pitt's most famous case was his defence of Bill Newell, who

was convicted of murdering his wife, Anne Newell in October 1940, on Centre Island. The



internationally-based Universal Negro Improvement Association was founded in 1914 by
Marcus Mosiah Garvey, a Jamaican-born Black who sought to "organize the 400 million
Negroes of the world into a vast organization to plant the banner of freedom on the great
continent of Africa." Garvey advocated Black pride, Black nationalism, economic self-help, and
economic, political and cultural independence from whites. The first Canadian unit opened in
Montreal in 1919. The Montreal, Halifax and Toronto chapters were the most active. Pitt is
credited with holding the Toronto chapter together into the 1940s. During the 1940s, when
Black patrons and musicians were barred from many night clubs, they congregated in the
Toronto UNIA building on College Street for evening jazz sessions, which became a venue for
remarkable musical talent. The UNIA also functioned as a centre for Black culture and political

strategizing. See Winks Blacks in Canada at 414-6; Alexander and Glaze Towards Freedom at

128-33. Alexander and Glaze note at 133 that "Garvey's statements about racial purity and
attacks on light-skinned blacks alienated many, for inter-racial marriages between blacks and
whites, and blacks and Indians were quite common at the time." Given Pitt's public position
against inter-racial marriages, he may have had less difficulty with this than other UNIA

adherents.

171. Campbell Hamilton at 155 records Reid Bowlby's elevation to the bench. Bowlby
died on 8 April 1952 in Hamilton. I am indebted to Susan Lewthwaite of the Law Society of

Upper Canada Archives for the information on Bowlby.

172. "Edward Bayly, K.C. Suddenly Stricken" Toronto Star 30 January 1934, p.3.

173. "Mulock, The Rt. Hon., Sir William, P.C., K.C.M.G." Who's Who in Canada, 1936-




37 at 483.

174. Dan La Forme, described as a "Chippewa Indian of Oakville," who had been a
personal friend of Ira Johnson's for over twenty years, made arrangements for the marriage venue
and acted as a witness to the ceremony. Despite having secured a letter of consent from Isabel
Jones's mother, Ira Johnson had some difficulty locating a pastor who would perform the service,
and at least one refused to conduct the ceremony. Captain Broome continued to maintain his
public opposition to inter-racial marriages, but indicated that he had no objection to Ira Johnson
personally, and wished him luck. Contacted by the Star for his opinion, Harold Orme, acting as
spokesman for the Hamilton Ku Klux Klan, conceded defeat. Pronouncing the matter now
closed, Orme stated: "We will not put asunder what God hath joined together." Ira Johnson
requested some measure of privacy from continuing press scrutiny: "We are only human," he

told the Star, "and I wish the people would leave us alone." "Indian Marries Oakville Girl"

London Free Press 24 March 1930, p.15; "K.K.K. Drops All Interest in Oakville Couple's
Affairs" Toronto Star 24 March 1930, p.1-2; "K.K.K. Oakville Raid Has Sequel at Altar"

Toronto Star 24 March 1930, p.1-2.

ENDNOTES TO CHAPTER SEVEN

1. Details surrounding the arrest are taken from "Affidavit of Viola Irene Desmond" 29

January 1947 His Majesty the King v. Viola Irene Desmond Public Archives of Nova Scotia

(hereafter PANS) RG39 "C" Halifax, v.937, Supreme Court of Nova Scotia #13347; "Negress



Alleges She Was Ejected From Theatre" Halifax Chronicle 30 November 1946, p.2; "Ban All Jim
Crow Rules is Comment on N.S. Charge" Toronto Star 30 November 1946, p.3. Material from this
chapter was presented as the Seventh Annual Gibson-Armstrong Lecture in Law and History at
Osgoode Hall Law School in February, 1994, and an earlier version is published as "Racial
Segregation in Canadian Legal History: Viola Desmond's Challenge, Nova Scotia 1946" Dalhousie

Law Journal 17:2 (Fall 1994) 299-362.

2. The original proprietor of the Roseland Theatre appears to have been Norman W. Mason,
a "showman, businessman and actor" who was one of New Glasgow's preeminent entertainment
czars for almost a quarter of a century. Elected three times as Mayor of New Glasgow, he later sold

the theatre to Henry (Harry) MacNeil. James M. Cameron About New Glasgow (New Glasgow,
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1991) at 20 and discussion of the KKK prosecution in chapter 6 of this book. On the cultural
meaning of Black-face minstrelsy, described as the "first self-consciously white entertainers," and
the projection of white fears and fascination upon African-American music and dance, see David R.

Roediger The Wages of Whiteness (London: Verso, 1991) at 116-119.

3. There were Canadian historical precedents for Viola Desmond's direct action approach.

In 1791, a Black man was refused admission to a public dance in Sydney, Cape Breton, and he



physically attempted to force his way into the dance. His efforts resulted in his death, for he was

murdered by a white man in the course of an ensuing fight. The killer was acquitted at trial on the

ground of self-defence: Robin W. Winks The Blacks in Canada: A History (New Haven: Yale
University Press, 1971) at 51; Colin A. Thomson Blacks in Deep Snow: Black Pioneers in Canada
(Don Mills, Ont.: .M. Dent, 1979) at 19. Winks notes at 283-4 that in November of 1860, the
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John McLaren eds. Essays in the History of Canadian Law: British Columbia and the Yukon
(Toronto: The Osgoode Society, 1995) 508 at 547; J. Clay Smith, Jr. Emancipation: The Making of
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Diba B. Majzub "A God Sent Land for the Colored People'? The Legal Treatment of Blacks in
Victoria 1858-1865" unpublished manuscript, 1997; Pilton "Negro Settlement in British Columbia."
Following the second theatre riot, Victoria theatres posted notices on their play-bills that Blacks
would only be permitted to sit in the gallery. Hundreds of Blacks petitioned white Governor James
Douglas to intervene, but theatre segregation continued. Alexander McCarthy purchased a ticket
for the parquette in the Victoria Theatre on 10 December 1863, and was then asked to move
because he was Black. He refused, and was arrested and charged with creating a disturbance and
resisting arrest. Magistrate Pemberton dismissed the charges of creating disturbance, but convicted
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12. "Negress Alleges She Was Ejected From Theatre" Halifax Chronicle 30 November
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1946, p.3. MacNeil continued: "We have a large colored patronage at our theatre and we don't
permit color discrimination to be a determining factor. It would be poor policy for us to set up a

color bar. [...] There was no discrimination."
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15. Viola Desmond's older sister recalls her sister's actions as unpremeditated: "I think it was
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was a white plantation owner...I can't tell you about his mother - I don't know. This is where the
mixed race comes in. Henry Walter Johnson was maybe seven-eighths white - who is white, who is
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(Mrs. A. Scott.) There were two brothers and one sister in Halifax: John Davis, Alan Davis, Wanda
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ends meet; Notes of the researcher who assisted with the compilation of material for this chapter,
Allen B. Robertson "Interview with Jack Desmond," Halifax 16 June 1993 and 23 June 1993;

Backhouse "Interview with Wanda Robson;" Backhouse "Interview with Mrs. S.A. (Emily) Clyke."
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hairdressing, see Lois W. Banner American Beauty (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1983) who notes
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era of the expansion of beauty parlors."

22. Viola's sister, Wanda Robson, recalls that Viola Desmond lived at the "Y" and worked
part-time as a cigarette girl at "Small's Paradise" nightclub in Harlem to make ends meet. Viola
Desmond took great pains to conceal her Harlem employment from her mother, because she knew
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the compilation of material for this chapter "Interview with Wanda Robson" North Sydney, October
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Desmond;" Brigdlal Pachai Beneath the Clouds of the Promised Land: The Survival of Nova
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Madam C.J. (Sarah Breedlove) (1867-1919)" in Darlene Clark Hine Black Women in America: An
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European aesthetic standards. However, she notes that Black beauty culturists emphasized
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industry.

23. Jack's father, Norman Mansfield Desmond, was a hack driver for John Church's Livery
Stable and a founding deacon of the New Glasgow Black Baptist Church. Jack Desmond's mother,
Annie Williams, worked as a domestic servant. Both Jack's parents were born into farming families
in Tracadie in Antigonish County: Robertson "Interview with Jack Desmond;" Pachai Beneath the
Clouds at 152-4, 297; New Glasgow Clarion 1:1 (December 1946); Halifax-Dartmouth City
Directories (Halifax: Might Directories Atlantic, 1938-1946.) On the migration of about three
thousand free Black Loyalists to Nova Scotia after the American Revolution during the 1780s, see
Donald Clairmont and Fred Wien "Blacks and Whites: the Nova Scotia Race Relations Experience"

in Douglas F. Campbell Banked Fires: The Ethnics of Nova Scotia (Port Credit, Ont.: Scribblers'
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24. Jack Desmond's sister, Amelia, married a Black barber, Sydney Jones, who initially
offered Jack the opportunity to take up barbering. Wanda Robson recalls that Jack Desmond's
customers were approximately 80% Black, and 20% other races. She also notes that he was "easy-
going" and not nearly as hard-working as Viola. Jack Desmond worked from his shop on Gottingen
Street continuously until his retirement. When he closed his barber shop, he sold the site to Frank
Sobey, who ultimately sold the store to Foodland groceries. Jack Desmond continued to work for
both of the new owners, and to cut hair in people's homes for many years after: "Jack's got all the
Answers: King of Gottingen" Halifax Mail-Star Saturday insert in The Leader 31 May 1986, p.13;

Backhouse "Interview with Wanda Robson;" Pachai Beneath the Clouds at 152-4; Robertson
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on the west. Later westward expansion took in Creighton and Maynard Streets. Although
commonly referred to as "the Negro section" of mid-city Halifax, the area was not entirely racially
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Glasgow Clarion 1:1 (December 1946); advertisements for her business in New Glasgow Clarion

2:4 (28 February 1947) and 11:5 (15 March 1947); "Beauty School Graduation" Truro Clarion 2:9
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Oliver." Jones Labor of Love, Labor of Sorrow notes at 142-43 that middle-class Black wives and
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29. For details regarding Viola Desmond's reputation in Nova Scotia, see "Takes Action"
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include Norris Augustus Dobson, a Black chemist from Montreal, who was involved in the case of
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protection of white women's bodies, the opposite held true for black women's." Dionne Brand
"Black Women and Work: The Impact of Racially Constructed Gender Roles on the Sexual
Division of Labour" Fireweed v.26 (Winter/Spring 1987) 87 notes at 90: "The construction of Black
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givers/service givers/prostitutes, as well as for work as labourers." Nitya Duclos "Disappearing
Women: Racial Minority Women in Human Rights Cases" Canadian Journal of Women and the
Law v.6 (1993) 25 notes at 33-4 that our view of sexuality is both gender- and race-specific, with
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Council and Assembly, that there be allowed and paid out of the Treasury of this Province the
following sums, to wit: To His Excellency the Lieutenant Governor or Administrator of the
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the education of the Colored Children at Loch Lomond, in the County of Saint John, at present
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48. "An Act for the better establishment and maintenance of Public Schools in Upper
Canada, and for repealing the present School Act" S.C. 1849, ¢.83, 5.69-71. "An Act for the better
establishment and maintenance of Common Schools in Upper Canada" S.C. 1850, c.48, s.19
provides: "And be it enacted, That it shall be the duty of the Municipal Council of any Township,
and of the Board of School Trustees of any City, Town or incorporated Village, on the application
in writing of twelve or more resident heads of families, to authorize the establishment of one or
more separate schools for Protestants, Roman Catholics, or coloured people, and, in such case, it

shall prescribe the limits of the divisions or sections for such schools...." "An Act respecting
Separate Schools" Consolidated S.C. 1859, c.65, s.1 provides that twelve or more heads of families,
Protestant or "colored people," could open their own institutions and receive apportionments from
the common school fund. Racist whites interpreted this as a mechanism to bar Blacks from local

common schools and force them to establish their own schools. "An Act respecting Separate

Schools" S.0. 1886, c.46, provides as follows:

s.3(1)....upon the application in writing of five or more heads of families resident in
any township, city, town or incorporated village, being coloured people, the council of such

township or the board of school trustees of any such city, town or incorporated village, shall



authorize the establishment therein of one or more Separate Schools for coloured people, and in
every such case, such council or board, as the case may be, shall prescribe the limits of the section

or sections of such schools.

s.3(2). No person shall be a supporter of any Separate School for coloured people
unless he resides within three miles in a direct line of the site of the school house for such Separate

School.

s.6. None but coloured people shall vote at the election of trustees of any Separate

School established for coloured people....

s.9. In all cities, towns, incorporated villages and township public school sections in
which separate schools exist, each... coloured person...sending children to any such school, or
supporting the same by subscribing thereto annually an amount equal to the sum at which such
person, if such separate school did not exist, must have been rated in order to obtain the annual
legislative public school grant, shall be exempt from the payment of all rates imposed for the
support of public schools of such city, town, incorporated village and school section respectively,

and of all rates imposed for the purpose of obtaining such public school grant.

s.10. The exemption from the payment of school rates, as herein provided, shall not
extend beyond the period during which such persons send children to or subscribe as aforesaid for
the support of such separate school; nor shall such exemption extend to school rates or taxes
imposed or to be imposed to pay for school-houses, the erection of which was undertaken or entered

into before the establishment of such separate school.



s.11. Such separate schools shall not share in any school money raised by local

municipal assessment for public school purposes.

s.12. Each such separate school shall share in such legislative public school grants
according to the yearly average number of pupils attending such separate school, as compared with
the average number of pupils attending the public schools in each such city, town, incorporated
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for the support of, such separate school during the then last preceding six months, and the names of
the children sent, and the amounts subscribed by them respectively, together with the average

attendance of pupils in such separate school during such period.
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sending children to, or subscribing towards the support of the separate school as are provided in

section 54 of this Act.
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Teacher Mary Bibb" in Bristow We're Rooted Here 148-68.

50. Washington v. The Trustees of Charlotteville (1854), 11 U.C.Q.B. 569 (Ont. Q.B.) held

that school authorities could not exclude Black children unless alternate facilities for "colored

pupils" had been established, but In re Dennis Hill v. Schools Trustees of Camden and Zone (1854),

11 U.C.Q.B. 573 (Ont. Q.B.) ruled that Black children could be forced to attend separate schools
located miles away from their homes and outside of their school sections. "An Act to Amend the
Act respecting Common Schools in Upper Canada" S.O. 1868-69, c.44, 5.9 provides "that no person
shall be deemed a supporter of any separate school for coloured people, unless he resides within
three miles in a direct line of the site of the school house for such separate school; and any coloured
child residing farther than three miles in a direct line from the said school house, shall be allowed to
attend the common school of the section within the limits of which the said child shall reside."
These provisions are continued by "An Act respecting Separate Schools" R.S.0. 1877, ¢.206, s.2-5;
"The Separate Schools Act" R.S.0. 1897, ¢.294. After the amendment, several cases acknowledged
that race should not be the sole ground for exclusion from common schools, but then accepted the
testimony of school authorities regarding overcrowding and "insufficient accommodation," using
this to defeat the claims of Black parents to register their children in non-segregated schools: see In

re Hutchison and School Trustees of St. Catharines (1871), 31 U.C.Q.B. 274 (Ont. Q.B.); Dunn v.

Board of Education of Windsor (1884), 6 O.R. 125 (Ontario Chancery Division.) For two examples




of cases where the efforts of education officials to bar Black children from common public schools
were challenged successfully, see Simmons and the Corporation of Chatham (1861), 21 U.C.Q.B.
75 (Ont. Q.B.) quashing for uncertainty a by-law which purported to enlarge substantially the
geographic catchment area of a separate school, and Stewart and Schools Trustees of Sandwich
(1864), 23 U.C.Q.B. 634 (Ont. Q.B.) which accepted evidence that the separate school operated
only intermittently as a reason to overrule the common school's refusal to register a Black female

student. See also Winks Blacks in Canada; Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 175-82; Knight

"Black Parents Speak."

51. Winks Blacks in Canada; Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 182, 190.

52. The specific provisions relating to "coloured people" are continued in "An Act
respecting Separate Schools" R.S.O. 1887, ¢.227; "An Act respecting Separate Schools" R.S.O.
1897, ¢.294; "An Act respecting Separate Schools" S.O. 1913, c.71; "An Act respecting Separate
Schools" R.S.0. 1914, ¢.270; "The Separate Schools Act" R.S.O. 1927, c.328; "The Separate
Schools Act" R.S.O. 1937, ¢.362; "The Separate Schools Act" R.S.0. 1950, ¢.356; "The Separate
Schools Act" R.S.0. 1960, ¢.368. The repeal is found in "An Act to amend The Separate Schools

Act" S.0. 1964, c.108, s.1.

53. Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 177.

54. "An Act for the better Encouragement of Education" S.N.S. 1865, ¢.29, s.6(15)
authorizes school boards "to receive the recommendation of any inspector for separate apartments

or buildings in any section, for the different sexes or different colors, and make such decisions



thereon as they deem proper." Section 37 adds: "If in any section the Council of Public Instruction
shall permit separate departments under the same or separate roofs, for pupils of different sexes or
different colors, the Trustees of the section shall, in this as in other cases, regulate attendance on the
separate departments, according to the attainments of the pupils." See also "Of Education, of Public

Instruction" R.S.N.S. 1873, ¢.32, s.3(10), which restates this law; and Winks Blacks in Canada at

376-80; Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 183; Brad Barton and Anne Moynihan "The Black
Community's Struggle for Quality Education in Nova Scotia" in Vincent D'Oyley ed. Innovations in

Black Education in Canada (Toronto: Umbrella, 1994) at 49-51.

55. "Of Education, of Public Instruction” R.S.N.S. 1884, c.29, s.3(10) authorizes the
Council of Public Instruction "to receive the recommendation of any inspector for separate
apartments or buildings in any section for the different sexes or different colors, and make such
decisions thereon as they shall deem proper; but colored pupils shall not be excluded from
instruction in the public school in the section or ward where they reside." See Fingard "Race and

Respectability in Victorian Halifax;" Winks Blacks in Canada at 376-80; Winks "Negro School

Segregation" at 184; Thomson Born With A Call at 9.

56. These provisions are continued with minor wording alterations by "The Education Act"
R.S.N.S. 1900, c.52, s.5(14); "The Education Act" S.N.S. 1911, c.2, s.5(14); "The Education Act"
S.N.S. 1918, ¢.9, s.5(p) and "The Education Act" R.S.N.S. 1923, c.60, s.5(q). The latter statute
substitutes the word "race" for "color" as follows: ~ "to receive the recommendation of any
inspector for separate apartments or buildings in any section for the different sexes or different races
of pupils, and to make such decisions thereon as it deems proper, subject to the provision that

colored pupils shall not be excluded from instruction in the public school in the section in which



they reside." The provisions are repealed in "The Education Act" S.N.S. 1950, ¢.22, s.4. At no

nn

point in any of these enactments are the terms "race," "color" or "colored pupils" defined. See also

Winks Blacks in Canada at 376-80; Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 186-7.

57. In Lower Sackville, Mrs. Pleasah Lavinia Caldwell, a Black Nova Scotian responded by
opening a "kitchen school" in her home, which educated Blacks in the area until her death in 1950:
Helen Champion "School in a Kitchen" unlabelled clipping dated 9 November 1949, PANS, Mgl,
v.1767 #42a. In 1964, four such districts continued: Beechville, Hammond Plains, Lucasville and

Cherry Brook, all in Halifax County: Winks Blacks in Canada at 376-80. For details of the lack of

funding and difficulties recruiting teachers, obtaining equipment, premises and transportation in

Nova Scotia, see Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 186-91.

58. Winks Blacks in Canada comments at 325 on the "formlessness of the racial barrier,"

noting at 326: "In the United States the Negro was somewhat more sure - sure of where he could

and could not go, of when to be meek and when to be strong. In Canada he was uncertain."

59. Oliver "Cultural Progress of the Negro" notes at 129-35 that most Black males could not
find work except in the heaviest and most poorly paid jobs: agriculture, mining, lumbering, steel,
railway and shipping industries. In most cases, they were also barred from membership in unions.
Business ventures were limited to barber shops, beauty parlours, taxi business, trucking, shoe-
making, a newspaper and one co-operative store. See also Walker Racial Discrimination at 15,
where he notes that during the inter-war years, Black men were concentrated in the following
specialized areas: waiters, janitors, barbers and labourers. The elite among the men worked as

railway waiters and porters: see Stanley G. Grizzle My Name's Not George: The Story of the




Brotherhood of Sleeping Car Porters in Canada (Toronto: Umbrella, 1998); Judith Fingard "From

Sea to Rail: Black Transportation Workers and Their Families in Halifax, ¢.1870-1916" Acadiensis
24:2 (Spring 1995) 49-64; Agnes Calliste "The Struggle for Employment Equity by Blacks on
American and Canadian Railways" Journal of Black Studies 25:3 (January 1995) 297-317; Agnes
Calliste "Blacks on Canadian Railways" Canadian Ethnic Studies 20:2 (1988) 36-52; Agnes Calliste
"Sleeping Car Porters in Canada: An Ethnically Submerged Split Labour Market" Canadian Ethnic
Studies 19:1 (1987) 1-20. Prior to World War II, Black females were limited to teaching school or
domestic work. On the pervasive restriction to domestic work, Morton "Separate Spheres in a
Separate World" notes at 67: "African-Nova Scotian women had virtually no legal wage-earning
opportunities outside domestic service, taking in laundry, or sewing. Regardless of the status in the
community, property holdings or occupation of the husband, married women and widows charred,

and young women were servants." Williams Blacks in Montreal notes at 45 that the Superintendent

of Nurses of the Montreal General Hospital admitted in the 1930s that Black nurses could not find
employment in Montreal, "since there were not enough Black patients to care for in the hospitals
(and White patients would not allow Black nurses to touch them)." See also "Girl Barred by Color
from Nurses Training Course" New Glasgow, N.S. The Clarion 2:15 (6 October 1947) p.1,
recounting race barriers against Black women throughout Ontario. The nursing field opened to
women in Nova Scotia in 1949, when two Blacks graduated as registered nurses. See also Dionne
Brand No Burden to Carry: Narratives of Black Working Women in Ontario 1920s to 1950s_
(Toronto: Women's Press, 1991) at 155, 184, 207. Williams notes at 45 that Blacks were barred
from doing medical internships in Montreal between 1930 and 1947. The Faculty of Medicine at
McGill University arranged instead for Blacks to serve their internships with Howard University in

Washington, D.C. Donald H. Clairmont and Dennis W. Magill "Nova Scotia Blacks: Marginality in



a Depressed Region" in W.E. Mann ed. Canada: A Sociological Profile (Toronto: Copp Clark,

1971) 177 at 179, 183, quote P.E. MacKerrow A Brief History of the Colored Baptists of Nova

Scotia (Halifax: 1895): "the United Sates with her faults, which are many, has done much for the
elevation of the coloured race. Sad and sorry are we to say that is more than we can boast of here in
Nova Scotia. Our young men as soon as they receive a common school education must flee away to
the United States and seek employment. Very few ever receive a trade from the large employers,

even in the factories, on account of race prejudices...." Rev. Adam S. Green, M.S. The Future of the

Canadian Negro (1904), PANS V/F v.144 #11, at 17, notes: "How many negroes do you find as
clerks, book-keepers, or stenographers within the provinces? 1 know of but one.... Our people are

excluded from such lucrative positions, not so much from disqualification, as from race-prejudice."

60. Residential segregation began almost immediately upon the arrival of the first large
group of Black Loyalists. The initial land grants issued to the immigrants were carefully segregated
by race, with the Black settlers given smaller parcels of land with poorer soil at less favourable

locations than whites received. See Winks Blacks in Canada at 36; Walker Black Loyalists at 18-

64. Winks notes at 325 that this pattern continued well into the 20th century, with some towns
barring all Blacks from residence: "In Pictou County [Nova Scotia], by convention, Negroes were

not permitted to live in Stellarton, Westville, Trenton, or Pictou itself...." Hill Freedom-Seekers

notes at 105 that Blacks were refused the right to buy town lots in Windsor in 1855. In Montreal,
Westmount was similarly restricted. Housing was so difficult for Blacks to obtain in Montreal that
a Black real estate company, the Eureka Association, was founded in the 1920s to pool money to
purchase tenement housing for rental to Blacks. "Blacks in the forties usually had to put double the
downpayment on a house that they wanted to purchase. This kept homeownership out of the reach

of all but the upper middle class Blacks;" Williams Blacks in Montreal at 36-8, 58. Blacks who




attempted to challenge residential segregation could find their property and persons endangered.
Winks recounts an incident at 419-20, where a Black purchased a house in a white area of Trenton,
Nova Scotia in 1937: "A mob of a hundred whites stoned the owner and broke into his home. After
being dispersed by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, the mob returned the following night - now
four hundred strong - and destroyed the house and its contents. The RCMP would not act unless
requested to do so by the mayor, who refused, and the mob moved on to attack two other Negro
homes. The only arrest was of a New Glasgow black, who was convicted of assault on a woman
during the riot; and the original Negro purchaser abandoned efforts to occupy his property." A letter
from Mrs. Mildred Haley to the Halifax Mail-Star 2 December 1959, p.4 notes that she had rented
an apartment in Dartmouth, but when she prepared to move in, and appeared at the apartment with a
"colored" friend, the landlord advised her that Blacks were not to be brought into the building. "I
explained that I myself am colored," explained Haley, who shortly thereafter "received word from
the landlord that I could not have the apartment." Adding that "I am told that my case is a single
case among many," she concluded: "I need shelter and place for my children to live and this need is
not any less because of the color of my skin." The Halifax Mail-Star 15 March 1960, p.3 reports on
a meeting of the NSAACP, chaired by Pearleen Oliver, to discuss the widespread racial
discrimination in housing in Halifax. Blacks who tried to rent reported that "various excuses were
given, ranging from the frank view that owners don't want to rent to colored people, to the fact that
the owners themselves don't mind but they have to think of their neighbors." Those who attempted
to purchase homes also faced difficulties. "A house that was advertised for $18,000 would only be
sold to us for $26,000," reported one Black participant. See additional accounts in the Halifax

Chronicle-Herald 9 May 1962, p.34; Winks "Negroes in the Maritimes" at 467; Brand No Burden to

Carry at 155; Grizzle My Name's Not George at 32. On similar discrimination against the Chinese




in British Columbia, see Kay J. Anderson Vancouver's Chinatown: Racial Discourse in Canada

1875-1980 (Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 1991) at 122-7.

61. Although there was no legislation explicitly barring Blacks from jury service, some legal
officials took steps to eliminate their names in the empanelling of jury lists. Winks Blacks in

Canada at 251, 284-6 notes that a challenge to Black jurors and jury foremen in Toronto in 1851

was unsuccessful, but that Blacks were excluded from jury service in Victoria between 1864 and

1872. Walker Black Identity in Nova Scotia notes at 8 that Blacks "could not serve on juries or

claim a jury trial." See also Pilton "Negro Settlement in British Columbia;" "Colored Men as

Jurors" Victoria Colonist 7 May 1872, p.3; "Colored Jurors" 21 March 1872, p.3; 27 November

1872, p.3; "Have them Right" New Westminster Times 18 February 1860.

62. During World War I, enlisting Blacks were relegated to a corps of foresters who were
assigned to manual-labour tasks in France. At Gagetown, New Brunswick, the local commanding
officer insisted upon the segregation of Blacks from whites because "no Canadian fighting man
could be asked to sit next to a coloured man;" Winks "Negroes in the Maritimes" at 466-7; Walker

"Race." Rights and the Law at 132-5, 168-70. The Rev. W.P. Oliver, the only Black chaplain in the

Canadian army, was appointed to minister to "Coloured Personnel."

63. Winks Blacks in Canada notes at 248 that Blacks could not purchase cabin-class tickets

on the Chatham steamer in the 1850s. Hill Freedom-Seekers notes at 105 that Blacks were
discriminated against on steamboats and stage coaches in the mid-19th century: "Peter Gallego,
while travelling by boat between Toronto and Kingston, was told to keep out of the captain's dining

room. When he defiantly entered, the captain attacked him. Gallego knocked the man down and



proceeded, undisturbed, to eat his meal. When the ship reached Kingston, the captain charged
Gallego with assault. Gallego, in turn, charged the captain with denying him his natural rights. The

case went to court, where both men were fined, Gallego 5 pounds and the captain 20 pounds."

64. Winks "Negroes in the Maritimes" at 466; Winks Blacks in Canada at 286, 325; Hill

Freedom-Seekers at 104.

65. The Nova Scotia Home for Colored Children opened in Halifax in 1921 and continued
in operation until 1965, because orphaned and abandoned Black children were refused admission to
Catholic and Protestant orphanages and industrial homes; see Charles R. Saunders Share & Care:

The Story of the Nova Scotia Home for Colored Children (Halifax: Nimbus, 1994.) Suzanne

Morton notes in "Old Women and Their Place in Nova Scotia, 1881-1931" Atlantis 20:1 (1995) 21

at 26, that in Annapolis County, African-Nova Scotian paupers were housed together in a separate
building to the rear of the county institution. The deplorable condition of this building caused the
provincial inspector to urge an end to racial segregation, but he admitted that: "The colour line is
pretty distinctly drawn and I imagine this last suggestion will not be popular." The care of elderly
African-Nova Scotians was a serious concern for the Black community, and after the establishment
of the Colored Children's Home in 1921, the British Methodist Episcopal conference discussed the

possibility of establishing an "Old Folks Home."

66. Winks Blacks in Canada notes at 420 that during the 1940s "an Edmonton hospital
admitted to drawing the color line." Pearleen Oliver has noted that in the mid-1940s, Black
physicians practising in Halifax were denied access to the city hospitals: Robertson "Interview with

Pearleen Oliver."



67. Winks Blacks in Canada notes at 325 that in Halifax, Fredericton and Colchester, Blacks

could not be buried in Anglican churchyards. See also Halifax Evening News "Baby Refused
Burial in St. Croix Cemetery" 11 October 1968, clipping held by PANS Mgl, v.2009 #2, which
describes a 1907 by-law concerning the St. Croix Cemetery, near Windsor, N.S., still in force,
which provides: "Not any negro or colored person nor any indian shall be buried in St. Croix

Cemetery."

68. Winks Blacks in Canada notes at 248, 283-4, 286, 325 that hotels in Hamilton, Windsor,

Chatham and London refused admission to Blacks in the mid 19th century. In the 1860s in
Victoria, the chief theatre refused Blacks access to the dress circle or to orchestra seats, the Bank
Exchange Saloon refused service to Blacks, and they were also excluded from Queen Victoria's
birthday ball and from the farewell banquet for Governor James Douglas. The colour line remained
visible in British Columbia in restaurants and places of entertainment prior to World War I. Blacks
were not admitted to the boy scout troops or the YMCA in Windsor and Black musicians had to
establish their own orchestra in Owen Sound. Winks notes at 325-6, 388, 420, 457: "In 1924 the
Edmonton City Commissioner barred Negroes from all public parks and swimming pools - and was
overruled by the city council; in Colchester, Ontario, in 1930, police patrolled the parks and beaches
to keep blacks from using them. In Saint John all restaurants and theatres closed their doors to
Negroes in 1915; two years later the chief theatres of Hamilton also did so. [...] In 1929, when the
World Baptist Conference was held in Toronto, Negro delegates were denied hotel rooms. [...] Only
one hotel in Montreal could be depended upon not to turn Negroes away in 1941. [...] Many dance
pavilions, skating rinks and restaurants made it clear they did not welcome blacks; and several pubs
in Saskatchewan and British Columbia insisted that Negroes sit in corners reserved for them." Even

into the 1960s, Black residents were virtually barred from community restaurants, and Windsor



barkeepers designated separate "jungle rooms" for Blacks until 1951. See also "Hotels Refuse to
Take Negroes" Vancouver Province 13 August 1945, p.2, recounting how Black members of the
cast of "Carmen Jones" were denied hotel accommodation in Vancouver; and "Color Bar Said
Drawn in Local Pub" Vancouver Sun 30 July 1948, p.1. Howard Lawrence, New Glasgow, N.S.
The Clarion 2:2 (December 1946) urged the Black community to establish a community centre

"

because "every place is closed to us." Anna-Maria Galante "Ex-mayor Lewis broke new ground"

Afro-Nova Scotian Portraits (Halifax: Chronicle-Herald and Mail-Star, 19 February 1993) at p.P7,

quotes Daurene Lewis stating that the dances in Annapolis Royal were always segregated (circa
1940s-50s) and attempts were made to segregate the movie house as well. McKenzie "Race
Prejudice and the Negro" notes at 201 that "[Negroes] are not always served in the best restaurants,
nor admitted to high-class hotels. They are restricted, in cities, to the poorer residential districts, and
are not accepted socially." See also Daniel G. Hill "Black History in Early Ontario" Canadian
Human Rights Yearbook (Ottawa: Human Rights Research and Education Centre, University of
Ottawa, 1984-85) 265; Grizzle My Name's Not George at 54-5; Winks "Negroes in the Maritimes"

at 467; Winks "Negro School Segregation" at 189; Allen P. Stouffer The Light of Nature and the

Law of God: Anti-Slavery in Ontario, 1833-1877 (Montreal: McGill-Queen's Press, 1992) at 200-1;

Brand No Burden to Carry at 134, 149-50, 153, 210-11, 278. For reference to comparable treatment

of First Nations' peoples, see George Manuel and Michael Poslums The Fourth World: An Indian

Reality (Don Mills: Ontario: Collier-Macmillan Canada, 1974) at 101.

69. The "Saskatchewan Bill of Rights Act, 1947" S.S. 1947, c¢.35, s.11 reads: "Every person
and every class of persons shall enjoy the right to obtain the accommodation or facilities of any
standard or other hotel, victualling house, theatre or other place to which the public is customarily

admitted, regardless of the race, creed, religion, colour or ethnic or national origin of such person or



class of persons." The statute came into force on 1 May 1947, as stipulated in s.19. Despite its
broad scope, however, the act did not prohibit discrimination on the basis of sex. Other provisions

state:

s.8(1) Every person and every class of persons shall enjoy the right to obtain and
retain employment without discrimination with respect to the compensation, terms, conditions or
privileges of employment because of the race, creed, religion, colour or ethnic or national origin of

such person or class of persons.

(2) Nothing in subsection (1) shall deprive a religious institution or any school or
board of trustees thereof of the right to employ persons of any particular creed or religion where
religious instruction forms or can form the whole or part of the instruction or training provided by
such institution, or by such school or board of trustees pursuant to the provisions of "The School
Act," and nothing in subsection (1) shall apply with respect to domestic service or employment

involving a personal relationship.

s.9. Every person and every class of persons shall enjoy the right to engage in and
carry on any occupation, business or enterprise under the law without discrimination because of the

race, creed, religion, colour or ethnic or national origin of such person or class of persons.

s.10. Every person and every class of persons shall enjoy the right to acquire by
purchase, to own in fee simple or otherwise, to lease, rent and to occupy any lands, messuages,
tenements or hereditaments, corporeal or incorporeal, of every nature and description, and every

estate or interest therein, whether legal or equitable, without discrimination because of the race,



creed, religion, colour or ethnic or national origin of such person or class of persons.

s.12. Every person and every class of persons shall enjoy the right to membership in
and all of the benefits appertaining to membership in every professional society, trade union or
other occupational organization without discrimination because of the race, creed, religion, colour

or ethnic or national origin of such person or class of persons.

s.13(1) Every person and every class of persons shall enjoy the right to education in
any school, college, university or other institution or place of learning, vocational training or
apprenticeship without discrimination because of the race, creed, religion, colour or ethnic or

national origin of such person or class of persons.

(2) Nothing in subsection (1) shall prevent a school, college, university or other
institution or place of learning which enrolls persons of a particular creed or religion exclusively, or
which is conducted by a religious order or society, from continuing its policy with respect to such

enrolment.

s.14(1) No person shall publish, display or cause or permit to be published or
displayed on any lands or premises or in any newspaper, through any radio broadcasting station, or
by means of any other medium which he owns, controls, distributes or sells, any notice, sign,
symbol, emblem or other representation tending or likely to tend to deprive, abridge or otherwise
restrict, because of the race, creed, religion, colour or ethnic or national origin of any person or class
of persons, the enjoyment by any such person or class of persons of any right to which he or it is

entitled under the law.



(2) Nothing in subsection (1) shall be construed as restricting the right to freedom of

speech under the law, upon any subject.

s.15(1) Every person who deprives, abridges, or otherwise restricts or attempts to
deprive, abridge or otherwise restrict any person or class of persons in the enjoyment of any right
under this Act or who contravenes any provision thereof shall be guilty of an offence and liable on
summary conviction to a fine of not less than $25 nor more than $50 for the first offence, and not
less than $50 nor more than $200 for a subsequent offence, and in default of payment to

imprisonment for not more than three months.

(2) The penalties provided by this section may be enforced upon the information of
any person alleging on behalf of himself or any class of persons that any right which he or any class
of persons or any member of such class of persons is entitled to enjoy under this Act has been
denied, abridged or restricted because of the race, creed, religion, colour, ethnic or national origin of

himself, or of any such class of persons or of any member of any such class of persons.

s.16. Every person who deprives, abridges or otherwise restricts or attempts to
deprive, abridge or otherwise restrict any person or class of persons in the enjoyment of any right
under this Act may be restrained by an injunction issued in an action in the Court of King's Bench
brought by any person against the person responsible for such deprivation, abridgment or other

restriction, or any attempt thereat.

See also "An Act to amend The Saskatchewan Bill of Rights Act, 1947" S.S. 1949, c.29,

which strikes out the portion of s.15(2) that follows the word "restricted." The first similar



legislation in Ontario is contained in "An Act to promote Fair Employment Practices in Ontario”
S.0. 1951, ¢.24 and "An Act to promote Fair Accommodation Practices in Ontario" S.O. 1954,
c.28. On the lobby campaign involving the Association for Civil Liberties, churches, the Canadian
Jewish Congress, Ontario Federation of Labour, the Joint Labour Committee on Human Rights, the
Negro Citizenship Association and the Brotherhood of Sleeping Car Porters, see Grizzle My Name's

Not George at 91-5.

70. James Robinson Johnston, the first Black lawyer and the first Black to graduate from
Dalhousie University Law School, was called to the Nova Scotia bar in 1900, and died in 1915.
The second, Joseph Eaglan Griffith, a Black immigrant from the British West Indies, was called to
the bar in 1917 and practised in Halifax until his death in 1944. Frederick Allan Hamilton of
Scarborough, Tobago, graduated with a B.A. (in 1921) and LL.B. (1923) from Dalhousie
University, and was admitted to bar of Nova Scotia in 1923. After articling with Griffith, Hamilton
opened his law office on Cunard Street in Halifax, near the heart of the Black community. Finding
the legal business of the Black community insufficient, Hamilton closed his office within months.
He relocated his practice to industrial Cape Breton, where there was a substantial West Indian
immigrant community, setting up first in Glace Bay, then in Sydney. He was appointed King's
Counsel in 1950, the second African-Canadian lawyer to receive the designation. Six additional
West Indian Blacks graduated from Dalhousie Law School between 1900 and 1931. Five of them
were admitted to the Nova Scotia bar, but none remained in the province. Most of these men
articled with Griffith. There would not be a second indigenous Afro-Nova Scotian graduate of
Dalhousie Law School admitted to the bar until George W.R. Davis, in 1952. Recently retired from
the firm of Moore, MacDonald and Davis, 2194 Gottingen Street, Halifax, Mr. Davis is also the first

native Afro-Nova Scotian lawyer to be appointed a Queen's Counsel. Blacks were admitted to law



practice in other provinces somewhat earlier than in Nova Scotia. For details concerning Ontario,
see chapter 6. Joshua Howard, an African-American, commenced practice in Victoria, British
Columbia in 1858. Abraham Beverly Walker, an African-Canadian, was admitted to the bar of
New Brunswick in 1882. See Cahill "Colored Barrister" at 345, 373-4; Clarke Fire on the Water

v.1 at 170-1; Saunders Share & Care: The Nova Scotia Home for Colored Children at 18-19; New

Glasgow, N.S. The Clarion 2:1 (January 1947.)

71. Cahill "Colored Barrister" notes at 373 that Goffe was admitted to Gray's Inn in 1905,
and called to the bar by Gray's Inn in 1908. He practised at the English bar for six years, and "was
employed in various government departments" during and after World War I. He died in 1962 in

his ninetieth year.

72. For biographical details on F.W. Bissett, the son of Frederick W. Bissett and Ethel Gray

(Smith) Bissett, see "Bissett, Frederick William, B.A., LL.B." Maritime Reference Book:

Biographical and Pictorial Record of Prominent Men and Women of the Maritime Provinces

(Halifax: Royal Print, 1931) at 34; "Bench vacancy filled" Halifax Chronicle-Herald 11 March

1961; "Mr. Justice F.W.Bissett" Halifax Mail-Star 11 November 1978, p.67; "Mr. Justice Bissett,
76, Dies in Halifax" Halifax Mail-Star 10 November 1978, p.1-2; "Tributes Paid to Mr. Justice F.W.
Bissett" Halifax Mail-Star 11 November 1978, p.1-2. Apart from Rev. Oliver's recommendation, it
remains unclear why Viola Desmond selected F.W. Bissett. She seems to have been familiar with
at least some other white members of the legal profession prior to this. Earlier in November, 1946,
she retained Samuel B. Goodman, a white lawyer from Halifax, to issue a writ against Philip Kane,
the white car dealer who sold her the 1940 Dodge, for overcharging her in violation of the Wartime

Prices and Trade Board Order. See Viola Desmond v. Philip Kane PANS RG39 "C" Halifax v.936,




#S.C. 13304.

73. Johnson v. Sparrow (1899), 15 Que. S.C. 104 (Quebec Superior Court) at 108. Drawing
upon the English common law rule that obliged hotel-keepers "to receive every traveller until his
hotel is full unless he can assign good cause for refusal," Judge Archibald stressed "the similarity
between a theatre and a hotel in almost every point which can affect their relations to the public."

Any differences were "of degree and not of kind," noted the judge:

[T]he municipal authority acting in the public interest in both cases, grants license to do
business, and exercises surveillance afterwards. This constitutes a privilege granted to the licensees
by the public, and naturally the public ought to receive a corresponding benefit. [...] Public notices
and advertisements which all theatres issue...are treated as offers to the public and to every member
of it, and these offers are accepted by the tender of the price of any seat which the spectator may
desire, if it is still vacant. ...[T]he payment of the entree forms a contract of lease of the particular

seat indicated on the ticket. These considerations give the plaintiff a right to judgment in his favour.

When the case went on appeal to the Quebec Court of Queen's Bench, Judge Bosse refused
to equate a hotel and a theatre under the common law rule, but upheld the $50 damage award based
on the breach of contract. The court did not overturn Judge Archibald's explicit racial analysis, but

stated that it was unnecessary to decide the question of whether Blacks were entitled to the same

rights of admission as whites in this case; Johnson v. Sparrow (1899), 8 Que. Q.B. 379. Walker

"Race." Rights and the Law suggests at 146 that "in dismissing Justice Archibald's reasoning the

appeal decision undermined any general application of the non-discriminatory principle." With

respect, this is arguably an over-reading of the appeal decision. Judge Bosse adverts to the



legislation in the United States endorsing racial segregation, explicitly questions whether these
enactments might be unconstitutional as violating the principle of equality, notes that similar
legislation has not been enacted in Canada, and then concludes that the present dispute, which can
be resolved on a purely contractual basis, does not require any further rulings on racial
discrimination. This does not appear to be an overt rejection of Judge Archibald's analysis on racial
equality, but a reluctance to rule on the matter in the present case. For further discussion of the
common law duty to serve, see Henry L. Molot "The Duty of Business to Serve the Public: Analogy
to the Innkeeper's Obligation" Canadian Bar Review v.46 (1968) 612-42; Beatrice Vizkelety

"Discrimination, the Right to Seek Redress and the Common Law: A Century-Old Debate" v.15

(1992) Dalhousie Law Journal 304-35; Michael Taggart "The Province of Administrative Law
Determined?" in Michael Taggart ed. The Province of Administrative Law (Oxford: Hart
Publishing, 1997) at 6-14. For examples of statutory provisions replicating the common law, see
"An Act respecting Liquor Licences" S.B.C. 1900, c.18, s.64, which provides: "Every hotel-keeper
having a licence to sell liquor, refusing, at a reasonable rate, either personally or through any one
acting on his behalf, except for some valid reason, to supply lodging, meals or accommodation to
travellers, shall, for each offence, be liable to a penalty of twenty dollars, and in default of payment,
one month's imprisonment." See also "An Act Respecting Liquor Licences and the Traffic in
Intoxicating Liquors" S.B.C. 1910, ¢.30, s.64; R.S.B.C. 1911, c.142, s.63. Winks mentions another

case at 431, that he does not cite, that followed the Johnson v. Sparrow case: "A similar decision

was reached in Toronto soon after: a light-skinned Negro woman purchased a ticket for her son at a
skating rink; the boy - who was much darker - was refused admittance when he appeared, and his
mother sought damages in the divisional court. The company agreed to pay twenty-five cents, the

price of the ticket, and the judge dismissed the action with the opinion that no other damages



beyond the ticket could be shown." Walker "Race." Rights and the Law_at 387 cites as the source

for this Ida Greaves The Negro in Canada (Orillia, Ont.: Packet-Times Press, 1930) at 62,

referencing a personal letter from the deputy attorney general of Ontario. Several earlier cases
premised on an innkeeper's duty to serve the public were brought by Jacob Francis, an English-born
Black saloon-keeper in Victoria. In the spring of 1860, Francis was refused service of two bottles of
champagne in a billiard saloon at Yates and Government Streets. On 20 April 1860, a civil jury

heard his claim for forty shillings in damages in Francis v. Miletich ABC C/AA/30.3D/2 Vancouver

Island, Supreme Court of Civil Justice, Rule and order book, 1859-1861, at 63, 69; C/AA/30.3P/5

Vancouver Island, Supreme Court of Civil Justice, at 118-9, 123; GR848, Vancouver Island, Charge

Books; "Refusing A Drink to A Coloured Man" Victoria Gazette 21 April 1860, p.3. The jury held
that Miletich was an innkeeper, that Francis was refused liquor but not received as a guest, and that
Francis sustained no injury and was not entitled to damages. In 1862, Jacob Francis was refused
service at the Bank Exchange Saloon in Victoria, and again sought legal relief. According to
newspaper accounts, a white Victoria police magistrate, Augustus F. Pemberton, ruled that saloons
that refused service to Black men would either not get a licence or would be fined and their licence
not renewed when it expired. According to the charge book, the case was dismissed by Magistrate

Pemberton on 4 July 1862. See Jacob Francis v. Joseph Lovett ABC GR848, Charge books, v.3;

"Wouldn't Let Him Drink" Victoria Colonist 26 June 1862, p.3; "Shall a Black Man Drink at a

White Man's Bar?" 28 June 1862, p.3; "The Vexed Question Settled" 5 July 1862, p.3; "Shall a

Colored Man Drink at a White Man's Bar?" Victoria British Colonist 5 July 1862, p.3. For more

details on Francis, who was earlier denied the right to take up an elected seat in the colonial
Legislative Assembly because of his race, see Pilton "Negro Settlement in British Columbia;" S.

Stott "Blacks in B.C." ABC NW/016.325711/B631. For a similar case in 1913, see Moses Rowden



v. J.B. Stevens, Prop., Stratford Hotel ABC GR1651, British Columbia County Court (Vancouver)

Plaint and procedure books, 1886-1946 [B7314-B7376]; GR1651, British Columbia County Court
(Vancouver), Indexes to plaint and procedure books, 1886-1946 [B7897-B7901]; GR1418, British
Columbia County Court (Vancouver), Judgments 1893-1940 [B2611-B2643]; "Negro Sues Because
Color Line is Drawn" Vancouver Province 4 October 1913, p.15; "Hotel Bar Refused to Serve
Negro" 10 July 1913, p.17; "Enters Suit for Damages for Being Refused Drink" Vancouver Sun 1
October 1913, p.1. Rowden sought relief before the city's license commissioners, who refused to
intervene. He then claimed $500 damages on the basis that Stevens failed to meet his common law
obligation as an innkeeper to serve travellers. The outcome of the case is unclear from the surviving

documentation.

74. Barnswell v. National Amusement Company, Limited (1914), 21 B.C.R. 435, [1915] 31
W.LR. 542 (B.C.C.A.). The plaintiff, described by the court as "a full-blooded negro," sought
damages of $250 for breach of contract and $750 for assault. The white judges of the court of
appeal dismissed the assault claim, but upheld the breach of contract because Barnswell was sold a
ten cent ticket at the wicket of the theatre. Only later was he refused admission inside the lobby by
the white door-keeper, whose decision was supported by the white manager. According to Paulus
Aemilius Irving, "the plaintiff had entered the building as a spectator who had duly paid his money
to see the entertainment. He was, therefore, entitled to remain." Albert Edward McPhillips
dissented from the majority decision, claiming that it was "in the public interest and in the interest of
society that there should be law which will admit of the management of places of public
entertainment having complete control over those who are permitted to attend all such
entertainments." See also "Suit Against Theatre" Victoria Times 30 May 1914, p.18; "Damages

Are Awarded" 10 December 1914, p.16; "Legal Intelligence" Victoria Daily Colonist 10 December



1914, p.3.

75. "Colored Patrons Must Pay Double" Regina Leader 9 October 1911, p.7, announces:
"One of the city's restaurants has decided to draw the colored line and in future all colored patrons
will pay just double what their white brothers are charged. This, of course, is not a money-making
venture, but is a polite hint to these people that their patronage is not wanted. It is understood that
the change is made at the urgent request of some of the most influential patrons, and not on the
initiative of the management. It is an innovation in the running of hotels, cafes and restaurants of
the city and the experiment will be watched with interest." The exact basis for the ruling, which is
not reported in the published legal reports, is somewhat difficult to reconstruct from the press
account in "May Charge Double Price" Regina Leader 16 October 1911, p.7. The newspaper
specifies that the case was "a charge of obtaining money under false pretences" laid against W.B.
Waddell by William Hawes. There was some factual dispute over whether Hawes had been notified
of the double charge prior to ordering, with Hawes claiming he had not, and Waddell claiming he
had. White magistrates Lawson and Long concluded that Hawes had, and held that therefore there
was no case of false pretences. The press seems to have been less convinced, claiming that the case
stood for the proposition that "a restaurant keeper has the right to exclude colored patrons by
charging double prices without, however, taking proper steps to make the charge known to those
whom he proposes to exclude." The press report also hints that the claim may have been rooted in
breach of contract, recounting that the plaintiff tried to show that Hawes "had no knowledge of [the
double price] arrangement when he gave his order, and that the bill of fare from which he ordered
constituted a contract...." The contract issues appear to have been ignored by the court. Counsel for
Hawes, Mr. Barr, sought leave to appeal, but this was denied. For another example of a case where

Blacks were charged extra, see R. v. J.D. Carroll ABC GR419, B.C. Attorney General Documents,



Box 1, file 21/1860, and "Police Court" Victoria Colonist 14 January 1860, p.3, where William

Bastion, a Black man, charged J.D. Carroll, a white innkeeper, with extortion after he charged him
$1.50 for three drinks he had already consumed on 10 January 1860. Charles Jackson and Arthur
Wiggins, white men who were with Bastion at the time, testified that they had never been charged
more than 12 1/2 cents per drink. Carroll was committed for trial by Magistrate Augustus
Pemberton in Victoria Police Court on 12-13 January 1860, but the outcome of the case is not clear

from the surviving records. The Victoria Colonist 19 January 1860, suggests that the case was

dismissed because Carroll was a spirit dealer and not an innkeeper; see Majzub "A God Sent Land

for the Colored People?" at 23.

76. Loew's Montreal Theatres Ltd. v. Reynolds (1919), 30 Que. K.B. 459 (Quebec King's

Bench) per John-Edward Martin, J. at 466; Winks "Negroes in the Maritimes" at 467. The ruling is
a reversal of the decision at trial, which was heard in the Superior Court by white judge, Thomas
Fortin. Press coverage of the trial decision, "Court Says Color Line is Illegal; All Equal in Law"

Montreal Gazette 5 March 1919, p.4, suggests that a number of Black men and women, members of

the Coloured Political and Protective Association of Montreal, deliberately attempted to challenge
the policy of the theatre barring Blacks from the orchestra seats. Norris Augustus Dobson, a Black
chemist, and his wife claimed $1000 damages when white theatre employees forcibly ejected them
from the theatre because of their race. The Dobsons' claim was rejected at trial, with the judge
concluding that Mr. Dobson had created a loud disturbance in the theatre when some members of
his party were refused seating in the orchestra section. The ejection was premised upon the
plaintiff's disruptive behaviour, and not his race, concluded the trial court. Sol Reynolds, a Black
plaintiff who claimed $300 damages because he was refused admission to the orchestra chairs, was

more successful. The trial court awarded him nominal damages of $10, stating: "In this country the



colored people and the white people are governed by the same laws, and enjoy the same rights
without any distinction whatever, and the fact that Sol Reynolds was a colored man offers no
justification for Loew's Montreal Theatre Limited refusing him admission to the orchestra chairs in
its theatre after issuing to him a ticket for such seat and after acceptance of the same by its

"

collector." The ruling was initially hailed by the Gazette as establishing "jurisprudence governing

the question of the rights of discrimination against colored people in this province." See also
coverage in the newspaper published by the N.A.A.C.P., The Crisis 18:1 (May 1919) p.36.
However, the trial decision was overruled on appeal by the King's Bench. The appeal court at 463
and 466 distinguished the Loew's Montreal Theatre case from Sparrow v. Johnson upon the basis
that it was a test case, in which the plaintiffs deliberately set out to challenge a racially-based seating

policy. Thomson Blacks in Deep Snow mentions at 82 that an earlier situation in Edmonton

reached a more informal, but similar resolution. His source is the Edmonton Capital 9 April 1912,
which contains the following entry: "Irate Negroes were turned down services in two hotels. They
ask, 'Have Edmonton bartenders the right to draw the colour line?' The attorney-general's
department said while it gives the hotel keeper the right to sell liquor, 'it cannot compel him to sell
to anyone if he does not wish to do so."" See also "Edmonton Color Line" Regina Daily Province
10 April 1912, at p.5, which reports the complaint of the "dark-skinned citizens," who were "almost
dandified in their get-up and in their bearing." Condescending commentary, frequently intended to
create and inflame racist stereotypes, appears regularly in Canadian press reports of Blacks at this

time: see R. Bruce Shepard "Plain Racism: The Reaction Against Oklahoma Black Immigration to

the Canadian Plains" in Ormond McKague Racism in Canada (Saskatoon: Fifth House, 1991) 15-

31

77. Franklin v. Evans (1924), 55 O.L.R. 349, 26 O.W.N. 65 (Ont. High Court.) See also



"Dismisses Suit of Colored Man" London Evening Free Press 15 March 1924, which gives the

name as W.K. Franklin. Strangely, neither Johnson v. Sparrow nor Barnswell were cited in the

legal decision, and Judge Haughton Lennox concludes that there were no authorities or decided
cases in support of the plaintiff's contention. Most of the decision centres on common law rules
requiring hotel-keepers to "supply...accommodation of a certain character, within certain limits, and

n

subject to recognized qualifications, to all who apply." Contrasting restaurants with inn-keepers,
Lennox held that the common law obligations did not apply to the defendant. The white judge did,
however, seem to have been ambivalent about the result he reached in this case. Disparaging the
conduct of the white restaurant owner and his wife, whose attitude toward the plaintiff Lennox
described as "unnecessarily harsh, humiliating and offensive," Lennox contrasted their situation
with that of the plaintiff: "The plaintiff is undoubtedly a thoroughly respectable man, of good
address, and, I have no doubt, a good citizen, and I could not but be touched by the pathetic
eloquence of his appeal for recognition as a human being, of common origin with ourselves."
Lennox then expressly ducked the issue: "The theoretical consideration of this matter is a difficult
and decidedly two-sided problem, extremely controversial, and entirely outside my sphere in the

n

administration of law - law as it is." Lennox dismissed the action without costs. Curiously, the

account in the local Black newspaper, The Dawn of Tomorrow, suggests that the plaintiff won:

"W.V. Franklin Given Damages" London Dawn of Tomorrow 2 February 1924, p.1; "Mr. W.V.

Franklin's Victory" London Dawn of Tomorrow 16 February 1924, p.2. This coverage appears
erroneous in asserting that "the jury took only 20 minutes to decide that Mr. Franklin should be
awarded damages," since the law report notes that there was no jury, and that the claim was
dismissed. However, the Black press, unlike the white press, did recount the plaintiff's testimony in

valuable detail: "When Mr. Franklin was called to the witness box for the defence counsel [and



asked], "Have you any ground for damages?" Mr. Franklin's eloquent and polished reply was: "Not
in dollars and cents, but in humiliation and inhuman treatment at the hands of this fellow man, yes.
Because I am a dark man, a condition over which I have no control, I did not receive the treatment I
was entitled to as a human being. God chose to bring me into the world a colored man, and on this
account, defendant placed me on a lower level than he is." Reference is also made in the Black
press, on 16 February 1924, to the views of the Black community on the necessity of bringing the
case: "In a recent article in our paper we stated that the colored people of London stood solidly
behind Mr. Franklin. On the whole we did stand behind him but a few there were who doubted the
wisdom of his procedure, believing, as they expressed it, that his case would cause ill feeling
between the races. [...N]othing in respect is ever gained by cringing or by showing that we believe
ourselves to be less than men. Nothing will ever be gained by submitting to treatment which is less
than that due to any British subject." The financial cost of bringing such an action was

acknowledged by the Dawn of Tomorrow, which made an express appeal to readers to contribute

money to assist Mr. Franklin in defraying the costs of the case, since "the monetary damages

awarded him by the courts is far below the actual cost to him."

78. Rogers v. Clarence Hotel et al., [1940] 2 W.W.R. 545, (1940), 55 B.C.R. 214

(B.C.C.A.).

79. Christie and Another v. York Corporation (1937), 75 Que. C.S. 136 (Que. Superior

Court); rev'd York Corporation v. Christie (1938), 65 Que. B.R. 104 (Que. K.B.); leave to appeal

granted Fred. Christie v. The York Corporation, [1939] 80 S.C.R. 50 (S.C.C.); upheld Fred Christie

v. The York Corporation, [1940] S.C.R. 139 (S.C.C.). For a more detailed account of this case, see

Walker "Race," Rights and the Law at 122-81. In the decision of the Quebec Superior Court,




although the claim was grounded in contract and delict (or tort), the trial judge relied upon the
statutory provisions in the Quebec "Licence Act" R.S.Q. 1925, c.25, s.33, which require that "no
licensee for a restaurant may refuse, without reasonable cause, to give food to travelers." When the
appeal was heard before the Quebec Court of King's Bench, Judge William Langley Bond
dismissed the contract argument, noting at 107: "There was an implied if not an express invitation
on the part of the appellant, - but I have been unable to find any legal ground or justification for the
contention that the appellant was not at liberty to attach conditions to its offer or to restrict it. [...]
There was consequently no contract ever completed - no bargain struck, notwithstanding the
respondent's insistence." Discounting the argument based in delict, or tort, the white judge
continued at 112: "In order to invoke article 1053 C.C., the respondent must show some breach of a
duty or fault on the part of the appellant; and I am unable to find any such wrong committed. If, as I
have pointed out, there was not duty cast by law upon the appellant to serve the respondent, then its
refusal to do so is an innocent act, and not a violation of any right on the part of the respondent."
The statutory provisions upon which the trial judge based his decision were inapplicable, according
to the majority of the Court of King's Bench, because a tavern did not constitute a restaurant within
the meaning of the enactment. White Judge Gregor Barclay was the most explicit about his views
toward the policy, noting at 124-5: "The fact that a tavern-keeper decides in his own business
interests that it would harm his establishment if he catered to people of colour cannot be said to be
an action which is against public morals or good order. The argument that, if all tavern-keepers
were to take the same stand, a situation would arise which would be likely to lead to disorder, is not
sound. The fact that a particular individual has certain preferences is not a matter of public
concern." The quotation from the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada from Judge Thibaudeau

Rinfret is found at Fred Christie v. The York Corporation, [1940] S.C.R. 139 at 141-2, 144.




80. Loew's Montreal Theatres Ltd. v. Reynolds (1919), 30 Que. K.B. 459 (Quebec King's

Bench) at 462-3.

81. Rogers v. Clarence Hotel et al. [1940] 2 W.W.R. 545, (1940), 55 B.C.R. 214

(B.C.C.A.). Rogers, who was born in 1870 in Louisville, Kentucky of "an Indian father and a
mulatto mother," became a naturalized British subject in 1924. O'Halloran's judgment was similar
in sentiment to the original trial ruling of the Supreme Court of British Columbia, issued by white

judge David Alexander McDonald, that was reversed by the British Columbia Court of Appeal.

McDonald distinguished the instant case from Christie on the grounds that in British Columbia,
licensed beer parlors had a monopoly on the sale of beer by the glass. McDonald ordered Rose Low
to pay $25. in damages, noting: "It is a matter of very great importance. It is particularly important
in a city like Vancouver, the terminus of two continental railways and the home of many colored
men. Those of us who, in the course of our duties, have to travel on the trains, have brought to us
from day to day the honesty, intelligence and kindness of these men and I must consider their rights
and the rights of their colored brethren with the very greatest care." See ABC GR1570, British
Columbia Supreme Court (Vancouver), Judgments, 1893-1947 [B6321] v.39, p.257; GR1727,
British Columbia Bench books, v.368, p.319-25; "Court Rules Beer Parlor Must Serve Colored
Patron" Vancouver Province 23 February 1940, p.11; "Owner's Right: May Refuse to Serve Beer"
22 February 1940, p.2; "Negro Suing Proprietor of Beer Parlor" Vancouver Sun 22 February 1940,

p-1; "Negro Wins Right to Use Beer Parlor" 23 February 1940, p.17.

82. York Corporation v. Christie (1938), 65 Que. B.R. 104 (Que. K.B.) at 125-39.

83. Fred Christie v. The York Corporation, [1940] S.C.R. 139 (S.C.C.) at 147, 152.




84. Fred Christie v. The York Corporation, [1940] S.C.R. 139 (S.C.C.) at 152. On the

significance of the many dissenting judges, see Frank R. Scott Essays on the Constitution (Toronto:

University of Toronto Press, 1977) at 333.

85. Bora Laskin "Tavern Refusing to Serve Negro - Discrimination" Canadian Bar Review
v.18 (1940) 314 at 316. See also Frank R. Scott The Canadian Constitution and Human Rights

(Canadian Broadcasting Company, 1959) at 37.

86. None of the later cases mentioned Barnswell v. National Amusement Co. The
reluctance of Canadian judges to discuss matters of race explicitly may have had something to do
with this. County Court Judge Lampman's trial decision in Barnswell was the only portion of the
judgment that mentioned the plaintiff's race. In the report of the decision in the Western Law
Reporter, Lampman's trial decision is not included, even in summary form. Since the appeal rulings
make no express mention of race, a legal researcher would have been hard pressed to conclude that
the case was an anti-discrimination precedent. The report in the British Columbia Reports,

however, does make the issue of race explicit. Johnson v. Sparrow was mentioned briefly, in

Loew's Montreal Theatres Ltd. v. Reynolds, which distinguished it on two rather peculiar grounds:

that the plaintiff in Johnson had already purchased a ticket prior to the refusal of entry while the

plaintiff in Reynolds had not, and that the plaintift in Johnson had been unaware of the colour bar,

whereas the plaintiff in Reynolds was deliberately challenging the policy. Although the Quebec

Court of King's Bench in Christie v. York Corporation also cited Johnson v. Sparrow, the Supreme

Court ruling made no mention of the decision, nor did the other cases discussed above. The curious
erasure of the earlier anti-discrimination rulings is underscored by the comments of Judge Lennox

in Franklin v Evans, who noted that counsel for the Black plaintiff, Mr. Buchner, "could find no




"

decided case in support of his contention." A scholarly article written years later, lan A. Hunter
"Civil Actions for Discrimination" Canadian Bar Review v.55 (1977) 106, also fails to mention the

Johnson v. Sparrow case or the Barnswell v. National Amusement Co. case, although the author

discusses the others in detail. See also D.A. Schmeiser Civil Liberties in Canada (London: Oxford

University Press, 1964) at 262-74, who erroneously refers to Loew's Montreal Theatres as "the

earliest reported Canadian case in this area," ignores Johnson v. Sparrow and Barnswell v. National

Amusement Co., and then concludes: "The foregoing cases clearly indicate that the common law is

particularly barren of remedies guaranteeing equality of treatment in public places or enterprises...."

87. Johnson v. Sparrow (1899), 15 Que. S.C. 104 (Superior Court) at 107.

88. The first Black slave, baptized under the name Olivier Le Jeune, from Madagascar, was
a gift to David Kirke, who would become the first white governor of Newfoundland. On 1 May
1689, the white French King Louis XIV gave permission to import African slaves to New France.
After this date, slave-owning became quite common among the white French merchants and clergy.
Many First Nations' individuals were also held as slaves. See Kenneth Donovan "Slaves and Their
Owners in Ile Royale, 1713-1760" Acadiensis 25:1 (Autumn 1995) 3-32; Hill "Black History in

Early Ontario;" Williams Blacks in Montreal at 7-8; Winks Blacks in Canada at 3-23; Marcel

Trudel L'esclavage au Canada francais (Quebec: Presses universitaires Laval, 1960).

89. The 1763 Treaty of Paris, in which France ceded its mainland North American empire to
Great Britain, contains a clause affirming that all slaves would remain the possessions of their

masters and that they might continue to be sold. See Winks Blacks in Canada at 24, citing Adam

Shortt and Arthur G. Doughty, eds. Documents relating to the Constitutional History of Canada,




1759-1791 2nd ed. (Ottawa, 1918) at 1, 22.

90. "An act for encouraging new settlers in his Majesty's colonies and plantations in
America" 30 Geo. III (1790), c.27 (England). The act authorizes duty-free importation up to the
value of "fifty pounds for every person" in the family. Section 2 expressly endorses the "sales" of

negroes of bankrupt or deceased owners.

91. "An Act for the regulating Innholders, Tavern-Keepers, and Retailers of Spirituous
Liquors" S.N.S. 1762, c.1, s.2-3. The statute is designed to ensure no debts could be recovered for
alcoholic beverages sold to soldiers, sailors, servants, day labourers or "negro slaves" for any sum
above five shillings. If anyone, including a "negro slave" left a pawn or pledge worth more than five
shillings with a liquor vendor, that person or his owner could initiate proceedings to reclaim it, and
the vendor would be liable for a fine. See also Gary C. Hartlen "Bound for Nova Scotia: Slaves in
the Planter Migration, 1759-1800" in Margaret Conrad ed. Making Adjustments: Change and

Continuity in Planter Nova Scotia 1759-1800 (Fredericton: Acadiensis Press, 1991) 123-8.

92. "An Act, declaring that Baptism of Slaves shall not exempt them from Bondage"
S.P.E.IL 1781, c.15, provides as follows: Whereas some Doubts have arisen whether Slaves by

becoming Christians, or being admitted to Baptism, should, by Virtue thereof, be made free:

I. Be it therefore enacted by the Governor, Council, and Assembly That all Slaves,
whether Negroes or Mulattos, residing at present on this Island, or that may hereafter be imported or
brought therein, shall be deemed Slaves notwithstanding his, her, or their Conversion to

Christianity; nor shall the Act of Baptism performed on any such Negro or Mulatto alter his, her, or



their Condition.

II. And be it further enacted, That all Negro and Mulatto Servants, who are now on
this Island, or may hereafter be imported or brought therein (being Slaves) shall continue such,

unless freed by his, her, or their respective Owners.

III. And be it further enacted by the Authority aforesaid, That all Children born of
Women Slaves, shall belong to, and be the property of, the Masters or Mistresses of such Slaves.
The statute was repealed in 1825, in an effort to abolish slavery in law: "An Act to repeal an Act
made and passed in the Twenty-first Year of His late Majesty's Reign, intituled 'An Act declaring
that Baptism of Slaves shall not exempt them from Bondage'' S.P.E.I. 1825, c.7, and Winks Blacks

in Canada at 44-5.

93. "An act to prevent the further introduction of slaves, and to limit the term of contracts
for servitude within this province" S.C. 1793, c.7 (Upper Canada), s.1-5. See also Michael Power
and Nancy Butler Slavery and Freedom in Niagara (Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ont.: Niagara Historical
Society, 1993). "An Act respecting Master and Servant" C.S.U.C. 1859, c¢.75 continues the

prohibition on slavery:

s.1. The Governor shall not license for the importation of any Negro or other person
to be subjected to the condition of a Slave, or to a bounden involuntary service for life, into any part
of Upper Canada; nor shall any Negro, or other person, who comes or is brought into Upper

Canada, be subject to the conditions of a Slave, or to such service as aforesaid, within the same.



s.2. No voluntary contract of service or indentures entered into by any parties within
Upper Canada, shall be binding on them, or either of them, for a longer time than a term of nine

years, from the day of the date of such contract.

These provisions are continued in R.S.O. 1877, c.133, s.1-2; R.S.O. 1887, c.139, s.1-2;

R.S.0. 1897, ¢.157,s.1-2.

94. The record of the courts is mixed. The Lower Canadian judges were the least likely to
support slavery in their rulings. the white Chief Justice James Monk, of the Court of King's Bench
in Lower Canada, released two Black slaves, "Charlotte and Jude" in 1798, noting in obiter that
slavery did not exist in the province; the case is unreported, but discussed in Winks Blacks in
Canada at 100. In 1800, Monk refused to uphold a slave-owner's request for the return of a fugitive
slave, arguing that there was no legislation in effect in Lower Canada to authorize slavery; Dominus
Rex v. Robin alias Robert, Court of King's Bench in Lower Canada, February term, 1800,
unreported but discussed in Winks at 101-2. The Nova Scotia judges were unwilling to go as far as
their Lower Canadian counterparts in declaring all slaves free, although they did issue several

judgments generally opposed to slavery. In Colonel James Delancey v. William Worden in 1803,
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